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Preface

This is the last volume of a history of the Peloponnesian War. It
treats the period from the destruction of Athens’ Sicilian expedition
in September of 413 to the Athenian surrender in the spring of 404.
Thucydides’ history of the war is incomplete, and the eighth book,
which breaks off abruptly in the year 411/10, is thought to be unfin-
ished, and unpolished as well. In spite of the incompleteness of his
account, his description and interpretation of the war inspire and shape
this volume, as they have my earlier ones. The first volume attempted
to evaluate his view of the causes and origins of the war as he expresses
itin 1.23 and 1.88. The second one examined his assessment of Pericles’
strategy in 2.65. The third one addressed his judgment of the Sicilian
expedition set forth in the same passage and his estimate of the career
of Nicias presented in 7.86.

Thucydides’ judgment of the last part of the war appears in 2.65.12—
13, at the end of his long eulogy of Pericles and his policies:

Yet after their defeat in Sicily, where they lost most of their fleet as well as
the rest of their force, and faction had already broken out in Athens, they
nevertheless held out for ten more years,' not only against their previous
enemies and the Sicilians who joined them and most of their allies, who

"The figure given in the MSS is three years. For a defense of the emendation to ten,
see Thucydide, La guerre du peloponnése, 11, ed. and trans. J. de Romilly (Paris, 1962),
101. A. W. Gomme (HCT 11, 196-197) reviews the various other suggestions that have
been put forth, which include keeping the three or emending it to five or eight, the
last of which Gomme prefers. For our purposes here, the correct reading is not im-
portant, for no one doubts that Thucydides marvels at the Athenians’ ability to hold
out so long or that he attributes their defeat, in part at least, to internal strife.
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viil PREFACE

rebelled against them, but also later against Cyrus, son of the Great King,
who provided money to the Peloponnesians for a navy. Nor did they give in
until they destroyed themselves by falling upon one another because of private
quarrels.

This passage implies that even after the disaster in Sicily and the new
problems it caused, Athens might still have avoided defeat but for
internal dissension. A study of the last decade of the war enables us
to evaluate Thucydides’ interpretation of the reasons for Athens’ defeat
and the destruction of the Athenian Empire. It also makes possible an
examination and evaluation of the performance of the Athenian de-
mocracy as it faced its most serious challenge.

For the course of the war, after Thucydides’ account breaks off in
411, we rely directly on several ancient writers, only one of whom
was contemporary with the events he described, and none of whom
approached the genius of Thucydides. Modern historians of the clas-
sical period like to follow, when they can, the narrative historical
account that they judge to be the most reliable, and they tend to prefer
it to other evidence from sources that they consider less trustworthy.
Whatever its merits in general, this practice is unwise for the period
between 411 and 404 B.C. Of the extant writers of narrative accounts,
Xenophon alone was a contemporary, and his Hellenica presents a
continuous description of the events of that time. It is natural, there-
fore, that modern historians should at first have preferred his Hellenica
to the abbreviated, derivative, and much later account of Diodorus
and to the brief, selective biographies of Plutarch, which were aimed
at providing moral lessons and were written even later.

The discovery of the papyrus containing the Hellenica Oxyrhynchia
in 1906, however, changed the situation drastically. Although its au-
thor is unknown, the work seems to have been a detailed and careful
continuation of Thucydides’ history. As G. L. Barber notes, “the
papyrus indicates a strict chronological arrangement by summers and
winters, competent criticism and analysis of motives, a first-hand
knowledge of the topography of Asia Minor, and certain details found
in no other work on the period.” Several studies have found the
superiority of the Oxyrhynchus historian’s work over Xenophon’s Hel-
lemca to be most striking in the accounts of naval battles, but there
has been a growing tendency to prefer the papyrus version to that of

’G. L. Barber, “Oxyrhynchus, The Historian from,” Oxford Classical Dictionary, 2d
ed. (Oxford, 1970), 766.
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PREFACE ix

Xenophon.”’ Since it is clear that the Oxyrhynchus historian was used
by Ephorus, the most important source for Diodorus in our period,
the credibility of Diodorus’ account has grown at the expense of Xen-
ophon’s.* That does not mean, however, that we should merely reverse
the traditional practice and always follow the Diodoran account when
it disagrees with Xenophon. Neither source is full enough or reliable
enough to deserve preference prima facie.

Nor can we ignore the contributions of Plutarch in trying to con-
struct a reliable account of what happened. Although he lived half a
millennium after the war, Plutarch had a splendid library of works,
many of them lost to us, capable of illuminating the course of events.
He knew comedies by lost poets of the fifth century such as Telecleides,
Phrynichus, Eupolis, Archippus, and Plato Comicus, histories by
Thucydides’ contemporaries Philistus and Hellanicus as well as his
continuators Ephorus and Theopompus. He had access to contem-
porary inscribed documents; he could see with his own eyes many
paintings and sculptures of the fifth century. We may derive a rea-
sonable idea of his value from one of his own accounts of his method:
“Those deeds which Thucydides and Philistus have set forth . . . I have
run over briefly, and with no unnecessary detail, in order to escape
the reputation of utter carelessness and sloth; but those details which
have escaped most writers, and which others have mentioned casually,
or which are found on ancient votive offerings or in public decrees,
these I have tried to collect, not massing together useless material of
research, but handing on such as furthers the appreciation of character
and temperament.™ In pursuing his own purposes he has provided us
with precious and authentic information available nowhere else; we
ignore him at our peril.

These three authors—Xenophon, Diodorus, and Plutarch—are all
important, but none is dominant. Where their accounts disagree, we
have no way, a priori, to know whom to follow. In each case, we must
keep an open mind and resolve discrepancies by using all the evidence
and the best judgment we can muster. Wherever possible, I have
explained the reasons for my preference in the notes, but sometimes
my judgments rest on nothing more solid than my best understanding

’For references and discussion, see P. A. Rahe, “Lysander and the Spartan Settle-
ment, 407—403 B.C.” (Ph.D. diss., Yale University, 1977), vi-ix.
*L A. F. Bruce, An Historical Commentary on the Hellenica Oxyrhynchia (Cambridge,

1967), 20-22.
’Nic., 1.5, translated by B. Perrin.
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of each situation. Inevitably, that will seem arbitrary in some cases,

but the nature of the evidence about the quality of the sources permits.
no greater consistency. Introducing and following any general rule

would surely lead to more errors than the application of independent

judgment in each case.

One further question of method deserves attention. More than one
able and sympathetic critic of my earlier volumes has been troubled
by my practice of comparing what took place with what might have
happened had individuals or peoples taken different actions and by
my penchant for the subjunctive mood, or what is sometimes called
“counterfactual history.” To my mind, no one who aims to write a
history rather than a chronicle can avoid discussing what might have
happened; the only question is how explicitly one reveals what one is
doing. A major difference between historians and chroniclers is that
historians interpret what they recount, that is, they make judgments
about it. There is no way that the historian can judge that one action
or policy was wise or foolish without saying, or implying, that it was
better or worse than some other that might have been employed, which
is, after all, “counterfactual history.” No doubt my method has been
influenced by the great historian whom I have been studying for three
decades, who engages in this practice very frequently and more openly
than most. Let two examples suffice. In his explanation of the great
length of the Greeks’ .siege of Troy, Thucydides says: “But if they
had taken with them an abundant supply of food, and. . . had carried
on the war continuously, they would easily have prevailed in battle and
taken the city.” Again, in the conclusion to his summation and judgment
of Pericles’ career, he says: “Such abundant grounds had Pericles at
that time for his own forecast that Athens might quite easily bave triumphed
in this war over the Peloponnesians alone.” I believe that there are
important advantages in such explicitness: it puts the reader on notice
that the statement in question is a judgment, an interpretation, rather
than a fact, and it helps avoid the excessive power of the fait accompli,
making clear that what really occurred was not the inevitable outcome
of superhuman forces but the result of decisions by human beings and
suggesting that both the decisions and their outcomes could well have

°1.11.2. To avoid prejudicing the question, I have not used my own translation but
that of C. F. Smith in the Loeb edition, which is reliable and attempts to stay closer
to the text than most. The Greek in the emphasized portion reads: padiws &v péyn
KpaTobUTES ELNOV.

72.65.13: Wéw &v pedins TepLyevéabar THY TONW.
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PREFACE xi

been different. In this volume of my history of the war, I shall continue
to be explicit in making such judgments.

The reader will easily see my continued debt to many scholars living
and dead. Among the latter I must again single out the brilliant George
Grote, father of the study of ancient Greek history as we know it
today, and Georg Busolt, whose history is a model of learning, thor-
oughness, care, and dispassionate judgment. Among my contempo-
raries I must pay tribute to Antony Andrewes, whose magnificent
final volume is a fitting capstone to the great monument that his col-
laborators on A Historical Commentary on Thucydides, A. W. Gomme
and K. J. Dover, have created. I have also been aided greatly by P.
J. Rhodes’ impressive Commentary on the Aristotelian Athenaion Politeia,
and I have learned much about Persia from D. M. Lewis’ Sparta and
Persia.

I am grateful to George Goold, John R. Hale, Paul A. Rahe, and
Barry S. Strauss for criticizing all or part of my manuscript. Thanks
are also due to the National Endowment for the Humanities and to
Yale University for supporting my research.

DoNALD KAGAN

New Haven, Connecticut
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1. After the Sicilian Disaster

The Athenian attack on Sicily, launched with such great expecta-
tions, ended in total failure. Nicias surrendered the pitiful remnants
of his army to the Syracusans in mid-September of 413, so news of
the defeat could not have reached Athens much before the end of the
month.' An ancient story says that the first report came from a for-
eigner who arrived at a barber shop in the Piracus. Assuming that the
Athenians had already heard of the disaster, he began talking about
the details. The barber ran to Athens with the news, but no one would
believe him. He was thought to be a fabricator and trouble-maker and
was put to the rack before witnesses arrived to confirm the story.? We
need not believe such tales, but the picture they paint of general in-
credulity is surely right. Thucydides tells us that even when the very
soldiers who had managed to escape from Sicily reported the extent
of the disaster, they were for a long time disbelieved.’

When finally the truth could not be denied, the Athenians responded
first in anger and then in fear. First, they lashed out at the politicians
who had proposed and argued for the Sicilian expedition (Thucydides
bitterly remarks, “as if they had not voted for it themselves”); they

'For the chronology, see Busolt, GG 1ll:2, 684.

?Plut. Nic. 30; Athenaeus (9.407) tells the tale of the comic parodist Hegemon whose
play so delighted the Athenians that they laughed even on the day when the news of
the Sicilian disaster came to them in the theater. “No one left the theater, even though
almost everyone had lost relatives. So they wept secretly and did not get up to leave
so that their grief at the calamity might not be revealed to the spectators from other
cities.”

’8.1.1. All references are to Thucydides unless otherwise indicated.

1
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2 THE FALL OF THE ATHENIAN EMPIRE

were furious with the seers who had predicted success. Next, they
grieved over the men lost in Sicily. Finally, they feared for their own
safety when they calculated their own losses and the enemy’s gains.
They expected that the Peloponnesians, joired by their new allies in
Sicily, would sail directly for the Piraeus and attack Athens by land
and sea, joined by Athens’ allies, who would now surely rebel.*

In the panic of the moment, they exaggerated the enemy’s capacity
to take effective action, but they had good reason for concern over the
condition of Athens and its ability to carry on the war. The most
obvious problem was manpower.’ At the start of the war, the Athe-
nians had 13,000 citizen hoplites of fighting age and another 16,000
for garrison duty, of whom about 8,000 were citizens above and below
the age for battle and 8,000 were metics. There were 1,200 cavalrymen
and 1,600 bowmen; the number of thetes available for service as rowers
and marines was between 20,000 and 2§,000.° The plague appears to
have killed about a third of the population and to have crippled and
disabled still others.” These losses could have been only partially re-
placed by the time of the Sicilian disaster, which probably killed at
least 3,000 hoplites and 9,000 thetes as well as thousands of metics.®
When account is taken of other casualties suffered between 431 and
the autumn of 413, it is reasonable to believe that in 413 the Athenians
may have been reduced to no more than 9,000 adult male citizens of
the hoplite class of all ages; perhaps 11,000 thetes; and 3,000 metics,—
a stunning reduction in the number of men available to fight the war.’

At least 216 triremes, of which 160 were Athenian, had been lost
in Sicily, and no more than about 100, in different stages of disrepair,
were still in the docks at Piraeus." They would be hard-pressed to

‘8.1.2

*The following discussion of manpower and population owes much to the excellent
analysis of Barry S. Strauss in his “Division and Conquest, Athens, 403-386 B.C.”
(Ph.D. diss., Yale University, 1979), Chap. 2. Other useful accounts are those of Busolt
(GG 11I:2, 1400, with n. 5), Meyer (Forsch. 11, 149-195), A. W. Gomme (The Population
of Athens in the Fifth and Fourth Centuries B.C. [Chicago, 1967], K. J. Beloch (Die
Bevilkerung der griechisch-romischen Welt [Leipzig, 1885]), and A. H. M. Jones
(Athenian Democracy [Oxford, 1969], 161—180).

®2.13.8; for the numbers of metics and thetes, see Strauss, “Division and Conquest.”

73.87.3; 2.49.7-8; Kagan, Archidamian War, 71.

Such are the very plausible estimates of Busolt (GG 111:2, 1400).

*These estimates derive from the figures given above and from the arguments in
Strauss, “Division and Conquest,” 72-91.

"“Busolt, GG Ill:2, 1400~1401; 1401, n. 1.
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AFTER THE SICILIAN DISASTER 3

find crews, even unskilled and inexperienced ones, from the available
thetes. Perhaps as serious a problem was the lack of money to repair
the ships, build new ones, and pay their crews. Thucydides’ statement
that the Athenians “saw no money in the treasury” is probably rhe-
torical."" But from the approximately §,000 talents available in the
public treasury in 431 (excluding the 1,000 talents set aside for extreme
emergency “in case the enemy should attack the city with a fleet”"?),
surely fewer than soo talents remained in 413."” Nor could Athens
hope to replenish its funds with increased income from the empire.
The defeat in Sicily would likely cause rebellions that would reduce
tribute payments and increase expenses by requiring expeditions to
subdue the uprisings.

At the same time, the domestic economy of Athens was badly hurt.
The Spartan fort at Decelea wore the Athenians down financially as
well as physically and psychologically. They lost more than 20,000
slaves, they were prevented from working their silver mines, their
capacity to use any of their farmland was reduced, and their houses
in the country were stripped and stolen by the Boeotians along with
any cattle and pack animals that could not be removed to Euboea for
safekeeping. They had to import what they needed by a longer route,
which increased its cost, and they had to support an armed force needed
to guard the walls night and day.'* Deprived of their means of live-
lihood, more citizens were compelled to crowd into the city. The
increased demand for and the higher cost of importing food and other
necessities could not fail to drive up prices. This put a further strain
on the public treasury, for the state somehow had to support the needy
widows and orphans created by the war."

The propertied classes also suffered from the misfortunes of war.
They, too, were compelled to abandon the farms that provided their
income, and their houses were vandalized by the marauding Boeotians.
We have some clues to the strain they felt. The trierarchy, a public
service that the wealthier Athenians performed in turn, required the

"8.1.2.

?2.24.1.

"The authors of ATL (IlI, 358) say: “It is evident that in 414 the reserve fund in
the treasury of Athena and of the Other Gods must have been once more reduced to
the low figure of 422.” The figure they give for the year 422 is 444 talents (III, 344,
n. 94).

'*9.27.3-28.2; Kagan, Peace of Nicias, 291-292.

"*The best discussion of Athens’ economic difficulties at this time is that of Busolt,
GG 111:2, 1404-1408.
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4 THE FALL OF THE ATHENIAN EMPIRE

men appointed trierarchs not only to command a warship but also to
fit it out and even to supplement the pay of its rowers. Until the
Sicilian expedition, one trierarch had always been appointed for each
ship, but soon after the disaster the syntrierarchy was introduced,
allowing two men to share the expense.'® By the end of the war, and
perhaps as early as 413, a similar sharing was introduced for the liturgy
that provided choruses for dramatic performances.'” Men of sufficient
wealth to perform basic military and religious services for the state
were clearly in short supply, so there was little help to be expected
from the imposition of the direct war tax, the ersphora. We can be sure
of only one such levy, in 428, which raised 200 talents, apparently as
much as could be collected."® The eisphora may have been levied again
in the years before 425 and, perhaps, also to send reinforcements to
Sicily." After the fortification of Decelea, the thorough devastation of
Attica, and the Sicilian disaster, the imposition of a direct tax on the
reduced fortunes of the Athenian middle and upper classes would have
paid for few costs of the war at great expense to morale. The Athenians
appear not to have resorted to it again until the very last years of the
war, after the emergency reserve fund had been exhausted.”

Apart from the shortage of men, ships, and money, Athens also
lacked leadership, both military and political. The Sicilian expedition
had carried of f Athens’ most experienced and ablest generals: Demos-
thenes, Lamachus, Nicias, and Eurymedon. None of the other four
generals in 413/12 whose names we know appears to have held a pre-
vious command. Alcibiades was in exile in Sparta, the men on whom
Athens had relied to command its forces on land and sea were gone,
and no one of comparable experience and demonstrated ability was at
hand. .

The vacuum in political leadership was just as great. Athens’ leading
politician, Nicias, was dead; Alcibiades and Hyperbolus were in exile;
and the demagogues who had supported the Sicilian venture were in

"For the responsibilities and expenses of the trierarchy, see 6.31.3; Lysias 32.24;
M. Amit, Athens and the Sea (Brussels, 1965), 103—115; and J. S. Morrison and R. T.
Williams, Greek Oared Ships, 900—322 B.C. (Cambridge, 1968), 260—263. For the date of
the introduction of the syntrierarchy, see B. Jordan, The Athenian Navy in the Classical
Period (Berkeley, 1975), 70-72.

""Scholion to Aristoph., Frogs 404; Busolt, GG 11l:2, 1405, n. 1.

'*3.19.1; Kagan, Archidamian War, 144-145.

"“Such are the suggestions of R. Thomsen, Eispbora (Copenhagen, 1964), 172-175.

I accept the argument of Beloch, AP, 66 endorsed by Busolt, GG I1I:2, 1407, n.
1. Cf., however, Thomsen, Eisphora, 175.
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disrepute. In these circumstances, the Athenians invented a new device
to provide guidance and stability to their government. They voted “to
elect a board of older men to serve as probouloi, offering advice and
proposing legislation, concerning current problems as the situation may
require.”' There were ten probouloi, one from each tribe, and their
minimum age was probably forty.” Their powers and responsibilities
are unclear and were probably never precisely defined. If Thucydides’
language is taken most literally and legalistically, they apparently had
the power to present a bill to the assembly, thereby replacing the
council in this primary function. Some scholars have taken this view
of the probouloi controlling or replacing the council.” But another idea
is that the probouloi worked together with the council and were really
“a sub-committee of the larger body.”** Others would give them even
greater powers, including those of the Prytanies to call meetings of
the council and to set its agenda and control the administration of
funds, especially in regard to the preparation of the fleet.”” Belief in
these broader powers is not securely based, resting on interpretations
of passages in Aristophanes.’® No one doubts, however, that their
unique status, the unusually high minimum age for the office, the fact
of their election, their unlimited term of office, and the very vagueness
and generality of their commission gave the probouloi unprecedented
influence and power.

The election of probouloi changed the character and function of Ath-
ens’ normal democratic constitution. Aristotle, moreover, regarded the
institution of probouloi as an oligarchic element in any constitution.?”
Some scholars, therefore, influenced also by the knowledge that the
probouloi played a role in the introduction of the oligarchic constitution
of the Four Hundred in 411, believe that their election in 413 was
already a movement toward oligarchy.”® There is, however, no reason

*'This is my translation and interpretation of 8.1.3: kat &px7Mv Twa wpeoBurépwv
&vdpwv ENéaBat, oiTLVES TEpL TOY TapOVTWY B GV Katpds §) TpoBovhedoovaiy.

For ancient sources, see Busolt, GG 111:2, 1409, n. 1. Modern discussions of the
probouloi are F. D. Smith, Atbenian Political Commissions (Chicago, 1920), 32—41; and
H. Schaefer, PW XLV (1957), 1222-1231.

PP. Cloché speaks of control (REG XXXV [1922], 279)and G. Glotz of replacement
(HG 11, 708).

*R. A. De Laix, Probouleusis at Atbens (Berkeley, Calif., 1973), 32.

»Busolt, GG 111:2, 1409-1410.

*Lysis. 410—-610, 980—1012.

?’Pol. 1298b, 1299b, 1322b, 1323a.

*Busolt, GG I1l:2, 1410~1412; Beloch, AP, 65; Hignett, HAC, 169.
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6 THE FALL OF THE ATHENIAN EMPIRE

to believe that the probouloi were in any way favorable to oligarchy in
413. The commission was created in a thoroughly democratic way, no
doubt by a vote of the assembly, as many special commissions had
been created in the past. Because the members were chosen during a
great emergency and given unusually great powers, they were not
simply appointed by a decree of the assembly but had to stand for
election, one per tribe, like magistrates and generals. Unlike the in-
troduction of the oligarchy of 411, no violence or procedural irregu-
larities accompanied the creation of the board of probouloi. Unlike the
true oligarchs of 41 1, the proboulo: faithfully and effectively carried on
the war against Sparta. They never took a step hostile to the democracy
until the coup of 411. Their acquiescence then by no means impugns
their fundamental loyalty to democracy, as we shall see.”

We know the names of only two probouloi: Hagnon, son of Nicias,
and Sophocles, of the deme Colonus, the great tragic poet.”® But those
two probouloi give us an idea of the political color of the commission
and of the political climate at Athens when they were appointed.
Hagnon was born no later than 470, for he was a general alongside
Pericles during the Samian campaign of 440; thus he was probably
more than sixty years old when he was elected proboulosin 413. In 438/
37 he played an important role in defending Pericles against his political
enemies and in the next year was sent to found the colony of Am-
phipolis. He led campaigns in the Chalcidice in 430 and 429. He was
still active as late as 421 as a signer of the Peace of Nicias and then
the Athenian treaty with Sparta.’

Sophocles was probably born in 497/96, so he was well into his
eighties when elected proboulos. He was Hellenotamias in 443/42 and
general in 441/40. By 413 he had been winning prizes for tragedy for
more than half a century and was one of the most famous and revered
men in Greece.” Like Hagnon, he had been associated and worked
with Pericles.” Both probouloi were wealthy, experienced, aged, and

*See Chapter Six.

*Hagnon is established as proboulos and father of Theramenes by the evidence of
Lysias (12.65) and Xenophon (2.3.30). All references to Xenophon are to the Hellenica
unless otherwise indicated.

*'Davies, APF, 227-228.

For the date of his birth, see Marmor Parium 56 and 54 (FGrH, 11, 239, 1000—1001).
For his place as Hellenotamias, see ATL 11, List 12, line 36. For the generalship, see
Androtion FGrH 111, 324, Fr. 38.

V. Ehrenberg, Sopbocles and Pericles (Oxford, 1954), 117—140; Kagan, Outbreak, 149-

153, 175-177.
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certainly, in the context of 413, conservative. But their association
with Pericles guaranteed that they were neither oligarchs nor enemies
of the democracy. After Sicily there was no Pericles, no Nicias, to
provide the prudent, cautious, moderate leadership that now was
wanted, so, in effect, Periclean moderation was put into commission.
It is revealing of the state of Athenian politics that the Athenians
believed they must seek such qualities in an earlier generation, that
men in their prime could not be found or trusted to provide it. The
coming years would show that reckless demagogy had not been per-
manently eclipsed, that oligarchic plots were not creations of the Athe-
nian imagination, so the attempt to find moderate democratic
leadership was both poignant and prudent.

Thucydides approved of the Athenian behavior in this crisis, al-
though not without an epigrammatic slap at the ways of democracy:
“In the terror of the moment, as is the way of the demos, they were
ready to do everything with discipline.”* In fact, the behavior of the
Athenian democracy in this crisis seems remarkably Periclean. Peri-
cles, when he feared that passion would interfere with policy in the
first year of the war, had used his unmatched personal authority to
limit the democracy temporarily by preventing the meeting of assem-
blies.” Now the Athenian assembly, acting in a thoroughly Periclean
spirit—determined, practical, restrained, prudent, and economical—
voluntarily placed a limit on itself by giving unprecedented powers to
a board of respected and trusted moderates in his tradition. “They
decided, so far as the situation permitted, not to give in but instead
to prepare a fleet, obtaining timber and money wherever they could,
to see to the security of their alliance, especially Euboea, and to reduce
public expenditures.”™*

The probouloi acted quickly to put this spirit into effect. They gath-
ered timber to build ships, and this was possible because they were
once again on good terms with the king of Macedonia, their main
source of naval timber.”” They built a fort at Sunium to help protect

8.1.4.

} ’2.1:1; Kagan, Archidamian War, §5-56.

’8.1.3.

“For Macedon as a source of Athenian naval timber, see /G I’ 71 (with Kagan,
Archidamian War, 314, n. 28); IG I’ 105 = GHI, 91, And. 2.11; and Xen., 6.1.11. King
Perdiccas, whose relations with Athens had been unstable, was once again allied with
the Atheniansin 414 (7.9) and died some time between then and 410 when his successor
Archelaus is recorded as fighting alongside them at Pydna (Diod. 13.49.1). In 413/12,
therefore, Athens could readily get timber from Macedon.
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8 THE FALL OF THE ATHENIAN EMPIRE

the grain ships that had to pass by while the Spartangarrison at Decelea
blocked the normal route from Euboea. They abandoned the fort in
Laconia, which had produced disappointing results and was a drain
on the treasury, for as Thucydides remarks, “if they judged any ex-
penditure useless they curtailed it in the interests of economy.” Most
especially, the Athenians in the time of the probouloi kept a close watch
over their allies “so that they might not revolt from them.”**

At the same time, they introduced a major change in the manner
of collecting revenue from the empire. They abandoned the collection
of tribute on the basis of assessments imposed by the Athenians on
each allied city; instead, they imposed on the allies a § percent duty
on all goods imported or exported by sea.’® One reason for the change
was the hope of increasing revenue. The tribute from 418 to 414 has
been estimated at goo talents annually. To equal that figure with the
new tax would require an annual value of the seaborne traffic in the
empire of 18,000 talents.** We cannot tell whether such a figure would
be easily achieved, but we may view the problem in another way. The
Athenians may have made the change not in the hope of collecting
more money than they were already getting but more than they might
expect to get from the old system under the new circumstances. After
all, they were fearing and expecting defections, some, presumably,
from those allies most heavily assessed. The shift in the nature of the
tax could mean a shift in how heavily each state was taxed and also
which citizens within each state bore the burden. We do not know
how the several subject states raised the money to pay their tribute;
probably practices varied. Very likely, real property was the basis for
internal taxation to provide funds for paying the tribute, at least to
some degree. The new tax would shift the burden to those engaged
in commerce, who may have been burdened less, or not at all, in the
past. Thus new sources of revenue might be tapped. Perhaps, also,
subjects engaged in commerce, who benefited so greatly from the
advantages of the empire, might be less reluctant to pay taxes and
better disposed to Athens. Tax relief for the landed citizens, presum-
ably more restive, might reduce the pressures for rebellion as well as
increase Athenian revenue.

In the absence of better evidence, all of this is only speculation, but

’58.4.
*7.28.4. The change was probably made in the autumn of 413 (HCT 1V, 402), just

when the probouloi were elected (Smith, Atbenian Political Commissions, 39).
“HCT 1V, 408.
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we have reason to believe that at least some Athenians in these years
were thinking of novel and daring ways to bind the allies more closely
to Athens. Early in 411 Aristophanes presented the comedy Lysistrata,
and in one scene he portrays an argument between the heroine and
one of the probouloi.*' Pressed to explain her plan for ending the war
and untangling Greece’s troubles, she offers a skein of wool as a met-
aphor for Athens.

Consider the City as fleece, recently shorn. The first step is Cleansing:
Scrub it in a public bath, and remove all corruption, offal and sheepdip.

Next, to the couch for scutching and Plucking: Cudgel the leeches and
similar vermin loose with a club, then pick the prickles and cockleburs out.
As for the clots—those lumps that clump and cluster in knots and snarls to
snag important posts—you comb these out, twist off their heads, and discard.

Next, to raise the City’s nap, you card the citizens together in a single
basket of common weal and general welfare. Fold in our loyal Resident Aliens,
all Foreigners of proven and tested friendship, and any Disenfranchised Debt-
ors. Combine these closely with the rest. Lastly, cull the colonies settled by
our own people: these are nothing but flocks of wool from the city’s fleece,
scattered throughout the world. So gather home these far-flung flocks, amal-
gamate them with the others.

Then, drawing this blend of stable fibers into one fine staple, you spin a
mighty bobbin of yarn—and weave, without bias or seam, a cloak to clothe
the City of Athens.*

Although it is always difficult to see through the humor of Aristo-
phanes to any factual historical references that may lie behind them,
we may agree with those scholars who believe that there is at least a
kernel of fact in the comedy of this passage.” The joke, at least in
part, lies in the extended metaphor that compares the wool fleece with

*“'For the date, see B. B. Rogers, Lysistrata (London, 1911), x. Whether the play was
performed at the Lenaea or the City Dionysia is not known.

“Lys. §73-586. 1 have used the lively and effective translation of Douglass Parker
(Lysistrata, Ann Arbor, Mich., 1964, 44—45), who identifies the “clumps” as the oli-
garchic political clubs (91). For the same interpretation see also J. van Leeuwen, Lys-
utrata (Leyden, 1903), 86—87; and Rogers, Lysistrata, 72. Andrewes (HCT V, 189)
believes that the reference is not to oligarchical clubs but more generally to “the
professional politicians who monopolize office and evade military service.” The clumps,
or as Andrewes calls them, tangles, “represents men who bind themselves together for
the sake of office,” not necessarily oligarchs or conspirators.

“Probably the strongest attack on the use of Aristophanes as a source of historical
information is a well-known article by A. W. Gomme (CR LII [1938), 97-109). For a
vigorous statement of the other view as well as a cautionary argument as to how the
comedies should be used, see Ste. Croix, Origins, 231-244, 355-376.
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Athenian policy. But the humor is both timely and enhanced if we
assume that there really were contemporary Athenians who advocated
a generous policy of extending Athenian citizenship to many heretofore
excluded. Busolt suggested: “In the necessity of the time there were
also voices audible that recommended reinforcing the citizenry not
merely by the admission of resident aliens and well-disposed foreigners
[presumably non-Ionian members of the Athenian alliance] but also to
unite into a commonwealth the cities considered to be Athenian col-
onies, i.e., the Ionians and the islanders of Ionian speech, by conferring
on them citizen rights with Athens.”*

Perhaps the repiacement of the hated tribute by customs duties
within the empire was a step in such a direction.*” But even if that
were so, no proposal to share Athenian citizenship was passed, if any
was formally proposed. The Greek city-state was too traditional an
institution, too closely tied to ideas of common descent and blood
relationships, to extend citizenship readily outside its own ranks. So-
lon, Peisistratus, and Cleisthenes had enrolled new citizens far in the
past, but the trend in the fif th century was away from such generosity.
Pericles’ law of 451 had narrowed the definition of Athenian citizenship
to include only those with two citizen parents.** The material and
psychological benefits that come with imperial power had not made
the Athenians more eager to share their advantages since that time. In
any case, the year 413 was not the time to try the experiment. The
gesture of offering such unusual concessions immediately after the
disaster in Sicily, when the Greek world expected the imminent down-
fall of Athens, would have appeared to be a sign of weakness and
would have encouraged rebellion.’

Whatever the attitude of Athens’ subjects and allies may have been
before the Sicilian disaster, however, there can be little doubt of their
attitude by 413.* “The subjects of the Athenians were ready to rebel
against them even beyond their power.”™ Within a year major places

“Busolt, GG I11:2, 1414. Meyer (GdA 1V, 12) and Beloch (AP, 67) hold the same
view.

“Such is Beloch’s suggestion (AP, 67).

**See Kagan, Outbreak, 103-104.

“Busolt, GG 11l:2, 1414.

“*Even Thucydides’ harshest critic says “that the mass of the citizens in the allied
or subject states were loyal to Athens throughout the whole period of the empire, until
the final collapse of the Ionian War. .. " (G. E. M. de Ste. Croix, Historia 111 [1954-1955],
16, emphasis added).

“8.2.2.
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such as Euboea, Chios, Lesbos, Rhodes, Miletus, and Ephesus had
revolted. The success of these rebellions and the encouragement of
others, however, required effective support from outside the empire,
and its chief source must be the Spartan alliance and especially its
hegemonal city.

Thucydides tells us that immediately after the Athenian defeat in
Sicily, the Spartans were full of hope and eager to pursue the war to
a successful conclusion. He also reveals that Spartan war aims were
no longer what they had been. The Spartans calculated that after the
overthrow of Athens “they themselves would safely hold the hegemony
of all Greece.”” It is often true that in war the appetite grows with
the eating, and in 413 there must have been Spartans whose goals had
changed from freeing the Greeks to dominating them. There had been
a core of men holding such ambitions at least as early as 475.°' More-
over, we may believe that Sparta’s victory at Mantinea, the establish-
ment of a permanent fort at Decelea, and the Athenian defeat in Sicily
had swollen the number of Spartans who hoped that “they would
enjoy great wealth, Sparta would become greater and more powerful,
and the houses of the private citizens would receive a great increase
in their prosperity.”

The growth of this aggressive and ambitious faction in Sparta re-
sulted not only from military success but also from the war’s accel-
eration of trends that were changing the character of Spartan society.
The most visible evidence of these trends was the continuing decline
in the number of full Spartan citizens. There were some §,000 Spartan
hoplites at Plataea but only about 1,000 a little more than a century
later at Leuctra, this in a land that, according to Aristotle, was able
to support 1,500 cavalrymen and 30,000 hoplites.”’ This decrease, in
part, must reflect a declining birthrate, for the Spartan social and
economic system encouraged its citizens to limit the size of their fam-
ilies. Full Spartan citizenship and the honor that went with it depended
on the citizen’s capacity to provide his share to the common mess. For
this purpose each Spartiate was given a public grant of land, but some
of the time, at least, this public land did not produce enough to provide
the needed portion for the common meals. The more children a Spartan
had, the more intense the problem, and the Spartans employed a wide

°8.2.4.

*'Diod. 11.50; Kagan, OQutbreak, 51-52; Ste. Croix, Origins, 170.
*2Diod. 11.50.

*Pol. 12702 29-32.
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12 THE FALL OF THE ATHENIAN EMPIRE

variety of devices to reduce family size including late marriage, po-
lyandry, and pederasty.’* The Spartan state passed a variety of laws
to reverse the population trend, for its interest was to have the largest
number of citizen-hoplites possible.” But the attempt failed. Spartiates
continued to limit the number of their offspring and to seek to acquire
as much private land as possible to supplement the public grant. The
Spartan constitution had been created to produce a warrior class of
equals (homoioi) adequate to defend its land and people, to fix the
devotion of that class to the goal of achieving military glory and honor
in the service of the state, and to be free from economic need and
economic interests. Ironically, it led to a shortage of manpower, a
continuing hunger for wealth, and a growing inequality.

Even as the number of Spartiates decreased, however, the proportion
of free men in Laconia who were not Spartiates increased. As early
as 421 there were 1,000 neodamodeis, helots who fought in the Spartan
army and were given their freedom and a piece of land as a reward;
by 396 there were at least 2,000.%¢ It seems possible that they and their
offspring could hope to achieve Spartiate status, for the title implies
some kind of citizen status.”” Another such group were the hypomeiones,
or “inferiors.” The hypomeiones are mentioned in only one ancient source
early in the fourth century.’® But there is no reason to doubt that they
existed during the Peloponnesian War. They seem chiefly to have been
men born to the Spartiate class, brought up through the Spartan system
of education, and otherwise eligible for Spartan citizenship but whose
poverty prevented them from contributing their share to the common
meals. As a result, they were excluded from citizenship, respect and
honor.” Still other free men outside the body of Spartiates were called
mothakes. Some of them seem to have been the illegitimate sons of
Spartiate men and helot women, but it is likely that others were Spar-
tan-born on both sides but too poor to contribute to the common meals,
that is, hypomeiones. They would, however, have gone through the

**A. Toynbee, Some Problems of Greek History (London, 1969), 305—306; P. Cartledge,
PCPS XXVII (1981), 17-38.

*For a summary of Sparta’s attempts to stimulate procreation, see P. Cartledge,
Sparta and Lakonia (London, 1979), 309—311.

*¢5.49.1; Xen. 4.3.2.

*7U. Kahrstedt, Griechisches Staatsrecht (Gottingen, 1922), vol. 1, 46ff. See also the
discussion by P. Oliva, Sparta and Her Social Problems (Amsterdam and Prague, 1971),
166—170.

**Xen. 3.3.6.

**Oliva, Sparta, 177-178; Cartledge, Sparta and Lakonia, 313-315.
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Spartan training and would have been elected to a common mess, their
portion contributed by a wealthier Spartan patron. Among those
mothakes known to us are three men who played a significant role in
the Peloponnesian War, the military commanders Gylippus, Callicra-
tidas, and Lysander. That these men of inferior origins could reach
positions of such honor and eminence meant that others could hope
to do the same, if only they could acquire enough wealth to gain the
economic basis for admission to a mess and to full citizenship. The
best hope for that was through military conquest. The destruction of
the Athenian Empire in the Aegean offered the opportunity for the
acquisition of wealth for the victorious Spartans and honor for their
leaders. Men who lacked the means for citizenship could hope to gain
it through warfare. Men like Gylippus and Lysander, who already
held citizenship but whose position of honor and respect was clouded
by inferior origins, could hope to improve their status by victory in
war. All of these men would provide powerful pressure for a more
forward and aggressive policy than was normal for Sparta.

Nor did the drive for “the hegemony of all Greece” lack support in
higher Spartan circles. The faction that had been eager to break the
Peace of Nicias since 421, that had favored sending help to the Syr-
acusans and fortifying Decelea, must have been riding high after the
defeat of the Athenians in Sicily. Agis, still bearing the glory and
influence given him by his victory at Mantinea, was at Decelea, en-
joying powers unusual even for a Spartan king and eager to increase
his reputation and power by pursuing the expected collapse of the
Athenian Empire under his leadership.®'

Those Spartans who traditionally had opposed adventures outside
the Peloponnesus, had favored the Peace of Nicias, and had resisted
sending help to Sicily and setting up a fort in Attica were certainly
less prominent in 413. The pacific King Pleistoanax found his already
weak position further undermined by the condemnation and exile of
his brother for cowardice at the battle of Mantinea.* So he was in no
position to provide effective leadership with the cautious policy he
favored, especially after Mantinea and Sicily. Yet he and those who
agreed with him, normally the dominant element in Sparta, had even

“The most important contribution to the above account is the article of D. Lotze,
(Historia XI [196 2], 427-435). Other useful discussions are Oliva, Sparta, 174-177; and
To?fnbee, Problems, 345, n. 3.

*'For the powers and influence of Agis at this time, see 8.5.1—¢4 and HCT V, 12.

*s.72.1; Kagan, Peace of Nicias, 126-128.
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14 THE FALL OF THE ATHENIAN EMPIRE

more reason than ever to oppose an aggressive resumption of the war.
Athens still held Pylos and Cythera, from which the Athenians could
foment trouble among the helots. The presence of growing numbers
of neodamodeis and hypomeiones, although armed to fight in the Spartan
cause, must have been the source of great disquiet. Early in the fourth
century, Xenophon describes such men as unable to conceal their
eagerness “to eat the Spartans raw.”® No more than fifteen years earlier
the danger they presented would not have escaped any Spartan who
cared to look. The rise in the influence of Agis and the aggressive men
around him would have provided even more reason to fear an under-
taking that would move Spartan and Peloponnesian armies far from
home and whose success would strengthen their power even more.
Although not in a position to prevent vigorous prosecution of the war
in 413, the friends of a cautious and peaceful policy could be expected
to cause trouble if the expected easy victory did not come quickly.

The aggressive group faced practical problems at once. Building
ships would require money, but manning them would cost even more.
Raising rebellions in the Aegean and the Hellespont, supporting them
against the Athenians, and facing the Athenians in naval battles would
require large fleets that might need to stay at sea for long periods, and
their sailors would have to be paid. Sparta itself was in no position to
provide the necessary forces. The Spartans had few ships and little or
no money. They had relied in the past on their allies for both, but the
war had done terrible things to the economic strength of the most
important allies. Thucydides tells us that Sparta’s allies were “jointly
enthusiastic” to be rid of the great hardships of the war, “even more
than they had been before.”* But some at least seem to have been less
eager than others. The Corinthians stalled when the Spartans proposed
to sail from the Isthmus to help the Chians launch their rebellion,
asking for a delay until after the Isthmian games.®

Even when Sparta’s allies from the Greek mainland were zealous,
moreover, they were not able to provide the amount of naval power
needed to defeat Athens. When the Spartans prepared for the war in
the Aegean, they established a quota of ships to be built by each of
their allies: 25 for themselves and the same number for the Boeotians;
15 for the Corinthians and the same number for the Locrians and

“3.3.6.
“8.2.1.
“8.9.
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Phocians together; 10 for the consortium of Arcadia, Pellene, and
Sicyon; and another 10 for the team of Megara, Troezen, Epidaurus,
and Hermione.* The total aimed at was 100 triremes, a number not
adequate to achieve supremacy over the Athenians. But there is reason
to doubt that even that quota was achieved. In the spring of 412, only
39 ships were ready to begin the campaign.”’ For the rest of the war
at sea there were apparently very few ships sent from Sparta’s mainland
allies and, even then, only rarely.

The Spartans also put great hope in their Sicilian allies, thinking
“they would probably come at the beginning of spring with the great
naval force they had already been forced to acquire.”® In this respect,
too, the Spartan hopes proved to be excessive. Thucydides tells us of
only 20 ships from Syracuse and 2 from Selinus that joined the Spartan
fleet in 412.7° Xenophon reports that these 22 ships were joined by §
more from Syracuse, which arrived in 409 in time to help in the defense
of Ephesus.” The paucity of the Sicilian contribution to Sparta’s cam-
paigns in the Aegean and Hellespont may well have been related to
troubles at home. A democratic revolution at Syracuse undercut the
position of Hermocrates, the greatest champion of Spartan interests
and of a forward policy.”” He was exiled and killed in an attempt to
return to power, and his democratic opponents were clearly not in-
terested in vigorous support for a Spartan war far from home after the
threat from Athens was gone. In 409, moreover, Carthage launched a
major campaign to conquer Greek Sicily, which fully occupied the
Sicilians for the rest of the century.” The Spartans could not have

©8.3.2.

¢’8.7; of them only twenty-one were hauled over the causeway from the Corinthian
to the Saronic Gulf whence they could sail into the Aegean (8.8.4, 10.2).

“Thucydides mentions five Corinthian, one Megarian, and one Hermionian ship
that Astyochus took to Miletus (8.33.1); he tells of five from Corinth, two from Am-
bracia, two from Boeotia, and one each from Leucas and Pellene captured by the
Athenians at Cynossema (8.106.3). Xenophon tells of a naval expedition to the Hel-
lespont in 410 led by Clearchus consisting of fifteen ships manned by “Megarians and
other allies” (1.1.36). Diodorus mentions the Boeotians as holding the left wing at the
battle of Arginusae in 406, but he gives no figures. These seem to be the only references
to t9he participation of Sparta’s mainland allies in the naval war after 413.

°8.2.3.

7°8.26.1. Diodorus (13.34.4 and 63.1) puts the number of Syracusan ships at 35,
making no mention of Selinuntians, but Xenophon (Xex. 1.2.8) confirms the Syracusan
figure at twenty. Presumably, they were the same forces that fought at Cynossema
and Cyzicus (8.104—106; Xen. 1.2.8).

7'1.2.8.

Diod. 13.34.6, 39.4, 63, 75.2—9; Xen. 1.1.27-31, 3.13.
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16 THE FALL OF THE ATHENIAN EMPIRE

foreseen these events, but their experience in the Archidamian War
might have made them wary. In 431 they had asked their allies in
Sicily and Italy for soo ships and received none.” To expect a vast
reinforcement, far from Sicily and after the Athenian assault had been
shattered and there was no more danger, would, in any case, have
been unrealistic.

The Spartans and their allies thus had no prospect of acquiring
sufficient ships or funds from their own resources. Realistic hopes of
defeating Athens, even after the Sicilian disaster, depended on the
possibility of obtaining support from the only source rich enough to
produce success, the treasury of the Persian Empire. To gain Persian
support, however, the Spartans would have to come to terms with the
Great King, and that promised to be no easy task. They took great
pride in their reputation as leaders of the Greek resistance to Persia,
which dated from the sixth century.” In fact, they had entered the
war proclaiming the slogan “Freedom for the Greeks.”’® The Persians,
however, would certainly demand at least the recovery of their do-
minion over the Greeks of Asia Minor in return for support of the
Spartan war against Athens. It would be difficult for most Spartans
to accept the abandonment of the Asiatic Greeks as the price of a
Persian alliance. The conservative faction was sure to attack such a
bargain as dishonorable, but even aggressive Spartans might be reluc-
tant to undo the glory obtained by the Greeks under Spartan leadership
by freeing their fellow Greeks from Persian rule. Moreover, the more
rapacious among them wanted revenues from the Greek cities diverted
from Athens not to Persia but to Sparta. Negotiations for the necessary
Persian aid would be delicate, and success was by no means certain.

In 413 there was good reason to think that the Persians might be
willing to join in the war against Athens. The growth of the Athenian
Empire had come at Persia’s expense, driving the Persians from the
Aegean Sea and the Hellespontine waterways and depriving the Great
King of the Greek cities of Asia Minor and the revenues they produced.
Probably more serious than the financial loss was the blow to the pride
of the Achaemenid monarchs, each of whom styled himself “Great

”Diod. 13.54.
7‘1
75

7.2
wis, Sparta and Persia, 62—63.
1.124.3; 1.139.3; 2.8.4; 3.32.2, 63.3; 4.85.1, 86.1.
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King, King of Kings, King of peoples with many kinds of men, King
on this great earth far and wide, etc.””’

Even after the Peace of Callias had put a formal end to the war
between Athens and Persia at mid-century, hostilities continued, spo-
radically and at a lower level, in what one scholar has called a “Cold
War.””® The Persians appear to have violated the peace by supporting
rebellions against Athens in Caria, Lycia, Mysia, and the Hellespontine
area, and the Athenian penetration beyond the treaty line into the
Black Sea appears to have been a counterviolation.

In any case, the behavior of the Persian satrap Pissuthnes in 440
was certainly an act of hostility toward Athens. He made an alliance
with the Samian rebels and held an Athenian garrison hostage on their
behalf.”” No doubt Pissuthnes was an especially powerful and inde-
pendent satrap, as his later rebellion would show.® But there is no
reason to think he was acting against the royal will. The report that
a Phoenician fleet was moving against the Athenians on Samos was
convincing enough to make Pericles take sixty ships from the block-
ading force and sail toward Caria to head it off. Although it never
appeared in the Aegean, it may have been intended merely to draw
Athenian attention and weaken the effort at Samos.*' The movement
of the fleet would clearly indicate official approval of the satrap’s action.
In any case, Pissuthnes’ behavior was neither disowned nor punished.

It was probably soon after the suppression of the Samian rebellion,

"’For this form of the royal title, see Lewis (Sparta and Persia, 78). The Persian kings
may even have felt a religious injunction to regain the coastal regions of their empire
in Asia Minor; for S. K. Eddy (CP LXVIII [1973], 247) the Persian king’s “right to
rule all Asia rested on no less a sanction than the will of Ahura Mazda himself.”

Eddy, CP LXVIII (1973), 241—258; Lewis (Sparta and Persia, 59—61) challenges
some of Eddy’s interpretations, arguing, in general, that the evidence for Atheno-
Persian conflict is pushed too hard, but he does not deny the reality of some such
conflict.

"1.115.4—5. Diodorus says that the 700 mercenaries the Samian rebels raised were
a gift from Pissuthnes (12.27.3), and there is no reason to doubt, at least, that they
were raised with the satrap’s permission, with due respect to Lewis (Sparta and Persia,
59, n. 65).

#Cresias 52. He was also of royal blood, the grandson of Darius I (Lewis, Sparta
and Persia, 55 and 80).

*'Such is the suggestion of Eddy (CP LXVIII [1973), 250). Lewis (Sparta and Persia,
59—60) believes there was no Persian fleet, but Diodorus (12.27.5) and Plutarch (Per.
26. 1) flatly state otherwise. Even if these later sources are unreliable, the undoubted
fact that Pericles believed in the fleet’s reality should weigh more heavily than Lewis’
doubts about a “tight” timetable for mobilizing the Phoenician navy. If there was such
a fleet, we can, in Lewis’ words, “hardly acquit the King of complicity.”
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18 THE FALL OF THE ATHENIAN EMPIRE

perhaps in 437, that Pericles led his famous expedition into the Black
Sea to demonstrate Athenian power in the region and, perhaps, to
warn the Persians not to repeat the indiscretion of Pissuthnes.*” Prob-
ably no such warning was needed in the 430s, for the failure of the
Spartan alliance to support the Samians and the Athenian victory were
enough to indicate that the power of Athens in the Aegean was still
too strong to challenge in peacetime. Nor should we forget that the
coast of Asia Minor was a very small part of the concerns of the Great
King, who had troubles and responsibilities all over a vast empire.
The perspective in Susa or Persepolis was very different from that in
Athens, Sparta, or even Sardis and Dascylium, where Persia’s west-
ernmost satraps had their palaces.

The outbreak of a major war in Greece in 431, however, presented
the Persians with another occasion to annoy the Athenians. In the
spring of 430 factional strife at Colophon gave Pissuthnes the oppor-
tunity to intervene again. He sent a subordinate, Itamenes, with some
non-Greek troops from the vicinity; Itamenes took the city, driving
the friends of Athens into exile at Notium. There, factional quarrels
broke out again, one side obtaining mercenary soliders from Pis-
suthnes. At last the Athenian general Paches arrived, defeated the
mercenary army and the pro-Persian faction, established an Athenian
colony at Notium, and restored the friends of Athens to control of
Colophon.*’ The behavior of the Persian satrap persuaded anti-Athe-
nian exiles from Ionia and Lesbos that Pissuthnes was ready to join
the Spartans in the war against Athens, but they were unable to con-
vince the timid Spartan admiral Alcidas to seize a coastal town as a
base for a general lonian revolt.* Pissuthnes appears also to have
supported rebellions against Athens in Caria some time between 430
and 425, and the Athenians may have retaliated by levying tribute
from towns under Persian control on the Black Sea.*

Late in 425 the Athenians received striking evidence of the danger
to them posed by Persia. One of their generals intercepted Arta-
phernes, a Persian envoy from the Great King of Sparta. At Athens
his letters were translated and read, clearly revealing diplomatic ne-
gotiations. The Great king did not know what the Spartans wanted.

*For the date and purpose of the expedition, see Kagan, Qutbreak, 387-389; cf.,
however, Lewis, Sparta and Persia, 60, n. 70.

3.34.
3.31.
“Eddy, CP LXVIII (1973), 255—256.
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“Though many envoys had come to him, they did not say the same
things. If they wanted to say anything that was clear they should send
men to him in the company of the Persian messenger.”*® Whatever the
problems of communication may have been, there can be no doubt of
what the Spartans wanted. As early as 430 they had sent a mission to
the Great King to see if “they might persuade him to provide them
money and join with them in the war.” There were evidently more
missions in the interim, but what must have alarmed the Athenians
in 425 was the discovery that the Persian king now took the initiative.

We can only speculate about the Persian motives. Perhaps the news
of the totally unforeseen Athenian success at Pylos and Sphacteria was
responsible. We should remember that all of the Greeks expected
Athens to yield after a few years of resistance at most. Little that
happened before 425 would have brought that assumption into ques-
tion, so there was no reason for the Persians to intervene. They could
hope that the Spartans would do their work for them, that in due
course the Greek cities of Asia Minor would be conquered without
much effort. The Spartan surrender at Sphacteria changed all that.
The shock destroyed Spartan confidence, allowed the Athenians to
raise the tribute and solve their financial problems, and encouraged
expectations of a helot rebellion, defections from the Spartan alliance,
and an Athenian victory.* Darius might fear not only the reaffirmation
of Persian exclusion from the Aegean and the Hellespont but even
more attacks from a victorious, strengthened, and emboldened Athens.

For the Athenians, the new Persian initiative was alarming. All that
had been accomplished by their miraculous success at Sphacteria could
be undone if Persia placed its wealth and naval power at the disposal
of the Spartans. They therefore sent Artaphernes back to Ephesus on
a trireme in the company of some Athenian envoys to the Great King.
We are not told the intent of their mission, but it seems likely that
they at least meant to improve relations with Persia and prevent an
agreement between Persia and the Spartan alliance. Whatever their
purpose, it was not achieved, for at Ephesus they learned that King
Artaxerxes had died, so they returned to Athens.®

Thucydides mentions no further negotiations, but in 391 the orator
Andocides spoke of a treaty negotiated by his uncle Epilycus “estab-

#4.50.2.
73.67.1.
%8 4.40—41; Kagan, Archidamian War, 248-251.
*4.50.3.
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lishing friendship forever” with the king of Persia.™ Athenian orators
are notorious for their distortion and even invention of historical in-
formation to suit their needs, and Andocides is equally guilty.” The
evidence of inscriptions, however, lends considerable support to the
historicity of the treaty of Epilycus. A fourth-century copy of a fifth-
century decree honors a certain Heracleides for his role in helping to
negotiate a treaty with the Persian king. Although establishing the
probable date and content of the treaty requires an ingenious combi-
nation of epigraphical restoration and interpretation, one distinguished
epigrapher and historian is confident enough to say: “Few things are
more certain in fifth-century history than that the decree honours
Heraclides of Clazomenae for helping an Athenian embassy on which
Andocides’ uncle Epilycus, a member of the Boule, served to negotiate
a treaty with King Darius in 424—423.”"

There need be no surprise that the Athenians moved as swiftly as
possible to prevent Persian assistance to Sparta. By the end of 424,
Brasidas had taken Amphipolis and was threatening to disrupt the
entire Thracian-Macedonian region of the Athenian Empire. Persian
support in ships and money would liberate Brasidas from reliance on
the untrustworthy king of Macedonia and unleash him for further
conquests, perhaps even for a march eastwards to the Hellespont. Such
a terrifying prospect easily explains why the Athenians rushed to make
terms even with the newly enthroned and very insecure king of Persia,
Darius II.

The confusion resulting from the death of Artaxerxes I has led one
scholar to speak of the ensuing period as the “Year of the Four Em-

*And. 3.29.

*' Andrewes, Historia X (1961), 2—3.

“’Meiggs, Atbenian Empire, 135. The most important inscription is /G 1* 8=GHI,
70. Since the inscription mentions Tagwovdas and Bagihéws, the topic is clearly a
treaty with the Great King of Persia, who alone is called “the king,” without further
description. The date 424/23 is established by a set of linkages with officials listed on
inscriptions datable to that year set out by H. T. Wade-Gery (Essays in Greek History
[Oxford, 1958], 201—232). D. L. Stockton’s vigorous assault on the major aspects of
this interpretation (Historia V1II [1959], 61—79) is met successfully by Andrewes (H's-
toria X [1961], 3, n. 6) and Meiggs-Lewis (GH/, 202—203). There have been several
suggestions for different dates ranging from 422/21 to a little before 415. Lewis has
evaluated them and has also made good use of evidence from the Persian Empire,
including a new tablet from Babylon. He concludes: “I do not think that the current
dating of the treaty is obviously wrong, and the new tablet, by advancing the date at
which Darius may seem likely to come out on top, usefully relaxes the rightness of
the timetable” (Sparta and Persia, 77).
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perors” in analogy with the chaotic year of civil war following the
death of the Roman Emperor Nero.”” Artaxerxes was succeeded by
his only legitimate son, the offspring of his Persian wife, who took the
throne as Xerxes II. But Artaxerxes had also sired 17 bastard sons by
various concubines, and one of them, Sogdianus, was able to seize the
throne and kill Xerxes only forty-five days after his accession. His
position was soon challenged by another of Artaxerxes’ bastard sons,
Ochus, satrap of Hyrcania. Ochus’ rebellion was successful, and he
took the throne as Darius II, being recognized as king as early as August
16, 424.°* But 16 bastard sons of Artaxerxes remained, as well as others
whose pure Persian blood and descent from the royal family might
make them think they had a better claim to the throne than Darius.
In fact, he was soon faced with a rebellion, the first of several, led by
his full brother Arsites.®’

In these circumstances, Darius must have been no less eager than
the Athenians to come to an agreement. Far from having any interest
in helping the Spartans, Darius needed protection against Athenian
intervention on the side of his enemies, for Arsites was already em-
ploying Greek mercenaries against him.” These considerations help
explain the treaty of Epilycus and may even lend support to Andocides’
version of its terms. The usual view is that the new treaty was merely
a renewal of the terms of the Peace of Callias, and so it may have
been.”” However, in the special circumstances of 424/23, both sides
may have wanted stronger assurances of friendly relations and
noninterference.”®

From the Persian point of view, at least, the treaty proved opportune.
Some time, probably not long, after the defeat of Arsites, Darius faced

“Lewis, Sparta and Persia, 73.

“*Our knowledge of these events comes chiefly from Ctesias (43~51), briefly and
generally supported by Diodorus (12.64.1 and 71.1). For an excellent discussion of the
difficult chronological problems, see Lewis, Sparta and Persia, 70-77.

“Ctesias 50—51. Andrewes (Historia X [1961], 4) is right to conclude that the rebellion
must have occurred “right at the beginning of the reign.” Not only is it the first event
mentioned by Ctesias after Darius’ accession, but “the last sentence of this section joins
executions of Xerxes’ murderers with the execution of Arsites.”

*Cresias 5o0.

97Wadc-Gery, Essays, 211; Andrewes, Historia X (1961), 5; Meiggs, Athenian Empire,
135.
*®A. Blamire’s perception of the situation seems to me to represent the best under-
standing of the motives of both Athenians and Persians. See his article in Pboenix XXIX

(1975), 21-26.
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another uprising, this time by Pissuthnes, the satrap at Sardis.” This
rebellion was even more dangerous, for Pissuthnes was the legitimate
grandson of Darius I, the experienced and well-entrenched satrap of
an important province, and his army included a force of Greek mer-
cenaries.'® Darius sent a force against him under the three generals,
the chief one being Tissaphernes. They bribed the mercenaries away
from the satrap, paying off their chief with lands and cities. Pissuthnes
was killed and his satrapy given to Tissaphernes. Darius was forced
to beat off still another, apparently lesser, threat to his throne some
time after 418.'"

During these troubles Darius must have been glad he had come to
terms with Athens, especially between 421 and 415, when Athens was
formally at peace and in practice regaining its strength and ambition.
After the defeat of his enemies, however, and the establishment of his
rule on a firm basis, Darius might look westward in the hope of re-
gaining Persia’s lost provinces. But with Athens at peace, Sparta oc-
cupied in the Peloponnesus, the Athenian navy in control of the sea,
and the Athenian treasury being filled by the increased tribute pay-
ments while not being drained by military expenditures, the Persian
king could take no action. He must wait for a better opportunity. As
one scholar has put it, “had it not been for the Athenian expedition
to Sicily, he might have had to wait for a very long time.”'”

An objective and well-informed observer of the scene in 413 might
have drawn some surprising conclusions. In spite of the Sicilian dis-
aster, the damage it had done to Athens, and the great enthusiasm of
its enemies, the outcome of the war was not much more predictable
than it had been at its start in 431. If the Athenians could keep their
nerve, limit expenditures, and keep control of their allies, they need
not give in, even though the defeat in Sicily provided an invitation for
Persian involvement. Unless the Persians were willing to make a con-
siderable investment, the Athenians could not be defeated at sea, and
Persia’s willingness to pay the price had yet to be demonstrated. No

#Ctesias §52. The date can be any time between 423 and 415; H. D. Westlake’s
arguments for a date early in the reign, in Phoenix XXXI (1977), 321-322, are persuasive.

'“For Pissuthnes’ lineage, see Lewis, Sparta and Persia, 55. The commander of the
mercenaries was an Athenian named Lycon, but as Andrewes (Historia X [1961], 4, n.
10) and Westlake (Phoenix XXXI [1977]), 321, n. 8) point out, his origin is no indication
of the policy or actions of his native state.

"!Ctesias §3. For the date, see Lewis, Sparta and Persia, 81.

'?Lewis, Sparta and Persia, 82.
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one could be sure that the Great King might not again be distracted
by problems in his vast empire. Even if he were not, there still remained
the question of whether his goals were compatible with those of the
Spartans. As in 431, no Athenian strategy could guarantee a victory
over the Peloponnesians, but even with its reduced resources, a Per-
iclean stand-off was still possible. What was different in 413 was that
the possibility of victory was available to Sparta if it could find a way
to engage Persian power on its side and use it effectively. That pos-
sibility existed, but it would not be easy to realize. In 413 the issue
was still very much in doubt, and the key to its resolution lay not in
Athens but in Sparta and in Persia.

Copyright © 2013. Cornell University Press. All rights reserved.
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2. The War in the Aegean

The last phase of the Peloponnesian War, Thucydides tells us,
started with both sides making preparations for it as if it were just
beginning.' Once again the initiative lay with Sparta while Athens
stayed on the defensive, guarded her treasury, and watched over her
allies. This time, however, there was no offensive element, not even
a measured and limited one. After Sicily, the Athens of the probouloi
had to be even more cautious than Pericles had been.

Sparta, on the other hand, needed to be more aggressive and in-
ventive, and under the leadership of Agis the Spartans were ready to
try. Archidamus had warned that if they went to war in 431 they
would pass that war on to their sons, and in 427/26 the old king, at
least, had done so.? His son, who commanded the Spartans at Decelea
in 413, was a more appropriate leader for the kind of war that was
now necessary than his cautious and reluctant father would have been.
Agis’ career before the battle at Mantinea had been marked by mis-
fortune, bad judgment, failure, and even disgrace. He had entered
that battle accompanied by ten xymbouloi, advisers sent to watch over
him, having avoided serious punishment only by promising to redeem
his previous blunders by brave deeds in battle.’ His leadership at
Mantinea amounted to a comedy of errors that would have produced
tragedy for Sparta had not Agis benefited from the timely restraint of
an adviser, disobedience to his absurd orders, and an important tactical

'8.5.1.
?1.81.6 (Archidamus’ prediction); 3.89.1 (Agis’ first command).
*Kagan, Peace of Nicias, 105~109.
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error by the enemy.* But victory has magical powers to erase the
memory of previous error, especially a victory of the magnitude and
significance of Mantinea. Agis emerged from that battle a hero, and
the disobedient captains were punished, putting the official seal of
approval on Agis’ strategic genius.

In 413 the Spartans sent him to command their permanent garrison
at Decelea, where he enjoyed extraordinary powers. He had full au-
thority “to send the army wherever he liked, to gather troops and
collect money. And during this period the allies obeyed him more than
those in the city of Sparta, one might say, for having an army under
his own control, he could swiftly appear anywhere and inspire fear.”
Agis, moreover, appears to have been eager to use this unusual power
aggressively to extend Sparta’s hegemony over the Greeks. Even before
Mantinea, there are clues that may indicate his association with the
aggressive faction in Sparta, and his behavior at that battle was that
of a man given to rash aggressiveness in an attempt to achieve military
distinction.® In any case, his actions in 413 made clear his energy and
determination to advance Spartan hegemony.

Late in the autumn of 413, Agis took part of his army from Decelea
and marched northward into Central Greece to the region of the Gulf
of Malis (see Map 1). There, he carried off many cattle as well as a
sum of money extorted from the Oeteans in payment and revenge for
a standing grudge. The Oeteans had attacked and oppressed both the
neighboring Trachinians and Doris, the traditional ancestral home of
the Dorians, leading the Spartans to establish a colony at Heraclea in
Trachis in 426. Heraclea was troubled immediately by misrule on the
part of its Spartan governors and by attacks from its neighbors.” In
the winter of 420/19 Heraclea received such treatment from its local
enemies that the Boeotians dismissed the Spartan governor and took
control of the city themselves, ostensibly to prevent it from falling into
Athenian hands, but the Spartans were angered.® It seems clear that
Agis’ purpose was more than revenge and included the recovery of
Heraclea, for that colony was back under Spartan control by 409,

*Ibid., 109-132.

°8.5.3.

‘For Agis’ association with the aggressive faction, see Kagan, Peace of Nicias, 84-86,
9o; for his behavior at Mantinea, see ibid., 105—132.

’3.92-93.

5.51—-52.1.
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when its Spartan harmost, or governor, was dying in battle against
the Oeteans.’

The Spartans had been eager to found the colony, Thucydides tells
us, because of its strategic location, “for a fleet could be equipped there
against Euboea in such a way as to have only a short crossing.”" In
light of Sparta’s plans for fomenting rebellion in the Aegean, the re-
covery of Heraclea might seem reason enough for Agis’ expedition,
but he clearly had larger plans in mind. He forced the Achaeans of
Phthiotis and other allies of the Thessalians, probably the Aenianians,
Dolopians, and Malians, to pay him money and to give hostages. He
placed the hostages at Corinth for safekeeping and used them to try
to force their people into the Spartan alliance. The Thessalians objected
but could do nothing to prevent the Spartans’ actions.'' Moreover,
there is some evidence that Agis may also have gained control of
Echinus and the borders of the Gulf of Malis at this time."” These
actions go far beyond the Spartans’ establishment of a colony at Her-
aclea in 426 and point to the policy of expanding their alliance and
power into Central Greece, a policy they would follow early into the
next century.'’ The actions also show that in 412 Agis was willing to

°Xen. 1.2.18. Andrewes (HCT V, 9) suggests that the Spartans regained Heraclea
before Agis’ expedition, “for if it has remained in Boeotian hands till now Thucydides’
silence about this would be hard to explain.” But Thucydides never mentions Sparta’s
recovery of its colony anywhere, so his silence about it, whenever it occurred, remains
hard to explain, as are so many of his silences. It is better to believe, with H. D.
Westlake, that “the activities of Agis in this area must have included the reestablishment
of Spartan control over the important outpost at Heraclea” (JHS LVIII [1938], 35).
Xenophon says explicitly that the Spartan governor in 409 was called “harmost.” H.
W. Parke’s suggestion that the Spartan governors of Heraclea were harmosts from its
fonljglding in 426 is persuasive (JHS L [1930], 39).

.92.4.

''8.3.1. Thucydides mentions only the Achaeans among the Thessalian allies. The
others, as Andrewes points out (HCT V, 9), must be the same peoples who assailed
Heraclea in 420 (5.51.1).

"?The Athenian speaker in Aristophanes’ Lysistrata (1169-1170), when asked to make
acounterdemand to the Spartans’ request for the restoration of Pylos, mentions Echinus
and the Gulf of Malis, as well as the long walls of Megara. All of these names are grist
for the comedian’s mill, for they provide splendid opportunities for obscene double
meanings. It is precisely the genius of Aristophanes to provide real contemporary
allusions as the basis for his jokes. We know that Pylos and Megara, each of which
allows obscene interpretation, werereal places subject to bargaining. There is no reason
to doubt that the other two references were equally relevant. As Andrewes points out,
“it can hardly be coincidence that Agis had been active here little, if at all, more than
twelve months before” (HCT V, g).

BHCT V, 10.
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pursue vigorous and aggressive action that went beyond traditional
bounds. "*

Upon his return to Decelea from the Gulf of Malis, Agis received
visits from two sets of envoys to discuss rebellion from the Athenian
Empire. First came the Euboeans, encouraged, no doubt, by Agis’
recent campaign near Heraclea. Agis received them warmly and sent
word to Sparta for Alcamenes and Melanthus to lead 300 neodamodeis
to Euboea. As they were preparing to cross over to the island, another
embassy arrived, this one from Lesbos. The Lesbians were accom-
panied and supported by the Boeotians and were able to persuade Agis
to delay the Euboean expedition and support a rebellion on Lesbos
instead. The Boeotians promised to provide ten ships; Agis would
provide an equal number, along with Alcamenes as harmost, or com-
mander, and his corps of neodamodeis.'* Agis may have been persuaded
by the offer of ten ships or by some strategic consideration not men-
tioned by the ancient sources, but we also suspect that he was much
influenced by the Boeotians, whose growing power and strategic lo-
cation gave them considerable importance in the new situation.

Agis made these decisions at Decelea by virtue of his special powers,
but his was not the last word. Two other delegations came to seek
Spartan support for rebellions from Athens, but they went not to Agis
at Decelea but to Sparta itself. One came from Chios and Erythrae,
and, most striking, it was accompanied and supported by an envoy
from Tissaphernes, the Persian satrap of Sardis.'® The other one was
composed of two Greeks, Calligeitus of Megara and Athenagoras of
Cyzicus, exiles from their home cities, speaking in behalf of Pharna-
bazus, satrap of the Hellespontine province with his capital at Das-
cylium. They urged the Spartans to support the rebellions of Greek
cities in the Hellespontine region."” The most remarkable part of these

“Westlake (JHS LVIII [1938], 35~36) has suggested an even more ambitious purpose
for Agis’ actions: “to reopen the land-route to Thrace.” This would allow the Spartans
to cause defections from Athens in the Chaicidice, to prevent the Athenians from
obtaining timber for ship-building in Macedon, and to put more pressure on Thessaly.
Since execution of this “northern plan” never went beyond these actions around the
Gulf of Malis, we cannot be sure of these grander goals. Nor is there evidence to
support Westlake’s suggestion that Alcibiades, collaborating with Agis, was the inventor
of the scheme (see Hatzfeld, Alcibiade, 214).

"*8.5.1-2. For a discussion of the role of harmosts, see H. W. Parke, JHS L (1930),
37—-39; and G. Bokisch, Klio XLVI (1965), 129-239.

'“8.5.4.

8.5.4—5, 6.1.
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developments was that two Persian satraps, each acting under the
urging of the Great King, offered to cooperate with Sparta in the war
against Athens.

What led Darius to abandon his recent treaty with Athens, not a
dozen years old, and the older Persian policy of maintaining peace
with Athens that dated from mid-century? Thucydides tells us that
both satraps had lately been pressed by the Great King once again to
collect tribute from the Greek cities in their provinces. The king plainly
was also holding his satraps responsible for the payment of arrears of
tribute, which they had been unable to collect from the Greek cities
because of the Athenians.'® Both, therefore, hoped to weaken the Athe-
nian power and remove Athens’ hold over the cities, and both sought
an alliance with the Spartans for that purpose. Tissaphernes had a
special reason for wanting an alliance with Sparta. Amorges, bastard
son of Pissuthnes, was in rebellion against the Great King in Caria,
and Tissaphernes had been ordered to bring in Amorges, dead or
alive.'” Thucydides later makes it clear that soon after the Persian
negotiations with Sparta, the Athenians were allied with Amorges,
and the orator Andocides says that the Athenian decision to make an
alliance with Amorges was the cause of Persia’s decision to join with
Sparta.”

Andocides considered the alliance with Amorges an example of Ath-
ens’ “customary mischief,” the abandonment of powerful allies in favor
of weaker ones.”' Modern scholars, assuming that the alliance with
Amorges was concluded before the Persian negotiations with Sparta,
regard the alliance as a foolish and frivolous gamble that was respon-

"*8.5.5. In theory these cities could be thought of as owing payment ever since their
liberation in the Persian War of 480/79, but Herodotus tells of a law whereby arrears
in tribute were forgiven upon the accession of a new king (6. 59), so the arrears demanded
could date no earlier than 424. O. Murray (Historia XV [1966], 148—149) makes a
persuasive argument, however, that Darius demanded only the arrears for the period
since each satrap took over his province, in Tissaphernes’ case “some time after 420
and before 412—a maximum of eight years, and probably less than four.” Andrewes
(HCT V, 16) rightly points out that Thucydides’ language, especially his use of the
word vewori, “lately,” for the timing of the king’s demand, suggests something new
that had recently changed the situation and suggests that “the obvious new factor is
Athens’ support of Amorges and breach with Darius.” But the date of that support
and breach is not known and is not the only possible “new factor,” as will be argued
below.

°8.5.5.

98.28.2-5, 54.3; And. 3.29.

M3.29.
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sible for the change in Persian policy.”” But apart from the assertion
of Andocides, there is no evidence for the date of Athens’ alliance with
Amorges. Some scholars have tried to use an inscription that seems
to place an Athenian general in Ephesus in March of 414 as evidence
for Athens’ support of the revolt of Amorges at that time.”’ They
suggest that the general was there in connection with the alliance with
Amorges “to prevent Tissaphernes collecting tribute,” or “presumably
operating in support of Pissuthnes and Amorges,” or on the assumption
that “Athenian support for Amorges would be a reason for a general
being there in 414.””* But this is mere fantasy. There are many reasons
why an Athenian general might have been in Ephesus in the spring
of 414, and support of a rebellion of Amorges is one of the least likely.
Later events would show that the loyalty of Ephesus was very much
in question, so a general might have been needed to keep an eye on
the Ephesians. Another possibility might be the desire on the part of
the Athenians to collect arrears in tribute by a show of force, as they
had done elsewhere. On the other hand, Ephesus was by no means
the likeliest place for an Athenian force sent to help Amorges, for
Miletus was closer to his base at Iasus.”” The inscription is simply of
no use in dating Athens’ alliance with Amorges.

We are left with the claim of Andocides, and that orator “is at all
times a bad witness.”* In his speech On the Peace, Andocides supports
his thesis with three examples showing Athens supporting weak allies
in preference to strong ones. The first is the alliance with Amorges.
The second alleges an offer from the Syracusans, before the Sicilian
expedition, of an alliance with Athens. The third is Athens’ decision
to launch an attack on Laconia in 414 at the behest of its Argive allies.”’
The last of these examples is factually correct, although incomplete
and tendentious. The second is certainly an invention without factual

2QOpinions are cited by H. D. Westlake, Phoenix XXXI (1977), 319, n. 2.

“The inscription (IG 1* = GHI, 77, 1.79) reads orpateyd &V E¢[égor. . ., and the
restoration of Ephesus is plausible.

**The quotations are from H. T. Wade-Gery (Essays in Greek History [Oxford, 1958,
223), R. Meiggs and D. Lewis (GH/, 236), and A. Andrewes (Historia X [1961], §), in
that order.

“These and other likely suggestions are made by Westlake (Phoenix XXXI [1977],

23).
3 23“/\ndrewes (Historia X [1961], 2). Westlake (Phoenix XXXI [1977], 325) adds that
“the speech of Andocides On the Peace is conspicuous, even among those of Attic orators,
for its inaccuracies.”

27
3.20-31.
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basis.’® The first example, the alliance with Amorges, however, falls
into a separate category, neither entirely true nor completely false.
The basic facts are correct: there was a treaty of Epilycus, an alliance
with Amorges, Persian support for Sparta, and Athenian misfortune
as a result. But the “conclusions derived from these facts are by no
means above suspicion, and there is reason to believe that [Andocides]
is guilty of trying to deceive his audience.”” If Andocides is correct
and the Athenians made their treaty with Amorges before the Persian
negotiations with Sparta, we should have expected Thucydides to have
made note of that fact. Although his omissions are not infrequent and
sometimes are inexplicable, this one appears especially unlikely. Not
only would it be important for the reader to know the correct order
of events to comprehend cause and effect, but in this case, reporting
the events as Andocides does would forcibly support one of Thucy-
dides’ chief interpretative themes, the reckless foolishness of the Athe-
nian democracy.’ It seems more likely, therefore, that Andocides has
distorted the chronology to make his point, a common practice among
Athenian orators.*' If that is so, the Athenians would have joined with
Amorges only after they knew of the Persians’ overtures to Sparta “in
the following spring, . . . when the Athenians knew that Tissaphernes
was plotting against them.”*? At such a time, Athens would have little
to lose and something to gain by joining with a rebel against the
Persians. ‘
But what, if not the news of an Athenian treaty with Amorges,
persuaded the Persians to approach Sparta with offers of help? The
most obvious and likeliest answer is that other news set events in

*Andrewes (Historia X [1961], 3) says that this assertion “must be imaginary, a
reckless heightening of the dramatic decision taken by Athens in 415.” Westlake points
out that the story is not mentioned elsewhere, and he thinks it was “probably a fab-
rication of his [Andocides’] own designed to strengthen his plea for peace” (Phoensix
XXXI [1977], 325).

Westlake, Phoenix XXXI (1977), 325-326.

*Westlake’s statement of the matter deserves quotation: “One aspect of relations
between the Athenians and Amorges might have been expected to have aroused the
interest of Thucydides if indeed, when already engaged on a major offensive in Sicily,
they chose to sacrifice the advantages of their treaty with Persia by supporting a rebel
and thereby provoking Persian reprisals. Thucydides would surely have ranked this
decision among the errors in judgment whereby, in his opinion, through abandoning
the advice of Pericles, they brought upon themselves their ultimate defeat (2.65.7-13)”
(ibid., 327).

'Ibid., 326.

“Ibid., 328-329.
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motion—news of the Athenian disaster in Sicily. There is no chron-
ological barrier to such an interpretation, which seems far more at-
tractive than an unsupported reliance on Andocides. The Sicilian
defeat came in September, and the Persian mission to Sparta could
have come as late as March in the following year, a period of at least
five months, which was plenty of time for the Great King to get the
news, to decide on a change of policy, to communicate it to his satraps,
and for them to send embassies to Sparta.” If we accept the significance
of the Sicilian disaster in the Persian decision, the date of the Athenian
treaty with Amorges in relation to the Persian negotiations with Sparta
becomes less important, and we can better understand Thucydides’
lack of interest in precision on this point. After the news of Sicily
reached Persia, the Great King could be expected to seek the recovery
of his lost domain from a badly wounded Athens and to join with
Sparta to achieve those ends. If Amorges sought Athenian help in the
autumn or winter of 413/12, the Athenians would not have been reck-
less or foolish to accept. “It was their best chance of keeping the
Persians busy and giving them no opportunity to assist Sparta in ‘lib-
erating’ the cities of Ionia.”** Whether the Persians had already begun
discussions with Sparta, as the silence of Thucydides powerfully ar-
gues, or would do so soon, as acceptance of the chronology of An-
docides indicates, makes little difference. Reality required a positive
response. “In the desperate situation in which the Athenians found
themselves their decision to cooperate with Amorges was not foolhardy
but perfectly reasonable.”?

That the envoys from the Persian satraps went not to Agis but
directly to Sparta was, no doubt, both normal and natural, although
they may also have learned of Agis’ negotiations with the Euboeans
and Lesbians. They were not, in any case, acting in concert but as
rivals, each trying to win Spartan support for a rebellion against Athens
in his own province. Each wanted to bring back the Greek cities under

PLewis (Sparta and Persia, 87, n. 25) says of the chronology proposed here that “it
is likely to be a tight fit” and leans toward the theory of the Athenian treaty with
Amorges as a cause of the Persian volte face. He concedes that the other interpretation
“is perhaps possible,” but his arguments against it are limited to the following assertion:
“it seems unlikely that the King can have had reliable news of it until well on in
November.” On the contrary, such astonishing and important news would probably
have traveled faster than most. In any case, a November date for the king'’s reception
of the information in no way excludes the chronology suggested here.

*A. G. Woodhead, Thucydides on the Nature of Power (Cambridge, Mass., 1970), 147.

“Westlake, Pboenix XXXI (1977), 329.
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his jurisdiction and to make them pay tribute to Persia, and each
wanted the credit for bringing the Spartans into alliance with the Great
King.’® The Spartans were also divided in counsel, even more so than
the Persians. First, there was a division between opinion in Sparta and
the plans of Agis at Decelea. The king had decided on support for the
Lesbians, but in Sparta there was no thought of such an action. The
suggestion has been made that the rejection of Agis’ plan in Sparta
was evidence of the continuing rivalry between kings and ephors,*’
but there is little reason to think so. The political situation at Sparta
in 413/12 is far from clear, but it was more complex than a struggle
between ephors and kings. We must assume that Pleistoanax remained
hostile to all adventurous policies that required expeditions outside the
Peloponnesus, and naval ones at that, but Pleistoanax and those of his
view were out of favor. Agis was working with the Boeotians, and we
may guess that he was supported by the friends of Xenares and Cleo-
bulus, the aggressive ephors of 420/ 19 whom Plutarch called “the Boeo-
tian party.”® But Xenares was dead, Cleobulus had returned to
obscurity, and other men were influential in Sparta.

In Sparta itself, Thucydides makes clear, “there was great conflict,
so that some tried to persuade the assembly to send an army and navy
to Ionia and Chios first, while others argued for the Hellespont.™® We
do not know who supported the proposal of Pharnabazus, but we do
know that the proposal of the Chians and of Tissaphernes was sup-
ported by the ephor Endius, urged on by his hereditary family friend
Alcibiades. Sound arguments could be made in support of any of the
four proposals. The loss of Euboea would be a terrible blow to Athens.
The Athenians had moved their flocks to that island early in the war,
and they counted on it for provisions. When it finally revolted in 411,
they were more frightened than after the Sicilian disaster, for “they
got more benefit from it than from Attica.”* If the Spartans could
acquire control of Lesbos, they would gain a large, rich, and populous
island. Even more important was its strategic location, for it was well
situated to serve as a base for a campaign to cut off Athens’ lifeline

*°8.6.1.

*"Hatzfeld, Alcibiade, 216.

*Nic. 10.7.

*8.6.2. Although the assembly is not specifically mentioned, the language of Thu-
cydides makes it plain that the discussion and decision took place in the Spartan
assembly. See Lewis, Sparta and Persia, 8¢.

“Flocks: 2.14; provisions: 7.28.1; revolt in 411: 8.96.1—2.
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through the Hellespont, the quickest and surest way to end the war.
Pharnabazus’ offer had a similar appeal, with the additional attraction
of Persian financial support.

The Spartans, however, were much more attracted to the proposal
from the Chians and Tissaphernes. The offers from Euboea and Lesbos
were less tempting because they carried with them neither a Greek
fleet nor the promise of Persian support. At first, the proposal of
Pharnabazus might seem the best, for success in the Hellespont prom-
ised the quickest victory, and his envoys brought with them 2 talents
in hard cash.* Pharnabazus, though independent of Tissaphernes,
appears to have had less power than the satrap of Sardis, who may
have held a “superior command in the west for the war against Ath-
ens.”* Nor could he offer a significant fleet, as the Chians could, and
the Spartans may have been embarrassed to prefer alliance with a satrap
to an opportunity to come to the rescue of a Greek state seeking
freedom.* All of these things were reasons enough for the Spartans
to choose to aid Chios, supported by Tissaphernes, but Thucydides
offers a different reason for their decision. He clearly implies that the
fact that Alcibiades, working through the ephor Endius, supported the
Chians and Tissaphernes was what decided the issue.*

Here, as elsewhere, Thucydides appears to exaggerate the influence
of Alcibiades, but we should not doubt that the Athenian renegade
advocated the course described or that his advice had some effect on
his friend and, through him, on the Spartan decision. That advice in

*'8.8.1.

*Such is Andrewes’ plausible interpretation of Thucydides’ account of Tissaphernes’
title: BacueL Aapei® Tw "Apratéptov aTpatyos hy Tav kétw (8.5.4) (HCT V, 13-16).
Lewis (Sparta and Persia, 86) is cautious about Tissaphernes’ powers and especially
about his relationship with Pharnabazus, but he says of the phrase that “the implication
should be that he holds a position different in kind and probably wider in extent than
the simple satrapy of Sardis.”

“This last suggestion is made by Lewis, Sparta and Persia, 89.

*“The relevant passage is 8.6.2-3, where Thucydides first speaks of the division of
opinion at Sparta; then tells us that the Spartans, nevertheless, inclined toward the
Chians and Tissaphernes; and next says: fuvémpacae yap avrois kal *ANkiBuadns.
... The yap seems clearly to have a causal force here, as Andrewes’ refutation (HCT
V, 19) rightly assumes. That Endius was cooperating with Alcibiades after being tricked
by him in 420 (see Kagan, Peace of Nicias, 66—70) is surprising, and not enough is known
of the affair in 420 to permit a confident explanation. On the assumption that Endius
and Alcibiades were not confederates on the earlier occasion and that the Spartan was
really tricked, Andrewes’ explanation will serve better than most: “In these different
circumstances they could be useful to one another, and the quarrel of eight years ago
forgotten.”
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part, must have come from his intelligent appraisal of the military and
diplomatic situation, but Alcibiades was always in a precarious situ- '
ation in Sparta. He needed to prove his value to his ever-suspicious
hosts, and the campaign in Ionia implied by the support of a Chian
revolt offered him a unique opportunity. He had important friends at
Miletus, Ephesus, and Chios in the Ionian region, where he might
hope to present himself to the Spartans as an “indispensable man.”*

The Spartans, though inclined toward the view of Alcibiades and
Endius, proceeded with caution. They sent a periotkos (a non-Spartan
Laconian) named Phrynis to Chios to see if the Chian navy was as
large and the city’s power as great as the Chians claimed. When he
returned with affirmative answers, the Spartans voted to take the
Chians and the Erythraeans, who lived across the bay from them, into
their alliance. They decided to send forty triremes of which ten should
sail immediately under their admiral, or navarch, Melanchridas to join
the Chian fleet of sixty ships. Before they couldleave, however, toward
the end of the winter, perhaps in late February of 413, an earthquake
occurred. Taking this as a bad omen, they reduced the preliminary
mission to five ships and appointed Chalcideus to its command.** Even
then, they acted with characteristic deliberateness, for well into the
spring of 412 they had launched no fleet and had taken no other action.
The Chians, in fear that the Athenians would learn of the secret ne-
gotiations and take steps to prevent the rebellion, pressed the Spartans
to send out a fleet at once.*’

*The term is used by Hatzfeld, Alcibiade, 217. For Alcibiades’ influence at Miletus,
see 8.17.2. Andocides (Against Alcibiades 30) and Plutarch (Al. 12.1) mention the honor
shown to Alcibiades by the Chians and Ephesians at the Olympic games. They also
mention the Lesbians in this connection. Satyrus (apud Ath. 12. 534d), a biographer
of the third century a.p., includes Cyzicus in the list of those paying tribute to
Alcibiades on this occasion. Lesbos is irrelevant to the choice before Alcibiades. Even
if Satyrus is right to include Cyzicus among the places where Alcibiades was influential
(pace Hatzfeld, Alcibiade, 217, n. 2), his influence there could not be as important as
his many connections in Ionia, especially Chios.

*°8.6.4-5. Andrewes points out that earthquakes were taken seriously at Sparta and
normally would be enough to postpone an expedition entirely. He suggests that this
time “the omen was interpreted as showing divine displeasure with Melanchridas per-
sonally, not with the enterprise as such” (HCT V, 19-20). Very likely that is the
interpretation that won out, but Spartan history is full of evidence indicating that the
interpretation of omens and other divine signs depended on the reigning political
climate. The determination to proceed with the expedition even in the face of so serious
an evil omen powerfully reveals the strength of the militant forces in Sparta and the
weakness of Pleistoanax and the conservative forces.
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The ships Agis was collecting for the expedition he had planned,
as well as other Peloponnesian warships, were gathered of f the western
side of the Isthmus in the Gulf of Corinth, presumably at the Cor-
inthian port of Lechaeum. The Spartans sent three envoys to ask that
the entire fleet (there were thirty-nine ships at the time) be hauled
across the Isthmus and sent to Chios at once. Most, if not all, of the
ships belonged to the allies, so a meeting of the Peloponnesian League
was a practical necessity before any action could be taken.*

Thucydides’ account of its deliberations is far from complete, but
he shows clearly enough that the meeting was not a mere formality
and a ratification of orders from Sparta. The assembly at Sparta had
decided simply to accept the proposal of the Chians and Tissaphernes,
and the orders conveyed by the envoys were meant to carry out that
decision, nothing more. What came out of the meeting of the Pelo-
ponnesian League was something different and more complicated, a
compromise plan that clearly revealed the continuing division of opin-
ion among the Spartans. When the news came to Agis that his own
strategy had been rejected in favor of the Chian project, he must have
been disappointed, but experience had made him more cautious and
politically clever. The decision of the Spartan assembly could not be
overthrown, but the meeting of the Peloponnesian League provided
an opportunity to salvage something of his own policy. Outwardly,
he did not object to the change of strategy, but what came out of that
meeting was a decision not only to send a fleet at once to Chios under
the command of Chalcideus but also to send ships to Lesbos, as Agis
had planned, under the command of Alcamenes, “the same man whom
Agis had in mind.”® There can be no doubt that this supplementary
mission was voted because of the influence of the Spartan king.

A third and more surprising mission was added to complicate further
the originally simple plan. After the campaign at Lesbos, still a third

suggests that the Chian pressure and the Spartan response took place immediately at
the beginning of spring, in March, and that reading is accepted by both Steup and
Weil-Romilly. But the other MSS read 1ot 8” émyvyvopévov Bépous, and I agree with
Andrewes (HCT V, 20) in preferring their version. The meeting of the Spartan alliance
at Corinth discussed in 8.8 must have followed soon after the Chian communications,
and it was followed immediately by the Isthmian games in June. The first Spartan
action, the sending of envoys to Corinth asking for ship movements, probably came
in April or even in May.

+'8.7. As Lewis (Sparta and Persia, 89, n. 34) rightly points out, “the need to consult
thso allies arises from the fact that it is their ships which are going to be used.”

8.8.2.
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commander, Clearchus the son of Ramphias, was to take the force to
the Hellespont. Now the ambassadors from Pharnabazus quickly with-
drew after the decision at Sparta had gone against them, taking their
money with them, and they took no further part in the planned ex-
pedition.” This provides evidence that the faction favoring a Helles-
pontine strategy, though once defeated, had not given up and still
commanded enough influence to gain some recognition, although at a
low priority, for its own program. The assignment of a different com-
mander for each phase of the projected campaign indicates the degree
of division and distrust among the factions and the absence of com-
manders sufficiently distinguished and respected to overcome such
divisions.

The Peloponnesian League voted to move immediately. Thucydides
tells us that they planned to sail to Chios boldly and openly, “for they
were contemptuous of the impotence of the Athenians, since no large
Athenian fleet was yet in evidence.”' But some part of the timidity
and caution that the Peloponnesians had displayed in naval matters
from the first still remained. After all, they had gathered their own
fleet on the western side of the Isthmus from where it must be dragged
across over the causeway to the Saronic Gulf, where they might be
exposed to attack from Athens. Even then, when a force of almost
forty ships had been gathered, they chose to make the trip in two
separate detachments, twenty-one ships crossing the Isthmus first and
sailing toward Chios at once and the remaining ships following later.
According to Thucydides, this was done to prevent the Athenians
from attacking either contingent lest they leave themselves open to
attack by the other. ” These were strange tactics to produce a greater
degree of safety. The more normal course would have been to seek
safety in numbers and send the entire force together, thus overawing
the depleted Athenian navy, which had not yet dared show itself. Nor
does such cautious and ill-advised behavior accord well with the alleged
contempt of the Athenian navy. For all of their bravado, the Pelo-
ponnesians seem still to have been nervous and poorly led when they
went to sea.

In spite of the eagerness of the allies to set sail, the expedition was
delayed by the arrival of the time for the Isthmian games and the

*%8.8.1.
*'8.8.3—4.
**This is my understanding of the puzzling passage in 8.8.3.
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Corinthian refusal to sail until they were completed. Here Agis inter-
vened, offering to allow the Corinthians to maintain their truce while
he “made the expedition his own business,” that is, took command,
leaving the Corinthians behind. From the Corinthian point of view,
this was entirely unacceptable, for it would mean that the war would
continue during the games, making the sacred truce a sham. Com-
batants from both sides would be distracted by and involved in the
war, and others would be deterred from coming to the Isthmus. The
games, which brought not only honor but also profit to the host city,
would be a failure.*’ The Corinthians, therefore, refused and, presum-
ably, gained enough allied support to prevent Agis from having his
way.

The delay had serious consequences, as the Chians had feared when
they had urged haste on the Spartans. The Athenians learned that a
plot was brewing and sent the general Aristocrates to confront the
Chians with the charge. When it was denied, he demanded that they
contribute some ships to the allied navy as a sign of good faith (and,
perhaps, as hostages for their good behavior). The plotters were cau-
tious men and had to be confronted before they were ready to act.
They were oligarchs who feared that the common people would be
hostile to their plans if they were revealed prematurely. There was
also a faction among the upper classes that was friendly to Athens.
Finally, and most important, the delay of the Peloponnesians in an-
swering their call had convinced them that they would not come at
all. For these reasons the Chians obeyed Aristocrates’ demand and sent
seven ships to the imperial fleet.’*

Only after the Isthmian games, in July of 412, did the first detach-
ment of the Peloponnesian fleet sail out of Corinth’s eastern port at
Cenchreae under the command of Alcamenes (see Map 2).** It was
soon challenged by an Athenian fleet of the same size as its twenty-
one ships, for the Athenians had taken advantage of the truce to attend
the Isthmian games, where they learned more about the Chian plot
and the Peloponnesian plans for aiding it. On their return to Athens,
they set up a watch on Cenchreae and prepared a fleet to meet the

**This is how I interpret Agis’ offer reported on 8.9.1, following a suggestion of
Hatzfeld’s (Akcibiade, 219). He goes so far as to say that Agis secretly favored the delay,
for it gave him the chance to gain the command of the expedition.

**8.9.2—3. For the pro-Athenian faction at Chios, see 8.38.3; and Andrewes, HCT
V, 22-23.

**8.10.2. For the date, see Andrewes, HCT V, 23-24.
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ships they expected to sail from it. When Alcamenes’ fleet came out
of harbor, the Athenians tried to draw him out to the open sea for a
battle, but the Spartan admiral turned back to his harbor. The Athe-
nians did not pursue, for they did not trust the seven Chian ships that
made up a third of their force. They withdrew to the Piraeus, where
they added ships to bring their fleet up to a total of thirty-seven. Then
they renewed the chase, pursuing the enemy fleet as it was making its
way southward along the coast. At the sight of the Athenians, Alca-
menes hastened to seek safety in the deserted port of Spiraeum, just
north of the Epidaurian border.”* The Athenians caught one Pelo-
ponnesian ship before it could reach safety, but the others reached the
harbor. The Athenians then attacked them by land and sea, destroying
most of their ships on the beach and killing Alcamenes. _

The next day the Corinthians came with naval reinforcements, and
other allies in the neighborhood sent help too. But the Athenians were
not satisfied with the victory they had already achieved. They sent a
fleet to keep watch on the enemy and established their main camp on
a small island near by, sending to Athens for reinforcements. They
were determined to let no Peloponnesian fleet sail into the Aegean and
to seize whatever opportunity offered to destroy the enemy’s forces.
The Peloponnesians were greatly daunted by what had taken place.
They found themselves needing to guard their ships in a deserted place
that offered neither supplies nor protection. They were so baffled that
their first thought was to burn the ships to prevent their falling into
Athenian hands. On reflection, they decided instead to draw the ships
up and shore and guard them with their soldiers until a chance of
escape should occur. Agis at Decelea learned of their situation before
the news got to Sparta, and he sent Thermon, a Spartan, to replace
the fallen Alcamenes as commander.

The news came. to Sparta as a great shock. The first report the
Spartans received came by prearranged signal from a courier on horse-
back. The ephors had ordered Alcamenes to dispatch such a messenger
as soon as his ships set sail so that they could send the five ships under
Chalcideus to join him. Spirits were high, and the men were eager to
sail. Then came the news of the defeat, the death of Alcamenes, and
the blockade at Spiraeum. The mood changed at once from excite-
ment to discouragement and gloom. “Having failed in their first

*“8.10.3. For the name and location of the port of refuge, see Andrewes, HCT V,
24-25.
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undertaking in the Ionian war they no longer thought of sending out
their ships but even wanted to recall those that had already put out
to sea.””’

This sharp change of mood would have passed in time, and the
Spartans could not have failed to make another attempt at spreading
and supporting rebellion in the Aegean. Any other policy would have
meant conceding victory to Athens at a time when the chances for
defeating the Athenians were greater than ever. We may assume that
Agis, hearing of the discouragement of his countrymen, would have
used his considerable influence to restore their purpose and determi-
nation. But that would take time and probably lose the opportunity
of gaining Chios as a solid base of operations and its fleet as a large
nucleus of the force needed to overthrow Athens. Thucydides, there-
fore, is probably right to emphasize the important role played by
Alcibiades in moving Sparta to action again. He went to the ephors
(more easily since his friend Endius was one of them) and urged them
to send out the five ships under Chalcideus not, as originally planned,
to join the other Peloponnesian ships coming from Corinth but to sail
directly to Ionia with himself on board. He argued that if this fleet
sailed at once, it would arrive before the news of the defeat suffered
by the Peloponnesian fleet. Alcibiades would tell the Ionians of Athens’
weakness and Spartan eagerness, and he would be believed more than
others because of his uniquely intimate knowledge of both Athens and
Sparta and because of his influence with leading Ionians.*®

To Endius he privately indicated a more personal motive: “It would
be good (kalon), through the agency of Alcibiades, for him to cause
Ionia to revolt and to make the King an ally of the Spartans and not
to allow this to become an exploit (agonisma) of Agis.”*® He did not

*’8.11.3. This is the only place where Thucydides speaks of an “lonian War,” a
name some scholars have given to the entire period between 413 and 404. That is an
inappropriate usage, as H. D. Westlake makes admirably clear: “Thucydides uses To®
Iwvikod ohépov (8.11.3) but only in a local sense for ‘the war in lonia’ and not
distinguishing it from other wars. The less appropriate ‘Decelean war’ soon established
itself as the conventional term, presumably representing the viewpoint of contempo-
raries resident in Athens” (CQ N.s. XXIX [1979], 9).

*®8.12.1; Andrewes, HCT V, 25~26.

*°8.12.2. Thucydides is widely and plausibly thought to have used Alcibiades as a
source of information. If so, this may be a quotation of Alcibiades’ argument to Endius.
The language, in any case, is interesting. It is the language of aristocratic contest,
whether in Homeric military combat or Pindaric athletic competition. The words used
to translate kalon and agonisma are inadequate to represent the full range of meaning
they evoke. Kalon connotes beautiful, good, right, noble; ggonisma’s most basic meaning
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mention that his own position of honor and influence would likewise
gain from such an achievement. That would be motive enough for
Alcibiades to press his case, but an even stronger motive seems to have
impelled him. Thucydides explains his actions with this observation:
“for he happened himself to be at odds with Agis.”® That simple and
chaste remark almost certainly refers to a great scandal at Sparta that
became notorious in antiquity. In a quarrel over the succession to the
Spartan throne early in the fourth century, Agesilaus accused his rival
of being illegitimate, offering as evidence a reference to an occasion
when an earthquake drove an unnamed adulterer from the chamber
of Timaea, Agis’ wife, into public view. Plutarch provides the name
of the adulterer: Alcibiades.®' It is reasonable to identify this earth-
quake with the one mentioned by Thucydides in late February of 412.
By July the news would certainly have reached Agis and caused his
displeasure with Alcibiades. It was only a matter of time now before
Agis would move against him. Alcibiades’ best hopes lay in bringing
off so great an achievement as to make him invulnerable even to the
hostility of the Spartan king. Failing that, his only salvation lay in
escape to the last possible refuge, the Persian Empire. The expedition
to Ionia offered both possibilities. From the Spartan point of view,
Alcibiades’ proposal was doubly attractive. With little risk or expense
to Sparta, Alcibiades might achieve what he promised. If not, the
Spartans would be rid of an increasingly troublesome visitor.*

is contest, from which comes the secondary sense of a prize for winning a contest, and
by extension it comes to mean an achievement or exploit. If Alcibiades used these
words, they reveal either his own aristocratic, self-centered attitude toward the goals
of war; his belief that they would appeal to such an attitude in the Spartan Endius; or
both. If the words were invented by Thucydides, they may reveal his understanding
of Alcibiades’ character.

“8.12.2.

®'Xen. 3.3.1-2; Plut. Al. 23.7; Ages. 3.1—2. One of Plutarch’s sources was Duris of
Samos, a writer of the late fourth and early third century, who claimed descent from
Alcibiades. Another may have been Theopompus of Chios, who was born about 378
B.C. (Andrewes, HCT V, 26.) Both the bastardy of Leotychidas, Timaea’s son, and
the paternity of Alcibiades have been challenged by M. Luria (Klio XXI [1927], 404—
419). His arguments are answered by J. Hatzfeld (REA XXV [1933], 387-395; and
Alcibiade, 217—-219). Andrewes (HCT V, 26) points out the chronological dif ficulties in
believing Leotychidas to be the son of Alcibiades, concluding that “none of this is quite
impossible, but cumulatively it is not very probable.” That is a reasonable conclusion,
but even if the fact of Alcibiades’ paternity is denied, we need not doubt the adultery
or the reality of the rumors that existed and were widely believed in Sparta. They
would be enough to account for Thucydides’ description of Alcibiades as Agis’ “personal
enemy,” éx0pos (8.45.1).

*’Hatzfeld, Alcibiade, 220.
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The little fleet under Chalcideus needed speed, luck, and secrecy
to reach its destination safely, undetected by the Athenians. Its leaders
achieved secrecy by seizing everyone they encountered on the crossing,
not releasing their prisoners until they reached the harbor of Corycus
on the mainland, some forty miles from the capital city of Chios.®
There they met with some of their Chian confederates and took their
advice to sail to Chios immediately and to arrive suddenly, without
advance notice.® Their arrival, as the oligarchs had arranged, took
place just at the moment when a council was assembling. It generally
has been believed that in 412 the Chian constitution was oligarchic
and that the body convened was the oligarchical council.*’ But as early
as the sixth century, Chios had a popular council (boule demosie) as well
as an aristocratic one, and its failure to be mentioned by name in the
one relevant fifth-century decree we have from Chios does not argue
against its continuation as late as 412.% By that time, it may well have
included members from all classes, noble as well as common, and may
have been the only important council in the state. Such a situation
would readily justify Thucydides’ praise of the prudence and security
with which the Chians governed their city, particularly when we re-
member his praise of the Athenian government of the Five Thousand
as “a moderate blending of the few and the many.”” Most probably,
the Chian constitution in 412 was mixed, or a moderate oligarchy, and
its council likely contained a cross-section of the population.®®

Such a conclusion best explains the events surrounding the arrival
of Chalcideus and Alcibiades in Chios. The oligarchs were keeping
their plot a secret from the people at large, but if the constitution were

*’See Map 3.

“8.14.1.

“For references, see T. ). Quinn, Historia XVIII (1969), 24; see also W. G. Forrest,
BSA LV (1960), 180; and Andrewes, HCT V, 22-23.

“For the inscription naming the popular council, see GHI, 8. W. G. Forrest (BSA
LV [1960], 180) uses the fact that “the only surviving prescript of a state decree from
the fifth century reads only BouAis yvwun” as part of an argument to show the
constitution of fifth-century Chios was oligarchic. Not only is the argument from silence
based on a single inscription too slender to support such an interpretation but it might
support the opposite conclusion equally well. The only boule directly attested at Chios
is the one called demosie; it is possible to believe that over time the modifier became
otiose and was dropped, so that the only council at Chios in the fifth century may have
been the one called “popular” in the previous century.

“Thucydides’ praise of the Chian goverment: 8.24.4; of the Five Thousand: 8.97.2.

**In reaching these conclusions, I have benefited most from the views of T. J. Quinn
(Historia XVIII [1969], 22-30).
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oligarchic and the council under the control of the few, there was no
need for the careful timing of its meeting. In that case, the Spartans
could have been brought in and won support at any time, but a popular
or mixed council, most of whose members knew nothing of the planned
rebellion, needed to be taken by surprise even to allow so dangerous
an action as to admit representatives of Sparta to their deliberations.
Thucydides tells us that “the many (boz polloi) were in a state of amaze-
ment and panic,” and presumably, he refers to the majority in the
council. But the oligarchs, who had arranged the affair with the aim
of producing such shock and fear, quickly introduced Chalcideus and
Alcibiades.®® We may well believe that the presence of Spartan ships
and soldiers played a larger role than the eloquence of the speakers in
changing the allegiance of the Chians. Still, Alcibiades’ careful pre-
sentation must have played a part. He suppressed the news of the
Peloponnesian defeat and the fact that their fleet was currently shut
in by an Athenian blockade at Spiraeum. He told them that a large,
additional fleet was on its way, and this caused the Chians to embark
on rebellion, bringing Erythrae with them.”

This remarkable coup clearly bears the stamp of Alcibiades’ ap-
proach to war. It aimed at, and in this case achieved, great results at
small risk. A tiny fleet and brilliant chicanery had brought to the
Spartan cause sixty warships to help challenge Athenian naval su-
premacy, a safe base of operations, and the first crucial defections from
the Athenian Empire. Like his earlier undertakings, the one at Chios
relied less on force and power than on persuasion and deception and
less on fighting ability than on diplomatic skill. In these efforts, among
his last on behalf of Sparta, Alcibiades appears to have done his native
city more harm than ever before. His advice to send a force to save
Sicily and to fortify Decelea were not acted upon fully or quickly, and
he took no part in the execution of either mission.”" In bringing about
the rebellion of Chios, however, his role was crucial in conception,

*8.14.2.

78.14.3. Some scholars have seen in this incident evidence for the general theory
that the lower classes in the Athenian Empire welcomed Athenian rule and resisted
rebellion. There is nothing in what we know about the events at Chios in 412 that
compels such a conclusion. The facts as we have them are consistent with Quinn’s
evaluation: “As regarding pro-Athenian feeling, this seems to have amounted to little
more than fear of Athens, and there is certainly no justification for claims that most
Chians welcomed Athenian domination” (Historia X VIII [1969], 30).

'See Kagan, Peace of Nicias, 257-259.
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design, and execution. As he had promised, he had shown the Ath-
enians that he was still alive.”

Alcibiades and Chalcideus wasted no time before exploiting their
victory. They took three ships to Clazomenae and brought it into the
rebellion. Next they moved against Teos, Chalcideus with twenty-
three ships from the sea and a force from Erythrae and Clazomenae
marching overland. The fleet encountered an Athenian fleet at sea and
pursued it to Samos when the Athenian commander Strombichides
fled before superior numbers. The land force came to Teos and was
received in a way that reveals much about the problems faced by the
Ionian cities. Before Strombichides had been forced to flee to Samos,
he had come to Teos and had asked the Teians not to rebel. When
the army from Erythrae and Clazomenae arrived at their gates, they
at first refused them admission. But when the Teians realized that the
Athenians would not return, they allowed the army to enter. The
soldiers from the rebel cities tore down the wall facing inland to keep
the city open to their control, receiving help from a force sent by
Tissaphernes.”” The Teians appear to have acted not on the basis of
internal divisions, class divisions, or preferences for one constitution
over another but merely out of a prudent concern for their safety. As
long as Athenian power was present, they remained loyal. When it
was absent, and hostile forces arrived, they accommodated to the new
reality. Not much later the Chians and their local allies brought about
the rebellion of Lebedos and Haerae, two small towns near Teos, and
then withdrew. Then Tissaphernes personally brought an army to
finish demolishing the walls of Teos, and he also departed. The ap-
pearance of the Persians and their evident interest in resuming control
when the situation permitted must have made the protection of Athens
seem more attractive. But without their walls, the Teians were in no
position to resume the alliance with Athens. When the Athenians’
admiral Diomedon arrived with ten ships, the best agreement he could
make was that the Teians henceforth would admit the Athenians as
well as their enemies.” Throughout the rest of the war, they pursued
this unheroic but prudent policy and avoided the disasters suffered by
others.”

Before long, the movement Alcibiades and Chalcideus had set in

"Plut. Al. 22.2.

778.16.

8.19.3—4; 20.2.

My account is based on H. D. Westlake’s article (CO N. S. XXIX [1979], 12-14).
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motion at Chios brought about defections in most of the mainland area
opposite that island: Erythrae, Clazomenae, Haerae, and Lebedus were
in rebellion, and Teos was an open city. Farther to the south, the great
city of Ephesus had joined the revolt.”® Also defecting was Anaea, a
small city but strategically located opposite Samos and close to Mil-
etus.”” Now Alcibiades was ready to bring over Miletus, the jewel of
Ionia. Arming the men from the Peloponnesian ships, he left them
behind at Chios and replaced them on the ships with Chian crews.
The exchange of crews was intended in part, no doubt, to reassure
the Chians of a continuing Peloponnesian commitment and, perhaps,
to deter opposition to the change of sides. Thucydides, however, tells
us the main reason: “Alcibiades, since he was on very close terms with
the leading men of Miletus, wanted to win the Milesians over before
the arrival of the Peloponnesian ships and, upon the Chians and himself
and the Chalcidians and, as he had promised, upon Endius who had

-sent them out, to confer the prize for having, along with the Chian

forces and Chalcideus, caused the rebellion of the greatest number of
cities possible.””®

Once again Alcibiades and Chalcideus moved swiftly, taking care
to avoid Athenian ships coming to the rescue, and arrived barely in
time to bring Miletus into revolt before the Athenians could prevent
it. The rebellion of Miletus was important in itself, but it also provided
a base for the spread of rebellion into southern lonia and Caria and
the islands offshore. It was also well situated for launching an attack
on Amorges’ base at lasus.” Alcibiades had carried out the first part
of his pledge, and the defection of Miletus made it possible to achieve
the second part. No sooner did the city rebel than Tissaphernes came
to negotiate an alliance between the Spartans and the Great King.

The result was a remarkably one-sided document. The Great King
should have “whatever territory and cities” he or his ancestors held,

:Lcwis. Sparta and Persia, 9o, n. 39.
8.19.
7%8.17.2. Some scholars have seen in the exchange of crews a desire to weaken the
democratic forces at Chios and to overawe a possible popular uprising. I have empha-
sized the explanation offered by Quinn (Historia 18 [1969], 27-28), although the two
do not necessarily contradict one another. Alcibiades and Chalcideus would have
wanted Chians in his fleet to encourage and reward those who rebelled, but he could
have done that without exhange crews. Later events would show that Chios contained
friends of Athens (8.38.3), so leaving a Peloponnesian force on the island would be
prudent.
°8.17.3—4; Andrewes, HCT V, 4o.
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and the Persians and Spartans together would work to stop payments
to Athens from those cities. If any subjects should rebel against the
Great King, the Spartans should aid the king against them, and if there
should be any rebellion against the Spartans, the king would aid his
new allies. Both allies should fight together against Athens and make
no separate peace.” The antirebel clause was entirely in favor of Persia,
for the Spartans faced no trouble from their allies, whereas the Persians
were at war with Amorges and might well consider all Greek cities
lost since 480 still to be in a state of rebellion. Nothing was said of
financial arrangements or of the level of support, financial and other,
that the Persians would provide to Sparta. The territorial clause, taken
literally, would return to the Persians all Greek lands they held before
Salamis. Later, a distinguished Spartan would proclaim his outrage at
its full implications: “It was dreadful,” he said, “that the King should
even now claim to rule the lands that he and his ancestors had pre-
viously held, for that involved the enslavement again of all the islands
and Thessaly and Locris and everything as far as Boeotia; instead of
freedom the Spartans would be imposing Persian domination upon the
Greeks.”' Small wonder that the Spartans kept this agreement, with
its “monstrous concessions,” secret.®’

The conclusion of so cynical, yet disadvantageous, an agreement
requires explanation. The treaty negotiated by Chalcideus was never
ratified by the Spartans, so the suggestion has been made that it was
never more than a draft, “an outline or sketch of preliminaries of a
treaty of alliance and that it represents essentially, or perhaps uniquely,
the point of view of Tissaphernes that he has put in the hands of the
Spartan commander Chalcideus.™ Presumably, Chalcideus accepted

"°8.18.

*'8.43.3; the speaker was Lichas.

8The quotation is from Busolt, GG IIl:2, 1426-1427. Grote likewise calls the ter-
ritorial clause “this monstrous stipulaton” (VII, 376). Busolt (GG Ill:2, 1427, n. 1)
rejects the secrecy of the treaty on the basis of 8.36.2, where “the Peloponnesians,”
just before a second agreement with Persia is made, are said to be dissatisfied with the
earlier one. But these unspecified Peloponnesians were probably few, especially well
informed, and in on the secret. Hatzfeld (Alibiade, 222, n. 4) presents persuasive
arguments in favor of secrecy, and Will, although he does not discuss the issue, makes
a statement that seems to argue strongly for the need for secrecy: “These Spartan
concessions were too scandalous not to frighten those very people who had already
‘medized’ and who were at present ranged in the camp of the Spartans against the
Athenians” (Le monde grec et lorient, vol. 1, Le V* siécle (510—403) [Paris, 1972], 364, my
translation).

®G. De Sanctis, in Studi di storia della storiografia greca (Florence, 1951), 86-87.
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it without demur because of his incompetence.®* But whatever its legal
status, the agreement was effective, for almost immediately the Spar-
tans put their forces at the service of Tissaphernes in his campaign
against the rebel Amorges, just as they promised in the treaty.®’ An-
other approach is to emphasize the vague, imprecise, incomplete nature
of the agreement: “this is a very simple-minded document. . . . No one
seems to be thinking the first clause through to the point of determin-
ing, for example, whether Sparta is going to have to go back on her
new treaty with Erythrae.” In this view Sparta’s motives are inexpli-
cable: “Since Chalkideus, the negotiator of the treaty, soon got killed
(24.1), no one was in a position to ask him what he was playing at.”*
Other scholars speak of the necessities of war and Sparta’s great hatred
for Athens, which blotted out all thought of the future.”

There is considerable merit in this view, but it still leaves open the
question why the Spartans should make a treaty with sofew advantages
to them, one that they would soon reject and renegotiate. Chalcideus
may have been a diplomatic neophyte, easy for an experienced Persian
like Tissaphernes to gull, but at his side stood Alcibiades, a veteran
of many negotiations and far from innocent of the diplomatic arts. It
is not hard to believe that Alcibiades helped persuade his inexperienced
commander to act quickly. No doubt he argued that quick action was
needed if Chalcideus were to get the credit for bringing about the great
achievement, an alliance with Persia. Details were unimportant, he
might well say, and could be changed later. The main thing was to
get a commitment from the Persians before some other Spartan, per-
haps a member of Agis’ faction, could arrive and win the prize. All
of this is conjecture, for no ancient source speaks of Alcibiades’ role.
But if Alcibiades did not make such arguments to Chalcideus, they
were at least relevant to his own circumstances. His time was running
out, as the enmity of Agis threatened his position and his safety. He
needed striking achievements, and he needed them at once. The treaty
of Chalcideus might be criticized, but for the moment it was a great

**Hatzfeld (Alcibiade, 222) speaks of “the inexperience of Chalcideus, badly informed
in diplomatic formulas and oriental tricks.”

#8.28.2—4. The point is well made by Hatzfeld, Alcibiade, 222, n. .

**Lewis, Sparta and Persia, go—91.

#Busolt, GG I11:2, 1427, n. 1. In the same vein ]. B. Bury (History of Greece, rev. R.
Meiggs, 4th ed. [New York, 1975], 307) says: “In the hope of humbling to the dust
her detested rival, the city of Leonidas now sold to the barbarian the freedom of her
fellow-Greeks of Asia.”
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success, and the Athenian exile who was thought to have cuckolded a
Spartan king was living from moment to moment. With the risings in
Ionia and the treaty with the Great King, Alcibiades could claim to
have kept his promises to Endius, the ephors, and Sparta. Time would
show that these successes were flawed, but Alcibiades had turned the
tide, shaken Sparta from its timidity and lethargy, and set it on the
path to ultimate victory.*

*In analyzing the role of Alcibiades, I have followed the persuasive suggestion of
Hatzfeld (Alcibade, 222-223).

Copyright © 2013. Cornell University Press. All rights reserved.
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3. Athens Responds

News of the Chian rebellion moved the Athenians to quick action,
for they recognized the greatness of the danger threatening them: “the
remaining allies would not want to remain quiet when the greatest
state was in rebellion.”" In this emergency they took the serious step
of turning to the reserve fund that they had put aside at the beginning
of the war. One thousand talents had been placed on the Acropolis,
not to be used unless an enemy fleet was attacking by sea, and the
death penalty threatened any man proposing to use the fund for any
other purpose.2 In the summer of 412, however, the Athenians con-
cluded that they should wait no longer. They removed the penalties
against putting the question and voted to use the reserve fund to meet
the immediate danger.’ But building new ships would take time, and
immediate action was needed. At the same meeting they ordered the
generals Strombichides and Thrasycles to abandon the blockade of the
Peloponnesians at Spiraeum and to sail swiftly to Chios, and they
recalled the seven Chian ships, now obviously unreliable, from the
same blockade. To replace all of these ships, they quickly manned
others to maintain the blockade and were planning to put thirty more
out to sea. “Their zeal was great, and there was nothing petty in their
effort to send aid against Chios.™

'8.15.1.

?2.24.1. One hundred of the best ships and their captains were also set aside for the
same purpose, but Thucydides makes no further mention of them. They must have
been used for some other purpose well before the Chian revolt.

*For the date, see Philochorus (FGrH 111, 328, Fr. 138); Busolt, GG 111:2, 1422, n.
3; and Andrewes, HCT V, 23-24, 37.

*8.15.2.
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The Athenians had great need for such enthusiasm and were right
to tap their emergency reserve fund at this time. Unless the rebellion
at Chios was checked at once, it would soon spread to the entire empire,
depriving the Athenians of income and placing greater demands on
such money as they had. Each day that passed with the rebellion not
suppressed was a day that the Athenians could not collect commercial
taxes from some of their allies but must never the less pay their own
rowers to try to end the rebellion. The Peloponnesians, moreover,
could not be kept from Ionia forever. The longer the rebellion lasted,
the greater the likelihood of Persian support for the Peloponnesian
fleets. The longer the enemy fleet was at sea, the smaller the tactical
advantage for the more experienced Athenian rowers and officers. The
Athenians were entirely right to treat the crisis as if an enemy fleet
threatened the Piracus and the safety of Athens. Every moment
counted, and the Athenian commanders needed to take the swift, bold,
decisive actions that would promise quick success, even at some risk.
A cautious policy that might contain the rebellion without snuffing it
out would be at least as risky as a bold one, for Athens’ slender re-
sources were unlikely to bring success in an extended war.

The generals who took command of the Athenian forces in July of
412 had been elected early in the spring, when the Athenians were
probably in very much the same sober mood that had led them to
introduce the probouloi. Very likely, their political views would have
ranged from moderate to conservative, but all would have been seen
as respectable, patriotic men who could be trusted in this moment of
need. Nineteenth-century scholars divided the generals during 412/11
into democrats and oligarchs or moderates and oligarchs, depending
largely on their later behavior during the oligarchic coup of 411.° But
their responses to the coup were not necessarily predictable, and any
political views that lay behind them, particularly among the oligarchs,
would not likely have been paraded before the people. Strombichides,
Diomedon, and Leon would prove to be staunch democrats, whereas
Phrynichus, Onomacles, and possibly Scironides would become sup-
porters of the oligarchic movement,® but all would have come forward

’Beloch, AP, 66; Busolt, GG 111:2, 1412; Meyer, GdA 1V:2, 267.

®About the political inclinations of other generals—Thrasycles, Euctemon, Char-
minus, and Eucrates—there is no good evidence. For the list of generals, see Fornara,
Generals, 66. For brief discussions of nine of them, see HCT V, 37, 43, 59060, 72. The
tenth, Eucrates, is not mentioned by Thucydides but is called a general by a scholiast
to Aristophanes (Wasps 103).
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as moderates in the election of March of 412. Even Phrynichus, who
later would be a leader of the oligarchic coup, was condemned after-
ward as a poor man, a sycophant, and a turncoat democrat.” As one
shrewd commentator has put it, “all that we can certainly say is that
Phrynichus was a man with a long public career, who could be labelled
as a democratic leader and inspired enough trust to be appointed gen-
eral in 411 at an advanced age, presumably on the basis of his past
record in office.” His colleagues must have fit into the same general
category and no doubt were chosen for a variety of reasons arising
from their personalities, careers, and connections.

More important than their political associations at the moment were
their experience and talent. None of the new generals is known to have
held that post before.” Perhaps some of them had served as trierarchs,
although most of these captains of triremes would have been lost at
Syracuse. Events would soon show that the Athenians still had officers
and crews capable of distinguished naval service worthy of their pre-
decessors, but in the summer of 412, no one had that combination of
daring, skill, experience, and personal authority needed to produce
success.

Strombichides’ tiny fleet of eight triremes could do little to resist
Chalcideus’ Peloponnesian force, almost three times the size of his,
and he was forced to flee to the Athenian base on Samos, where he
was soon joined by Thrasycles’ fleet of twenty ships.'® Nineteen ships
of the combined fleet pursued the Peloponnesians on their way to bring
about the revolt of Miletus, but the Athenians arrived too late to
prevent its fall. All they could do was take up a position at the island
of Lade, just offshore, to keep watch on and blockade Miletus. In spite
of the Peloponnesians’ striking success, their position was far from
secure. The arrival of further Athenian reinforcements might reverse
the situation swiftly and change the entire course of events."

Lys. 20.11-12, 25.9.

*Andrewes, HCT V, 59—60.

°The lists for the previous years are far from complete, so we cannot be absolutely
sure each was a neophyte. We can be confident, however, that none played a role of
enough importance to deserve mention in the sources, whichare good for the preceeding
years. Fornara (Generals, 66) lists Strombichides among the generals for the previous
year, but his reasoning is not convincing. Neither Beloch nor Busolt includes him in
the list for 413/12, and Andrewes (HCT V, 37) makes no mention of an earlier
generalship.

18.16.

''8.17.3. Busolt (GG 111:2, 1426) points out the precariousness of the Peloponnesians’
position.
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Chalcideus and Alcibiades had reason to fear the imminent arrival
of Athenian reinforcements, although they could not know when they
might come or_how many there might be. Since they outnumbered
the enemy twenty-five to nineteen, the argument for a preemptive
attack was strong, but they took no action. Chalcideus’ next decision
was still more surprising. The Chians, who were curious to know the
state of the blockade and how their fellow citizens were faring and
were eager to bring about further rebellions in the region, sailed to
Anaea, the port closest to Miletus, where it was safe for them to land."?
Instead of urging them to join him and using his increased force to
attack the Athenians at Lade, he sent a message to the Chians to sail
back home. Thucydides gives either no explanation of Chalcideus’
command or one that is unsatisfactory, depending on how his text is
read.” The suggestion has been made that Alcibiades was behind
Chalcideus’ failure to take action and that he restrained the Spartan
commander because he was already in the service of Tissaphernes,
“the only man who could protect him against the vengeance of Agis.”"*
But even if suspicion of Alcibiades was already rife among the Pelo-
ponnesians in Ionia, and even if Alcibiades was already trying to in-
gratiate himself with the Persian satrap, there is no reason why
Tissaphernes should object to a Spartan attack on the Athenian fleet

"8.19.1; HCT V, 42.

YThe MSS read: @womhelv mwaAw, kai 671 Apopyns Tapéotal Kate yiy oTpandg.
Some editors connect the report of Amorges’ anticipated arrival over land with the
order to the Chians, seeing it as an explanation of that order. Others make the casual
relationship clearer by deleting kati. There is, however, no reason to alter the MSS or
to accept the expected arrival of Amorges as an explanation of the order to the Chians.
As Andrewes (HCT V, 42) points out, Amorges must come from south of Miletus and
could pose no threat to the Chians at Anaea. Nor, one might add, could he pose a
threat to the Chian ships if they chose to sail to Miletus. If the statement about Amorges,
therefore, was intended to explain Chalcideus’ order to the Chians, it fails because it
is irrelevant. Andrewes rightly concludes that the order to the Chians and the statement
about Amorges should be dissociated. He suggests that the latter was meant to answer
the Chian question “What is the situation at Miletus?” His own suggestion about the
motive for Chalcideus’ order is less persuasive and properly tentative: “probably that
the Chians were too close to the main Athenian fleet—though Chalkideus could hardly
know yet of the approach of Diomedon.” Before Diomedon’s arrival with sixteen ships
(8.19.2), we know of no Athenian forces at Samos. Even after he came there were only
three Athenian ships at Samos at the time of its civil war (8.21). There was no hindrance
of which we know to the movement of the ten Chian triremes from Anaea to Miletus,
nor does Thucydides’ account provide us with any reason for Chalcideus’ order, which
remains enigmatic.

"S. Van de Maele, Phoenix XXV (1971), 37.
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blockading Miletus at Lade.'” His immediate goal was the defeat of
Amorges. The decision to bring the ten Chian ships south to Miletus
to strengthen Spartan forces there and then attacking and defeating
the Athenians at Lade, thereby making it easier to attack and defeat
their ally Amorges, should have pleased the satrap greatly. If Alci-
biades were working to win his favor, the Athenian renegade should
have urged an attack on his countrymen at Lade.

The most obvious explanation for Chalcideus’ inaction is also the
likeliest. Like most Spartan commanders before and after him, he was
cautious, slow to take the initiative, and particularly reluctant to risk
a fight at sea with an Athenian fleet, even one significantly inferior to
his own in numbers. The Chians, exposed to Athenian attacks since
their own revolt, were now eager to spread the rebellion, share the
danger with others, and relieve the pressure on themselves. If Chal-
cideus had allowed the Chians to join him, they would surely have
pressed him to attack the Athenians at Lade. With thirty-five ships to
nineteen, he would have found it difficult, if not impossible, to refuse
an encounter he did not want to fight. Nor was his attitude foolish or
cowardly. The Athenians had lost most of their ships and many rowers
and officers at Sicily. Their navy was not what it once had been. But
the Spartans and their Peloponnesian allies had not acquired any
greater naval skills than the pitifully inadequate ones they had dis-

“Thucydides seems to date the beginning of the suspicion against Alcibiades-after
the death of Chalcideus (8.24.1) and the battle of Miletus (8.25-26): *AAkiBLadns pera
70V Xahkidéws kai ™y év MAte paxmy Tois Ilehomovimaiows vmontos av, kol
AT’ avt®v agwopévns €maToAfls Tpos Aotvoxor €k Aakedalpovos
a1’ amokTewan. . . . “After the death of Chalcideus and the battle at Miletus Alci-
biades, being an object of suspicion to the Peloponnesians and a letter having come to
Astyochus from Sparta as a result of this ordering him to be killed, . . . he withdrew
to Tissaphernes” (8.45.1). Hatzfeld (Alcibiade, 225, n. 7) believes that the letter to
Astyochus was instigated by the Peloponnesian allies serving with the Spartans in Asia
Minor, Van de Maele (Phoenix XXV [1971], 37, n. 21) agrees with him but believes
the suspicion arose after the death of Chalcideus and before the battle of Miletus, thus
explaining why Alcibiades might have been working in behalf of Tissaphernes earlier
than is generally thought. Andrewes (HCT V, g5), although not unsympathetic to such
interpretations of am’ avr@v, shows that they are neither inevitable nor easy. Another
approach, as Andrewes points out, is to take “a¥ri®Vv as neuter, ‘as a result of this,” ”
that is, to take the passage to mean that the letter condemning Alcibiades came from
Sparta as a result of suspicions of him arising among the Peloponnesians, location
unspecified. In that case, the passage would seem better to support a date for the rise
of suspicion against Alcibiades after the battle of Miletus. Andrewes sees problems
with this reading, too, but does not exclude it. This passage seems too unclear to
support Van de Maele’s theory that Alcibiades was already working for Tissaphernes
because he was already the object of suspicion among the Peloponnesian forces in Ionia.
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played in the earlier stages of the war. In the next years the first
important naval engagements of the Ionian War at Cynossema and
Cyzicus would demonstrate that Athenian tactical superiority at sea
continued. "

Chalcideus’ delay put an end to the Peloponnesians’ advantage and
the chance of fighting a naval battle quickly against a less numerous
enemy fleet, for the Athenians had already sent a reinforcing fleet of
sixteen ships under Diomedon. They had left Athens soon after Thra-
sycles and arrived in time to meet the ten Chian ships sailing north
from Anaea. Diomedon was able to capture four Chian triremes, al-
though their crews escaped.'” Soon Leon brought another squadron
of ten ships from Athens, bringing the Athenian fleet in Ionian waters
up to a total of forty-six, one ship having sailed to join the blockading
fleet at Lade and twenty-six at Athens’ main base on Samos. "

While the Athenians were establishing Samos as their chief base of
operations, an uprising occurred on that island unique in its bitterness,
even during the cruel course of the Peloponnesian War. The common
people rose up against the aristocrats of the governing oligarchy with
the assistance of the crews of three Athenian warships that were docked
at the island.” They killed 200 of the Samian noblemen and exiled
another 4oo. They seized their lands and houses, distributing them
among themselves. The vindictive revolutionaries seem to have de-
prived the aristocrats of their civic rights and even of the right of
intermarriage with the newly dominant lower class.”” The new de-
mocracy on Samos was powerfully dependent upon Athens for support
against a countercoup, perhaps supported by a colony of oligarchic
exiles long since established at Anaea on the coast just opposite the

'*Cynossema: 8.104~-106; Cyzicus: Xen. 1.11-18.

'78.19.3—4.

"Leon: 8.23. 1; twenty ships at Lade: 8.24.1. For a useful discussion of ship numbers
in the Aegean, see HCT V, 27-32.

"I formerly held the view that the Athenian settlement of the Samian rebellion of
440 included the establishment of a democratic government there (Kagan, Outbreak,
176, and n. 16). I have since been persuaded by the arguments of E. Will (REA LXXI
[1969), 305—319) and T. J. Quinn (Athens and Samos, Lesbos and Cbios [Manchester, 1981],
13-23) that the government of Samos between 439 and 412 was an oligarchy in which
the dynatoi, or aristocrats, played the leading role. For a careful and objective discussion
of the evidence and the issues, see HCT V, 44—47, 155-156, 257. The use of the term
aristocrats is justified by the term dwvarol.

™8.21. | derive the deprivation of civic rights from peredidoocav obre &AAov
ovdevos . . . .
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island.?' Consequently, the Athenians judged them to be entirely trust-
worthy and granted them autonomy.?? That trust was vindicated, for
the Samian democracy remained loyal to the Athenians throughout
the war, even after the Athenian navy was destroyed at Aegospotami.*’

With Samos secure, the Athenians were in a position to challenge
the ambitions of the still-zealous men of Chios. Eager to expand the
number of rebels, the Chians did not wait for significant Spartan aid
to arrive before moving ahead with the program agreed upon the pre-
vious spring at Corinth.”* With thirteen ships under the Laconian
perioikos Deiniadas, they sailed to Lesbos and immediately brought
Methymna into rebellion, leaving four ships there to lend support.
The others then sailed on to Mytilene and caused it, too, to rebel. At
the same time, a land army of Peloponnesians, the sailors from Chal-
cideus’ ships who had been left at Chios,” and the allies from the
neighborhood marched northward along the mainland coast under the
command of the Spartan Eualas.?® Starting probably from Erythrae,
they passed through Clazomenae, Phocaea, and Cyme, apparently
bringing those important cities over to their side.”’

Meanwhile, the Spartans had broken through the blockade at Spi-
raeum, with the loss of four ships. The survivors refitted at Cenchreae
and sailed for Ionia under the command of Astyochus, the new navarch
sent to take command of the entire Peloponnesian fleet.”® He arrived

*'For Anaea, see HCT V, 42, 45-46; Quinn, Atbens and Samos, Lesbos and Chios, 17—
19.
2What precisely was implied by this grant is unclear. Perhaps they were given some
judicial privilege (G. E. M. de Ste. Croix, CO LV = N. S. II[1961], 272). Possibly,
they were given the right to strike coins, as J. P. Barron (The Silver Coins of Samos
[London, 1966), 100~101) suggests. The gesture was probably of more psychological
than practical importance, bespeaking a special relationship of trust and confidence
between the two democracies and promising a new relationship after the war. Some
scholars connect /G i’ 101 (see D. M. Lewis, BSA XLIX [1954], 29—31) with this grant
of autonomy, but the inscription is not dated and is too fragmentary to be useful.

“Xen. 2.2.6.

#8.8.2.

»8.17.1; HCT V, so.
8.22.

YHCT V, so.

?#8.20.1. There has been considerable debate about whether at this time the navarchy
was a regular, annual office, undertaken and relinquished at specific times of the year.
The most influential affirmative argument was made by Beloch (GG 1I’:2, 269—289).
The most recent negative argument is made by R. Sealey (Klio LVIII [1976], 335-
358), who believes that the navarchy was made a regular magistracy with a fixed term
only about 409. Until then, he believes, the navarch was appointed for specific tasks,
and his term ended with completion of the task. (For briefer, but useful discussions,
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in Chios with four ships to find the Chian fleet at Lesbos. Two days
later, adding a Chian ship to his little fleet, he sailed off to join the
main Chian force at Lesbos and to give what help he could. He landed
at Pyrrha, moving on to Eresus the next day. There, he learned that
an Athenian fleet of twenty-five ships under the generals Leon and
Diomedon had landed on Lesbos earlier on the same day as his own
arrival. The Athenians had escaped detection and had taken the enemy
by surprise at Mytilene. They defeated the Chian ships in the harbor,
won a battle on land, and took the main city of Lesbos on the first
assault. Astyochus brought Eresus into rebellion and set out along the
northern coast of the island to try to save the rebellion at Methymna
and to cause one at Antissa. But these efforts failed. Thucydides says
that “everything on Lesbos was going against him,” so he embarked
his troops and sailed back to Miletus. Without the support of a fleet,
the land army did not continue on its way to the Hellespont but
dissolved, each allied contingent returning to its own city.” The at-
tempt on Lesbos had failed entirely and with it the plan the Pelo-
ponnesians had formed at Corinth to end the war swiftly by taking
Chios and Lesbos and cutting the Athenian lifeline with an expedition
to the Hellespont.* Typical Spartan hesitation had given Athens time
to recover, and the arrival of Leon and Diomedon at Lesbos had turned
the tide for the moment in favor of the Athenians.

The Athenian commanders wasted little time putting matters in
order on Lesbos and turned quickly to the offensive. Their main pur-
pose was the recovery of Chios, but first they took Clazomenae, a
coastal town not far from it.” After returning to Lesbos, they set sail
for the island that had been first to revolt and was still the most active
in bringing other cities into rebellion. Leon and Diomedon seized the
Oenussae islands, just off the northeast point of Chios, and the fortified
towns of Sidussa and Pteleum on the Erythraean peninsula, on the
mainland just opposite Chios, as nearby bases for conducting a close

see Busolt [GG 111:2, 1429, n. 3] and Andrewes [HCT 1V, 38, V, 43-44, 454—455)).
Whichever view is correct, we should not expect to find the Spartans behaving with
perfect regularity in’ sending out new navarchs, for the record shows many
inconsistencies.

°8.23.5. The reading 6 Tédv fvpfpdxwy] in the papyrus n**, as restored by Powell,
is preferable to the reading of the MSS a6 T1dv vedv. For supporting arguments, see
HCT V, s3; and Thucydide, La guerre du péloponnése, ed. and trans. R. Weil and ]. de
Romilly (Paris, 1972), VIII, 17, n. 5.

8.8.2.

¥8.23.6.
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blockade and seaborne assaults.* The Athenians easily controlled the
sea with their twenty-five ships against an unknown number of the
Chians, who were, therefore, unable to prevent them from landing.*’
The Athenians were also superior on land, for they had brought along
hoplites from the catalog of regular heavily armed infantrymen, con-
scripted to serve as marines in place of the thetes who usually served
in that capacity.” The Athenians were victorious time after time as
they sailed around the island, and finally, the Chians ceased to come
out to offer battle against them. The Athenians proceeded to ravage
and plunder their rich, well-cultivated, and well-stocked country, un-
touched by enemies since the Persian War. This desperate situation
naturally caused some Chians to wish that the rebellion had never
taken place, and some of them now plotted to bring their state back
into Athenian hands. The ruling officials became aware of the plot but
moved cautiously. They called Astyochus from Erythrae with his four
ships and asked him to help as they considered “how they might put
an end to the plot most moderately, either by taking hostages or in
some other way.”” In fact, Astyochus, took hostages, and for the time
being Chios was safe from internal disruption.’® The Athenians, how-
ever, continued to dominate the island by land and sea and to ravage
its wealth. The first Ionian state to rebel was no longer in a position
to spread the uprising and was on the point of defeat and punishment.

’28.24.2. For each location of these places, see HCT V, 55, and Map 3.

YFor the number of Athenian ships, see 8.23.1. The Chian ships mentioned up to
this point are seven taken by the Athenians from the blockading fleet at Spiraeum
(8.15.2), four captured without their crews as they sailed from Anaea (19.3), nine
defeated by the Athenians at Mytilene (23.3), and one lost at Methymna (23.4). Twenty
remained blockaded at Miletus. In the spring the Spartans had sent the perioikos Phrynis
to check on the Chian claims. He was satisfied of the truth of their claims, but he does
not appear to have seen all of the ships claimed with his own eyes. He reported that
“there were not less than sixty there from what the Chians said” (&g’ &v ol Xiow éeyov)
(8.6.4). The Chians may or may not have been exaggerating their forces to win Spartan
support. Perhaps they included in the total some ships that were not seaworthy. In
any case, we never hear of more than forty-seven of their ships at any one time. The
ease with which the Athenians controlled the sea around Chios at this time suggests
that they may have been superior numerically as well as tactically.

**Andrewes (HCT V, 56) suggests that the hoplites were compelled to serve on the
ships because thetes were in short supply after the heavy losses in Sicily. That is likely,
but it is also possible that the generals made a special request for such troops, knowing
ths:: fighting on land would be important on this occasion.

8.24.6.
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Its leaders must have seemed to have made a grave error in choosing
to launch an uprising against the still potent Athens.

At this point in his narrative Thucydides makes a remarkable digres-
sion, defending the Chians against the charge of recklessness or even
foolishness.*” He ranks them second only to the Spartans in their ability
to combine good fortune with self-restraint (exdaimonia and sopbrosyne)
and admires them for governing their city more securely even as it
grew greater. “And even in regard to this rebellion, if they seem to
have acted contrary to their own safety, they did not risk undertaking
it until they were sure that they would meet the danger along with
many good allies. They also knew that, after the Sicilian disaster, the
Athenians themselves did not deny that their situation was very bad.
And if they miscalculated among the uncertainties that are part of the
human condition in this life, they shared this error with many others
who thought the same thing—that the Athenian empire would quickly
be destroyed.”™® It is tempting to think that here Thucydides was
defending the moderate oligarchy of the Chians, the sort of regime of
which he thought so highly, against the accusation that it had behaved
with precisely the same dangerous recklessness as the unbridled Athe-
nian democracy that he held responsible for the Sicilian campaign and
other foolish acts.”

Even before their attack on Chios the Athenians had turned their
attention to reducing Miletus, the only other major Ionian city still in
rebellion. The blockading squadron at Lade launched a raid on Pan-
ormus on the coast to the south of Miletus. They quickly withdrew,
but in the fighting they killed the Spartan commander Chalcideus.
Later in the year, perhaps in October, they undertook a much more
important campaign.*® The generals Phrynichus, Onomacles, and Sci-
ronides had brought a fleet of forty-eight ships, some of them troop
carriers, to Samos.*' Crowded onto these ships were no fewer than
3,500 hoplites—r1,000 from Athens, 1,000 from their Aegean allies,
and 1,500 from Argos. This was a large force of infantry for Athens
to put into the field at any time, but it was truly remarkable so soon

"H. D. Westlake (Individuals in Thucydides [Cambridge, 1968], 236) suggests that
such a charge was made at the time, which is highly plausible.

*%8.24.4—5.

*Compare his praise of the Athenian government of the Five Thousand at 8.97.2.

“For the date, see Busolt (GG I1I:2, 1432); and HCT V, 58.

*'8.25.1. For discussions of the numbers of triremes and troopships, see Busolt (GG
I1I:2, 1433, n. 1); and HCT V, 28.
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after the Sicilian disaster. Apart from its military purposes, the gath-
ering of so large an army, including so many loyal allies, must have
had a considerable effect on the morale of the Athenians who saw it
muster and sail off from Piraeus. The effort was proof of Athenian
determination to stamp out the rebellion in Ionia before it could become
more dangerous.

The generals wasted no time. From Samos they sailed to Miletus,
made a landing, and set up camp. The total number of the enemy’s
forces is unknown, but they consisted of 80oo Milesian hoplites; the
Peloponnesian marines and, perhaps, some of the sailors that had come
with Chalcideus; a corps of mercenaries in the service of the satrap
Tissaphernes; Tissaphernes himself, at the head of his cavalry; and,
perhaps at his side, Alcibiades, the Athenian renegade, tenuously still
in Spartan service.*” The order of battle set the Argives, who were
Dorians, against the Ionian Milesians. Thucydides says that the usual
Dorian contempt for Ionian opponents caused the Argives to advance
in disorder, far ahead of the rest of their line. Whatever the reason,
the Milesians treated their attackers roughly, killing at least 300 and
defeating the rest. The Athenians and their Ionian allies were more
fortunate. First, they routed the Peloponnesian contingent, and then,
they drove off the Persians and their mercenaries. When the Milesians
saw what had happened to their allies, they made no attempt to assist
them but withdrew into their city. The Athenians made camp before
Miletus, having won a great victory, which they formally marked by
setting up a trophy. The enemy had been driven from the field, and
his remaining forces were huddled in Miletus. All that remained was
to wall off the city and wait for it to surrender. The Athenians had
no doubt that “if they recovered Miletus the other cities would also
readily come over to them.”*

With the Athenians victorious on land and superior at sea, there
was nothing to prevent their success. If only thirty of the newly arrived
squadron were triremes, with this number added to the twenty war-
ships already engaged in the blockade, the Athenians would have had
an advantage of fifty to twenty-five ships. The Peloponnesians’ fear of
a sea battle had made them unwilling to fight when they were more
numerous, so the Athenians had little to fear at sea under the new

*8.25.2. For the forces from Chalcideus’ fleet, see Busolt (GG 111:2, 1433; 1426, n.
1); and HCT V, 74. For Alcibiades, see 8.26.3.
+8.25.5.
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circumstances. But as evening was approaching on the day of the
Athenian victory, news arrived that changed the situation significantly.
From the nearby island of Leros word came to Phrynichus and his
colleagues that a large enemy fleet, fifty-five strong, had arrived and
was on its way to Miletus. From Sicily came Hermocrates, nemesis
of the Athenians, leading twenty triremes from Syracuse and two from
Selinus. With some difficulty, he had persuaded the weary and dis-
tracted Syracusans and the Selinuntines, alone among their Sicilian
allies, “to take a hand in the final destruction of Athens.”* The re-
maining ships were Peloponnesian, and the whole fleet was com-
manded by the Spartan Therimenes as it sailed across the Aegean. He
was under orders to bring it to the navarch Astyochus at the end of
the voyage.

Therimenes touched land at Leros, where he learned that the Athe-
nians were at Miletus. Since Leros is some forty miles away, he sailed

*8.26.1. For the situation in Sicily, see Busolt (GG 111:2, 1423). Diodorus (13.34.4,
63. 1) gives the number of ships under Hermocrates as thirty-five, but see HCT V, 61.

Kagan, Donald. The Fall of the Athenian Empire, Cornell University Press, 2013. ProQuest Ebook Central,

http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/hkpl-ebooks/detail.action?docID=3138417.

Created from hkpl-ebooks on 2020-07-16 19:50:25.



Copyright © 2013. Cornell University Press. All rights reserved.

ATHENS RESPONDS 63

into the Gulf of lasus to get better information, landing and making
camp at Teichiussa.* There, he encountered Alcibiades, who had
come on horseback from Miletus, and learned the outcome of the battle.
Thucydides tells us that Alcibiades was eloquent in urging swift action.
“If they did not wish to destroy their position in Ionia and their cause
in general, they should go to the aid of Miletus as fast as possible and
not stand by while it was walled off.”*

The Peloponnesians took him seriously and made ready to sail for
Miletus at dawn, but Alcibiades’ speed and eloquence proved to be
irrelevant. Before the Peloponnesians could move, the Athenians had
withdrawn and had left Miletus in enemy hands. The news of the
approaching Peloponnesian fleet had not daunted Onomacles, Sciron-
ides, Strombichides, and Thrasycles, who wanted to stay in place and
fight a naval battle to the finish, but the remaining Athenian general,
Phrynichus, argued against them.*” Thucydides reports his speech in
indirect discourse:

He said that he would not do it [fight a battle himself], nor would he allow
them or anyone else to do so, so far as he was able. For when it was possible
to fight at a later time, having more certain knowledge of how many ships
the enemy had and how many of their own were available against them,
having prepared adequately and at leisure, he would never, giving way to the
charge of disgrace, run a desperate risk. It was not shameful for the Athenians
at sea to make an opportune strategic withdrawal, but it would be more
shameful to be defeated, in any circumstances whatever. For the state did not
face disgrace only, but also the greatest danger; after the disasters they had
undergone it was hardly justified voluntarily to undertake any offensive action
whatever, unless it was absolutely necessary; it was even less justified, without
being compelled, to rush into dangers of their own choosing.**

He advised the Athenians to collect their wounded and their hoplites
and supplies, but not their booty, which would burden the ships too
heavily, and return to Samos. “From there, when once they had gath-
ered together all their ships, they could launch attacks whenever the
time might be ripe.”*’

Phrynichus’ argument carried the day, and the Athenians sailed to
Samos at dusk, “their victory incomplete,” for Miletus was uncon-
quered and now free from both siege and blockade. A further conse-

“See Map 4. For the location of Leros and Teichiussa, see HCT V, 6:.

468.26.3.

78.27.1. For the names of the generals present, see Busolt (GG 111:2, 1434); and
HCT V, 63.

**8.27.2-3. For a discussion of the textual difficulties, see HCT V, 63-64.

*°8.27.4.
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quence of the Athenian withdrawal was the swift and angry departure
of the Argive hoplites.*® Thereafter, Argos played no part in the war.
Caution at Miletus seems to have cost the Athenians the aid of one of
their most important allies.” The Athenian retreat had still another
unhappy consequence. The next morning the reinforcing fleet under
Therimenes sailed from Teichiussa to Miletus. Deprived of a battle,
they waited a day and collected the twenty-five ships of the late Chal-
cideus’ squadron, now freed from blockade. They would have returned
to Teichiussa the next day, since they had left their sails, masts, and
rigging, but Tissaphernes arrived with his army and persuaded them
to sail against Amorges at lasus. Amorges had not been told of the
Athenian retreat, so his people assumed that the approaching fleet was
Athenian and made no effective resistance. The Peloponnesians took
Amorges alive and turned him over to Tissaphernes. The mercenaries
who made up Amorges’ army were mostly Peloponnesians, so they
were simply taken into the Peloponnesian force. Iasus was sacked, its
people were sold to Tissaphernes for the equivalent of 20 drachmas
each, and what was left of the town was turned over to Tissaphernes.*
The Peloponnesians returned to Miletus and put a Spartan, Philippus,
in charge as governor.”> The Athenians had lost another ally, the
Persians were rid of an annoying distraction, and the Spartans and
Persians had cooperated to achieve their first victory together.
Although Thucydides characterizes the Athenian victory at Miletus
as incomplete, he gives Phrynichus his full approval and unusual praise:

*°8.27.6. The text reads: wpos épyiv Tiis Evppopas, and it is usual to take Evppopés
to refer only to the defeat of the Argives in battle. I prefer to understand it in its
primary sense of “event” or “circumstance” and to connect it with the whole event at
Miletus, which included a defeat for the Argives accompanied by a victory for the
army of which they were part, followed by a disappointing and apparently ignominious
retreat. It is hard to see why the Argives, however angry for their defeat, should think
it a good and honorable reason to depart. A much better reason, from the point of
view of Greek notions of honor, would be anger and chagrin at being deprived of a
chance to avenge their defeat by future fighting.

*'The Argives had fought alongside the Athenians in large numbers at Mantinea,
sent a contingent to Sicily, and were present in force at Miletus at this moment of
great peril to Athens. The battle of Miletus in 412 is the last time they fought. Busolt
(GG 111:2, 1435) and Meyer (GdA 1V:2, 273, n. 1) suggest that Argos may have made
a formal peace with Sparta soon after, but they offer no evidence. Since the Argives
offered the Athenians help in 411 (8.86) and associated themselves with the mission to
Persia in 408 (Xen. 1.3.13), an Argive-Spartan peace treaty seems unlikely.

*28.28. For some interesting suggestions about the fate of lasus and its people, see
M. Amit, SCI 11 (1975), 57-59.

’8.28.5.
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“Later on no less than on the present occasion, in this matter but also
in all the others in which he took part, he appears not to have been
lacking in intelligence.”** In the face of such an endorsement by the
great contemporary historian, we need not be surprised that most
modern historians have accepted Phrynichus’ point of view.*’

A different judgment, however, is possible and was made by Phryn-
ichus’ contemporaries. His four fellow generals had strongly disagreed
with him before he persuaded at least two of them to vote for with-
drawal. In the next year, moreover, he was charged, along with Sci-
ronides, who must have been more closely identified with the final
decision than the others, with responsibility for the loss of Iasus and
Amorges.* Peisander was engaged in a plot to overthrow the democ-
racy and may have acted from political or personal motives, but the
men who found Phrynichus and Scironides guilty were not part of the
plot but were good democrats who voted to replace the deposed gen-
erals with sound democrats such as Diomedon and Leon.*” Their ver-
dict may have been influenced by the intervening events, but that does
not make it less honest or correct.”®

In fact, there is good reason to agree with Phrynichus’ judges and
to blame him for the misfortunes that followed upon his decision not
to fight. Thucydides’ account allows us to reconstruct the debate in

**Thucydides’ word for “intelligence” is xynesis, and throughout his work he applies
it sparingly. He uses it only for men such as Themistocles, Brasidas, Pisistratus, and
Hermocrates of Syracuse, and he associates it with such terms as “excellence” (arete),
“competence” (bikanos), and “courage” (andreia). Themistocles 1.138.3; Brasidas 4.81.2
(with arete); Pisistratus 6.54.5 (with arete); [ lermocrates 6.72.2 (with bikanos and andreia).
Further evidence of Thucydides’ high regard for this quality is that in speeches he
reports Pericles as praising it (1.140.1) and Cleon as condemning it (3.37.4-5).

**Most, in fact, who have noticed or discussed the issue. Grote is an exception in
blaming Phrynichus for failing to warn Amorges of his withdrawal, but on the main
point he follows Thucydides. Busolt (GG 111:2, 1435) and Meyer (GdA 1V:2, 272) offer
arguments in support of Phrynichus, whereas Ferguson’s account in CAH (V, 316—
317) clearly implies approval.

*%8.54.3. The charge against Phrynichus and Scironides was “lagov wpodoivar kai
'Apopymy. wpodidwpe often implies betrayal and treason, but it need not. It may
simply mean “giving over” or “surrendering.” Andrewes’ excellent note (HCT V, 127)
is worth quoting here: “not a matter of treacherous communication with the enemy
... ; the charge is rather that by persuading his colleages not to fight Therimenes (27)
he was responsible for these losses to Athens. mpodotvar in Greek covers this without
difficulty.” If the ancient tradition can be trusted, Thucydides himself had been con-
victed of prodosia at Amphipolis in 424 (see Kagan, Archidamian War, 299). Perhaps his
sympathy for Phrynichus derives, in part, from their common experience.

*’8.54.3. For the politics of the new generals, see 8.73.4.

**For the controversial nature of Thucydides’ opinion, sec HCT V, 66.
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the Athenian camp at Miletus with some degree of probability. He
says that Phrynichus had clear information about the enemy’s ships.
Probably, he argued at first that the enemy’s numerical superiority
made it unwise to fight. The other generals, eager for a battle, must
have questioned the report’s accuracy. Phrynichus, instead of insisting
on the reliability of his facts, shifted his ground and used uncertainty
about the enemy’s numbers as a reason for not fighting. Apparently,
the other generals raised the cry of cowardice, arguing that for the
Athenians to refuse battle at sea, the element that they proudly claimed
to master, would be shameful. Once again, the artful Phrynichus
turned their argument against them, claiming that the real shame was
not in strategic withdrawal but in defeat at sea under any circumstan-
ces. All of this was mainly sophistry, but he had still another argument.
Echoing the language of Pericles, he urged them not “to rush into
dangers of their own choosing. "% After the Sicilian disaster, the Athe-
nians were in no condition to take the offensive. This last point, we
may believe, was what won over Phrynichus’ colleagues as it also has
persuaded modern scholars.

Busolt believes that an attack of uncertain result “would have been
highly excessive; a defeat would have had the loss of the land army,
too, as its result. In fact, the outcome would have been very uncertain,
for the Athenians did not have their previous tactical superiority. . . .
The days of Phormio were over.” Meyer’s view is the same: “The
absolute command of the sea, trusting in which Phormio could bravely
encounter a More nUMerous enemy in 429, was gone; at the moment
Athens’ position in respect to the enemy was scarcely better at sea
than for decades past it had been on land.”*" These estimates of Athe-
nian naval prospects in 412 do not accord well with the evidence, being
far too pessimistic. To be sure, the days of Phormio were over, but
Athens continued to maintain tactical and psychological superiority
over its enemies at sea, even after the Sicilian expedition. Earlier in
the year the Peloponnesian fleet had been intimidated in Corinthian
waters and had been driven to land at a deserted and inconvenient
base. Later, nineteen Athenian ships were enough to frighten twenty-
five of the enemy into staying in port and enduring a blockade. The

*°8.27.3. The words abBaupértous kuwdivous are ones used by Pericles in his speech
in 432, on the eve of the war (1.144.1). Whether or not Phrynichus used these words,
Thucydides’ decision to report or insert them is unlikely to be accidental.

“Busolt, GG 11:2, 1435.

*'Meyer, GdA 1V:2, 272.
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Athenian fleet under Diomedon and Leon easily swept the seas around
Chios and Lesbos clear of enemy ships. In the spring of 411, although
the entire lonian coast was no longer in Athenian hands, the Spartans
were so afraid of the Athenian fleet that they sent an army to the
Hellespont by land.** Only two years after Phrynichus refused battle
at Miletus, an Athenian fleet inflicted a defeat on the Peloponnesians
at Cynossema in the Hellespont, although it was outnumbered seventy-
six to eighty-six.”

Alone among modern scholars, Andrewes has correctly described
the tactical and strategic situation. The Athenians had lost their best
crews in Sicily, but “they had not lost all their skill, nor the Pelo-
ponnesians their sense of inferiority.” Phrynichus’ argument for draw-
ing back from Miletus to fight better another day had this flaw: “that
under the conditions he desiderates here Athens could never be sure
of forcing a battle.” As long as the Spartans had a secure base on land,
they could refuse naval battles while sending off armies by land and,
by eluding the Athenian navy, even by sea to cause further rebellions
from Athens. The Athenians’ best hope of getting the enemy to fight
a sea battle, in fact, lay in “luring the enemy out against an apparently
inferior force.” The opportunity Phrynichus refused “offered such a
chance in that Therimenes had to take some positive action to save
Miletos and Phrynichus’ colleagues expected that he would offer battle
by sea. If they had been allowed to hang on and fight, the course of
the war might have been very different.”®*

Even the modern supporters of Phrynichus concede that a naval
victory at Miletus would have been of decisive importance to the Athe-
nians. “If they succeeded in achieving the fall of Miletus,” Meyer says,
“the attempt of the Peloponnesians would be shattered and the Ath-
enian Empire restored.” For Busolt, “the retreat signified the aban-
donment of the fruits of the siege and of the prospect of recovering
Miletus and all Ionia.”* He goes on to list the further consequences
of that retreat: the freeing of the Peloponnesian fleet at Miletus from

$28.61.1. Amit (SCI I [1975], 63) has seen the significance: “The forces moved by
foot (wel)) from one theatre of war to another—which shows that the sea route was
closed to them. It is unnecessary to stress how difficult and tiresome it was for an army
to cover the long distance (200-250 miles) from lonia to the Hellespont on foot.”

©'8.104-106.

“HCT V, 66-67.

“Meyer, GIA 1V:2, 271.

“Busolt, GG 111:2, 1435.
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blockade, the abandonment of effective fighting against the Chians,
“the abandonment of their ally Amorges to his fate, and the departure
of the Argives.” To that list we may add the loss of Rhodes that would
soon follow, the loss of almost all of the coast of Asia Minor, and the
freeing of the enemy to carry the war into the Hellespont. The Athe-
nian decision not to fight a naval battle at Miletus was a unique op-
portunity lost. Its psychological consequences were as serious as its
material results. The rebels were given breathing space and new hope.
The Spartans and Persians were given an opportunity for successful
cooperation. The moderate democracy of the probouloi was deprived
of the kind of victory that would have given it the prestige to resist
oligarchic plots that we know were taking shape. The dangers of a
battle against odds were well worth the risks, for the dangers of not
fighting were at least as great. Moreover, there is no reason to believe
that even a defeat for Athens would have been disastrous. Only in the
unique circumstances and confined quarters of Syracuse harbor did a
naval defeat need to mean the destruction of a fleet. Even when the
Athenians were successful in major battles, they rarely destroyed a
majority of the enemy’s ships. It was still less likely that the Athenians
would suffer major losses in a naval battle at Miletus before breaking
off the fighting and retreating to Samos for safety, and as we have
argued, the best evidence indicates that Athenian superiority in tactics
and morale made any defeat unlikely. In following the advice of Phryn-
ichus, the Athenians made a serious blunder that cost them dearly.”

“Amit (SCI 11 [1975), 56, n. 35) suggests that Phrynichus’ advice represented not
undue caution but treason. We have no evidence to support that suggestion, and it is
hard to think of a motive for treason at this moment.
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4. Sparta’s Riposte

The withdrawal of Athens’ fleet from Miletus presented the Spartans
and their allies with the chance to revive the rebellion in the Athenian
Empire that had been almost extinguished and to extend it to new
regions that were as yet untroubled. It might seem that they should
have moved swiftly, using their temporary numerical advantage at sea
to rescue Chios, which was the first state to rebel, an important source
of support to the rebellion of others, and a key base for spreading the
naval war to the vital area of the Hellespont, but a formidable set of
problems prevented such action. The Spartans’ sense of inferiority at
sea, combined with their proverbial caution, usually led them to avoid
naval battles, even when their numbers were greater. They also lacked
experienced, competent, and trustworthy leaders who were capable
of formulating good strategies and tactics and acting on them swiftly
and effectively. The short terms and limited naval experience of Spar-
tan commanders were only part of this problem. The last decade of
the war shows that, as in the past, Spartan commanders far from home
were subject to corruption and often allowed personal and political
rivalries to interfere with the conduct of their duties. To all of this
must be added the Spartan dependence on Persian support in a war
in which the goals of the collaborating powers were far from identical.

The Spartan fleet under Therimenes arrived at Miletus the day after
the Athenian withdrawal. Therimenes neither pursued the Athenians
to seek a battle nor took his force northward to turn it over to the
navarch Astyochus at Chios. Instead, he did a service for Tissaphernes
in recovering lasus from Amorges and withdrew to the safety of Mi-
letus. The Spartans had sent Pedaritus the son of Leon with Theri-
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menes to serve as governor of Chios. Therimenes did not try to deliver
him to his post by sea at the risk of a naval encounter with the Athenians
but was content to send him overland to Erythrae in command of the
mercenary troops taken from Amorges.' From Erythrae he could make
his way across the strait to Chios.

So the Spartan navarch was still at Chios separated from his navy
by the Athenian fleet at Samos when Tissaphernes came to Miletus,
probably in early November of 412, to deliver the pay he had promised
to the sailors in Sparta’s service.” Each received a month’s pay at the
rate of an Attic drachma per day, a figure apparently agreed upon in
the discussions at Sparta the previous winter.’ For the future, however,
the satrap said he would pay only half as much unless the king ordered
him to pay the full drachma. Therimenes was not navarch and had
only the limited mission of delivering the new fleet to Astyochus. He
made no complaint at the cut in pay, but Hermocrates, the fiery
Syracusan commander, argued effectively enough to win a small
concession; each sailor would receive slightly more than a half-drachma
each day.+

We may wonder about the absence of Alcibiades from these dis-
cussions. He had been instrumental in persuading the Spartans to give
aid to Chios, as Tissaphernes wanted, rather than support risings in
the Hellespont, according to the wishes of the rival satrap Pharnabazus.
He was at Chalcideus’ elbow when he negotiated the first Spartan
treaty with Tissaphernes.® He had fought alongside Tissaphernes at
the battle of Miletus. He had then proved his devotion to the Spartan
cause by riding to the Spartans’ fleet at Teichiussa and urging them
to sail immediately to save Miletus. He was famous among all of the
Greeks for his personal charm and persuasive skill. Surely, he must
be the perfect man to argue the Spartan case with the Persian satrap.®

But in the month or so between the battle of Miletus and Tissa-
phernes’ return to that city to pay the forces, Alcibiades had changed

'8.28.

’8.29.1. For the date, see Busolt, GG I1I:2, 1436.

’8.5.4—5. See HCT V, 7o0.

*8.29. Thucydides’ language does not permit a clear and certain understanding of
just how much the concession amounted to. A neat, but by no means conclusive,
suggestion is that under the new arrangement each sailor would receive 18 drachmas
each month instead of the 15 that a simple half-drachma rate would yield. For a good
disscussion of the problem, see HCT V, 70-72.

8.17.4.
°Aid to Chios: 8.6.3; Miletus and Teichiussa: 8.26.3.
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sides again. Recent events had compelled the Athenian renegade to
turn his coat once more and to seek safety with the Persian satrap.
Some time before the battle of Miletus an Athenian raid on Panormus
killed the Spartan commander Chalcideus, depriving Alcibiades of a
close colleague.” Thucydides says that suspicion against Alcibiades
arose among the Peloponnesians “after the death of Chalcideus and
the battle of Miletus.” These events were probably no more than a
few weeks apart, and Thucydides seems to imply that the death of
Alcibiades’ influential ally allowed suspicions among the Peloponnesian
forces to be bruited about publicly until soon after the battle of Miletus,
when Alcibiades joined Tissaphernes.

About the same time as the battle of Miletus a new board of ephors
took office in Sparta.® The departure of Endius from the ephorate
deprived Alcibiades of urgently needed support, for as Thucydides
emphasizes, “he was a personal enemy of Agis and for other reasons
did not inspire confidence.”"® His origins, his personality, and his
previous record are perhaps enough to explain why he was the object
of distrust in Sparta and needed friends in high places to protect him
there. It is less clear why the Peloponnesian soldiers and sailors in
Ionia should have come to suspect him of treason, for it was surely at
their instigation that a letter was sent from Sparta to Astyochus or-
dering the navarch to kill Alcibiades."

Thucydides does not give any reasons for the suspicion, apart from
the general sense that Alcibiades was untrustworthy, but it is not hard
to imagine how such thoughts came to be directed against such a man.
Results of the expectations he had raised had been very disappointing.
The general rebellion that was expected in the Athenian Empire had
been repressed almost as soon as it had begun. Far from serving as a
major base of operations and providing important support, Chios was

’8.24.1.

8.45.1.

°Busolt (GG 111:2, 1437) dates the change of ephors about the beginning of October.
Both he (1432) and Andrewes (HCT V, 185) date the battle of Miletus in late September
or early October.

198.45.1.

""Hatzfeld (Alcibiade, 225, n. 7) has rightly understood Thucydides to mean that the
decision in Sparta was based on complaints from the allied forces in lonia, although
the text is difficult, as Andrewes (HCT V, 9s) points out. The severity of the sentence
makes it clear that Alcibiades was suspected of a capital crime such as treason. Busolt
(GG 111:2, 1437) has no doubt that this was the charge or that Alcibiades was innocent
of it.
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under siege and was a drain on the Peloponnesians’ resources. Athens,
far from being exhausted and ready for collapse, had shown itself able
to put to sea with a formidable fleet that continued to daunt its enemies.
In the month or more between the death of Chalcideus and Tissa-
phernes’ arrival in Miletus, the Peloponnesian soldiers had received
none of the pay promised them. Chalcideus, advised and urged on by
Alcibiades, had made a treaty with the Persians that was terribly one-
sided and would later be denounced as scandalous and as conceding
the enslavement of Greeks to the Persian king."* This kind of talk must
have come to the surface after the death of Chalcideus. After the battle
of Miletus, suspicion must have grown even greater. The Peloponne-
sians had been beaten in a land battle where Tissaphernes’ small force
of mercenaries had done them little good. The fleet under Therimenes
arrived in time to save Miletus, but the numerical superiority it gave
them at sea was used for no Spartan purpose. Instead, it was employed
to defeat Amorges and turn over lasus to the satrap. “Where was the
financial support, where was the promised war of liberation? When
Alcibiades had insisted during the previous winter that the Spartans
accept Tissaphernes’ offer had he not played Persia’s game rather than
Sparta’s?”"?

Even before the death of Chalcideus, Alcibiades’ situation was be-
coming more precarious, for he knew of Agis’ hostility and of the
forthcoming change of ephors, and he saw that events had not gone
as well as he had hoped. No doubt he used the occasions when he was
with Tissaphernes to establish friendly relations with the satrap, for
he might soon need another haven. The change of sides, however, did
not take place until after the battle of Miletus, for immediately after
the battle he was still active in the Spartan interest."* The decisive
moment was probably when Alcibiades learned that the letter ordering
his death had been sent to Astyochus. The news may well have reached
him before it got to the navarch, for we may assume that Endius or
some other Spartan friend sent him warning as soon as the decision
was made.” In any case, he got the news of his condemnation well

"8.43.3-

“These are the questions that Hatzfeld (Alcibiade, 225) suggests the suspicious Pel-
oponnesian forces were asking.

1“8.26.3.

"“There is a romantic ancient tradition (Justin 5.2.5) that the warning came from
Agis’ wife, Timaea. Thucydides does not make clear just when Astyochus received
the order and Alcibiades the warning. S. Van de Maele (Phoenix XXV [1971], 39—40)
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before Astyochus’ arrival in Miletus, giving him time to offer his ser-
vices to Tissaphernes and seek asylum with him.

When Tissaphernes appeared in Miletus in his role as paymaster
early in November, therefore, Alcibiades had been with him for some
weeks.'® The ancient writers were much impressed by the ease with
which Alcibiades won his way into the satrap’s favor, the warmth with
which he was received, and the highly influential position he so quickly
achieved. They emphasize the charm of his appearance, speech, and
manner; his successful flattery; and the chameleonlike ability with
which he adopted the style and customs of those whose favor he sought.
“Therefore,” says Plutarch, “though in other respects [Tissaphernes]
was the greatest hater of the Greeks among the Persians, he so gave
way to the flattery of Alcibiades as to outdo him in counter-flattery.”
The proof is that Tissaphernes named a most beautiful park in his
possession “Alcibiades,” and everyone continued to call it by that
name.'” Thucydides says that Alcibiades became the satrap’s “adviser
in everything” and that Tissaphernes “gave his confidence” to him,"*
but we should not think that the Persian was entirely taken in by the
clever Athenian or even that it was guile and instruction that he needed
from him.

In the winter of 412/11 Tissaphernes faced several problems with
which he might hope Alcibiades could help him. The failure of the
Ionian rebellion against Athens to take fire, spread rapidly, and lead
to quick Athenian defeat and withdrawal must have surprised him as

makes an ingenious and plausible case that the letter from Sparta arrived at Chios while
Astyochus was engaged in campaigns on the coast of Asia Minor. Those activities seem
to have taken at least two weeks (8.3 1), so Astyochus would have learned of his orders
no sooner than the passage of that time. Alcibiades’ friends would have sent the news
to him at least as early as the Spartan government sent out the deadly order, so
Alcibiades would have gotten the news well before the navarch, probably in mid-
October.

"*This account is based on the belief shared by many scholars (e.g., Busolt [GG 111:2,
1438, n. 1] and Hatzfeld [Alcibiade 226, n. 5]) that 8.29 and 8.45.2 describe the same
events. Andrewes (HCT V, 95—97) believes otherwise: “I find it more likely that 45.2—
3 represents a separate stage of the argument about pay.” He points out that th.re are
some differences in detail between the two accounts, but he understands that the
incoherence of the two accounts does not allow certainty about which hypothesis is
better. To my mind, the differences are so trivial as to argue for identity, and they
are easy to explain as deriving from different emphases by the historian writing at
different times.

""Alc. 24.5. Other passages in a similar vein are Alk. 23.3-6; Athenaeus XII, 534B,
535E; Nepos, Al. 5.3; Justin 5.2.5-8.

18.45.2; 46.5.
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well as the Spartans. We may guess that when he encouraged the
Spartans to support the rebellion in Chios, promising to pay their men
1 drachma a day for the purpose, he expected a quick campaign and
an easy victory. Instead, the Athenians had quickly recovered the
initiative, brought a significant fleet into play, and threatened to snuff
out the rebellion. The arrival of a large Peloponnesian fleet and Phryn-
ichus’ caution had prevented that outcome, but now he faced the
prospect of supporting, at least in part from his own funds, a much
larger force than he had expected and, for a period whose end he could
not foresee. He did not need Alcibiades to advise him to reduce the
promised rate of pay, although he gladly received it. The adherence
of Alcibiades offered him a unique individual who knew both Athens
and Sparta well, had friends in both camps, and was useful as a source
of information and an effective communicator. It was not Alcibiades’
plan that he needed.'® “The real use of the Athenian exile, was to assist
the satrap in carrying [his own plan] into execution; and to provide
him with those plausible pretences and justifications, which he was to
issue as a substitute for effective supplies of men and money.” If it
pleased Alcibiades to make much of his intimacy with the satrap, to
make it obvious that he was Tissaphernes’ trusted adviser and confi-
dant, and even to act as the Persian’s spokesman on occasion, Tissa-
phernes did not mind as long as the advice agreed with his own
judgment and Alcibiades continued to be useful.

Public display of his intimacy and influence with Tissaphernes
pleased Alcibiades greatly; his own plans depended on others, partic-
ularly the Athenians, believing that he had the power of influencing,
perhaps even controlling the satrap’s policy. His safety required that
the Spartans should not triumph, for the deadly vengeance of Agis
and hostility of the Spartans and Peloponnesians were unlikely to wane
with time.” To be sure, he was still subject to the death penalty at
Athens, but he placed greater hope in the milder and more forgiving
nature of the Athenian democracy. Thucydides reveals Alcibiades’
purposes in advising Tissaphernes:

Alcibiades gave Tissaphernes and the King the advice he did while under
their protection, on the one hand, because he thought it was the best advice
for them; at the same time, he was working diligently for his own return to

'®As Hatzfeld (Alibiade, 228) suggests.
®Grote, VIII, 4.
D'Plut. Ak. 25.2.
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his native land, for he knew that if he did not destroy it he might some day
persuade the Athenians to allow him to return. And he thought that the best
way to persuade them was if it appeared that Tissaphernes was on intimate
terms with him. And that is exactly what happened.**

The first part of Alcibiades’ advice was equally suitable to the needs
of both the adviser and advisee: to cut the pay given to the Peloponne-
sians in half and to pay even that irregularly.” No doubt it was also
equally obvious. Alcibiades’ contribution was to provide specious ar-
guments to justify the action and to advise Tissaphernes to bribe the
Peloponnesian generals and ship captains to accept those arguments.
Tissaphernes, who could probably think of such a plan unaided, suc-
ceeded in quieting all of the commanders in this way except for Her-
mocrates the Syracusan, who alone vigorously argued against the
reduction.** Alcibiades was probably most effective when he heard
that rebellious Ionian cities asked for financial support from the satrap.
Flinging in the face of the Chians their own great wealth and reminding
the other cities that they had paid money to their Athenian oppressors,
he said that they should be willing to use the same money to secure
their own liberty.”

Alcibiades also suggested that Tissaphernes “not be in too great a
hurry to end the war and not to wish to give command of the land
and sea to the same power, either by bringing on the Phoenician ships
he was preparing or by increasing the number of Greeks to whom he
provided pay.” Instead, he should allow the two powers each to control
its own domain so that the king could always use one side against the
other that might trouble him. The wisest, cheapest, and most secure
course would be “to wear the Greeks out, one against the other.”¢
Alcibiades appeared to believe that the Persians had it in their power
toend the war quickly if they chose: Tissaphernes might hire additional
Greek forces. But it is far from clear that even significant numbers of
additional forces would have helped. Events had shown and would
continue to show that victory required a defeat of the Athenian navy,
and such defeat depended on well-trained crews of rowers. We have

?28.47.1. This-passage seems to be one of the strongest in support of the theory that
Alcibiades was an important source of information for Thucydides in Book 8. See
Brunt, REG LXV (1952), 72—-81.

P8.45.2.

18.29.2; 45.2.

8.45.3-5.

%8.46.1-2.
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noreason to believe that Greek oarsmen were available who were better
than those already in use. The second device named by Alcibiades is
surprising: to call in the Phoenician fleet. Thucydides has him speak
of “the Phoenician ships that he was preparing,” but no previous men-
tion has been made of any such ships. Probably, there had been some
talk earlier of bringing them into the Aegean, which Thucydides did
not mention. Perhaps the hope of gaining their support may help to
account for Chalcideus’ acceptance of so one-sided a treaty. However,
we must ask whether the promise of a Phoenician fleet had any reality
at the moment. Some doubt has been expressed that such a fleet ex-
isted.”” But Thucydides asserts its reality firmly, and we have no reason
to doubt him.”® Whether Tissaphernes ever intended to use it in the
Aegean will be discussed below,* but in the early winter of g412/11
the Phoenician ships were clearly not ready for use. In the short run,
at least, Alcibiades’ second suggestion suited the satrap well.

Alcibiades’ last proposal was that Tissaphernes should abandon his
alliance with Sparta and draw closer to Athens. He argued that the
Athenians, as practicing imperialists, wouldhave no hesitation in aban-
doning the Greek cities on the continent while maintaining control of
the sea and the islands in it for themselves. They would be “more
suitable partners in empire.”” The Spartans, on the other hand, had
come as liberators of the Greeks, and they would hardly abandon their
freedom to the Persians when they were unwilling to leave them in
the hands of other Greeks. They would not cease to be a menace until
they were removed. Alcibiades’ advice, therefore, was that Tissa-
phernes should “first, wear out both sides, then reduce Athenian power
as much as possible, then finally, drive the Peloponnesians from his
land.”*

These arguments should not have been persuasive. They pictured
the Spartans as simple idealists, totally committed to the cause of
freedom and to their allies, whatever the cost. A glance at Sparta’s
behavior toward its Peloponnesian allies and its Melian colonists would
have served to raise questions about the accuracy of this description
of Sparta’s character and policy. Nor was this picture of Athens more

”E. Delebecque, Etudes classigues 11 (1967); Ann. Fac. Lettres Aix-en-Provence,
XLI, 23, and Thucydide et Alcibiade (Aix-en-Provence, 1965), 177.

8.87.2-3.

”See Chapter Nine.

2°8.46.3.

*'8.46.4.
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reliable. The events of the previous seventy years did not reveal a state
likely to leave the Greek coastal cities free as long as it retained a
powerful navy. Alcibiades was making the best case he could, but we
need not think he deceived the Persian satrap. Tissaphernes acted on
those parts of Alcibiades’ advice that pleased him and ignored the parts
that did not. His purposes were best served for the present by main-
taining good relations with the Greek renegade, so he made no objec-
tion. He continued to show favor to Alcibiades, to keep him close,
and to consult him publicly. He provided even the reduced salaries to
the Peloponnesians only irregularly, and he restrained them from fight-
ing at sea by promising the imminent arrival of the Phoenician fleet.
The result was to damage their general situation and to reduce the
quality of the fleet. Alcibiades was free to carry on his private nego-
tiations with the Athenians, his status with Tissaphernes apparently
high. Tissaphernes was free to deal with the consequences when and
how he chose.**

The Peloponnesian fleet lay idle in the harbor of Miletus for three
months, from about the beginning of October until the end of Decem-
ber.”* That delay allowed the Athenians to send reinforcements to
Samos, 35 ships under Charminus, Strombichides, and Euctemon.?*
When they recalled their ships from Chios to Samos, in the first half
of November, the number there reached a total of 104, and Athens
had regained command of the sea lost when Phrynichus refused battle
at Miletus.* The Athenians divided their fleet, sending 30 ships north
to Chios and 74 to resume the blockade of Miletus. The opportunity
there, however, once abandoned, did not present itself again. The
Athenians no longer threatened the city by land. They had to content
themselves with fruitless naval sorties, for the Spartan fleet refused
battle, although they outnumbered the enemy 8o to 74.%

In the north, however, the Spartan navarch Astyochus was not idle.
He was at Chios gathering hostages to prevent a revolution when he

’28.46.5.

»Busolt, GG 111:2, 1440, n. 1.

*8.30.1. They replaced Leon and Diomedon, who appear to have returned to Athens,
probably with some ships (8.54.3). For discussions of the problems in getting a clear
and unambiguous account of the numbers of ships from Thucydides’ account, see HCT
V, 27-32.

3 8.30.2: éBahacookpaTovy. For the date, see Busolt (GG 111:2, 1440, n. 4).

*%8.30.2. Andrewes (HCT V, 73) points out that this “speaks badly for Phrynichus’
argument in c. 27.” So it does, but we should remember that the reluctance to fight
might have owed something to Tissaphernes’ tactics.

Kagan, Donald. The Fall of the Athenian Empire, Cornell University Press, 2013. ProQuest Ebook Central,

http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/hkpl-ebooks/detail.action?docID=3138417.

Created from hkpl-ebooks on 2020-07-16 19:50:25.



Copyright © 2013. Cornell University Press. All rights reserved.

78 THE FALL OF THE ATHENIAN EMPIRE

received word that the fleet under Therimenes had arrived in time to
save Miletus, so that “the condition of the [Peloponnesian] alliance had
been improved.”?” Encouraged by the news and given an opportunity
by the temporary withdrawal of the Athenian fleet from Chios to
Samos, he launched attacks against Athenian positions on the coast
opposite Chios. Although given some small support by Tamos, Tis-
saphernes’ lieutenant in Ionia, he failed in assaults on Pteleum, near
Erythrae, and Clazomenae (see Map 3). Bad weather put an end to
the campaign and forced him to take refuge in the friendly ports of
Phocaea and Cyme.”® In these cities, he was approached by envoys
from Lesbos who urged him to assist them in a renewal of their revolt.
He would have been glad to help, but the Corinthians and other allies,
presumably including the Chians who manned ten of his twenty ships,
were reluctant because of the previous failure to bring the island over,
so he was compelled to return to Chios. There, he was soon joined
by Pedaritus, Sparta’s designated governor of Chios, who was leading
a band of mercenary soldiers. These men had served Amorges and
had been taken into Spartan service after his defeat at Iasus. Beginning
at Miletus late in October, Pedaritus marched them northward along
the shore as far as Erythrae, where he crossed over to Chios.*

The Lesbians once again asked Astyochus to support a renewal of
their rebellion. The navarch now had his own ships, the troops under
Pedaritus, and a force of 500 men who had been armed by Alcibiades
and Chalcideus and left on Chios as a garrison.** He therefore proposed
to Pedaritus and the Chians that they take their forces to Lesbos and
cause it to revolt, for in doing so, “either they would gain more allies
or, if they failed, do harm to the Athenians.”' But Pedaritus refused,
saying he would not relinquish the Chian ships for that purpose. Our
knowledge of the details of the Spartan constitution does not allow
certainty about the correct relationship between the governor of an
allied city and the navarch. Thucydides’ language seems to indicate
that Pedaritus, the governor of Chios, thought he had the right to
control the actions of the Chian fleet, regardless of the wishes of the
navarch Astyochus, whose command of the Peloponnesian vessels Pe-

¥78.31.1. See 8.24.6.
*8.31.2—4.
°8.32.1; 8.28.5.
“8.17.1.

+8.32.3.
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daritus does not question.** Opposed by the Chians, as well as his
Spartan colleague, Astyochus had no choice but to abandon his plan
to aid the Lesbians, but it was not with good grace. As he left for
Miletus, finally to take up the command of his main fleet, he threatened
the Chians and swore not to come to their aid if they should need
him.*

Subsequent events have persuaded some that a fuller understanding
of the quarrel requires an attempt to understand Sparta’s confusing
internal politics. Some scholars have connected Astyochus with the
faction of Endius and, therefore, with Alcibiades, but the evidence is
too thin for confidence.* Nor is it possible to associate Pedaritus with
a single Spartan faction, although he certainly had great influence at
home. The conflict between the Spartan commanders may have re-
sulted simply from an honest difference of opinion about what course
was best, aggravated, perhaps, by the clash of personal ambitions.

As Astyochus sailed southward to take command of the main Spar-

“It is likely that no such situation had ever occurred before. Astyochus’ failure to
challenge Pedaritus’ authority in making the refusal may have resulted less from con-
stitutional precedent than from the great influence Pedaritus appears to have had in
Sparta. He had distinguished forebears (HCT V, 69), and his views weretaken seriously
in Sparta (8.4; 39.2).

+8.33.1.

*“Busolt (GG 111:2, 1469) says: “He belonged without a doubt to the party of Endius,
the friend of Alcibiades,” and H. D. Westlake very cautiously endorsed that opinion
(JHS LXXVI1[1956], 99—104). This view seems to be based on the fact that Astyochus
was navarch the same year that Endius was ephor, but there are formidable barriers to
drawing political conclusions from the coincidence. One crucial assumption is that
ephors were chosen for their political views or associations, but P. A. Rahe has shown
that “the ephors were not elected in such a way that social eminence, factional struggles,
or policy considerations could predominate, but rather were chosen by some process in
which chance played a greater role than preferential selection” (Historia XXIX [1980],
385—401). P. J. Rhodes’ rebuttal (Historia XXX [1981], 498—502) does not decrease the
persuasiveness of Rahe’s views on this point. However that may be, the association of
Astyochus with Endius rests on a second assumption: that the navarchy was an annual
office, like the ephorate, and that both officials were elected at the same time. However,
we do not know when the elections for either of fice were held, and there is adispute about
whether the navarchy was an annual office in 413/12. If navarchs were chosen for specific
assignments and lay down their commands when the job was done, Astyochus could
have been designated navarch any time after Chalcideus (who was not navarch) replaced
the navarch Melanchridas as commander of the small fleet going to Chios, probably in
February of 412. Since Chalcideus was friendly with Alcibiades and Alcibiades with En-
dius, Endius’ faction was clearly influential at the time, so Astyochus’ connection with
Endius’ faction would be plausible if he were appointed then or soon after. If the office
was already annual, we have no adequate reason to connect Astyochus with Endius’ fac-
tion. Van de Maele’s apparently unique attempt to associate Astyochus with Agis is even
less persuasive (Pboenix XXV [1971], 39).
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tan fleet at Miletus, he barely missed disaster. An Athenian fleet of
thirty ships was sailing northward to Chios from Samos.* Their paths
would have crossed with dire results for Astyochus, who had only
sixteen ships, had not luck intervened. The two fleets anchored one
night at Corycus, near Erythrae, separated only by a headland that
concealed them from one another. Morning would have revealed their
presence, but a false rumor of treason at Erythrae drew Astyochus
away and caused him narrowly to escape running into the Athenians,
who suffered losses in a storm before making their way to Lesbos.*

At Miletus Astyochus found morale good. The troops were still
enjoying the booty they had taken from Amorges, the Milesians were
cheerfully making their contribution to their maintenance, and “the
Peloponnesians still had everything they needed for their camp.”
Tissaphernes had paid a full month’s salary, and the time must not
yet have come for a second installment. The satrap, moreover, had
caused a rebellion at Cnidus, and a Peloponnesian force under the
Spartan Hippocrates had arrived there.* Half of this force was put on
patrol duty at nearby Triopium to prey on merchant ships coming
from Egypt to Athenian ports, and the others remained to defend
Cnidus. The Athenians at Samos got word of the newly arrived fleet
and its intentions and launched an attack. They destroyed the ships
at Triopium, but their attacks on Cnidus failed. Cnidus remained in
the hands of Sparta and its allies, strategically situated to cause trouble
for Athens.

Even before Astyochus’ arrival in Miletus the Spartans had been
negotiating a second agreement with Tissaphernes that came to be
known as the “treaty of Therimenes.”™® Thucydides tells us that the
initiative for negotiating a new agreement came from the Spartans,

“8.30.2.

*8.33-34-

*8.36.1.

“*8.35.1. With him came a fleet of ten ships from Thurii, which had lately fallen
into the hands of the anti-Athenian faction (Plut. Mor. 835d-e), of which the Rhodian
exile and famous athlete Dorieus was the chief captain. In addition, there was one
Laconian ship and one from Syracuse, for a total of twelve.

*°8.36.2; 43. 3; 52. Scholars have had some difficulty with the notion that Therimenes,
apparently a subordinate official, should have negotiated a treaty that was then called
by his name. But the status of Therimenes does not seem to have been lower than that
of Chalcideus, whose role as negotiator of the previous treaty is not in doubt, and the
language of Thucydides indicates clearly his belief that Therimenes was responsible
for the agreement. There is no evidence that Astyochus or any other Spartan present
objected to any part of it.
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who thought that the first treaty was inadequate and less in their own
interest than in the king’s.*® In fact, Therimenes obtained some changes
that might be considered improvements. Gone was the offensive lan-
guage stating that the Greek cities of Asia “belonged” to the Great
King. Instead, the new relevant clause spoke in the traditional language
of nonaggression agreements familiar to the Greeks. This time there
was no clause requiring each side to assist the other in putting down
rebellions by subordinate cities, a clause that required commitment
from Sparta, as in the defeat of Amorges, but could not conceivably
require action from Persia. Unlike the first agreement, the treaty of
Therimenes spoke openly of the Great King’s obligation to pay the
Greek forces he called upon. This agreement established not merely
an alliance (symmachia), as had Chalcideus’ agreement, but a treaty and
friendship (spondai kai philia).’' In the earlier agreement the contracting
parties agreed to stop the Athenians from collecting tribute, whereas
in the new one the Spartans agreed not to collect any themselves. This
appears to accept a more respectable status for the Spartans. “In effect,
Spartan recognition of Persian control has been exchanged for an un-
dertaking that the Spartans will not attempt to succeed to the Athenian
position.”*

From this point of view, the treaty of Therimenes might be seen as
a kindly gesture by Tissaphernes in which he gratified the wishes of
the Peloponnesians, perhaps to “show a willingness to oblige after his
curtailment of their pay.”” But the new agreement yielded nothing of
substance to the Spartans whereas it met Persian needs in the new
circumstances better than the old treaty. The insertion of more tactful
language in no way abandoned any of Persia’s claims. The clause
requiring aid against rebellious allies was no longer needed after the
suppression of Amorges. The promise to pay Greek forces was limited
to the number the Great King summoned and said nothing about the
amount of pay. The most important change in the new agreement is
one of mood and attitude and is reflected in the first clause: “Whatever

*°8.36.2.

"8.;7. These last words are precisely the ones used by Andocides (3.29) in setting
forth the terms of the treaty that his uncle Epilycus negotiated with Darius in 424/23.
As Andrewes puts it, “his ‘friendship’ with Athens . . .is now transferred to Sparta”
(HCT V, 8o).

L ewis, Sparta and Persia, 93.

“Busolt, GG I11:2, 1443. He goes on to point out that Tissaphernes had other motives
as well.
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territory and cities belong to King Darius or belonged to his father or
their ancestors, against these neither the Spartans nor their allies shall
go either for war or to do any harm.”** Tissaphernes, encouraged by
the advice of Alcibiades, had chosen a policy of depriving the Spartans
of regular and adequate support, of playing a delicate diplomatic game
meant to wear down both Greek sides to his own advantage. What
Tissaphernes had to fear in the near future was the Spartans’ hostility,
attacks on his own territory, and independent Spartan attempts to raise
money from cities the Persians regarded as their own. The treaty
negotiated with Therimenes would guard against those eventualities.
“The security against Spartan designs on the Greek cities in Asia gives
the new draft of the treaty its characteristic stamp.”**

Therimenes and Astyochus, if he played any part in the negotiations,
seem not to have had any diplomatic experience, so we should not be
surprised if they were taken in by skillful bargainers such as the wily
satrap and his brilliant adviser. Still, it is hard to see how the Spartan
negotiators could have done better in the circumstances. Therimenes
must have been instructed to try to improve the terms of the earlier
agreement, for he would hardly have undertaken negotiations without
orders from home, but he was given nothing with which to bargain.
Tissaphernes had already achieved his immediate goal with the defeat
of Amorges and the recovery of lasus. Since the Athenian withdrawal
from Miletus, he faced no immediate threat from Athens. He could
readily endure Spartan displeasure, but the Spartans needed his co-
operation if they were to pay their forces and carry on the war. Ther-
imenes was not the man to risk breaking off relations with Persia by
making unacceptable demands. A stronger Spartan line would require
a more forceful, influential, and independent negotiator whose position
at home was fully secure, but the Spartans who sent out Therimenes
were not yet ready to change the policy established by Endius and
Alcibiades of relying on the support of Tissaphernes in the war against
Athens.

Soon after the completion of negotiations, Therimenes formally
turned over command of his fleet to the navarch and sailed off in a

**8.37.2. The balancing clause forbidding the Great King and his subjects from
attacking the Spartans or their allies is of no significance, for no such prospect was
realistic at the time.

*Busolt, GG 111:2, 1444.
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small boat, never to be seen again.** Astyochus now commanded about
ninety ships against the Athenian squadron of seventy-four nearby at
Samos,*” but like his predecessor, he remained on the defensive. The
Athenian fleet made several sorties against Miletus, but each time
Astyochus kept his ships in port and refused to rise to the bait, con-
ceding the Athenians command of the sea. This was the beginning of
a long period of inactivity by the navarch, during which his men came
to grumble ever more loudly and openly that this policy was leading
to the ruin of the Peloponnesian cause. After a time they came to
suspect him of corruption: “he attached himself to Tissaphernes, it
was said, for his own gain.”*® Some scholars have believed the accu-
sation and explained his inertia on those grounds,* but the evidence
is far from compelling.* Thucydides himself reports the allegation but
does not endorse it.* An adequate explanation for Astyochus’ behavior
does not require theories of corruption and treason. The promises of

*¢8.38.1. Van de Maele (Pboenix XXV [1971], 44), who believes that Astyochus was
guilty of treason and already working together with Tissaphernes and Alcibiades against
Spartan interests, suggests that the conspirators may have “eliminated” him to prevent
him from reporting their activities at Sparta. Apart from other considerations, to be
discussed below, and the absence of any hint of foul play in Thucydides or any other
ancient source, there is no need to be surprised by the drowning of a man attempting
to sail across the Aegean in a small boat in November or December.

#’Andrewes (HCT V, 29) places the figure at ninety. Busolt (GG 111:2, 1445) suggests
eighty-eight plus six more at Cnidos.

*®8.50.3; see also 83.3.

**Belief in the charge goes back at least to Grote (VII, 401) and has had more recent
champions, including Hatzfeld (Alcibiade, 324, 238, n. 1, 253), Delebecque (Thucydide
et Alcsbiade, [1965], 87), and, with a vigorous discussion, Van de Maele, Phoenix XXV
(1971), 42-43.

“*Among those rejecting the accusation are Busolt (GG 111:2, 1445, n. §) and H. D.
Westlake (Individuals in Thucydides [Cambridge, 1968}, 304—307).

*Van de Maele believes that in 8.50.3 Thucydides lends his own authority to the
charge against Astyochus, asserting that after the restricting words @s é\éyero (it was
said), he “makes this accusation his own by connecting to it: ‘it was also exactly because
of that—3wémwep—that he only mildly resisted the reduction in pay’ ” (Pboenix XXV
[1971], 42—43). But there is no better reason to associate Thucydides’ own judgment
with this latter clause than with the former. The passage reads: wpooébnké re, os
é\éyeTo, €mi tdlows képdear Tuaoapéprel EavTov kat TepL TOUTWY Kat TePL TOV AN WY
kowodoBal. duomep katl wept TS PLoB0Pophs Uk €vTeNols oUoMS HLANAKWTEPWS
avbnmreto. As Andrewes says, the qualification ws é\éyeTo “easily covers both clauses”
(HCT V, 118). His comment on ws é\éyeTo deserves quotation: “Ascriptions of motive
and items of backstairs history are often thus qualified. . . . The most strongly worded
statement of Astyochus’ corrupt submission to Tissaphernes comes at 83.3 in the mouth
of discontented Peloponnesian sailors, and the present passage probably comes from a
similar source, distrusted by Thucydides and not identical with the source for the main
story” (ibid.).
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Tissaphernes to bring on the Phoenician fleet and the typical reluctance
of a Spartan commander to risk a naval battle with an Athenian fleet
not much smaller than his own are enough. Nothing he did in his
career as navarch reveals the talent or character needed to launch a
bold Spartan policy at sea.

While the southern theater remained quiet, there was action at
Chios. The Athenian fleet that had barely missed cutting off Astyochus
on his way to Miletus fought its way through stormy seas to Lesbos.**
Three ships were lost in the storm, but the remaining twenty-seven,
carrying a force of hoplites, crossed over to Chios under their generals
Strombichides, Onomacles, and Euctemon. They set to work forti-
fying Delphinium, a strong point with good harbors on the east coast
of the island, just north of the city of Chios. The Chians were in no
condition to offer serious resistance. Discouraged by their previous
defeats, they also suffered from dissension. Pedaritus, in fact, put to
death Tydeus the son of Ion, perhaps the famous tragic poet, and his
supporters on a charge of sympathy with Athens. He then imposed a
narrow oligarchy in place of the by-no-means-democratic mixed con-
stitution that had been in effect.®’ Perhaps there had been some growth
of the pro-Athenian forces caused by the dangerous situation. More
likely, the people Pedaritus killed were the hostages collected by As-
tyochus to prevent trouble. Pedaritus plainly took a harsher approach
to the problem of Chian security than did the navarch. His measures
were effective, for we hear of no further pro-Athenian activity. Indeed,
as the pressure became greater, Chios clung to the Peloponnesian
cause.”

At the moment, however, the Chians were filled with mutual sus-
picion and fearful, convinced that their own forces and Pedaritus’ band
of mercenaries were no match for the Athenians. In their despair they
sent to Miletus for help, but Astyochus continued to refuse. Pedaritus
now wrote a letter back to Sparta complaining of the navarch’s be-
havior. Thucydides’ language indicates that the complaint was about
something more serious than poor generalship; it suggests at least some
breach of law.* The authorities at Sparta would take his charges se-

“’8.30, 34, 38.1.

*’See above, 43—45.

“Quinn, Historia XVIII (1969), 29—30.

#8.38.4: émoTéAeL Tept abTol €s TY Aakedalpova 6 leddpitos os adikodvTos.
adikéw implies wrong-doing rather than poor judgment. See Westlake, Individuals, 296.
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riously, but meanwhile the situation at Chios grew worse. The Athe-
nian fort at Delphinium had an effect on the Chians similar to that
which the Spartan fort at Decelea had on the Athenians.* The Chians
possessed a vast population of slaves whose very number caused them
to be treated harshly.” Naturally, they were quick to flee to the safety
of the Athenian fort and to assist their liberators with their knowledge
of the terrain. Once the fortifications at Delphinium and around the
Athenian camp and ships were completed, the position of the Chians
would be far worse than that of the Athenians troubled by the Spartans
at Decelea, for the Athenians ruled the sea. In these circumstances,
the Chians made one more appeal to Astyochus, begging him “not to
look on while the greatest of the allied cities in Ionia was shut off from
the sea and devastated by raids on land” but to come immediately with
his entire fleet before the fortifications were completed, while there
was still hope.*®

Astyochus was still reluctant to comply because of his quarrel with
the Chians, according to Thucydides, but for even more sordid motives
in the view of others.” However, Astyochus had an excellent reason
for holding back. To aid the Chians he must not only sail past the 74
Athenian ships at Samos but also sail toward the 27 triremes blockading
Chios. Thus his go or so ships would need to confront 101 of the
enemy’s superior ships. In the understated words of a sage historian,
“the outcome would have been very doubtful.””®

But the allied forces with Astyochus were moved by the appeals of
the Chians, and he could not ignore the pressure of their eagerness to
sail, so “he set out to prepare to give aid.””* Perhaps he was also moved
by the knowledge of Pedaritus’ complaints to the Spartans at home
and the need at least to seem responsive to the needs of the Chians.
Ironically, the response to Pedaritus’ letter of complaint provided As-
tyochus with an excuse for not going to the aid of Chios, for as he was
preparing to go, word came that a Spartan fleet of twenty-seven ships
under the command of Antisthenes had arrived at Caunus carrying

*The similarity is pointed out by Busolt (GG Ill:2, 1446).

““Thucydides says that Chios had a more numerous slave population than any state
except Sparta. Andrewes (HCT V, 86-87) is surely right in saying that the Athenians
must have had more slaves than the Chians. His suggestion that Thucydides is referring
to the proportion of slaves to free is attractive.

“8.40.

6"V‘;n de Maele, Pboenix XXV (1971), 42—43, attributes Astyochus’ refusal to treason.

"Busolt, GG I11:2, 1447, n. 2.

7'8.40.3: @ppMT0 €S TO €Bombeiv. I believemy translation s justified by the imperfect
of wppmro and by Astyochus’ previous and subsequent behavior.
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eleven xymbouloi, “advisers,” with orders “to share in the conduct of
affairs in whatever way should be best.””?

The dispatch of xymbouloi to oversee the actions of an unsuccessful
general was not unprecedented. T'wice the brilliant Brasidas had been
sent to bolster disappointing naval commanders, once alone and once
with two companions,’® but the closest parallel is with the ten advisers
that were attached to Agis after his failure to fight in the Argive plain
in 418 had led to the fall of Orchomenus. Without their consent the
king could not lead the army out of the city, and they kept a close
watch on him in the field.”* The leader of the eleven advisers sent to
Astyochus was the rich, famous, and influential Lichas, an Olympic
victor in the chariot race and a man of important diplomatic experience
who was certain to overshadow the navarch.”” The board’s powers
were even greater than the usual ones of advice and oversight with
which Agis had been threatened. Lichas and the other xymboulo: were
empowered to depose Astyochus, if they saw fit, and replace him with
Antisthenes. All of this may be attributed to the suspicion created by
Pedaritus’ letter, but there were further orders that must have stemmed
from a more fundamental change of opinion in Sparta. The xymbouloi
were to take as many of the ships with which they came and of the
Peloponnesian ships already in Ionia as they chose, place them under
the command of Clearchus the son of Ramphias who was with them,
and send this force to Pharnabazus in the Hellespont.”

These last orders represented a fundamental change in strategy,
shifting the focus of the war from Ionia to the Hellespont. The decision
to support Chios had been made under the influence of Endius and
Alcibiades, but by late November or early December of 412 the former
was no longer ephor, the latter had abandoned the Spartan cause for
the court of the Persian satrap, and their strategy no longer seemed
attractive. Chios was besieged, begging for help, and, apparently, on
the verge of surrender. Tissaphernes was proving to be a slippery ally
who negotiated humiliating and unsatisfactory treaties, did not meet
his financial obligations, used the Spartan forces for his own purposes,
and warmly received the double renegade Alcibiades. Those Spartans
who had originally favored collaboration with Pharnabazus in the Hel-

’Arrival: 8.41.1; orders: 39.2.
7*To Cnemus in 429 (2.85.1) and to Alcidas in 427 (3.69.1).
74
5-63.4-
"On Lichas, see HCT V, 85; and Kagan, Peace of Nicias, 75—76, 134-135.
768 39 2.
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lespont and those who had not, but opposed Endius and Alcibiades,
were ready to turn against what now seemed a failed strategy toward
what seemed a better one. The letter from Pedaritus must have sup-
plied the finishing touch to a change of policy already under way.”

Antisthenes’ fleet set out about the time of the winter solstice, then
December 24.° At Melos they met ten Athenian ships and captured
three of them. They rightly feared that the others that escaped would
warn the Athenians at Samos of their approach, so they took a cir-
cuitous route to the south, reaching safe anchor at Caunus on the
southern coast of Asia Minor, for that city seems to have revolted from
Athens about the same time as Cnidus.” From there they sent word
to Astyochus asking for a convoy to bring them to Miletus, which had
now become the main Peloponnesian base in Ionia since the Athenian
siege of Chios. Astyochus probably received their message at the very
end of December, and Thucydides tells us that he at once gave up
any idea of sailing to Chios, “thinking that nothing should come before
convoying so great a fleet, so that together they might dominate the
sea, and bringing across in safety the Spartans who had come to in-
vestigate him.”® From the point of view of his personal interests and
given the danger of facing the Athenian fleet without reinforcements,
Astyochus’ action is fully comprehensible. We should not forget, how-
ever, that as far as he knew it meant the abandonment of Pedaritus
and the force with him-as well as the Chians. But Astyochus had never
wanted to sail to Chios anyway, and the summons from Caunus pro-
vided him with an excuse that even the eager allies must accept.

As he hurried south, the navarch found time to sack the town of

"Busolt (GG 11I:2, 1448) sees the change as the work of Agis’ faction, but there is
no evidence to support his view. Originally, Agis had wanted to support rebellion in
Euboea. Then the Boeotians persuaded him to put that aside in favor of a Lesbian
rebellion (8.5). Agis lost out to Endius and Alcibiades but helped force a compromise
at the congress of the Spartan alliance at Corinth. There it was decided to go first to
Chios, then to Lesbos, with Alcamenes (Agis’ designee) in command, and then to the
Hellespont under the command of Clearchus (8.8). Clearly, Endius and Alcibiades
favored the first plan, Agis the second, and some third faction the third. Astyochus’
attempts to take Lesbos had failed, removing that island as a plausible target for Spartan
action. Agis presumably must have joined the third faction in advocating a Helles-
pontine strategy, but it was not his favorite and he was not its author. The failure of
the Chian strategy and the failures of Astyochus appear to have forged an alliance
between the remaining factions.

7%8.39.1; HCT V., 84.

°8.39.3; HCT V, 86.

8.41.1.
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Cos Meropis on the eastern end of the island of Cos (see Map 3). Its
walls had been destroyed by earthquake and its inhabitants had fled,
so he lay waste to the countryside. Given the urgency with which he
had set out, this detour made little strategic sense. No doubt he was
eager to establish a record of aggressive activity, for the very least
charge that might have been made against him was lack of initiative.
He arrived at Cnidus at night, but the natives did not let him land.
The Athenians had learned of the landing of Antisthenes’ fleet at Melos
and of their arrival at Caunus. They sent Charminus with a fleet of
twenty ships south to the coast of Lycia and the neighboring islands
of Syme, Chalce, and Rhodes to intercept them. The Cnidians wanted
Astyochus to sail on and seek out the Athenian ships.®'

The behavior of the two sides in these days reveals much about their
thinking. The Spartan fleet under Antisthenes lived in constant fear
of encountering an Athenian fleet of comparable size. When the Spar-
tans arrived in Caunus, they assumed that the Athenians would send
a fleet to challenge them, so they would not proceed until convoyed
by a large fleet from Miletus. Astyochus plainly agreed with their
caution and hurried to give them the requested protection, taking
perhaps sixty-four ships with him and leaving eighteen or so to guard
Miletus.®”” No doubt he felt safe in doing this because he knew that
the entire Athenian fleet was located to the north at Samos and Chios.
Probably he did not know of Charminus’ expedition to the south, but
if he did, it would not deter him, since his advantage would be better
than three to one. All of the Spartan actions speak of great caution
when facing the Athenians at sea without an overwhelming numerical
advantage.

The Athenian attitude was different. On learning that twenty-seven
new Spartan ships had come to Caunus, they had no hesitation in
sending a detachment to engage them. This reduced their force at
Samos to fifty-four to face perhaps ninety of the enemy at Miletus,
but they seem to have had no fear of being attacked at their main base.
The fleet of Charminus must sail past Miletus to reach its destination,
but he seems to have been unconcerned by the threat of being inter-

#18.41.2-3.

#These numbers are provided and explained by Busolt (GG I1I:2, 1448 and 1441,
n. 3), and they must be approximately correct. Andrewes (HCT V, 29-30) rightly
emphasizes the difficulty of arriving at precise numbers, but he believes that Astyochus
brought the main body of the fleet. As to their number, he says: “Whatever the precise
figure, they far outnumbered Charminus’ twenty” (87).
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cepted by a force from Sparta’s main base. Although the Athenians
knew that Antisthenes had twenty-seven they thought it was safe to
send only twenty ships of their own against him. All of these actions
reveal clearly that both sides had accepted that the Athenians were
superior at sea unless confronted by overwhelming odds.

Astyochus heeded the appeal of the Cnidians and hurried south to
Syme in the hope of meeting Antisthenes’ squadron at sea before the
Athenians could ambush it. Instead, rain and fog confused and scat-
tered his fleet as it approached the island. In fact, he had stumbled on
the Athenian fleet of Charminus. The Athenians were entirely unaware
that Astyochus had ever left Miletus. The only Spartan ships they
expected were the twenty-seven of Antisthenes. Although caught by
surprise and without their full numbers, the Athenians characteristi-
cally attacked.®’ Advancing against what turned out to be the left wing
of Astyochus’ fleet, they sank three ships, damaged others, and were
winning the battle until, to their astonishment, the whole fleet ap-
peared, and they were surrounded. Even so, they were able to break
through and escape to safety, losing only six ships. Astyochus sailed
to Cnidus, where he was soon joined by the fleet from Caunus. Then
the entire unified fleet proudly sailed to Syme to set up a trophy of
victory over the twenty ships of Charminus.**

When the Athenians at Samos heard the news of the battle, pre-
sumably from the survivors, they gathered their ships and sailed to
Syme. Even with the ships returning with Charminus, they would
have had fewer than seventy ships against the ninety or so under
Astyochus; yet they sought an encounter. In spite of the odds Char-
minus had faced, they were embarrassed by his defeat.® More attrac-
tive than revenue, however, was the prospect of finally meeting the
Spartan fleet at sea to fight a decisive battle. But even with a significant
numerical advantage and in the presence of the xymbouloi, Astyochus
stayed in port at Cnidus and refused battle.®

#'8.41.1—2. Andrewes’ suggestion (HCT V, 8¢) that the ships were absent “perhaps
from hurry, or perhaps some had put in elsewhere for the night,” is appealing.

#8.42.

*In the Tbesmophoriazusae, produced probably at the Great Dionysia in the spring
of 411, perhaps three or four months after the battle, Aristophanes has the female
chorus tease Charminus for losing a naval battle (804). If there is any substance behind
the joke, which is at least partially a play on words, the Athenian public, too, may
have regarded any naval defeat as disgraceful. For the date of the performance, see
HCT V, 184-193, and A. H. Sommerstein, JHS XCVII (1977), 112-126.

%8.43.1.
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Astyochus’ fleet was now joined with Antisthenes’ ships at Cnidus.
Since the xymbouloi had orders to investigate and evaluate the charges
against Astyochus, and since important matters in which the navarch
must be involved impended, we may assume that they made their
inquiries and held their hearings at once. There can be no doubt that
they acquitted Astyochus, because he continued in office and carried
out his duties until replaced some time in the summer of 411.*” Their
failure to remove him, although specifically empowered to do so and
provided with a potential replacement, should discredit any idea that
sending the board of xymbouloi was part of a political maneuver on the
part of one Spartan faction to remove the representative of another.
It would have been easy enough to find a pretext: he had enjoyed little
naval success, disappointed the allies, quarreled with Pedaritus, and
failed to carry out the order to capture and kill Alcibiades. The in-
quisitors could not have been determined in advance to dislodge the
navarch, and their investigation must have shown him to be innocent
of wrong-doing.

With that matter out of the way, the Spartans were prepared to
meet Tissaphernes when he came to Cnidus to discuss their grievances
with them. Lichas took the leading role in the conference. The earlier
draft agreements negotiated by Chalcideus and Therimenes had never
been ratified at Sparta, as Lichas’ easy dismissal of them shows." The
Spartan commanders in Ionia had acted as though the agreements were
binding, but even so, the treaty of Therimenes contained a clause
permitting further negotiation if either party should be dissatisfied.*
Lichas, therefore, made assault on the previous agreements. “It was
scandalous that the King still claimed to rule all the territory that he
and his ancestors ruled in the past, for that would mean that all the
islands would again be enslaved by him, as well as Thessaly, Locris,
and everything as far as Boeotia; instead of freedom the Spartans would
bring the Greeks subjugation to the Persian Empire.” If a better treaty
were not concluded, “the Spartans would not abide by these, nor did
he ask for support on such terms.””

Lichas’ intentions are not easy to determine. On the surface it might
appear that he was expressing his own and Sparta’s sincere outrage at
the price in Greek freedom that the previous negotiators had paid for

¥8.85.1.

::8.43.4.

“)8.3743; 43-2.
8.43.3-4.
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Persian aid. But Lichas was surely one of the Spartans who soon
negotiated a third treaty with the Persians in which even Sparta’s
strongest defender admits “the liberators have conceded Asia to the
King.”™' When, after the negotiation of that treaty, the Milesians drove
out a Persian garrison with the warm approval of their Greek allies,
Lichas was displeased and told them that they “and all the other cities
in the King’s land should be slaves to him, in a moderate way.”* It
was hardly, therefore, the love for Greek freedom that moved Lichas
to speak as he did. Perhaps, in light of the outcome of the conference,
it might be thought that the bold and provocative speech was meant
to break off the alliance with Persia and allow Sparta to pursue an
independent policy in Ionia. But Thucydides tells us that the subject
of the conference was not only revision of the earlier agreements but
also “how the rest of the war might be fought to the greatest advantage
of both sides,” and after all, Lichas did conclude his remarks with a
demand for the negotiation of a new treaty.*

Probably Lichas took a hard line with the intention of establishing
a high base from which to negotiate a better treaty. The language of
the previous agreements, with their clear abandonment of the Greeks
of Asia to the Persians, was embarrassing at the very least, and the
lack of a specific provision for Persian payment and support already
had proved to be a serious problem. Lichas must have thought that
his inexperienced and unimpressive predecessors had simply not been
tough enough and that a hard line on lofty moral grounds from a
veteran statesman of high personal prestige would have better results.
If those were his expectations, they were quickly and rudely disap-
pointed, for Tissaphernes was offended and angered and walked out
of the meeting.”* Without knowing it, Lichas had lent credibility to
Alcibiades’ advice that the Spartans could not be trusted as allies, for
they, unlike the Athenians, seemed wedded to the idea of liberating
the Greeks under Persian rule.” In any case, it would be unwise for
Tissaphernes to negotiate while the Spartans were in such a mood. It
would be better to let them stew, without the benefit of Persian sup-

°'8.58; Lewis, Sparta and Persia, 107.
°28.84.5.
:8.43.2; 43-4- , ' '

8.43.4. Some scholars have suggested that the satrap’s reaction was feigned, but
there is noreason to think so. Tissaphernes was not accustomed to hearing such language
from Spartan negotiators.

*8.52.
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port, until they saw the situation in a more favorable light. Policy as
well as vanity combined to make the satrap break off the conference.

Antisthenes and the xymbouloi had been ordered to move the center
of warfare north to the Hellespont, and it may be that Lichas’ cavalier
tone with Tissaphernes was influenced by the expectation that he soon
would be supported by Pharnabazus, the satrap of Hellespontine Asia.
An opportunity soon arose, however, that kept the Spartan fleet in
southern waters. A group of powerful men from Rhodes approached
the Spartans at Cnidus, urging them to sail to the island to bring it
over to the Peloponnesian side. The offer was tempting, for the island
was large by Greek standards, with a considerable body of men avail-
able for military and naval duty and a prosperous economy to lend
financial support. Deserted by the Persian satrap of Ionia, the Spartans
saw the acquisition of Rhodes as part of an opportunity by which they
might be able to support their fleet “from their existing alliance, with-
out asking Tissaphernes for money.”* With a fleet of ninety-four ships,
they sailed to Camirus on the western shore of the island (see Map 3).
The three cities of Rhodes were not unified into a single state, and
they were democracies. The people of Camirus were taken entirely
by surprise, knowing nothing of the coup arranged by the oligarchical
conspirators, and fled in fear of this mighty armada.*” Called together
in an assembly of all of the Rhodians, they, along with the people of
Lindus and lalysus, had no choice but to revolt from Athens and go
over to the Peloponnesians about mid-January of 411.%

The Athenians received reports of the Spartan intentions before-
hand, but by the time they got to Rhodes from Samos, they were too
late. This, too, was part of the price they paid for failing to take Miletus;
without a closer base than Samos, they could not protect southern
Ionia, Caria, or the islands of the southern Aegean. Another price was
soon revealed, one that sharply contradicts Phrynichus’ assertion that
if the Athenians refused battle at Miletus they would be able “to fight
at a later time . . . having prepared adequately and at leisure.” Although
the Athenian fleet, numbering only about seventy-five to the Spartans’
ninety-four, stood boldly out in the open sea off Rhodes, the Spartans
refused battle. Andrewes has shrewdly noticed the defect of Phryni-
chus’ strategy: “When the Peloponnesians felt themselves inferior but

%68.44.1.
*’On the situation at Rhodes, see HCT V, 91-92.
°8.44.1-2. For the date, see Busolt, GG 111:2, 1450.
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had a secure base, they could decline battle with safety, while sending
off detachments by land or even by sea to stimulate fresh revolts from
Athens; and the Athenians could not keep up with this.” The Athe-
nians could do nothing for the moment but sail back to Samos, con-
tenting themselves afterwards with making raids from Samos and the
closer islands of Cos and Chalce.'*

The behavior of the Spartans at this point is interesting. New leaders
had just arrived from a Sparta that was impatient with previous di-
plomacy, strategy, and leadership. They had vigorously denounced
standing agreements and rejected Persian aid under them. Then they
moved swiftly and successfully to win an important ally from Athens.
They were free now to carry out their instructions to move the main
theater of the war to the north, to abandon the unsatisfactory Tissa-
phernes, and to cooperate with his rival in the Hellespont. All that
stood in their way was an Athenian fleet that was inferior numerically
but offered battle nonetheless. This, if ever, was the time to fight, for
time was less on the Peloponnesian side now that there would be no
more money from the Persians. Yet the Peloponnesian ships stayed in
port and refused the chance to fight. Nor was this only a temporary
delay. The Spartans pulled their ships onto the Rhodian shore in mid-
January and did not put them into the water again until well into the
following spring.”* Why didn’t the Spartans fight? The explanations
sometimes offered for Astyochus’ earlier inactivity at Miletus are even
less useful here, for there is no hint that the wealthy Lichas and his
colleagues had been corrupted by Persian gold, while Tissaphernes’
abrupt and angry departure meant that they could no longer be ex-
pecting the imminent arrival of the Phoenician fleet. The likeliest ex-
planation is that in the weeks since their arrival, Antisthenes, Lichas,
and his colleagues must have learned what Astyochus already knew—
that the Peloponnesian fleet was no match for the Athenians in a fair
fight at sea unless its numerical superiority was overwhelming. That
opinion must have been widespread among the captains of the Pelo-
ponnesian ships and must have been supported by their performance
in the raids launched by the Athenians. These things must have per-
suaded the new leaders to remain inactive at sea even as the enemy

“HCT V, 66.

18, 44.3.

1°'8.44.4. Thucydides says that the fleet stayed out of action for eighty days. If this
figure is correct, it may present problems for Thucydidean chronology. For an excellent
discussion, see HCT V, 9293, 147-149.
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continued to blockade Chios close to starvation and to undertake dis-
cussions with Tissaphernes.

The events of the rest of the winter further revealed Spartan re-
luctance. It was at this time that the Athenians deposed Phrynichus
and Scironides on the charge of betraying Amorges and losing Iasus
and sent out Leon and Diomedon in their place.”* The new generals
were given command of an Athenian force that boldly attacked Rhodes
even while the Peloponnesian ships were beached on the island. The
Athenians defeated a Rhodian army that came out to meet them and
then moved to Chalce, from which they continued to launch raids.
Although Thucydides gives us no figures, this could not have been as
big a fleet as the Peloponnesians had beached at Rhodes, but its ag-
gressive attitude is clear. The Athenians moved their base from Cos
to Chalce “because it was easier for them to keep watch from there in
case the Peloponnesian fleet should put out to sea in any direction.”***
Thus an Athenian fleet, certainly smaller than their own, taunted the
Peloponnesians by taking up a position close to them and launching
raids from it, but the Peloponnesian ships stayed on the beach.

Next a message came to the Spartans at Rhodes from Pedaritus at
Chios. The Athenian fortification was complete, and unless the entire
Peloponnesian fleet came, the island would be lost. Pedaritus, on the
basis of his previous experience, could hardly be confident that his
plea would be answered, so he acted in his own behalf. With his full
force of mercenaries and Chians, he attacked the part of the Athenian
fortification that protected the Athenian ships. Surprise brought lim-
ited success. He broke through and captured some ships that had been
hauled on shore, but the Athenian counterattack defeated both mer-
cenaries and Chians. Casualties were high and included Pedaritus him-
self, who was killed in his desperate attempt. Afterward the condition
of the Chians was worse than ever: “They were blockaded still more
than before by land and sea and there was great famine there.”'*

The Spartans at Rhodes could not easily ignore Pedaritus’ plea, and
Thucydides tells us that they fully intended to heed it.'** They were

' Although the charge was brought by Peisander as part of his plot, and therefore
had political motives, the condemnation was made by a free Athenian jury before the
overthrow of the democracy. The outcome of his advice and strategy as described
aboo\;e must have predisposed the jury to take a harsh view of his behavior.

98.55.1.

'8 55—56.1.

1978 55.2.
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serious enough to ignore an Euboean invitation to bring that important
island into rebellion after the Boeotian capture of Oropus made success
more likely. Instead, their navy put to sea from Rhodes on a course
for Chios at the end of winter, perhaps some time in March," but it
never got there. As they came to the region of Triopium, the Spartans
saw the Athenian fleet from Chalce sailing north. This time the Athe-
nians did not seek a fight but continued on to Samos. The Spartans
did not pursue them but gave up their plans for rescuing the Chians
and put in at Miletus, “seeing that it was no longer possible for them
to bring help to Chios without a naval battle.”'”

How can we explain the surprising behavior of both sides? The
Spartans, after pulling their ships on to the beach at Rhodes all winter
in fear of the Athenian fleet, at last sailed north in the direction from
which the Athenians had been challenging them. As Thucydides tells
the tale, they should have had every expectation of meeting the Athe-
nians at sea and fighting a battle. Yet at the first sight of the enemy
fleet, the Spartans gave up the attempt to rescue Chios and tamely
sailed to port. The Athenians, on the other hand, had moved their
fleet south to Chalce precisely to challenge the Spartans, to watch their
movements, and to force a battle when possible. Yet the Spartan sortie
found them away from their station at Chalce, sailing northward to-
ward Samos, and when they saw the Spartans on the open sea, they
ignored the long-sought opportunity and kept sailing. Neither Thu-
cydides nor any other ancient source explains this odd behavior.

A clue may lie in the Boeotian capture of Oropus. Its strategic
position in the hands of the enemy seriously threatened Euboea’s con-
tinued possession by the Athenians. The conquest of Oropus imme-
diately encouraged some Eretrians to pursue plans for rebellion of the
kind that had already been alive on Euboea the previous year and to
seek the support of the Spartan fleet at Rhodes. ® At this time Euboea
was of vital importance to Athens. When it revolted in the summer
of 411, Thucydides says “there was greater panic than ever before.
For neither the disaster in Sicily, though it seemed great at the time,
nor any other event had ever before frightened them so.” The fleet at
Samos was in revolt, there were no more ships or men to sail them,
revolution threatened to break out in Athens itself, and now a terrible

1%68.60.1~2. For the problem of the date, see HCT V, 147-149.
78 60.3.
1988.5.1.
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disaster was added to all of this “in which they had lost not only a
fleet, but worst of all, Euboea, which was of more value to them than
Attica.”™"*

The island was noless important to the Athenians a half-year earlier,
so when they heard of the loss of Oropus, they must have reacted
swiftly. They need not have learned of the Eretrian mission to Rhodes
to assume that some such attempt would be made. There must have
been a temptation to sail at once to Euboea to be sure of its security,
but such a move would leave the great Spartan fleet at Rhodes free to
sail north, to raise new rebellions, to rescue Chios, to threaten Samos
and Lesbos, and even to make its way to the Hellespont and the
Athenian lifeline. Sober second thoughts would suggest the course the
Athenians apparently chose: to withdraw to Samos, await events, and
be in a position to move swiftly either to Euboea or elsewhere as
necessary. They did not engage the Spartans off Triopium because in
the uncertainty of the moment they wanted to reach Samos as soon
as possible in case they needed to go on to Euboea at once.

On the other hand, when the Spartans received the Eretrian envoys,
they must have realized how great was the threat to Athens caused
by the loss of Oropus and anticipated that the Athenians would sail
to Euboea at once. That would explain their decision to sail north
from Rhodes after months of inaction. They must have expected that
the Athenians would sail northwest from Chalce, on the most direct
route to Euboea, leaving the way to the north, and the relief of Chios,
free. When they saw the Athenians off Triopium, they gave up hope
of rescuing Chios and returned to the safety of their main base at
Miletus, which the withdrawal of the Athenians to Samos had at last
allowed.

Whatever the value of these speculations, the Spartans would prob-
ably have been unable even to attempt a voyage to Chios had there
not been a change in their relationship with Persia earlier in the winter.
While the Spartan fleet was still at Rhodes, Tissaphernes experienced
a change of heart and sought to renew friendly relations with Sparta
and its allies. He was moved to this decision by several considerations.
Under the influence of Alcibiades, he had engaged in discussions with
Athenian envoys to consider a change of alliances, but these talks had
failed.'*® Whatever his intentions may have been, the outcome left him

'°8.96.2.
1198.56.
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without Greek allies and with no adequate force to bring about a
satisfactory end to the war and the recovery by Persia of its former
complete control of Asia Minor. He had turned away from Sparta
because he wanted to wear out both sides, and at the beginning of
winter, he had thought that the Spartans’ numerical superiority at sea
made them the stronger power.""" No doubt Lichas’ harsh language
and lofty talk about liberation frightened him in the same direction,
but the events of the winter proved his calculations wrong. The Athe-
nians, though fewer than the enemy, ruled the sea unchallenged while
the Spartan ships were beached.

What Tissaphernes feared now was not Spartan victory but Spartan
desperation. Since their renunciation of Persian aid, the Spartans had
collected 32 talents from Rhodes. At the rate of 3 obols per man per
day that would not maintain the crews of the Peloponnesian ships at
Rhodes for a month, much less the eighty days that Thucydides tells
us they stayed there.'"* As they ran out of money to sustain them,
Tissaphernes was afraid either that the Spartans “would be compelled
to fight a naval battle and lose, or that their ships would be emptied
by desertions and the Athenians would attain their ends without his
aid; but beyond that, what he feared most was that they would ravage
the mainland in search of subsistance.”''’ Perhaps Tissaphernes
thought that his recent conversations with the Athenians, though abor-
tive, would show that he was not permanently bound to the Spartans’
cause and make them more reasonable.'** In any case, he wanted the
Spartan fleet under his control at Miletus, where it could defend that
strategically important port from Athenian attack and where he could
keep a watchful eye on its activities.

Thucydides tells us nothing of the Spartans’ reasons for changing
their attitude and policy, but they are not hard to understand. The
Persian talks with the Athenians must have alarmed them. Their hopes
of being able to support their fleet without Persian funds had proved
to be illusory. Worst of all, the events of the winter had shown that
they could not hope to defeat the Athenians at sea without a great deal
of help from the Persians. Money was needed immediately, but the
behavior of the Spartan leaders both before and after the conclusion
of the third agreement with Persia suggests that they counted on the

"8.52.

28 44.4; HCT V, 92, 137.

78 67.1.

""“Such is the suggestion of Lewis, Sparta and Persia, 102.
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vast numbers of the promised Phoenician fleet for any hope of victory
at sea. For these reasons a chastened Spartan leadership met Tissa-
phernes at Caunus and negotiated the terms of a treaty, probably late
in the month of February.'"

The new agreement resembled the previous one in some ways, con-
taining a nonaggression clause, reference to Persian financial support,
and a commitment to wage war and make peace in common, but there
were significant differences. The formality and detail of the preamble
suggest that this agreement was meant to be the basis of a formal treaty
to be ratified by both home governments.'*® This time the signatories,
in addition to Tissaphernes, are not “King Darius and his sons” but
“Hieramenes and the sons of Pharnaces” who act “concerning the
King’s affairs.” The son of Pharnaces can only be Pharnabazus, satrap
of the Hellespontine region of Asia Minor.''” Pharnabazus may have
been included at Spartan insistence."® At least the Spartans had taken
his money to fit out ships for action in the Hellespont."* But King
Darius may have wanted him involved, too, since the status of Asia
was at issue.'* Little is known of Hieramenes, but he appears to have
been a relative of the Great King. “If so,” as Lewis says, “he would
not be unsuitable as a visiting representative of the King.”'*' His pres-
ence emphasizes the degree to which the Great King, although not
mentioned in the preamble, was more clearly involved in the shaping
of this treaty than its predecessors. He had evidently made a specific
agreement about maintenance of the Peloponnesian ships. There is a
reference to “the King’s ships” and their proposed use, which could
not have been made unless he was consulted. The first clause of the
treaty, moreover, deals with the definition of his empire and could not
have been composed without his direct approval.***

That clause reads: “All the territory of the King that is in Asia shall

'8.57. The heading of the actual treaty recorded by Thucydides in 8.58.1 says it
was made “in the plain of the Maeander,” and the divergence between the two passages
has provoked comment. Andrewes has an interesting suggestion that this treaty, unlike
the first two, was ratified in Sparta, occasioning delay so the negotiations would have
taken place in Caunus and the formal signing on the Maeander later, perhaps early in
April (HCT V, 138-139).

'1%8.38.1; HCT V, 143.

"HCT V, 139; Lewis, Sparta and Persia, 104.

""As Busolt (GG 111:2, 1451—1452) suggests.

'8.39.1.

'"Lewis, Sparta and Persia, 104.

'Ibid.

"Ibid.
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belong to the King; and about his own territory the King may decide
whatever he wishes.”"** The first statement is clearly a concession to
the Spartans and a concession to the complaints of Lichas. There is
no mention of the Great King’s father or ancestors and the territory
they once held. Darius limits his practical claims to Asia. The second
statement has given rise to speculation about possible rejection of
clauses limiting the Great King’s freedom of action contained in the
Peace of Callias, made with Athens at mid-century, or to some Spartan
proposals, unknown to us, about the status of the Greek cities in Asia.
But once again, Lewis’ suggestion seems most persuasive: “it may
simply reflect an angry outburst of the King when faced with the
difficulty about the definition of his empire. If he is going to accept
an explicit limitation to Asia . . . there is to be no quibbling about his
rights there.”"*

The most important change is in the plan for waging the war implied
in the new agreement. Until now the only forces referred to have been
the Peloponnesian ones summoned and maintained by the king. The
implicit assumption has been that they will do the fighting and the
Great King only the paying. It is only later that there is even a sug-
gestion about bringing in significant royal forces, namely, the Phoe-
nician fleet."”* The new agreement, however, introduces a complete
change of perspective. The Great King’s ships are the center of atten-
tion and the focal point of expectations for military success. Tissa-
phernes, who remains in charge of the Persian conduct of the war in
spite of the presence of Pharnabazus and Hieramenes in the preamble,
will maintain the Peloponnesian forces on the basis of the specific
financial agreement only until the Great King’s ships come. After that
they may stay on at their own expense or receive money from Tis-
saphernes, not as a grant but as a loan to be repaid at the end of the
war, and war is to be waged by both sides in common “when the
King’s ships shall have come.”"*

We cannot be sure whether the Persians had really decided that the
war must and could be won by bringing a large Phoenician fleet into
action. The sorry record of Phoenician warships against Greeks, the
doubts of Thucydides, and the fact that the fleet never appeared compel

8 58.2.
'2Sparta and Persia, 106.

'238.37.4; 46.1.
1268 58.5—7.
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us to raise the question.'”” What we cannot doubt is that the firm
promise of such a reinforcement was the major element in persuading
the Spartan leaders, including Lichas, to approve an agreement that
was not substantially better than the one he had so vehemently de-
nounced."** The Great King may have abandoned his extravagant
claims to the conquests of his ancestors, but they were never more
than a rhetorical phantom, pleasing to Persian vanity and tradition but
having no substance.

The Spartans, on the other hand, formally abandoned the Greeks
of Asia and their own role as liberators, whatever their ultimate in-
tentions may have been. That was a difficult and humiliating action,
and we may be sure they would not have taken it unless they felt
compelled to do so. The events of the winter of 412/11 had clearly
shown that they could not carry on the war without Persian support.
Even financial support alone, certainly at the level Tissaphernes and
the Great King were willing to give it, would not be enough to defeat
the astonishing resiliency of the Athenians and their continued supe-
riority in skill, morale, and tactics at sea. Victory over Athens, they
must have thought, would require not only money to maintain their
own ships but also a vast increase in the size of the fleet opposing the
Athenians. Sobering experience had shown them that, except in special
circumstances, such as a battle fought in narrow enclosed waters like
those of the Syracuse harbor, they could not hope to defeat the Athe-
nians at sea without the overwhelming numerical superiority that only
the Phoenician fleet promised by the Persians could provide. Tissa-
phernes knew perfectly well that Spartan expectations of the imminent
arrival of the Persian fleet was the key to the agreement and essential
for their cooperation. Thucydides tells us that right after the treaty
had been concluded the satrap set about “preparing to bring the Phoe-
nician ships,” as he had promised; “at any rate, he wanted to make it
conspicuous that he was preparing.”"*

The renewal of friendly relations with Persia and the financial aid
it provided gave the Spartans an opportunity to undertake some actions

'*’For the performance of the Phoenician navy, see D. Lateiner, TAPA CVI (1976),
281-288; for the doubts of Thucydides, see 8.87.

“*Busolt (GG 11I:2, 1452) says: “The treaty was no more favorable than the one of
Therimenes peremptorily rejected by Lichas.” Lewis (Spartaand Persia, 103~104) agrees:
“If realities alone are considered, the third treaty is rather worse for Sparta than the
second.”

I298.59.
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of their own at once, even before the Great King’s ships arrived. Almost
immediately after their arrival at Miletus, probably early in April, they
sent a considerable force on foot to the Hellespont under the command
of the Spartan Dercylidas.'** The plan may have originated with the
Milesians, for the first target of the expedition was Abydos, a Milesian
colony on the Asiatic shore of the Hellespont, but it appears also to
have been concerted with Pharnabazus, the Hellespontine satrap.***
The new agreement with Persia seems to have encouraged and enabled
the Spartans to extend their activities beyond Tissaphernes’ province,
as their original plan and latest orders required. Since we hear nothing
of new troops coming from the Peloponnesus and since Thucydides
describes Dercylidas’ army as considerable, it seems likely that the
Spartans were able to recruit many soldiers from the Greeks of Asia
Minor. Persian money and the promise of victory inherent in the
expectation of the arrival of the Phoenician fleet appear to have changed
the attitude of these Greeks, perhaps another important result of the
recent treaty. At the same time, we should notice that the Spartans
were compelled to send their army to the Hellespont by land, and it
has been pointed out “how difficult and tiresome it was for an army
to cover the long distance [200 to 250 miles] from Ionia to the Helles-
pont on foot.”"’? This is a powerful reminder that the Athenians still
ruled the sea and that the Spartans were afraid to challenge them
directly, but it may be that the march of Dercylidas was meant to deal
with that problem, among others.

Thucydides tells us nothing of the intentions behind the expedition,
perhaps because they seem obvious. Clearly, it would be desirable to
bring about rebellions in parts of the empire as yet untouched by
defection and thereby deprive the Athenians of resources. To do so
on the Hellespont, moreover, was even more effective because of the
threat such rebellions posed to essential Athenian trade and supply
lines. It was predictable, therefore, that any success in that region
would force the Athenians to react swiftly by using their fleet in the
Hellespont, and the nearest Athenian fleet was at Chios. If Dercylidas

succeeded on the Hellespont, the opportunity might arise to relieve
Chios.

1*8_61.1. Thucydides says the march began “at the very beginning of spring”: dp.o
T® NipL €900 dpxopévw, which Busolt (GG 11:2, 1454) places early in April.

P ilesian colony: 8.6r.1. At 8.62.1 we are told that both Abydos and Lampsacus
went over “to Dercylidas and Pharnabazus.”

2 Amit, SCI 11 (1975), 63.
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Dercylidas arrived at Abydos, perhaps in early May, and quickly
brought the rebellion not only to that city but also to Lampsacus two
days later (see Map 5). The Athenians reacted as might have been
expected, sending Strombichides to the Hellespont with twenty-four
ships, some of them transports carrying hoplites. He was able to re-
cover Lampsacus but not Abydos. The best he could do was to sail
over to Sestus on the European side and establish it as “a fortress and
a look-out post for the whole Hellespont.”*** But the Spartans had
obtained a foothold on that vital waterway.

Word of Dercylidas’ achievement reached Astyochus and the other
Spartans at Miletus about the same time that some very good news
from Chios arrived. While the Spartans had been at Rhodes, still not
daring to sail north to Chios at the risk of a naval battle with the
Athenians at Chalce and before the movement of the Athenian fleet
from there led them to go to sea, they had made one small effort to
help the Chians in another way. They had sent the Spartan officer
Leon, who had come to Ionia with Antisthenes’ squadron, on a single
ship to Miletus. There he collected eleven others that had been left
behind to guard the port and sailed for Chios to replace Pedaritus as
commander of the island. This was possible only because the main
Athenian fleet was not at Samos but still at Chalce. At Chios Leon
joined twenty-four Chian triremes. Against this squadron of thirty-
six triremes, the Athenians had thirty-two ships; some of them, how-
ever, were troop transports and not very effective in a battle of tri-
remes."’* Leon’s contingent included some of the most zealous fighters
on the Peloponnesian side: five ships from Thurii, four from Syracuse,
and one from Anaea, where the oligarchic exiles from Samos were
settled.'* Perhaps, although Thucydides does not mention them, the
extraordinary leaders Dorieus of Thurii and Hermocrates of Syracuse
were among their cities’ contingents. However that may be, Leon’s
force gave a good account of itself. In a tough battle, the Peloponnesian
ships got the better of the fighting but could not win a decisive victory
before darkness came. The men were compelled to withdraw into the
city, and the blockade continued.'** But the Chians and their allies
had won the upper hand at sea."”’

18.62.2-3.

13*8.61.2—3. Troopships: 8.25.1, 30.2, 62.2.
HCT V, 150.

18 61.3.

178.62.1.
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The departure of the Athenian force under Strombichides for the
Hellespont, leaving only 8 ships behind, gave the Chians under Leon
thorough command of the sea around their island. This gave Astyochus
the courage to venture out to sea. Cautiously sailing from Miletus, he
slipped past Samos to Chios. He gathered the Chian and allied ships
that were there and, in a concerted movement, brought his entire fleet,
certainly more than 100 warships, to Samos, challenging the Athenians
to fight.'”® This time it was the Athenians who refused to fight. Al-
though the Spartans had clear numerical superiority, it was only mar-
ginally greater than what they had enjoyed at Rhodes the previous
winter, when the Athenians were the aggressors and the Spartans
refused to fight.*° Thucydides explains the Athenians’ restraint simply
and briefly: They did not come out against Antyochus because “they
were suspicious of one another.”'** The reference is to the civil strife
that had recently broken out among the Athenians and divided them
into increasingly hostile factions. "'

The result was a complete reversal in the situation. For the moment,
at least, Athens had lost control of the sea and the initiative in the
war. The failure to take Miletus when the opportunity was at hand
had stopped the Athenians from snuffing out the rebellion of Ionia
before it was fairly started and quickly led to the loss of most of the
mainland cities and some key islands. Now, with the naval blockade
of Chios broken, the Athenian hold on that crucial island became
precarious. Worse yet, the Spartans had achieved a base on the Hel-

1¥8.63. Thucydides is not as clear about these movements as we would like. An-
drewes (HCT V, 153) believes Astyochus slipped past Samos with two ships, collected
only the twelve ships brought for Miletus by Leon, and brought them back to Miletus,
from where he sailed with the whole fleet to Samos. The account given here assumes
that Astyochus gathered all ships stationed at Chios and sailed with them directly to
Samos, where he met the rest of his fleet coming from Miletus. This would avoid his
having to sail past Samos again to Miletus with a fleet whose size would make it noticed
but which was too small to risk a battle. The text will not allow certainty. Thucydides
gives no numbers for Astyochus’ fleet on this occasion, although he specifies its number
at 112 later (8.79.1), and Busolt (GG 111:2, 1455) gives that number for this force. The
Spartans had at least 94 ships at Miletus and perhaps as many as 36 at Chios, for a
total of 130. Presumably, they would have left at least a few ships at each place, but
it seems safe to place the battle fleet that went to Samos at least at 100.

"”?At Rhodes the Spartans had 94 ships to no more than 74 Athenian, although the
Athenians probably had left at least a few ships to guard Samos. Perhaps the real ratio
was 94 to 64, a difference of 29. This time the Athenians had their 74 ships to face
anywhere from 100 to 115 ships, a difference of from 26 to 41.

148.63.2.

'*'See Chapter Five.
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lespont that was a deadly threat to the Athenians and would require
them to shift a major part of their attention to that newly opened
theater of war. In this difficult situation, the Athenians needed the
greatest commitment and unity to meet the challenge, but instead they
were torn by dissension. The beginning of this negative turn of events
can readily be traced to the decision made under the influence of
Phrynichus not to fight at Miletus late in the summer of 412.

Copyright © 2013. Cornell University Press. All rights reserved.
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5. The Revolutionary Movement

In 411 the Athenians entered the hundredth year since the expulsion
of tyranny and the establishment of their freedom. For almost that
entire period, since the reforms of Cleisthenes in 508/7, they had
enjoyed a democratic constitution, moderate at first and more complete
since the changes introduced by Ephialtes and Pericles toward the
middle of the century. The passage of time and the growth of Athenian
power and prosperity under the democracy had dampened almost all
interest in trying to destroy it and replace it with oligarchy, the most
common form of government among the Greeks. From time to time
there were rumors of oligarchic plots, but none even reached the stage
of action.' Most Athenians of the upper class accepted the democracy,
either vying for leadership within it or standing aloof from politics,
although almost all leading Athenian politicians until the Peloponne-
sian War were of noble birth.

Yet hostility to the idea and reality of democracy did not disappear.
Greek tradition, after all, was overwhelmingly aristocratic. The epics
of Homer, the most widely known and influential works of all Greek
literature, presented a world whose values were entirely aristocratic.
It was for the nobles to make decisions and give orders and for the
commoners to know their place and obey.? The poems of Theognis of
Megara reflected the bitterness of aristocrats whose world was over-

'"Thucydides (1.107.6) mentions suspicion of a plot to overthrow the democracy
before the battle of Tanagra in 457 and suspicion of a conspiracy to establish either an
oligarchy or tyranny just before the Sicilian expedition in 415 (6.60.1).

lliad 2.188-278; see M. 1. Finley, The World of Odysseus, 2d ed. (New York, 1964),
113, 118~119.
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thrown by the political and social upheavals of the sixth century, and
his words and ideas were remembered and had a powerful influence
on enemies of democracy well into the fourth century, when they were
quoted with approval by Plato. Theognis divided mankind into two
distinct types: the good and noble and the bad and base. The distinction
is based on birth and establishes a clear and firm tie between social
status and virtue. The noble alone possesses judgment (gnome) and
reverence (aidos); therefore, the noble alone is capable of moderation,
restraint, and justice. These are qualities enjoyed by few, and the
many who are without them, who lack judgment and reverence, are
necessarily shameless and arrogant. The good qualities, moreover, are
acquired only by birth; they cannot be taught: “It is easier to beget
and rear a man than to put good sense into him. No one has ever
discovered a way to make a fool wise or a bad man good. . . . If thought
could be made and put into a man, the son of a good man would never
become bad since he would obey good counsel. But you will never
make the bad man good by teaching.””

The Theban poet Pindar, “the Voice of Aristocracy” as Werner
Jaeger has called him, must have exercised an even greater influence
on the Athenian upper classes. He lived past the middle of the fifth
century, and his odes celebrated the athletic triumphs in the games
that were so important in aristocratic culture. His message was much
the same as that of Theognis: the nobly born were inherently superior
to the mass of people intellectually and morally, and the difference
could not be erased by education.

The splendor running in the blood has much weight.
A man can learn and yet see darkly, blow one way,
then another, walking ever

on uncertain feet, his mind unfinished and

fed with scraps of a thousand virtues.*

The capacity for understanding is innate. Only the natively wise can
comprehend his poetry and other important things:

There are many sharp shafts
in the quiver

Theognis 429—438.
*Nemea 3.40—42, in The Odes of Pindar, trans. Richmond Lattimore (Chicago, 1959),
101.
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under the crook of my arm.

They speak to the understanding; most men need
interpreters.

The wise man knows many things in his blood; the
vulgar are taught.

They will say anything. They clatter vainly like
crows against the sacred bird of Zeus.’

The implication of these beliefs is that democracy is, at the very least,
unwise. To some, it would have seemed unfair and immoral as well.

In the fourth century, Plato and Aristotle must have been repeating
old complaints when they pointed out the unfairness of democracy:
“it distributes a sort of equality to equal and unequal alike”;* democratic
justice is “the enjoyment of arithmetical equality, and not the enjoy-
ment of proportionate equality on the basis of merit.”” These views,
appearing in philosophical works of the fourth century, show that the
old idea of the natural and permanent separation between the deserving
and undeserving classes distinguished by Theognis and Pindar lasted
through and beyond the war. The Athenian Constitution—a pamphlet
found among the works of Xenophon although surely written, prob-
ably in the 420s, not by him but by an unknown author often called
“The Old Oligarch”—shows clearly that similar feelings existed during
the war.® The author has been influenced by the dispassionate and
objective approach of the Sophists, but passionate discontent is ap-
parent beneath the surface. “As for the constitution of the Athenians,
I do not praise them for having chosen it, because in choosing it they
have given the better of it to the vulgar people (poneroi) rather than to
the good (chrestoi).” They use the lot for positions that are safe and
pay a salary but leave the dangerous jobs of generals and commanders
of the cavalry to election and “the best qualified men.”

By the 420s time and change had altered the basis of distinguishing
the classes. Whereas noble birth had been the criterion for Theognis
and Pindar, the importance of money in shaping morality and political
competence was emphasized by the author of the Athenian Constitution:

*Olympia 2.86-87, trans. Richmond Lattimore, in ibid., 7-8.

“Plato, Republic 558C.

"Arist. Pol. 1317b.

*For a discussion of this pamphlet and the ideas in it, see Kagan, Outbreak, 138-140.
For the date, see W.G. Forrest, Klio L1l [1970], 107-116, and Ste. Croix, Origins, 308—

10.

°Pseudo-Xenophon, Athenaion Politeia 1.1, 3.
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“In every country the aristocracy is contrasted to the democracy, there
being in the best people the least licentiousness and iniquity, but the
keenest eyes for morals; in the people, on the other hand, we find a
very high degree of ignorance, disorder, and vileness; for poverty more
and more leads them in the direction of bad morals, thus also the
absence of education and in the case of some persons the ignorance
that is due to the want of money.”"® There can be no doubt that the
author and men of his class had thought carefully about what a good
constitution, in contrast to democracy, would be. What they wanted
was eunomia, the name Tyrtaeus had given to the Spartan constitution
and that Pindar had applied to the oligarchy of Corinth. In such a
constitution the best and most qualified men will make the laws. The
good men (chrestor) will punish the bad (poneroi); only the chrestor will
deliberate about public affairs, “and they will not allow madmen to
sit in the council or speak in the assembly. But as a result of these
good measures the people would, of course, fall into servitude.”"" The
author understands, therefore, that bad government (kakonomia), de-
mocracy, that is, is in the interest of the people, and he expects them
to act in their own interest to preserve it. “But anybody who without
belonging to the people prefers living in a town under democratic rule
to living in one oligarchically has prepared himself for being immorsal,
well knowing that it is easier for a bad person to remain unnoticed in
a town under democratic than in one under oligarchic rule.”*? These
words leave no doubt that the author and men like him regarded the
overthrow of the democracy and its replacement by a better consti-
tution as a moral obligation, but when he wrote, the democracy seemed
secure and unshakable."’

*Ibid. 1.5.

"Ibid. 1.9. In 1.8 and 9 eunomia, either as a noun or in verbal form, appears three
times. H. Frisch (The Constitution of the Athenians [Copenhagen, 1942, rpt. New York,
1976], 201) says “in conservative usage the word simply meant the good old oligarchic
forll;n of society.” Thucydides (1.18.1) applies the term to the Spartan constitution.

Ibid. 2.19.

“R. Seale())f (Essays in Greek Polstics [New York, 19671, 111—-132) has argued that
“differences of opinion on forms of government” (130) played only a minor role in
shaping the decisions of the men who made the revolution. If one considers their
intellectual and moral training and heritage, along with the evidence of the Atbenaion
Politeia, however, that position seems hard to sustain. To change the constitution was
not merely an intellectual game played by earnest students or sophistic political sci-
entists, as W. G. Forrest (YCS XXIV [1975], 37—52) seems to imply, nor a function
of class conflict in the Marxist sense but a moral necessity. For an arguent against
Sealey’s view along different lines, see P. J. Rhodes, JHS XCII (1972), 115-127.
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By 411 the practical problems facing the democracy, its failures,
and its blunders intensified discontent with its institutions at the same
time that they provided the opportunity to attack them. The removal
from the scene of respected leaders such as Cimon, Pericles, and even
Nicias and their replacement by the likes of Cleon, Hyperbolus, and
even the nobly born but personally disreputable Alcibiades made dem-
ocratic rule harder for noblemen to accept. The absence of strong,
respected political leaders created and intensified divisions among the
Athenians. In 411 the vacuum of leadership seems to have been filled
increasingly by the betairiai, the clubs that played an ever more im-
portant part in Athenian politics, especially among the enemies of
democracy. ™

The members of these clubs, as well as others in the propertied
classes, had borne and were still bearing unprecedented financial bur-
dens. The costs of waging the war were higher than in the earlier years
because of the existence of a Peloponnesian navy that threatened the
Athenians’ empire and food supply and required them to keep as large
a fleet as possible at sea the year round. Meanwhile, the expenditure
from the public treasury to civilians had not diminished but probably
had increased."” At the same time, public revenue was severely cur-
tailed by rebellions of tribute-paying allies and the reduction of income
from customs duties caused by the war’s interference with commerce.
The problem was made more intense by a reduction in the number
of Athenians wealthy enough to assume the financial burden of reli-
gious and military services required by the state. On the eve of the
war in 431, the number of Athenian men of hoplite census or above,
the status required for eligibility to perform these liturgies, may have
been as high as 25,000.' By 411 the great plague and war casualties,
especially the losses in Sicily, seem to have reduced that number to
about 9,000."” Neither figure is either precise or secure; yet any rea-
sonable adjustment will still reveal a stunning diminution in the num-
ber of Athenians available in 411 to pay the state’s expenses.

Those expenses must have been very high if the speeches that have
come down to us under the name of Lysias are any indication. In one
of them, a certain Aristophanes is said to have spent almost 15 talents

"*For a discussion of the betairiai, see Kagan, Peace of Nicias, 204—205.

*See above, 3.

"“That is the estimate of R. Thomsen, Eispbora (Copenhagen, 1964), 162-163.

""See above, 2. This is the figure given by the speaker in Lys. 20.13 as the number
of those enrolled as being capable of bearing arms, that is, as hoplites or cavalrymen.
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on public services, including payments of the special war taxes, and
service as trierarch.'® In another the speaker recounts his expenditures
for the years 411/10 to 404/3, a total of almost 10 talents. His list
provides us with evidence of the variety of public obligations imposed
upon Athens’ wealthier citizens: he produced tragic and comic dramas;
paid for choral competitions, dancers, athletic contests, and trireme
races; equipped six triremes for battle in seven years; and during that
time twice contributed his share of the eisphora.' To be sure, he boasts
that he spent four times what was legally required, so the less generous
men of his class might have had to spend no more than 2.5 talents
during the same period, but even that was a very high sum. We must
remember that a talent consisted of 6,000 drachmas, that a drachma
was a very good day’s pay in the late fifth century, and that in those
years an Athenian citizen rowing in the fleet was expected to get by
on half that amount. Another way of understanding the meaning of
these sums is to note that Nicias, one of the richest men in Athens,
was expected to leave an estate of no more than 100 talents and that
his son, not a notorious wastrel, left no more than 14 talents to his
heir. There is good reason to think that the fortunes of many Athenian
families were seriously reduced by public services during the Pelo-
ponnesian War.?° By 411, and especially in the years since the Sicilian
disaster, the unprecedented expense would already have been strongly
felt, and it would not take much imagination for the propertied classes
to see that there would be similar and even greater demands in the
future.

The moral standing of the democratic regime, the alleged foolishness
of its policies and incompetence of their execution, the decline in the
quality of leadership, and the heavy burden of public financial obli-
gations were all problems of long standing for those Athenians skeptical
of the democracy, although all of them were intensified in the years
after Sicily. The new element in 411 was the dismal prospect for
success or even survival in the war against the Peloponnesians. The
dismay after the Sicilian disaster had quickly given way to determi-
nation and action. The Athenian response to rebellion in the empire

“Lys. 19.42—43. The speech is dated to about 388/87, at the end of the Corinthian
War, and so the total must include a good deal spent after the Peloponnesian War.
One expenditure mentioned, however, is for the Sicilian expedition from 415 to 413,
so some considerable portion must have been spent during the earlier war.

“Lys. 21.1-5.

Lys. 19.45—48.
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had been remarkably successful and seemed to be on the point of
stamping it out entirely. Had the Athenian forces been able to recover
Miletus and Chios, the Persians might well have decided that the
reports of Athens’ imminent demise had been greatly exaggerated and
withdrawn their support from the Peloponnesians, putting an end to
Sparta’s Aegean adventure and the threat to the Athenian Empire.

That opportunity, however, had been lost as a result of Phrynichus’
decision at Miletus. Instead, the rebellion had spread to the Hellespont
and threatened the Athenian lifeline. The emergency reserve fund was
gone, and the treasury was empty.” Tissaphernes had healed the
breach with the Spartans and promised to bring the Phoenician fleet
into action against the Athenians.” Finally, the Spartans had gained
a foothold on the Hellespont and threatened to cut Athens’ supply
lines and win the war. The installation of proboulo: in 413 had already
changed the democratic constitution to a degree. In the face of these
difficulties and dangers, it would not be surprising to find many Ath-
enians in favor of further change in the domestic situation, some cur-
tailment of democratic practices, a more efficient arrangement, and
perhaps even a change of regime. History is full of examples of states,
even democracies, abandoning their ordinary practices in wartime,
especially in times of crisis. Great Britain put aside ordinary political
competition in 1940 and formed a national government. The form of
the cabinet was changed, placing the administration in the hands of a
very few men and almost dictatorial power in the hands of Winston
Churchill, who was both prime minister and minister of defence. There
was every reason, even for loyal democrats, to favor some limitation
on the democracy, and this was even truer for its enemies.

It is evidence of the powerful general support for the traditional full
democracy and of the oligarchs’ lack of initiative that the movement
to alter the constitution did not begin in Athens. The instigator was
the renegade Alcibiades, whose sense of self-preservation and undi-
minished appetite for power and glory led him to seek his restoration
to the Athens that had condemned and cursed him only a few years
earlier. He was an outlaw to both the Athenians and Spartans, and

>'In June of 411 the democratic leaders of the Athenians at Samos said that the city
was no longer supplying money for them: ot ye pfire &pydprov €lxov &t mépmewy, so
that the soldiers had to get their own: avrol éwopifovro (8.76.6). Xenophon confirms
this statement by reporting that in the following winter the Athenian generals in the
Hellespont had to spend time collecting money: ap@oTepor fipyvpohoynkoTes (1.1.12).
’See above, 98~99.
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his only security lay in the protection offered by Tissaphernes, but
his situation was precarious, for the satrap was a wily man, ambitious
and keenly aware of his own interests. He was using Alcibiades surely
no less than the Athenian was attempting to use him, and it was only
a matter of time before the Persian’s interests might lead him to aban-
don his protégé. Alcibiades’ plan, therefore, was to take advantage of
his influence with Tissaphernes and to gain Persian support, safety,
and victory for the Athenians.”” To this end, he sent communications
to “the most important men among them,” presumably the generals,
trierarchs, and other influential individuals, asking them to mention
him—and, no doubt, the great influence he had with Tissaphernes—
“to the best people.”** They were to say that he wanted to return to
Athens but only if they established an oligarchy instead of the base
democracy that had banished him. In that case, he would come back,
bringing the friendship and support of Tissaphernes with him. These
messages had the intended effect, “for the Athenian soldiers at Samos
perceived that he had influence with Tissaphernes,” and envoys from
the camp left Samos to discuss the situation with him.*

Although Thucydides’ narrative makes clear the vital part played
by Alcibiades in starting the oligarchic movement, his own judgment
places the emphasis elsewhere. “But even more than the influence and
promises of Alcibiades, of their own accord, the trierarchs and the
most important men among the Athenians at Samos were eager to
destroy the democracy.”** Most scholars have emphasized the initiative .
taken by Alcibiades without noticing the nuance provided by Thu-
cydides, but the difference should not be overlooked.”” Here we have
not a statement of fact but an interpretation of why the Athenian
leaders at Samos, all of them, acted as they did (for Thucydides makes

28.47.

8.47.2

°8.47.2; 8.48.1.

78.47.2; 10 3¢ WAéov kal amo TEOY aUTAV oL év Tf) TApw TpLipapxol TE TOV
"Adnraior kal SvwatdTaTor ®PRMNYTOo €S T0 KaTakdoo THY dnpokpaTtiav.

The vast majority of scholars have given the greatest proininence to the role of
Alcibiades. Perhaps the strongest statements are by Grote (VIII, 7): “Such was the
first originating germ of that temporary calamity which so nearly brought Athens to
absolute ruin, called the Oligarchy of Four Hundred: a suggestion from the same exile
who had already so deeply wounded his country by sending Gylippus to Syracuse. ..
,” and M. F. McGregor, who says that Alcibiades “plotted the oligarchic revolution
that produced the Four Hundred” (Phoenix XIX [1965], 42). E. F. Bloedow, citing the
passage quoted above in n. 26, emphasizes the eagerness of the Athenian plotters on
Samos (Alcibiades Reexamined [Wiesbaden, 1973], 34, n. 213).
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no distinction or exception) and what their intentions were. Careful
readers of Thucydides have rightly warned of the need to distinguish
between his report of facts, which have the highest claim to our belief,
and his interpretations, which are open to greater question.”® In this
case, especially, we must be cautious, for in the one specific instance
we can check, Thucydides is clearly wrong. Who “the most important
men among the Athenians” may have been we can only guess, and we
do not know who the trierarchs at Samos were, with one exception,
Thrasybulus, the son of Lycus of Steiria.”” Thucydides tells us that
when the Samian peoplelearned of an oligarchic plot to overthrow the
democracy in Samos they came to Thrasybulus, among others, “who
seemed always to be especially opposed to the conspirators.”® Thras-
ybulus and his colleagues then rallied the sailors to the defense of the
Samian democracy and put down the oligarchic uprising. Soon after,
they compelled all of the soldiers, and especially those who had been
involved with the oligarchs, to swear an oath of loyalty to the democ-
racy.’' The newly sworn, thoroughly democratic army then deposed
its generals and elected new, reliably democratic ones in their stead,
among them Thrasybulus.”” He would spend the rest of the war as a
loyal democratic general and emerge from it as the hero who resisted

*See the perceptive remarks of G. E. M. de Ste. Croix: “Thucydides was such a
remarkably objective historian that he himself has provided sufficient material for his
own refutation. The news columns in Thucydides, so to speak, contradict the editorial
Thucydides, and the editor does not always speak with the same voice” (Historia 111
[1954-1955], 3). P. J. Rhodes’ warnings about Thucydides’ account of the events of
411 are also apposite: “He was in exile when these events took place, and therefore
had the advantage of not being directly implicated and the disadvantage of being
dependent on what others told him. He has added to the facts a good deal of inter-
pretation. He was a writer proud of his ability to probe beneath the surface and to
discern what was ‘really’ happening, what the ‘real’ aims of the men involved were;
and though we may well think his judgment shrewd we must follow it with caution.
It is of course true that men often have aims which they will not acknowledge in public;
but most men act from mixed motives for much of the time, and (though they may
have other aims too) are not often wholly insincere in the aims which they do profess
in public. Concentration on one motive, to the exclusion of others, is to be suspected
as much when indulged in by the best of ancient authorities as when indulged in by
modern scholars. Thucydides’ statements of what men ‘really’ wanted are not factual
statements of the same kind as his statements of what they publicly said or did; and
if we accept only those aims which he claims to have detected beneath the surface we
may distort the truth more than if we recognize only those professed aims which he
disallows” (JHS XCII [1972], 115-116).

*On Thrasybulus, see HCT V, 264; and Davies, APF, 24o0.

’°8.73.4.

*'8.73.58; 7.

’28.76.2.
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and finally overthrew the oligarchy of the Thirty Tyrants and restored
democracy to Athens. No Athenian has a better claim to the title of
convinced and loyal democrat than Thrasybulus, and none less de-
serves the accusation of being “eager to destroy the democracy,” yet
he is included among the men against whom Thucydides makes that
charge. If Thucydides is mistaken or misinformed in this instance, he
may be equally wrong in other cases, so we must not simply accept
his opinions without question but examine each case on its own merits.
Certainly, Thrasybulus was one of those at Samos who received Al-
cibiades’ words warmly and favored bringing him back.* For him, at
least, Alcibiades’ proposal represented something different from a long-
awaited opportunity to overthrow Athenian democracy, and there is
reason to think that he was not alone.

So we may well believe that the movement to bring back Alcibiades
and to alter the form of government in Athens was suggested by the
Athenian renegade for his own reasons and accepted by the Athenian
leaders at Samos for theirs, but the reasons of that group were clearly
not all the same. Within this group at Samos, even at this early stage
(perhaps in November of 412),’* we can discern two very different
factions. One was that of Thrasybulus. “He always held to the same
opinion,” says Thucydides, “that they should recall Alcibiades.”** This
means that at some time, at least, he was willing to accept limitations
on the Athenian democracy, for Alcibiades’ first messages to the Ath-
enian notables at Samos was to that effect.’® In fact, if we accept
Thucydides’ report of Alcibiades’ demands as both accurate and pre-
cise, we might believe that Thrasybulus was even prepared to over-
throw the democracy and replace it with an oligarchy. In light of his
later actions, it is hard to believe that of the great democratic hero,
and it is possible that Thucydides’ informant was wrong in this par-
ticular instance. More likely, Alcibiades did use such words, but
Thrasybulus and men like him balked at it and forced him to change
his language. When a delegation from Samos crossed over to meet with
him, at any rate, he no longer used the offensive word oligarchy but
promised to return and perform his wonders “if the Athenians were

7’8.76.7; 81.1.

*Busolt, GG I11:2, 1467.

¥8.81.1.

’%8.47.2. Here and throughout my discussion of Athenian politics in this volume I
am indebted to W. J. McCoy, “Theramenes, Thrasybulus and the Athenian Moder-
ates,” Ph.D. diss., Yale University, 1970.
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not under a democracy.” The subtle shift in language was probably
real and a concession to men like Thrasybulus who were prepared to
alter the constitution but not to move to oligarchy.”

No matter how we interpret the language, however, there is no
escaping the fact that as early as November of 412 and in the months
following, Thrasybulus was ready to limit and alter the powers of the
Athenian democracy. Although he knew Alcibiades’ condition for re-
turn, he persuaded the Athenian forces at Samos to vote to grant
Alcibiades immunity from prosecution, recall him to duty, and elect
him general, and it was he who personally sailed across to Tissaphernes
and brought Alcibiades back to Samos.’® Why did this great democratic
paladin act in this way? Thucydides’ answer is simple and clear: “He
brought Alcibiades back to Samos thinking that the only safety for
Athens was if he could bring Tissaphernes away from the Peloponne-
sians and over to their side.””® Thrasybulus was convinced that without
a Persian breach with Sparta, Athens was doomed. Winning the war
required winning over Persia, and he believed that only Alcibiades
could do that. If salvation meant placing limits on the democracy,
Thrasybulus was willing, although he would resist excessive depar-
tures from the existing constitution.*

We can get a good idea of what limitations Thrasybulus regarded
as acceptable from Alcibiades’ reply to the mission sent by the Four
Hundred at Athens in the summer of 411 to the forces at Samos. By
that time, Alcibiades had been rejected as not “suitable” for oligarchy
by the Four Hundred at Athens. His future prospects lay with the
forces at Samos and especially with their leader Thrasybulus. It is
more than unlikely that the flexible renegade would specify conditions
that were not in accord with those of Thrasybulus. In fact, it would
be surprising if those conditions were not shaped, in part at least, to
suit his views. Alcibiades required that the council of Four Hundred,
the ruling body of the oligarchy, be disbanded and the old democratic
council of Five Hundred be restored. But he approved the curtailment

""The first passage says Alcibiades wanted to come home: én’ dAvyapxiqt (8.47.2).
The second says that he will gain Persian friendship for Athens: €i pm 3mpokpatoivro
(8.48.1). As McGoy points out, Thucydides does not report Alcibiades as using the
term oligarcky again (“Theramenes,” 24).

**8.81.1; 82.1.

8.81.1.

“For a good discussion of the importance in Athens and Samos at this time of the
idea of safety or salvation of the city, cwrnpia, see E. Lévy, Atbenes devant la défaite
de 404, bistoire dune crise idéologique (Paris, 1976), 16-27.
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of pay for public services and the rule of the Five Thousand, the limited
group of citizens who exercised privileges formerly open to the full
democratic assembly.*

Thrasybulus was unwilling to accept oligarchy in the form of the
rule of the council of Four Hundred, but he was willing to curtail the
rights and privileges of the people to receive pay and to exercise fully
their political function to the extent of accepting a fully competent
citizen body as small as about Five Thousand. In what political cat-
egory does such a man belong? He cannot be called an oligarch, as we
have seen; no ancient author ever speaks of him in that way, and no
contemporary Athenian would have thought such a designation ap-
propriate. Neither was he an uncompromising, or what modern his-
torians have traditionally called a “radical,” democrat; else he would
have resisted any limit to the people’s power. What is left is the tra-
ditional designation “moderate,” a term that suits Thrasybulus per-
fectly and, in the sense described above, one that does not have merely
loose connotations but clearly denotes a political position.*

The other group involved in the discussions with Alcibiades fully
deserves Thucydides’ description as men who sought to destroy the
democracy and to establish an oligarchy of their own accord. Thu-
cydides mentions the names of two of these men who took part in the
conspiracy at Samos: Phrynichus and Peisander.*’ Neither man was
an oligarch of long standing. Both, in fact, had reputations for being

*18.86.6. For a discussion of the privileges of the Five Thousand see Chapter 8. The
issue is whether that body had exclusive access to all of the rights of citizenship or
merely to the right of holding office.

**The concept that Athenian politics in 411 is best understood in terms of three
factions:—radical democrats (or merely “democrats”), moderates (moderate democrats,
moderate oligarchs, or simply “moderates”), and oligarchs—dates from at least nine-
teenthcentury historians such as Beloch, Meyer, and Busolt and has been the usual
way of understanding the situation ever since. R. Sealey (Essays in Greek Politics [New
York, 1967], 110-132, and especially 127-130) has dismissed the importance and even
existence of a group such as the “moderates,” at least from a constitutional point of
view. He rightly dismisses Alcibiades as not deserving such a designation and much
less persuasively argues against Theramenes’ right to the title. He says nothing, how-
ever, about Thrasybulus, which is a serious omission. The evidence makes it clear that
some Athenians favored oligarchy unequivocally, others would brook no change what-
ever, and still others stood between these two rigid positions. This third group was
inevitably more varied than the other two, and its members had less in common. Some
leaned more to one extreme and some to the other, but all can conveniently, accurately,
and significantly be called moderates. If such a category did not already exist, we
should need to invent it.

+8.48.4; 49
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demagogues; Peisander had played an important role in the prosecu-
tions during the scandals of 415, and Phrynichus was clearly a suc-
cessful democratic politician.* We cannot tell whether these
democratic politicians joined the conspiracy to establish an oligarchy
in 411 from a sincere change in conviction or for reasons of personal
advantage. The speaker in Lysias’ speech in “Defense against the
Charge of Subverting Democracy,” delivered a few years after the
war, charges both men with helping establish the oligarchy because
they feared punishment for the many offenses they had committed
against the Athenian people.* The speech is tendentious and the
charges vague, but there may have been some truth behind them.
Peisander must have made many enemies in his vigorous investigations
of the scandals of 415. It was he who helped turn the inquiry into a
general reign of terror, and it was he who proposed the decree lifting
the ban against torturing Athenian citizens during the inquisition.*
There would surely be many with charges to bring against him, many
to sympathize with them, and much for him to explain. Of Phrynichus’
career before 412/11 we know little, but his performance as general in
that year must already have been controversial by November of 412.
About a year earlier, he had opposed the unanimous opinion of the
other Athenian generals and withdrawn from Miletus, avoiding a naval
battle that might have crushed the lonian rebellion at once.” The
immediate result had been the abandonment of Amorges to the Per-
sians. In the year since, Athenian fortunes had gone from bad to worse.
As we shall see, some Athenians were ready to blame Phrynichus.*

“Lysias (25.9) speaks of them as demagogues who later turned to oligarchy. In the
case of Peisander the title is clearly justified, for he was a frequent butt of the comic
poets (HCT V, 116), and Andocides (1.36) describes him, along with Charicles, as
being thought of in 415 as the most well disposed to the people: ebvovoraTol €lvar T®

dMpw. For his role in the prosecutions of 415, see And. 1.27, 36, 43, and HCT 1V,
383—388. For a defense of Peisander against the charges of hypocrisy, opportunism,
and self-seeking, see A. G. Woodhead, AJP LXXV (1954), 132—146. The position of
Phrynichus before 411 is more difficult to determine, but there is no good reason to
reject Lysias’ listing of him alongside Peisander as a well-known democratic politician
wholater wentovertooligarchy. The cautious conclusion of HCT (V, 59—60) s justified:
“All that we can certainly say is that Phrynichos was a man with a long public career,
who could be labelled as a democratic leader and inspired enough trust to be appointed
general in 411 at an advanced age, presumably on the basis of his past record in office.”

“Lys. 25.9.

*And. 1.36, 43.

v8.27.

**8.54.3.
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Both men, therefore, may well have had pressing personal reasons to
fear the continuation of democracy and so to favor a change.
Whatever their motives, these men, unlike Thrasybulus, did not
join the movement to make possible the return of Alcibiades, the
reversal of Persian support, and therefore an Athenian victory. Phryn-
ichus resisted the return of Alcibiades from the outset, denied that he
could do what he promised, intrigued to prevent his return, and became
active in the conspiracy only after Alcibiades and the prospect of
Persian help had been excluded from it.** Peisander, after he learned
that Alcibiades could not or would not deliver Persian support, joined
in excluding him from their future plans and then took a leading part
in trying to establish oligarchy in Athens.” Once they joined the
movement, these men were firmly, vigorously, and permanently com-
mitted to the oligarchical cause. Thucydides says of Phrynichus that
“he showed himself, beyond all others, the most eager for the oligarchy;
...once he set to work he revealed himself as the most reliable.”*'
Peisander was the one who put forth the motion to establish the oli-
garchy of the Four Hundred and, according to Thucydides, was the
man in the public arena who played the greatest and most zealous part
in the destruction of the democracy. He also took the lead in forming
an oligarchic conspiracy on Samos, and when the oligarchy was over-
thrown at Athens, he went over to the Spartan camp at Decelea.*
Although Peisander and Phrynichus may have come to the position
for purely opportunistic reasons, both clearly and fully deserve the
designation “oligarchs.” The men on Samos, then, who came together
and decided to negotiate with Alcibiades were from the first divided
into two distinct types whom we may call “oligarchs” and “moderates.”
The response of the “trierarchs and the most important men” at
Samos to Alcibiades’ messages was to send representatives to hold
discussions with Alcibiades. Thucydides does not mention any names,
but Peisander and Thrasybulus were probably members of the dele-
gation.’’ There they heard the same promises to bring over to Athens’

*°8.48.4—7; 50-51; 68.3.

*°8.56; 63.3—4.

*'8.63.3.

°28.67; 73.2; 98.1.

*’8.48.1. Thucydides merely says that Twés crossed over from Samos. Nepos (Ak.
3) names Peisander as one of the intermediaries, calling him a general, which he was
not. Perhaps he was a trierarch, although we have no evidence to that effect. In any
case, his leading role in the entire affair makes his participation likely (see Busolt, GG
I1I:2, 1467, n. 2). The suggestion that Thrasybulus took part derives from his position
as trierarch and his continuing close association with Alcibiades.
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side not only Tissaphernes but also the Great King of Persia. This
time the condition he set, if Thucydides’ paraphrase is precise, was
that he would do these things “if they did not retain the democracy,
for in that way the King would have greater trust in them.”* We may
guess that moderates like Thrasybulus had reacted badly to the word
oligarchy in Alcibiades’ earlier communications and that the alert exile
had adjusted his language to reduce unnecessary friction. “Not to retain
the democracy” could be understood differently by moderates and
oligarchs but “replacing the base democracy with an oligarchy” would
not.” When they returned to Samos with their report, the important
men who had sent them were much encouraged. Thucydides still does
not distinguish among them, saying of all of them that they had great
hopes of bringing the government into their own hands and also of
overcoming the enemy.** No doubt, the two factions we have discerned
emphasized different aspects of those hopes.

The next step was for the leaders to form “those suitable” into an
effective political body by means of an oath.”” Thucydides calls this
political body a xynomosia, which often means conspiracy, with all of
its nasty connotations, and he may have intended that sense. But the
word may also mean merely a group of men united for political pur-
poses and bound by an oath. Thucydides uses the same word to de-
scribe the political clubs of long standing in Athens, and when
Thrasybulus organized the democratic forces at Samos, he had them
swear an oath of loyalty to the democracy.’® Whatever Thucydides
meant, we should not think of this organization as a secret cell limited
to a few conspirators. “Those suitable” probably included soldiers from
the ranks, for many of the thousand hoplites sent on the Milesian
campaign were at Samos. ” The organization certainly included Thras-
ybulus and, therefore, could not have been simply an oligarchic
conspiracy.

The organization’s next step makes it clear that secrecy was not an
important part of its character, for it called the men of the Athenian

**8.48.1: €l w1} dnpokpaToivto (oirw Yap &v MoTedoaL WEAov BagtAéa).

**This is the suggestion of McCoy, “Theramenes,” 24, who seems to have been the
first to notice the change in terms.

*¢8.48.1. This is my understanding of this difficult passage. For a discussion of the
textual problems, see HCT V, 107-108.

°78.48.2.

;:8.54.4; 74.2.

HCT V, 106, 108; Busolt, GG 111:2, 1467, n. 2.
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forces at Samos together “and openly told the many that the King
would be their friend and provide them with money if they took back
Alcibiades and were not governed by a democracy.”® Thus the soldiers
and sailors were told everything that the members of the organization
knew. There was no use of the word oligarchy, but that word had been
abandoned by Alcibiades himself in his private conversations with
organization leaders. If the common man did not know that plans to
establish a narrow and permanent oligarchy lurked in the hearts of
some members, neither did insiders such as Thrasybulus.

“The mob,” as Thucydides refers to the assembly of soldiers and
sailors, “even if it was somewhat annoyed at the moment by what had
been done, subsided into silence because of the hopeful prospect of
pay from the King.”*' This account of what must have been a heated
and extended discussion is both tendentious and brief. The implication
is that the Athenian forces at Samos were prepared to allow the res-
toration of the traitor Alcibiades and an attenuation of their beloved
democracy because of greed.®’ The passage brings to mind Thucydides’
explanation of the popular enthusiasm for the Sicilian campaignof 415.
“The mass of the people and the soldiers hoped to get money at the
moment and to make an addition to their empire from which they
would have a never ending source of income.”” Whatever the reasons
the ordinary fighting men of Athens may have had for supporting the
Sicilian expedition, they had stronger motives than greed for being
willing to consider even unwelcome proposals late in 412 and to think
such unthinkable thoughts as were being proposed to them. The sal-
vation of their city was at issue, perhaps their own lives and those of
their families, for they could not be sure that a victorious and vengeful
enemy would not treat Athens as the Athenians had treated Scione
and Melos. No doubt there were outcries at the suggestion of Alci-
biades’ return and even louder ones at talk of not being governed by
a democracy. Probably the intervention of trusted men such as Thras-
ybulus helped calm the gathering and remind the men that by swal-
lowing such bitter pills they could obtain the financial support that
would allow them to carry on the war and win it.**

%8.48.2.

©'8.48.3.

“Meyer (GdA, 1V, 286) has caught the sense well: “To the crowd of sailors who
were told of Alcibiades’ demands and promises the prospect of plentiful wages was
welcome in the highest degree.” See also Hatzfeld, Aliibiade, 233.

©6.24.3.

*“McCoy, “Theramenes,” 25-26.
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After the meeting with the soldiers and sailors, the leaders of the
movement held a session with most of those friendly to it to consider
further Alcibiades’ proposals. Everyone approved, except Phrynichus,
who opposed them totally. His speech appears to have responded, in
turn, to each of the arguments that had been made in support of the
proposals. He did not believe that the Great King could be brought
over to the Athenian side, for his interests pointed in the opposite
direction. The Athenians no longer had a monopoly of effective sea
power in the Aegean and had lost major cities of their empire to the
Peloponnesians, so the Persians had less reason than before to purchase
Athenian friendship. They mistrusted the Athenians, from whom they
had suffered much over many years, whereas the Peloponnesians had
not done them any harm. Someone must have suggested that if the
Athenians replaced their democracy with an oligarchy, it would ease
their imperial problems; cities that had rebelled, usually under oli-
garchic leadership, would return to fealty and further uprisings would
be prevented. To this Phrynichus replied with a hard-headed analysis
of the realities of empire that rejected the primacy of the class struggle.
None of these predictions would come true, he said, for none of the
allies “will want to be enslaved with either an oligarchy or a democracy
rather than to be free under whichever of these happens to exist.”
The allies took even less comfort in the rule of the Athenian upper
classes than in that of the commoners, for the former profited most
from the empire and were less careful about due process.*

Phrynichus’ most important argument, however, was that Alci-
biades was not to be trusted. He cared nothing for oligarchy or de-
mocracy. He wanted a change in the current constitution merely to
make possible his own recall at the request of his partisans. If his plan
went forward, Athens would be torn by civil strife, something it could
not afford at this dangerous moment. Alcibiades could not deliver
Persian support; he could not bring back rebellious allies or prevent
future rebellions. At present, therefore, Phrynichus saw no virtue in
any of the proposals.*’

Phrynichus’ advice was to reject the advances of Alcibiades and go

©'8.48.5. I agree with D. W. Bradeen (Historia 1X [1960), 268—26¢) that this is a
correct estimation of the attitude of the Greeks within the Athenian Empire and that
Thucydides shared that view as he makes clear in 8.64. For a different view see Ste.
Croix, Historia 111 (1954—1955), 1—41.

*8.48.4—6. For a valuable discussion of these points see HCT V, 110-113.

°’8.48.4, 7.
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on as before, but it was precisely because that path seemed both prof-
itless and dangerous that the movement had taken shape. Accepting
Phrynichus’ advice would mean an end to the movement, and some
scholars have thought that this was his intention, that late in 412 he
had not yet turned against democracy.® That is difficult to believe,
for not only did he appear as a key figure in the conspiracy within a
few months, but more to the point, he would not have been invited
to this private meeting of friends of the movement if he had been
hostile to it. His opposition must be attributed not to constitutional
preference but to a more practical motive: dislike and fear of Alcibiades.
We are not informed when those feelings arose or what the reasons
for them were. A speaker in the law courts refers to Phrynichus as a
sykophantes, an informer for pay. If there is more than slander in the
charge, we might guess that there had been occasion for Phrynichus
to annoy a man whose way of life was a standing invitation to inform-
ers.” A more likely source of conflict might be found in Phrynichus’
career as a democratic politician, which almost surely put him in con-
flict with Alcibiades before his departure for Sicily. All of this is only
conjecture, but we should not doubt that Phrynichus already consid-
ered Alcibiades a dangerous enemy when he spoke at the meeting of
the movement’s notables at Samos.” Perhaps others knew of his private
motives, and that may help explain the absence of any support for
him. In any case, he persuaded no one, and the meeting decided to
accept Alcibiades’ proposals. They appointed an embassy under the
leadership of Peisander to go to Athens and work to bring about the
return of Alcibiades and to put down the current democracy in order
to win over Tissaphernes.”!

“*Grote (VIII, 10) says: “Though Phrynichus was afterwards one of the chief or-
ganizers of the oligarchical movement, when it became detached from, and hostile to
Alkibiades, yet under the actual circumstances he discountenanced it altogether.” See
also Hatzfeld (Alibiade, 234), who says that Phrynichus was at this time “an active
democrat.”

*“Lys. 20.11-12.

*That is made clear in Phrynichus’ letter to Astyochus sent immediately after the
meeting. In it he informed the Spartan admiral of the conspiracy and of Alcibiades’
part in it, excusing his own treachery on the grounds that “it was pardonable to plot
evil against a man who was his enemy even to the disadvantage of the state™: uyyvopnv
3¢ €lvan Eautd Tepl Grdpos Tohepiov kal peTd TOD THS TONEws GEVLESpOV KakdY T
Bouketewy (8.50.2). But Phrynichus had no reason to know that Alcibiades had already
become his enemy as a result of his speech at Samos. As far as we know, the speech
had not yet been reported to Alcibiades, nor had he reacted to it. The evidence seems
to support the idea of a preexisting hostility.

7'8.49.
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Phrynichus now found himself in a most dangerous position. The
news of his opposition would certainly get to Alcibiades before too
long, and the plan to recall the renegade was under way. He needed
a scheme to prevent the return of his enemy, and he produced an
imaginative and daring one. Phrynichus wrote a letter secretly to As-
tyochus, the Spartan navarch who was at Miletus, revealing the details
of Alcibiades’ plot, including the plan to bring Tissaphernes and the
Persians over to the Athenian side. His excuse, as we have seen, was
the hostility of Alcibiades and the threat it posed to his own safety.
Apparently, Phrynichus had not yet learned of Alcibiades’ flight from
the Peloponnesian camp and assumed that Astyochus could easily lay
hands on the Athenian exile.”” The stratagem, therefore, would have
been doomed from the first if Astyochus had merely done the obvious
and ignored the letter about which he could do nothing. Instead, he
took the initiative and went to Magnesia to see Tissaphernes and Al-
cibiades. He told them the contents of the letter and established a close
relationship with Tissaphernes. It was later rumored that his actions
in this affair and in other matters were prompted by bribes from the
satrap.”’

Alcibiades’ reaction was to write a letter to those in charge at Samos
revealing Phrynichus’ treachery and asking that they put him to death.
Phrynichus was now in great peril. His mistake about the whereabouts
of Alcibiades and his misjudgment of Astyochus had produced a sit-
uation in which he might be killed by the leaders at Samos even before
the restoration of his enemy. He now concocted an even more imag-
inative and desperate scheme. He wrote another letter to Astyochus,
complaining of his breach of honor, but offering a great opportunity.
He was prepared to offer the Peloponnesians a way to destroy the
entire Athenian army at Samos, since it was without walls. He ex-
plained his action, once again on the grounds of the increased danger
to his own life at the hands of his greatest enemy. Once again Astyo-
chus turned the information over to Alcibiades.

Somehow Phrynichus learned that Astyochus had betrayed him and
was working against his interests.”* Alcibiades had again written a
letter to Samos, which had all but arrived, telling of Phrynichus’ latest

*This point is well made by H. D. Westlake in JHS LXXVI (1956), 101. Although
I do not accept some of his conclusions, I have learned much from his close and
perceptive reading of Thucydides.

7’8.50.3; 83.3.

HCT V, 119120, suggests how he might have done so.
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treachery. Once again Phrynichus’ strong nerve and quick wit pro-
duced a stratagem. Before the accusation could arrive, he told the army
at Samos that he had received information of an enemy plan to attack
the Athenian camp, just as he had secretly urged. He told the Ath-
enians to be watchful and to build fortifications to defend against the
attack, and so they did. When Alcibiades’ letter arrived soon after, its
effect had already been undermined by Phrynichus’ trick. Alcibiades,
already suspected by many Athenians, was thought to have given
further evidence of his untrustworthiness. The Athenians believed that
Alcibiades knew of the Peloponnesians’ plans because of his association
with them and was acting out of personal enmity in claiming that
Phrynichus knew about them too. Instead of doing Phrynichus harm,
the letter raised his credibility, for he had warned the Athenians of
precisely the danger Alcibiades described.”

That isthestory, essentially as Thucydides tells it, and it is a difficult
one to understand fully. One scholar has gone so far as to deny the
reality of the entire incident, to assert that there were no such letters
and that the story was created from whole cloth by Alcibiades to
destroy his enemy Phrynichus, but there is no reason to go that far.’®
We must believe that the bizarre epistolary exchange took place and
try to understand the actions and motives of the participants. Some
questions arise at once; how could a man as shrewd as Phrynichus be
so foolish as to speak out against the plan to bring back Alcibiades in
a company strongly committed to his return? How could he have acted
out of fear, as Thucydides says, when everywhere he shows himself
to be a bold and brave man? Why did he write Astyochus a second
letter, knowing that the Spartan navarch had already betrayed him?
If Astyochus had not been bribed and was not acting out of self-
interest, how can his actions be explained? One way has been to accept
Thucydides’ account that fear was the cause of Phrynichus’ behavior.
But this does not explain his decision to write a second letter to As-
tyochus as part of a shrewd scheme in which he expected to be betrayed
and planned in advance to carry out the trick that undid Alcibiades.”
However, the idea of a scheme answers too few questions and flatly

8.51.

*The theory is put forth by Hatzfeld (Alcibiade, 235-236). It is refuted effectively
by Westlake, JHS LXXVI (1956), 99—100.

""That is the suggestion of Grote, VIII, 12—13, followed by many others.
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contradicts Thucydides’ account, which indicates that Phrynichus was
taken by surprise.”

Another explanation likewise assumes that Phrynichus expected his
second letter to be betrayed and used that betrayal as partof his scheme
but rejects fear as his motive. Instead, “the stratagem of Phrynichos
was partly designed to influence the military and political situation in
the interests of Athens.””® Phrynichus’ speech at Samos was sincere,
wise, and brave. When it failed to persuade, Phrynichus turned from
oratory to trickery to save the Athenians from the mistake of bringing
back Alcibiades and introducing factional strife at so dangerous a mo-
ment. Astyochus was taken in because of his inexperience and general
lack of ability. “The narrative of Thucydides certainly suggests that
these failures could have been due to the defects of Astyochus in
character and intellectual qualities and that there is no need to seek
any more sinister explanation of them, as his exasperated troops did.”*’
This view, too, contradicts the narrative of Thucydides, and although
it improves on the first by considering the behavior of Astyochus, it
explains that behavior by incompetence or stupidity. Those qualities
surely exist and often explain military and political behavior, but before
resorting to such an explanation, a historian prefers to exhaust the
other possibilities. Even if the answer lies in the foolishness of a par-
ticipant, it is desirable to understand what he was thinking when he
miscalculated.

Here is a different account of this strange affair. If we accept that
Alcibiades and Phrynichus were enemies of long standing, as the text
of Thucydides suggests, we can readily understand Phrynichus’ will-
ingness, indeed his need, to speak out at the meeting on Samos against
his enemy’s return.” Such an action would be both inspired by fear
and rational. One reason for the total failure of his speech may have
been the general knowledge of the enmity and the dismissal of the
argument on ground of bias. Phrynichus then wrote to Astyochus out
of fear for his own safety. In doing so, he made two mistakes: he did

*See HCT V, 119-120.

*Westlake, JHS LXXVI (1956), 100.

**H. D. Westlake, Indsviduals in Thucydides (Cambridge, 1968), 305-306. For a fuller
discussion of Astyochus’ inadequacies sec JHS LXXVI (1956), 102.

*'Westlake asserts that “Thucydides does not state or imply that Phrynichos was at
this stage influenced by personal antipathy towards Alcibiades” (JHS LXXVI [1956],
99, n. 1). He is correct, but I have argued that his narrative makes it more than likely
that such a previous enmity existed.
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not know that Alcibiades was no longer in the Spartan camp, and he
failed to foresee the reaction of Astyochus.

The Spartan navarch was no longer in a position to lay hands on
Alcibiades, even had he wanted to. Nor could he ignore the warning
lest the whole plot succeed and the Athenian renegade succeed in
bringing Tissaphernes over to the Athenian side. Instead he went to
Magnesia. By sharing the contents of the letter, he also revealed that
he knew of the plot, a revelation that must have come as a blow to
Alcibiades and a shock to Tissaphernes, who probably knew nothing
about it. Whatever Tissaphernes’ true intentions, he surely had made
no commitment, and it must have been acutely embarrassing to Al-
cibiades to have the satrap learn that he had promised to bring the
Persians over to Athens. As Westlake rightly says, “the motives and
aims of Astyochos in this episode seem to have been almost wholly
unknown to Thucydides.”®* He is also right to say that the navarch
did not make the trip just to deliver a message but to discuss it and
negotiate as well. We must agree that he had come “to remonstrate
with Alcibiades and Tissaphernes. . . and to attempt to deter Tissa-
phernes from concluding an agreement with the Athenians.” Just
revealing the plot to Tissaphernes and making clear his own knowledge
of it, no doubt, had a deterrent effect, for Alcibiades’ relationship with
the satrap began to decline almost immediately.** Probably Tissa-
phernes regarded Astyochus’ revelation as a friendly act and drew
closer to him. Perhaps he rewarded him with a cash gift, as oriental
potentates were accustomed to do and as more than one Greek official
was accustomed to accept. Perhaps that was the source of the rumor
of bribery, a reward for services rendered misconstrued as a bribe for
services to be rendered, but it may well be that the friendly relations
established at this meeting help account for his less-than-vigorous ef-
forts to secure more pay for the Peloponnesian sailors later.®

Alcibiades, embarrassed and angered, at once wrote to his influential
friends at Samos telling them of Phrynichus’ letter and asking them
to put him to death. Phrynichus, desperate and in a panic, wrote again
to Astyochus, telling him how he could make a successful attack on
the Athenian army at Samos. Thucydides relates this action as being
seriously intended to succeed and makes no suggestion that Phrynichus

ZJHS LXXVI (1956), 102.
“Ibid.

8.56.2.

#8.50.3; 83.3.
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expected it to fail. Modern historians, as we have seen, find this im-
possible. Surely, since Phrynichus knew his first letter had been be-
trayed, he must have expected the same treatment for the second. The
first letter had asked Astyochus to do something that turned out to be
impossible and whose consequence would be neither dramatic nor
decisive, even if it were possible. In the circumstances, Astyochus’
action was not remarkable. The second letter, however, invited the
navarch to do something within his power that promised to produce
an astonishing victory that might put an end to the war in a single
stroke. As Westlake says, “the prospect of destroying the Athenian
forces at Samos and thus probably being instrumental in bringing the
war to a speedy end was a dazzling one that can hardly have failed to
attract him.”* Phrynichus, in his desperation, might well have hoped
that Astyochus would deal with the second letter differently from the
first. Presumably, a victorious Astyochus and a grateful Sparta would
honor and reward the man responsible for their success. In any case,
Phrynichus would avoid the doom surely awaiting him on the return
of his bitter enemy. Alcibiades was not the only Athenian politician
with remarkable flexibility and grandiose personal ambitions who was
ready to betray his city to secure his safety and advance his career.”

It is usual to treat Phrynichus’ invitation as though it were truly
irresistible and to explain Astyochus’ unwillingness to accept it either
by the alleged bribery on the part of Tissaphernes or by his “lack of
initiative and imagination,” his “weakness” and lack of “diplomatic
finesse,” and his “Spartan caution and distrust.”* But he would have
been very stupid indeed had he put any trust in the offer of Phrynichus,
of whose treacherous character he had-ample proof. It did not require
un-Spartan imagination, initiative, and daring, only the usual Spartan
“caution and distrust,” to fear exactly what Westlake alleges Phryni-

*JHS LXXVI (1956), 101.

*"To sustain his belief that the second letter was a ruse intended to produce the result
that it did, Westlake (JHS LXX VI [1956], 101-102) is compelled to make assumptions
not justified by the evidence. The first is that Phrynichus gave Astyochus instructions
for the attack, which would bring about a Peloponnesian defeat, Thucydides says
nothing of this. A second assumption is that from the first, Phrynichus meant to warn
the Athenians of the impending attack and urge them to build defensive fortifications.
But this directly contradicts Thucydides’ account, which makes it clear that he warned
of the attack only after learning that Astyochus was working against him and that a
second letter from Alcibiades was on the way (8.51.1; see HCT V, 119—-120). Thu-
cydides clearly thought that Phrynichus would have kept silent and allowed the attack

had he not been warned of the second betrayal by Astyochus.
®Westlake, JHS LXXVI (1956), 102—103.

Kagan, Donald. The Fall of the Athenian Empire, Cornell University Press, 2013. ProQuest Ebook Central,

http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/hkpl-ebooks/detail.action?docID=3138417.

Created from hkpl-ebooks on 2020-07-16 19:50:25.



Copyright © 2013. Cornell University Press. All rights reserved.

THE REVOLUTIONARY MOVEMENT 129

chus had in mind, that is, a trap. No doubt this was a major reason
for not accepting the invitation, and the easiest way to deal with it
would have been simply to ignore the second letter. The likely result
would have been the arrest and execution of Phrynichus, but the
conspiracy to bring back Alcibiades and to use him to win over Tis-
saphernes would go forward and continue to threaten the Spartan
cause. Astyochus, instead, revealed the contents of the second letter
to Alcibiades and Tissaphernes.®” This will have had the effect of
making it clear that the plot to restore Alcibiades to Athens was still
under way. That information could only have the effect of further
undermining Alcibiades’ influence with the satrap and making it harder
to carry out his promises at Sparta’s expense.”

A further result was that Phrynichus was able to warn the Athenians
of the alleged attack and entirely to undermine Alcibiades’ letter. In-
stead of doing Phrynichus harm, it confirmed his warning and strength-
ened his position for the time being. On the other hand, it increased
distrust of Alcibiades in the Athenian camp.®’ The incident clearly
had caused a rift between Tissaphernes and Alcibiades, creating an
impossible situation for the latter when the conspirators finally sent
an embassy to Magnesia to negotiate with the satrap. The collapse of
those conversations put an end to the oligarchic conspirators’ interest
in restoring Alcibiades and led to the achievement of a new treaty
between Sparta and Persia.”> The Spartans could hardly have asked
more of their navarch than to achieve such results in dealing with such
experienced and wily maneuverers as Alcibiades, Phrynichus, and
Tissaphernes. Perhaps he was not so simple after all. The movement
against democracy in Athens no longer involved the prospect of having
Alcibiades work against Sparta and bring Persian aid to Athens. Either

*8.50.5. Thucydides says that Astyochus gave the letter to Alcibiades, but there is
no reason to believe that he did not reveal it to Tissaphernes as well.

“Westlake (JHS LXXVI [1956], 103) believes that Astyochus showed the second
letter because he trusted Alcibiades more than Phrynichus and because he “was con-
vinced that Alkibiades still favoured the Peloponnesian cause and was not intriguing
to win the support of Tissaphernes for Athens.” Astyochus, however, not only knew
of Alcibiades’ double betrayal but had himself been ordered by the Spartan government
to put the traitor to death. Had he believed in Alcibiades’ continued commitment to
the Spartan cause after all that, he would have been simpler than even a Spartan has
a right to be.

°8.51

'"F.or t.h.e rift, see 8.56.2; for the embassy and its outcome, 8.56; for the treaty, 8.57-
s8.
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it would bring civil strife that would present Sparta with a new op-
portunity for victory, or if the most committed oligarchs were suc-
cessful, it might bring a peace offer that Sparta could accept. In either
case Sparta’s situation was excellent.

Copyright © 2013. Cornell University Press. All rights reserved.
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6. The Coup

While Phrynichus, Astyochus, and Alcibiades were exchanging be-
trayals in Samos and Magnesia, the Athenian antidemocratic move-
ment went forward. The ambassadors from the movement at Samos,
led by Peisander, arrived in Athens late in December and probably
stayed there during the period in which the correspondence passed
between Samos and Magnesia and for some time afterwards.' It is
important to remember that the members of the embassy knew nothing
of the events that raised new suspicions about Alcibiades and alienated
the movement from him. Peisander and his colleagues would make
their argument keeping Alcibiades and his promises at the center. This
meant that moderates like Thrasybulus were still firmly attached to
the group and would use their considerable influence to gain support
for the proposed changes. It also meant that the true oligarchs involved
would need to temper their language to suit those moderates.

At some time after their arrival, the ambassadors addressed the
Athenian assembly.’ The heart of their presentation was that only
with Persian help could Athens be saved and prevail over the Pelo-
ponnesians, and this could be achieved only by the return of Alcibiades
and an alteration of the constitution. If Thucydides’ language is precise,
it is worth noting that the terms used to describe the change in mode

'For a good discussion of the chronology, see HCT V, 124, 131, 186-187.

*Thucydides’ language suggests that the assembly took place soon after Peisander’s
arrival in Athens, although it is not incompatible with a longer interval. Since he
arrived in Athens probably late in December and seems to have left it not much earlier
than late February of 411, it seems better to assume a slower pace of activity. See HCT
V, 131.
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of government were even less alarming than before: the Athenians
could achieve their ends by “adopting a different form of democratic
government.” Such language was expedient in making the case to
what would surely be a resistant Athenian assembly, but pressure by
moderates within the movement may also have had some influence.
In any case, both proposals met strong resistance. Many spoke
against any alteration in the democracy. Alcibiades’ political enemies
cried out against his return as an outrage against the laws, and the
noble clans responsible for the celebration of the mysteries condemned
the proposal on religious grounds. Peisander met the challenge mas-
terfully. He began with an advantage that few, if any, other members
of the movement possessed: he was still believed to be “a man of the
left,” a democratic politican, perhaps even a demagogue.* Such a man
had a better chance of gaining a hearing for the unwelcome proposals
than a more conservative figure, but his rhetorical and parliamentary
skills were even more effective than his reputation. Thucydides’ de-
scription makes it clear that he rose to speak to a wild and tumultuous
assembly that interrupted him with contradictions and complaints.
His very effective technique was to call on all of his hecklers in turn
and ask them if they had any hope for the salvation of the city in the
present conditions in which Sparta had as many ships and more allied
cities than Athens and the Persians supplied it with money while
Athens had none. Had they any other hope than bringing back Al-
cibiades and, with him, Persian aid? The answer was that there was
no other hope, and Peisander drove home the obvious conclusion: they
must recall Alcibiades, who was the only man who could bring them
Persian support, and they must change the constitution because Al-
cibiades required it and because it was necessary to win the Great
King’s trust. The oligarchs in the movement wanted constitutional
change for its own sake. The moderates wanted the return of Alci-
biades, and he required an alteration in the regime to guarantee a safe
return, so they were prepared to accept it. There is no independent

’8.53.1: W) TOV cdrOv TpéTOV dmpokpatoupévors. | have used the translation of C.
F. Smith. For a translation with the same sense and a useful explanatory note, see
Thucydide, La guerre du Péloponnése, ed. and trans. R. Weil and J. de Romilly, VIII
(Paris, 1972), 43.

*Aristophanes treats himas a demagogue of long standing in the Lysistrata (490—-491),
produced at the Lenaean festival in February 411, certainly some time after his speech
in the assembly. For the interpretation of Aristophanes and the date, see HCT V, 189.
See also A. H. Sommerstein, JHS XCVII (1977), 112-126.
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evidence that the Persian king cared about questions of oligarchy or
democracy; no doubt the assertion that he did came from Alcibiades.’

The language Peisander used to talk about the proposed change in
the constitution was even more careful and moderate than before. The
Athenians could not achieve their goals, he said: “Unless we are gov-
erned more sensibly and place the offices, to a greater extent, into the
hands of a few.”® The word translated as “more sensibly” is sophro-
nesteron, and in addition to having neutral meanings, it had oligarchical
implications as well.” It would have been inoffensive to many listeners,
but the shrewder and better informed would have recognized the am-
biguity. The second clause appeared to explain the first in a way that
made the project seem even less threatening. The implication was that
the democracy would remain the same in all respects, except that there
would be a limitation on officeholding. That would still not be popular
in some quarters, but it could easily be seen as a sensible, necessary,
and modest step. With an exhausted treasury, Athens could not easily
afford to pay its officials, so why not limit offices to those who required
no subsidy? It was an idea with natural appeal to the moderates and
was probably formulated with their cooperation or with them in mind.
Peisander concluded by pointing out that in the current crisis they
should take less account of constitutional forms and more of the safety
of the city. He shrewdly pointed out, moreover, that if they did not
like the new constitution, they could always change it back to the old
one.*

The last point was a telling argument. Thucydides says that the
assembly was not pleased by what Peisander had said “about the oli-
garchy.” He must be referring to those listeners who understood what
lay behind the ambiguity of “more sensibly” but surely not to the
majority, for the assembly as a whole accepted Peisander’s arguments.
They were persuaded that there was no other salvation and so acted
out of fear as well as out of the expectation of the later restoration of
full democracy.® They voted to send Peisander and ten others to ne-

*8.53. For an intelligent attempt to understand just what went on in the assembly,
see HCT V, 124—125. My own interpretation is somewhat different.

8.53.3: €l u1) ToALTEVTOWEY TE TWPPOVETTEPOY Kai és OALYoUs LaANov TaS Gpxas
TOL|OOLEY.

"HCT V, 159-160.

*8.53.3.

°8.54.1.
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gotiate with Alcibiades and Tissaphernes “in whatever way seemed
best to them.”

After this major success, Peisander turned to lesser, but important,
business in behalf of the movement. Phrynichus, the clever and dan-
gerous enemy of Alcibiades, remained a general at Samos, where he
was in a position to cause further trouble. Peisander brought charges
against him for betraying Iasus and Amorges. Thucydides says that
these accusations were false, and no doubt they were if taken literally.
But the Athenians were long accustomed to bringing charges of trea-
son, bribery, and other malversations against generals they held re-
sponsible for important reversals. Thucydides himself had been the
victim of such a charge. In attacking Phrynichus for his part in the
loss of lasus and the capture of Amorges, Peisander had shrewdly
seized on the best way to be rid of Phrynichus. As we have seen, the
decision to refuse battle with the Peloponnesian fleet at Miletus, forced
by Phrynichus against the unanimous opinion of his colleagues, proved
to be a turning point in Athenian fortunes.'® Not only was the chance
lost to take Miletus and crush the rebellion, but Iasus and Amorges
were abandoned, and the southwestern and southern coast of Asia
Minor and the important island of Rhodes also went. Thereafter, the
enemy regained secure control of Chios and was able to move the war
into the Hellespont. It was not unreasonable to place a great deal of
the blame for all of this on Phrynichus, as the Athenian people plainly
did. They voted to remove him and one of his colleagues, Scironides,
from the command and to replace them with Diomedon and Leon."
Peisander, to be sure, acted out of secret motives meant to aid the
cause of the movement, but the Athenian people knew nothing of this,
and they were the ones who freely made the decision to remove Phryn-
ichus. The fact that they replaced the two deposed men with staunch
democrats such as Leon and Diomedon shows that they were still free
agents.'” The people, therefore, must have been angry with Phrynichus
beforehand, and Peisander took advantage of their feelings to achieve
his ends.

198.27.

''8.54.3. They were apparently punished no further, for Phrynichus was free and
in Athens when he emerged as a leader in the oligarchical movement of the Four
Hundred several months later. See 8.68.3. We have no information about why Sci-
ronides was removed.

They played a critical role in resisting the oligarchic coup and saving the democracy
at Samos (8.73.4).
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But Peisander had still another mission to accomplish before leaving
Athens. He went around to the political clubs that had long existed
in Athens for the purpose of mutual assistance in the law courts and
in competition for office. In a democracy these secret societies of aris-
tocrats, bound together by oaths, were inclined toward oligarchy,
although in normal times they could not act upon their prejudices."
But the period during February and March of 411 was not a normal
time, so when Peisander went among them, urging them to unite their
forces and “plan together to overthrow the democracy,” we may believe
that he was heard with enthusiasm. Peisander apparently made these
visits alone, unaccompanied by colleagues from the movement who
might have other, more moderate views. He was thus able to speak
bluntly and honestly. His later actions reveal him to have been fully
committed to an overthrow of the democracy and its replacement by
a narrow oligarchy in which he had a prominent position. We should
not lose sight of the fact that from the first, the movement to alter the
constitution was fundamentally divided between men with very dif-
ferent goals. Having completed his mission in Athens, Peisander col-
lected his ten ambassadorial colleagues and set off to see Tissaphernes.

The envoys arrived at the court of Tissaphernes, probably again in
Magnesia.'* What they saw must have impressed them with the power
and influence of Alcibiades, for he sat in the satrap’s presence and
served as his spokesman. Thucydides gives the impression that Alci-
biades did all the talking and negotiating while Tissaphernes was silent.
It would have been easy to believe that the brilliant Athenian was in
control and the Persian under his spell, but the reality was very dif-
ferent. “Alcibiades’ position in respect to Tissaphernes,” Thucydides
tells us, “was not very secure.”"’ Yet from the moment that Alcibiades
went over to Tissaphernes, this is apparently the first time that there
is any trouble between them; in fact, the picture that emerges from
Thucydides’ account until now is one of great influence on the part
of Alcibiades and great confidence and respect on the part of Tissa-
phernes: “Alcibiades became his adviser [the word is didaskalos, whose
primary meaning is teacher or instructor] in all things”; “he gave his
confidence to Alcibiades because of his good advice.” Alcibiades urged
the satrap to go over to the Athenian side, and Tissaphernes “wanted

"’8.54.4—5. For a good discussion of these clubs, see HCT V, 128-131.
"*For another suggestion of the place of meeting, see Lewis, Sparta and Persia, 103,

n. 77.
8.56.2.
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to be persuaded if it were in any way possible.”'® Until then things
had gone remarkably well for Alcibiades. His advice that Tissaphernes
should work to wear down both sides had found favor. Emboldened
by his success to think of a triumphal return to Athens, Alcibiades
had changed his story and urged the satrap to support the Athenians,
and again his counsel was well received. When he communicated with
his friends at Samos, he must have believed that he could carry out
his promise to bring Persian aid. But now, Thucydides tells us, Tis-
saphernes had gone back to the idea of wearing out both sides, and
Alcibiades’ relationship with him had become insecure.

What had caused the change? Thucydides’ only explanation is that
the satrap had become more afraid of the Peloponnesians,'’ but that
explanation is puzzling, to say the least. When Tissaphernes had ex-
pressed his willingness to follow Alcibiades’ advice and go over to the
Athenian side “if it were in any way possible,” he had done so even
though “he feared the Peloponnesians because they were present with
more ships than the Athenians.” Since that time, the Peloponnesian
naval advantage had not grown, and in fact, their general position had
deteriorated. They had suffered a defeat at Athenian hands on Rhodes
and were blockaded on that island, their ships drawn up on the beach
in humiliating fashion to avoid the risk of an attack by the less numerous
Athenian force that kept watch over them.'® They had suffered a
serious defeat on Chios, where their general was killed; the Athenians
were in control of land and sea; and the situation of the Chians seemed
hopeless.'” Tissaphernes clearly had less to fear from the Peloponne-
sians than before, so we need a different explanation for his change of
heart. The only one available arises from the tricky correspondence
between Phrynichus and Astyochus. It is reasonable to assume that
Tissaphernes knew nothing of Alcibiades’ plot until Astyochus re-
vealed it to him. The news must have shaken his confidence in his
brilliant but treacherous adviser. The outcome of the affair, which
reduced Alcibiades’ influence among the Athenians at Samos, must
also haveraised doubts about his usefulness in the future. Tissaphernes
must have decided to place less confidence in Alcibiades and to pursue
a more neutral policy for the time being. Perhaps he could use Alci-
biades to win concessions from the Athenians that would make further

'°8.45.2; 46.55 §2.
18.56.2.
'%8.55.1.
8.55.2—3, 56.1.
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fighting and expense unnecessary. In any case, he would have made
his change of attitude and policy clear to Alcibiades before the meeting,
since the Athenian exile would serve as his spokesman.

When the meeting began, therefore, Alcibiades knew that he could
not deliver what he had promised, that the satrap’s demands were such
that no Athenian negotiators could accept them. In a desperate situ-
ation, all he could hope to salvage was the illusion that he still had as
much influence with Tissaphernes as he had led the Athenians to
believe.?® His purpose was to make it seem that the negotiations’ in-
evitable failure was due to the Athenians’ unwillingness to accept terms
that he thought reasonable and that his failure to bring over Tissa-
phernes was not due to his inability but to his decision not to bring
him over in light of the Athenians’ attitude.

The negotiations were not brief, but extended over three sessions.*
Thucydides tells us that Tissaphernes demanded that the Athenians
give up all of Ionia. Presumably, this means all of the cities on the
western coast of Asia Minor, an important part of their empire.’” He
also required that they give up “the adjacent islands and other things.”
This would include many major places and sources of imperial revenue
such as Rhodes, Samos, Chios, and Lesbos. In spite of the great loss
this meant for Athens, the envoys agreed to these demands. At the
third and final session, however, Alcibiades conveyed a demand from
the satrap that the Athenians refused. He required that the Athenians
allow “the King to build ships and to sail them along his own coasts
wherever and in whatever numbers he wished.””

*This interpretation departs from Thucydides’ in one important respect. He believes
that Tissaphernes entered the negotiations not wanting to make any agreement dux 70
déos, “because of fear” (8.56.3), whereas the suggestion here is that the demands he
made were seriously intended and would have led to agreement had the Athenians
accepted them. The main reason for the suggestion is the extreme implausibility of the
motive mentioned by Thucydides, greater fear of the Peloponnesians than before. We
must remember that Thucydides had no independent knowledge of Tissaphernes’
thinking and was badly placed to make a good estimate. There is no reason to believe
that he had ever met the satrap. The likeliest source for the entire affair is Alcibiades
(P. A. Brunt, REG LXV [1952], 80), and as usual, he appears to have magnified his
own part in events and to have persuaded Thucydides (ibid., 95).

*'This would appear to be further evidence that Tissaphernes sincerely hoped to
reach an agreement on his terms. If he wanted no agreement with the Athenians out
of fear of the Peloponnesians, he need not have held the conference. If he saw some
value in having the conference and placing the onus of its failure on the Athenians, he
could have presented all of the demands at the first session. The extended discussions
suggest an attempt to gain an agreement.

8.56.4; HCT V, 134.
?’8.56.4. This translation accords with the reading of all of the MSS: éovrov, except
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At first, it might seem that the Athenian envoys were straining at
a gnat after having swallowed a camel, for surely the Athenians could
not claim the right to prevent the Persian king from doing as he liked
in the waters off his own coasts. The fact is, however, that although
the Persians had lost control of their Aegean coast in the years since
the invasion of 480/79, they retained control at least of Dascylium on
the northern shore of Asia Minor, facing the Hellespont, and of ports
on the southern shore as well. They might have moved ships into the
Aegean or the Hellespont, but since mid-century they had not done
so. The likeliest explanation is that they were prevented from doing
so by the Peace of Callias, made with the Athenians probably in 449.*
Whether or not there had been a formal treaty, and the debate continues,
the Persians seem to have accepted the terms attributed to it de facto.
For four decades, no Persian fleet had threatened Athens’ security,
but now the Great King wanted a change. Even a victory over the
Peloponnesians would not be worth making an agreement that would
allow the Persians to bring fleets into the Aegean and Hellespont,
where they could cut off Athenian supplies and attack Athens, and
whatever allies remained to it, at any time. The envoys could not agree
to such terms because no free Athenian assembly would accept them.
The Athenians, angry with Alcibiades, refused and broke off nego-
tiations. They believed that he had deceived them and was unwilling
to persuade Tissaphernes to propose acceptable terms. At least, Al-
cibiades had succeeded in maintaining the illusion of his power over
Tissaphernes.”

The frustrated and angry ambassadors returned to Samos toward
the end of March.?® The fiasco at the court of Tissaphernes put an end
to the negotiations with Alcibiades. At a discussion within the move-
ment, it was decided “to let Alcibiades alone, since he refused to join
them, and besides, he was not a suitable man to come into an oli-
garchy.”” Alcibiades’ behavior at the negotiations had plainly con-
vinced most of the conspirators that he had been leading them on and
had no intention of bringing Tissaphernes and the Persians over to
their side. That belief probably gave vent to what must have been an

C, which reads éxvrav. For a defense of the reading accepted here and good discussions
of the issues, see HCT V, 134-135, and Lewis, Sparta and Persia, 101, n. 74.
**Kagan, Qutbreak, 107.
’8.56.5.
?¢8.63.3. For the date, see HCT V, 154.
778.63.4.
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oldand widely held opinion that so ambitious and egoistic a man could
never function as one of a limited number of equals, as an oligarchy
requires. By casting Alcibiades aside, they also abandoned hope of
gaining Persian support for the Athenian war effort, but they did not
lay aside the plan for changing the constitution. On the contrary, they
believed that since they were in danger because of what they had
already done, they must go forward and find ways to succeed.

What was the source of the danger they feared? Athenians both at
Samos and Athens knew of the plan to change the constitution, since
it had been announced publicly. It ought not to have been unduly
dangerous for the members of the movement to say that they had
decided to abandon the plan since its object, the return of Alcibiades
and the acquisition of Persian aid, could not be achieved. That, in
fact, is what the moderate trierarch Thrasybulus must have done, for
he would have no part in the further activities of the movement; his
next contact with it would be as a leading opponent.”® It seems likely
that other moderates in the original movement may have dropped out
as soon as the negotiations with Alcibiades and Tissaphernes failed.
But the remaining members of the movement still believed that Athens’
safety and their own well-being required a change. We know that some
were devoted oligarchs for whom constitutional change was a goal in
itself. Others may have thought that without Persian financial assist-
ance there was even greater need to economize and to eliminate or
reduce the public payments that were part of the full democracy. We
need not imagine that the remaining members of the movement were
all extreme and hardened oligarchs to understand why they were un-
willing to give up what was left of their plan. But now they were
deprived of their most plausible and acceptable reason for making a
change. Hereafter, they could expect greater resistance and hostility.
The departure of Thrasybulus and perhaps others like him, moreover,
increased the danger. He knew who the conspirators were and what
they had in mind. He was a person of importance and ability. Since
he had broken with the movement, he might lead an attack upon it.
Since they were unwilling to abandon the movement, they were right
to see danger. They resolved to keep the movement alive, to provide
from their own resources money and whatever else was needed, and
to hold out in the war.”
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The first step was to make their situation secure at Samos. They
worked to gain firmer control of the hoplites in the army, a more
natural constituency than the propertyless sailors in the fleet.’® Then
they plotted with “the important men” of Samos to establish an oli-
garchy on that island.’ Without the support of a friendly government
at Samos and the hoplite corps of the Athenian forces there, the move-
ment had no future.

The next part of the plan required bringing Athens itself under the
movement’s control. To that end Peisander, along with half of the
embassy that had accompanied him to the conference with Tissa-
phernes, sailed for home. Their mission included still a third part of
the plan: the establishment of oligarchies in the cities of the empire.
This had been part of the scheme from the beginning, and Phrynichus’
arguments notwithstanding, the conspirators still believed it would
succeed.’” Peisander and his five companions were to stop in any allied
cities on the way to Athens. The other five envoys scattered to different
areas of the empire to try to establish oligarchies in each place.” The
conspirators clearly believed that this policy was the way to save the
empire and carry on the war.

Peisander and his group were successful in setting up oligarchies in
the imperial cities through which they passed. They were even able
to collect some hoplites along the way to help them with their work
in Athens.” But the only instance of such a constitutional change
described in some detail by Thucydides did not work out well. The
general Dieitrephes, who was on his way from Chios to a post in
Thrace, also was a member of the movement. When he reached Tha-
sos, he put down the democracy and established oligarchic rule. After
two months, however, the oligarchs joined forces with their friends
who had been driven out by the democracy and had gone into exile
in the Peloponnesus. The newly established oligarchs on the island
built fortifications against an Athenian attack and their friends brought
a fleet under the Corinthian general Timolaus. The oligarchs of Thasos

’°8.63.3: T& Te év aUTQ ) TTpaTevpaT ETL BeBardTepov kaTéNaBov. We should take
7@ oTpaTévpaT in its strict sense as “the army,” not more loosely as “the military force.”
W eknow that there were quite a few hoplitesat Samos: 8.24.1; 25.1. See W. ]J. McCoy,
“Theramenes, Thrasybulus and the Athenian Moderates” (Ph.D. diss., Yale Univer-
sity, 1970), 36, n. 141. '

'8.63.3.

28.48.5.

78.64.1-2.

8.65.1.
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no longer needed “aristocracy” in subordination to the Athenians when
they could have “freedom” in partnership with the Spartans.” The
new government appears to have included a council of three hundred
that exiled democratic friends of Athens and confiscated their
property.’

The outcome was a surprise and a disappointment to the Athenian
oligarchs and appears to have confirmed Phrynichus’ dark predictions
about the general ineffectiveness of their plans to maintain the empire
by establishing oligarchies in it. Thucydides makes plain his agreement
with Phrynichus. He regards the affair at Thasos as typical of what
happened in the other subject cities: “After the cities got hold of mod-
erate government and freedom to act as they liked, they went on to
absolute liberty, caring nothing for the specious eunomia of the Ath-
enians.””” Thasos was certainly not a proper test of Phrynichus’ general
theory that the Greeks preferred the independence of their city, re-
gardless of constitutional form or party interest, for the Thasian oli-
garchs probably distrusted the sincerity of the Athenian oligarchs or,
at least, their ability to win out in the long run over the strongly
entrenched Athenian democracy.” It seems to be better evidence of
another point he made: that the upper classes in the imperial cities,
far from regarding the Athenian aristocracy as their natural allies and
saviors, thought of them as hand in glove with the masses and likely
to be even harsher masters if freed from the checks of democracy.”

The defection of the Thasian oligarchy from the Athenian alliance
took place probably in the second half of July, but in May, as Peisander
and his colleagues made their way toward Athens, abolishing democ-
racies and collecting hoplite supporters as they went, the situation
still seemed promising.* When he arrived in the city, Peisander found
that his plans had gone forward swiftly and successfully. His exhor-
tations to the gilded youths of the aristocratic clubs had found an eager
and effective response. Bands of young men had carried out a number
of assassinations, the most notorious being that of Androcles, the lead-

**8.64.2—4. For the role of Timolaus, see Hell. Oxy. 7(2).4; and HCT V, 158. For
the possibly ironic sense of the word aristocracy, see HCT V, 158.

*For a discussion and interpretation of the inscriptions on which these statements
are7based, see H. W. Pleket, Historia XI1I (1963), 70~77, especially 75—76.

7'8.64.5.

*See Pleket, Historia X11 (1963), 74~75-

°8.48.6.

*8.65.1. For the dates, see HCT V, 157~158.
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ing popular politician of the day.* Thucydides offers two reasons for
his murder: because he was a demagogue and they wanted to please
Alcibiades, who was expected to return and bring the friendship of
Tissaphernes with him. This reveals that Peisander and his colleagues
had not told their associates of the failure of the negotiations at the
court of Tissaphernes or of the breach with Alcibiades. We may be
certain that the omission was intentional. There were far fewer devoted
oligarchs and political opportunists in Athens than there were men
willing to work for a limit on the democracy, however severe and
however long in duration, in order to gain Persian support in the war.
Revealing that the movement had broken with Alcibiades, had given
up hope of Persian help, and was aiming at oligarchy for its own sake
would certainly alienate the moderates in the movement in Athens,
just as it would those on Samos.

Since the conspirators in Athens did not know of the change in the
movement’s direction, we can readily understand the rest of their
activity. They had openly proposed the cessation of pay for all but
military duties and the limitation of the number who could take part
in public affairs to no more than §,000 consisting of those able to serve
the state with both property and person, that is, those of hoplite status
and higher.* Thucydides regards this talk as merely a facade to deceive
the masses and hide the real aims of the conspirators, which was to
gain all of the political power for themselves.*’ But once again, that
ignores the significant difference between the true oligarchs and their
opportunistic collaborators, on the one hand, and the moderates, on
the other hand. We have seen that such a difference existed, and we
shall see further evidence of it throughout 411.* The public procla-
mation of these moderate proposals by the young conspirators in Ath-
ens, who seem to have been among the most extreme members of the
movement, are better understood as something other than camouflage.
We should remember that when the conspirators at Athens received

*8.65.1—2. On Androcles, see HCT V, 161.

*18.65.2~3.

+'8.66.1.

**Andrewes has seen the problem clearly. His comment on 8.66. 1 deserves quotation:
“This sentence amounts to a statement that there were no ‘moderate oligarchs’ who
actually believed in the programme set out in 65.3, which is improbable in itself (cf.
67.2n) and inconsistent with what is described at 97.1 and highly praised at 97.2. . ..
Thucydides seems to treat the Four Hundred as a monolithic group of extremists”
(HCT V, 163). He explains this view of Thucydides’ as deriving from his sources (252—

253).
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their instructions in February and early March, before Alcibiades’
departure for the meeting with Tissaphernes, the plan of the movement
was to bring him back, and it had the support of moderates such as
Thrasybulus. The whole program bore the stamp of the moderates,
so it is not surprising that their political ideas should have been the
ones proclaimed during the absence of Peisander. To the oligarchs,
this may have been only window dressing, but the moderates must
have been sincere. The movement in Athens had not been informed
of the change in the plan and its shift away from the moderates’ goals,
so its members continued to propose the moderate program, whatever
their private views.

Thucydides mentions two motives for the murder of Androcles, but
his account suggests a third as well. We should not forget that the
assassination was only one of several, that the murderers “killed some
others who were inconvenient in the same way, secretly.” These
killings seem to have been part of a calculated policy of terror that
would weaken the opposition and open the way for the overthrow of
the democracy. Thucydides presents a vivid picture of how effective
that policy was. The popular assembly and council still met but were
managed and dominated by members of the movement who were the
only ones to speak and who completely controlled the agenda. The
lack of opposition came from a sense that the conspiracy had a broad
base and from simple physical fear: “If anyone should speak in op-
position, he was immediately killed in some convenient way.”** No
search was made for the criminals, nor were trials held of any one
suspected. No one spoke up, and so great was the fear that merely
escaping harm was thought good fortune. The great size of the city,
whichled to a degree of anonymity rare in Greek life, further increased
fear, for it was easy to believe that strangers were conspirators and
that the conspiracy was widespread, and it was hard to get at the truth.
Even members of the democratic faction approached one another with
suspicion, for the most unexpected people were clearly involved in the
movement, including well-known demagogues such as Peisander and
Phrynichus, whose involvement in an oligarchy seemed inconceivable.
“These men created the greatest distrust among the mass of the people
and contributed the most toward the security of the oligarchs by al-

+'8.65.2.
468.66.2.
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lowing them to count on the mistrust of the people toward
themselves.”"’

This was the situation in Athens when Peisander and his colleagues
arrived in Athens and undertook the decisive actions to overthrow the
democracy. The climate of fear was essential, for the conspirators did
not mean to seize power by means of naked force or by trickery com-
bined with force, as was usual in other coups d’etat. Their plan was
to gain control with the greatest show of legality and due constitutional
process possible, a wise scheme in a state with a century-old tradition
of democracy and due process. They called a meeting of the assembly
to take the preliminary steps needed to produce a change in the con-
stitution by legal means. Thucydides tells us that they proposed the
selection of ten men to be a commission for drafting proposals (syn-
grapbeis) for the best management of the state. They were to have “full
powers” for this purpose (presumably, whatever they proposed, the
council would be required to put before the people).* Also, they were
to present their proposals to the assembly on a fixed day.*’ Thucydides’
narrative plainly indicates that the Athenian people accepted these
proposals out of fear.

Aristotle tells essentially the same story, providing some additional
details but differing from Thucydides about one important fact and
providing an entirely different picture of the mood and motive of the
people. He tells us that the motion to establish the commission was
introduced by a speech on the part of Melobius and formally moved
by Pythodorus of Anaphlystus.*® In his version, the commission is to
be made up of thirty men, the ten proboulo: already in place and twenty
others, all to be more than forty years of age. These thirty syngraphbeis
were to swear an oath to propose such measures as they thought best
for the state and to put into writing their proposals “for its salvation.”’
The proposal also provided that others, apart from the commissioners,
should be free to propose whatever they thought best so that the people

*78.66.5. My translation here is based on the Budé edition by Weil and de Romilly.

*HCT V, 165.

*8.67.1.

*°Arist. Ath. Pol. 29.1. Both men were probably members of the oligarchic Thirty
who ruled Athens in 404/3 (HCT V, 212-213; Rhodes, Commentary, 370-371). Rhodes
points out that a speech by someone other than the proposer of a bill is unparalleled
in Athenian practice and suggests that the reason here may be that Pythodorus, the
formal mover, was a member of the council and that Melobius, the true author, was

not.
51

29.2.
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could choose the best suggestion of all put before them. T othis motion
Cleitophon tacked on an addition requiring the syngraphess to investigate
the traditional laws (patrious nomous) established by Cleisthenes when
he founded the democracy to help them with their deliberations, on
the grounds, according to Aristotle, that “Cleisthenes’ constitution was
not democratic, but similar to that of Solon.”*? Ever since the discovery
of the papyri bearing the work called the Athenian Constitution, attrib-
uted to Aristotle or to a member of his school, scholars have sought
ways to decide between its account of the events of 411 and that of
Thucydides or to reconcile them, but the latter appears impossible.*’

There can be little doubt that Thucydides’ picture of a constitutional
change brought about by a coup by means of terror, force, and deceit
is more believable than Aristotle’s account of a leisurely and legal
transition. The murders, intimidation, and other irregularities that
Thucydides reports were unquestionably real, although omitted by
Aristotle, and they account for the people’s submission much more
persuasively than Aristotle’s assertion that “what chiefly persuaded the
many was the belief that the King would fight on their side if they
made their state an oligarchy.”** On one point of fact, however, Ar-
istotle is undoubtedly right: the board of syngraphess was made up not
of ten but thirty men.” Of them, ten were the probouloi. This is evi-
dence of shrewd political judgment on the part of the leaders of the
movement. The only probouloi we know about are Hagnon and Soph-
ocles.” They were venerable and respected men, as, no doubt, were
the others, who could provide a comforting sense of legitimacy and
continuity. The appointment of a special drafting committee was not

52, 0.3
*>The papyri bearing the work were published in 1880 and 1891. For a fine discussion
of the history of the text and many of the problems arising from it, see the introduction
to Rhodes’ excellent Commentary (1—63). For useful discussions of the scholarly debate
on the events of 411, see HCT V, 240-256; and Rhodes, Commentary, 362~368. In spite
of the ingenious attempts of some scholars, the two accounts cannot be perfectly
reconciled. Most scholars prefer the general picture and mood provided by Thucydides
but are prepared to correct and supplement his version with material from Aristotle
when necessary. That seems a sound strategy and is followed here. There continues
to be considerable disagreement in judging particular details and events, as the dis-
cussion below will reveal.

*29.1.

**Two ancient writers of Athenian history, Androtion and Philochorus, confirm the
figure of thirty. See FGrH, 111, 324, Fr. 43, and HCT V, 164-165, as well as Rhodes,
Commentary, 372-373.

*See Chapter One.
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unusual. It could be argued that just as the establishment of the board
of probouloi had been an emergency war measure that somewhat limited
the democracy without altering it fundamentally, so, too, would the
modifications in the new regime be moderate and unthreatening. The
syngraphbeis who would plan it would include those same trusted elders
whose loyalty and inoffensiveness had been demonstrated already.
Both Hagnon and Sophocles were old Pericleans, “neither likely to
prove an enthusiastic oligarch.””” However, they would be outnum-
bered and overawed by the other twenty, appointed by and probably
including the extremists, perhaps Peisander himself.*®

Aristotle reports an anecdote that reveals the mood in which the
probouloi may have undertaken their new responsibility. It describes
an exchange in which Peisander asks whether Sophocles had voted to
install the Four Hundred, along with the other proboulo:; Sophocles
admitted that he had. “What?” Peisander asked, “Didn’t that seem a
wicked thing to do?” “Yes,” he replied. “So you yourself did this
wicked thing?” “Yes,” said Sophocles, “for there was nothing else to
do that was better.”” The encounter probably took place after the
overthrow of the Four Hundred, perhaps in the months immediately
afterward.® Sophocles, no doubt, had reason to suggest his lack of
enthusiasm for the role he had played after the fall and disgrace of the
government he had helped to install. Still, it is easy to believe he spoke
the truth. Nothing in his career before or after 411 suggests that he
was an oligarch. In spite of the events of 411, he lived out his years
as arespected, even revered, figure under the fully restored democracy,
which did not fail to punish those whom it blamed for the oligarchic
coup. Sophocles, we may presume, like his fellow probouloi and the
other Athenian moderates, saw no way out of the present danger other
than to recall Alcibiades and hope that he could bring Persian aid with
him. His words suggest that he knew that some of the men involved
had other purposes of which he did not approve, but he thought that
he must take the risk of cooperating with them in the absence of any
alternative that promised safety for the city.*'

"HCT V, 165.

*Ibid.

“Rbet. 14193, 25-30.

“For an interesting and plausible discussion of the possible time and circumstances
of this incident, see M. H. Jameson, Historia XX (1971), 541-568.

®Jameson’s shrewd analysis deserves quotation: “Sophocles admits to having been
fully aware of the nature of the 400 when he voted for them. They were an unpleasant
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On the appointed day, the assembly met again but not in the usual
place on the Pnyx beside the Acropolis. Instead, the session took place
on the hill called “Colonus Hippius,” somewhat more than a mile from
the city, where there were shrines to Poseidon, the Eumenides, and
Prometheus and possibly an enclosure convenient for an assembly of
not too great a size.*” We are not told why the meeting was moved or
why this place in particular was chosen. Although the assembly some-
times met away from the Pnyx, it rarely seems to have done so in the
fifth century and never at Colonus. Modern scholars have guessed that
with the site outside the walls and with the Spartans freely roaming
Attica from the fort at Decelea, Athenians without armor, that is, the
poor, would have been afraid to come or that a force of armed men,
justified by the danger, could have been used to intimidate the Athe-
nians.® This might have played some part in the thinking of the con-
spirators, but just moving from familiar and comfortable surroundings
to an unusual and unfamiliar place would have been unsettling to the
ordinary Athenian and the politicians not involved in the conspiracy
and would make it easier for Peisander and his collaborators to dom-
inate the scene. We are not told what pretext was used for the change
of venue, but with the support of the proboulo:, the leaders of the
movement could easily persuade the prytanies to do as they were told.

Whether the board of syngraphbeis studied the “ancestral laws of Cleis-
thenes,” we do not know, but it turned out that they had little need
to do so. They made no proposals “for the best management of the
state” or “for its salvation” but limited themselves to a single motion:
“toallow any Athenian to make any proposal he liked without penalty.”
The standing constitutional prohibition against illegal proposals, the
graphe paranomon, was suspended, with heavy penalties imposed on

necessity. The probouloi were much concerned with the financial problems of the state
after the Sicilian disaster. They would not have been elected in the first place had they
shown any strong inclination towards peace with Sparta, and Aristophanes depicts his
proboulos as an unreconstructed nationalist (Lysis. 421ff.). The necessity they saw must
have been for Persianmoney held out by Peisander as available only through Alcibiades
and an oligarchic government. They may also have been sympathetic to recall of the
victims of the hysteria of 415 B.C., and especially the relatively competent Alcibiades,
impossible so long as the current democratic leaders were in control. They were mo-
tivated by realism rather than dogma” (ibid., 560).

’8.67.2; HCT V, 165—166.

%For a discussion, and rejection, of the importance of the military element, see
Busolt, GG 111:2, 1478, n 2. See also HCT V, 165-167.
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anyone trying to make use of it.* Thucydides is firm in saying that
the commission proposed nothing else.** Perhaps the syngraphbeis could
not agree, some wanting to propose a narrow oligarchy, others pre-
ferring a moderate reform, and still others opposing any change at
all.** More probably, the conspirators wanted nothing more than a
removal of the legal barriers to revolutionary proposals and got exactly
what they wanted from the commissioners—zealous, resigned, or in-
timidated as each might be.

The provision inviting any Athenian to make any proposal he liked
suggests an atmosphere of freedom of speech totally at odds with the
menacing and tightly controlled mood at Colonus. The only speaker
was Peisander, who now openly revealed the program of the conspir-
ators.”” For the duration of the war, pay for public service not con-
nected with the war was abolished, except for the nine archons and
the prytanies, that is, the nominal and effective heads of state, who
would be paid only 3 obols a day.®® The core of the program, however,
was the establishment of a council of Four Hundred “to rule in what-
ever way they thought best, with full powers.” The Four Hundred
were to be chosen in a most unusual way. The assembly would select
a board of five called “presidents” (proedroi) who in turn would select
a hundred men who then would each choose three more to make up
the council of Four Hundred. In the threatening circumstances, the

©*8.67.2; Ath. Pol. 29.4.

“8.67.2.

*Such is the suggestion of HCT V, 167.

“’8.67.3; 68.1. It is possible that Peisander was a member of the board of syngrapheis
and that his proposal was formally on their bchalf, but 1 prefer to think he acted
independently of that group. Thucydides’ account fits that more closely. Aristotle’s
account can be understood either way. He begins his description of the program
proposed at Colonus in this way: weta 8¢ Tadra Ty molTeiav Siétatav Tovde TOV
Tpomov. The subject of duératav may be the syngrapheis (as Rhodes [Commentary, 381]
believes) or the Athenian people (as HCT V, 217, argues). After the fall of the Four
Hundred, everyone involved would have wanted to shift the responsibility for the
introduction of that regime to someone else or at lcast to share the guilt. Aristotle’s
account provides a greater sense of due process and legality; the commission, including
the probouloi, produces the program that will do away with the democracy; it is not
the work only of Peisander and his collaborators. This accords perfectly with the
general, and entirely misleading, picture he provides of a legal and gentle transition.
For a shrewd analysis of the reasons for the differences in the accounts, see E. Will,
Le monde grec et lorient, vol. 1, Le V* siécle (510—403) (Paris, 1972), 377-378.

“®Ath. Pol. 29.5; Rhodes, Commentary, 382. Thucydides’ compressed account of this
measure is that “no one should hold office any longer under the present constitution
nor receive pay” (8.67.3). For the reasons for this compression, see HCT V, 168.

©’8.67.3: GPXEL OTT) GV &PLTTA YLYVDOKWOLY 0UTOKPRTOPQS.
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assembly would choose the proedroi designated by the conspirators.
The Five Thousand, publicly mentioned in previous discussions,”
consisting of the men of the hoplite census and above, were also to be
drawn up, and the Four Hundred were empowered to call them to-
gether whenever they saw fit.”' The assembly passed these measures
without dissent and dissolved. The democracy that had reigned for
almost a century would be replaced by a regime that excluded the
lower classes from political life and turned the present management
of the state over to a narrow oligarchy.

Thucydides, writing long after the event and fully aware of the
outcome, treats this occasion as the plain and simple establishment of
the oligarchy of the Four Hundred and dismisses all talk of the Five
Thousand as a smokescreen. But to the participants, without the ben-
efit of hindsight, the program must have seemed consistent with the
plans of the moderates that had already been the basis of public dis-
cussion. The elimination of payment for almost all public services
except those related to the war and the establishment of an active
citizen body of about five thousand men limited to those of the hoplite
census or higher were the elements of their program. The introduction
of a smaller body of Four Hundred, temporarily charged with the
conduct of affairs until the Five Thousand could be brought into being,
was an entirely reasonable addition. None of this should have caused
any anxiety for the moderates in the movement. The only question

7°8.65.3.

7'8.67.3; Ath. Pol. 29.5. The divergence between Thucydides and Aristotle is very
stark at this point. Thucydides does not mention the appointment of the Five Thousand,
since he regards their existence as theoretical and inconsequential at this time. Aristotle
does not mention the Four Hundred here. Instead, he describes the plan as turning
the state over to “those of the Athenians most capable of serving the state with their
persons and their property, to the number of not less than five thousand” (29.5). He
pictures the Four Hundred as coming into being only later. In his version, the Five
Thousand met and elected a committee of 100 to draw up a permanent constitution
for the future and another for the present. This latter, temporary constitution estab-
lished the rule of the Four Hundred in a perfectly legal way. The proposal was made
by the commission of 100 and ratified by the assembly of the Five Thousand. Although
they contain some complementary elements, there is no way to reconcile these accounts,
and Thucydides’ version is clearly superior. In fact, Aristotle contradicts himself, for
after describing the activities of the Five Thousand related above, he says that after
the establishment of the Four Hundred, the Five Thousand were selected “in name
only.” It is plain that Aristotle is following two sources, one of them Thucydides, and
has not resolved the differences between them. The result is a not fully coherent account
that is far inferior to the terse but consistent narrative of Thucydides. The simplest
and most attractive explanation for the divergence at this point is that “Aristotle was
deceived by a single deceitful document” (HCT V, 255).
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concerns the project for the return of Alcibiades and the winning of
Persian support. Peisander and his friends knew that this was no longer
part of the plan. Did the moderates in Athens know it as well> We
can not be sure, for we do not know whether word of the failure of
the negotiations with Tissaphernes had yet come from Samos. If it
had not, Peisander was perfectly capable of concealing the truth from
the moderates in the movement, as he concealed it from the public.
In that case, the continued collaboration requires no explanation. It is
possible, however, that they had learned the truth. If so, their coop-
eration with Peisander and the oligarchs might be explained as Thu-
cydides explains the decision by the members of the movement at
Samos who chose to continue after negotiations had failed, “because
they were already in danger” and it was safer to go forward.” Still
another possible explanation, not incompatible with that offered by
Thucydides, is that the moderates, although they would have liked to
obtain the return of Alcibiades and Persian help, still preferred an end
to the waste of money on payment for nonmilitary services and the
limitation of active citizenship to the propertied classes as devices to
help Athens survive the crisis and win the war.

Thucydides chooses this moment to describe the men who led the
movement to overthrow the democracy: Peisander, Phrynichus, An-
tiphon, and Theramenes.” In a later passage, he pictures most of the
members of the Four Hundred who helped to overthrow it as merely
self-seeking opportunists acting out of personal ambition.”* There is
no reason to think that he held a different opinion about Phrynichus
and Peisander. Phrynichus, as we have seen, had been a democratic
politician, who joined the antidemocratic movement in 411.”° By now
he had become the most zealous for oligarchy because “he was afraid
that Alcibiades was aware of his treasonous exchange with Astyochus
at Samos and believed that no oligarchy would ever restore him.”’¢
That is as clear an explanation of a selfish motive as Thucydides offers
for any of the conspirators, and nothing we know contradicts it.

72

7’8.68. Aristotle (Arh. Pol. 32.3) lists all except Phrynichus as the men most respon-
sible for the establishment of the oligarchy. Since he appears to be following Thucydides
here, it seems possible that a copyist inadvertently allowed the last name to be omitted
(Rhodes, Commentary, 408).

748.89.3.

*See above, Chapter §.

758.68.3.
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About Peisander’s motives Thucydides says nothing, pointing out
only that he was the most publicly visible of the conspirators, “in all
respects openly the most zealous in the plot to destroy the democ-
racy.”” His reputation as a demagogue dates from the 420s, and his
extravagantly zealous behavior in the witch hunts surrounding the
scandals of 415 is consistent with that reputation. He may have become
a sincere convert to oligarchy after the Sicilian disaster, or he may
have seen the oligarchic movement as a rare opportunity for personal
advancement. Certainly, there is nothing in his career before 411 to
suggest a commitment to constitutional change, and his actions are
consistent with the charge of opportunism.”

Antiphon was a different sort of person. Whereas Phrynichus and
Peisander had been active and highly visible politicians well before the
coup, Antiphon worked behind the scenes. He seems to have been the
first professional speech writer in Athens. Thucydides calls him “the
one man most able to help someone contesting both in the law courts
and in the assembly.” Presumably, this talent was used chiefly on
behalf of the upper classes, for we are told that he became “an object
of suspicion to the masses because of his reputation for dangerous
cleverness.””® Perhaps because of this suspicion he himself did not take
part in the tumult of political life in the Athenian democracy or in the
arena of the law courts. He had spent much time in planning ways to
overthrow the democracy, and he “had devised the whole affair and
had established the way in which it had been brought to this point.”
The picture that emerges is that of the mastermind behind the plot
for whom men like Peisander were tools to be manipulated. What we
know of him is entirely consistent with the view that he was sincerely
devoted to the overthrow of democracy and its replacement by a true,
narrow oligarchy; prepared to wait long and work hard for the day of
vindication; and ready to act ruthlessly when that day came. Thu-
cydides expresses extraordinary admiration for him as a man “inferior
to no one in his own time in arete and the very best both in conceiving

778.68.1.

®For useful discussions of Peisander, see HCT V, 116; Rhodes, Commentary, 407—
408; and A. G. Woodhead, AJP LXXV (1954), 131-146.

7°8.68.1. I have translated the word 8ewwé™s as “dangerous cleverness.” I think the
suspicion he aroused was of the same kind as that which arose against Socrates who
was thought to be dewos Aéyew, a dangerously clever speaker (Plato, Apology 17b).
For the suggestion that the people’s suspicion arose from Antiphon’s oligarchic views,
see G. Gilbert, Bestrige zur inneren geschichte Athens im zeitalter des peloponnesischen Krieges
(Leipzig, 1877), 309.
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an idea and expressing it in speech.” Arete has many meanings, but to
Thucydides’ readers, it would have conveyed many aspects of excel-
lence: courage, nobility, and moral worth. Although Antiphon was
later convicted and executed for treason, and Thucydides praises the
constitution that succeeded the overthrow of Antiphon’s oligarchy, the
historian praises him in terms reserved for the likes of Themistocles
and Pericles. All of this suggests that he was no mere opportunist.*

Of the four leaders, Theramenes, whom Thucydides describes as
“a man of great ability in speech and judgment,” turned out to be the
most important and the most controversial. Within a year of the coup,
Phrynichus and Antiphon were dead and Peisander in exile, never to
return. Theramenes, however, was to play an important and highly
visible role in Athenian public affairs until his death in 403. Having
helped to establish the oligarchy of the Four Hundred, he also played
a major role in overthrowing it in favor of a more moderate regime.
When that regime was overthrown, he served as general and trierarch
under the restored democracy, negotiated the peace with Sparta at the
end of the war, took part in the rule of the Thirty Tyrants that followed
the peace, and died a martyr’s death protesting its excesses. For these
accommodations to different regimes and for his skill in surviving
dangers, he earned the reputation in some quarters as a shifty and
adroit politician who would always maneuver so as to secure his own
position.* Ciritias, the leader of the extreme wing of the Thirty Ty-
rants, called him kothornos, the buskin or theatrical boot that could be
worn on either foot, “for as the buskin fits both feet he faces both
ways.”® Lysias savagely assaults him as a self-seeking hypocrite, un-
interested in any particular constitution or principle, prepared to sac-
rifice all of them and the men who had been his friends and
collaborators to his own selfish interests.”

Aristophanes’ jibes are meant to provoke laughter, or at least smiles,
and are not sound evidence for Theramenes’ overall reputation or for
its justice. We must remember, moreover, that the play was performed
soon after the affair at Arginusae, where Theramenes and his fellow
trierarch Thrasybulus had escaped punishment while their superiors
had been condemned to death. Critias made his remark in the midst
of a speech leading to the condemnation and execution of Theramenes,

®HCT V, 170-177; Rhodes, Commentary, 408.
* Aristoph. Frogs, 534-541, 967-970.

®2Xen. 2.3.31.

®Lys. 12.62—78.
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and Lysias needed to blacken Theramenes’ reputation to make his case
against the defendant Eratosthenes. He needed to do so because Er-
atosthenes was expected to plead in his own defense that he had acted
as a member of the faction of Theramenes, sure evidence that after
his martyrdom Theramenes’ reputation stood high enough in the es-
timation of the restored democracy to shield his supporters. These
charges are badly tainted by the men who made them and the circum-
stances in which they were made.

On the other hand, there was an ancient tradition that held Ther-
amenes in the highest esteem. Diodorus, probably following the fourth-
century historian Ephorus, gives him credit for the dissolution of the
oligarchy and the institution of a constitution “from the citizens.” He
gives him sole credit for advising the restoration of Alcibiades, and
“because he was the introducer of many things for the good of his
country he received extraordinary approval.” He calls him “a man
who, in the orderliness of his life and in prudent judgment (phronesis),
seemed to surpass all others.”** The most impressive praise comes from
Aristotle. He reports him to have been the leader of the group that,
in the turmoil after the defeat of 404, “did not belong to any political
club and in other respects seemed second to none in their zeal for the
ancestral constitution (patrios politeia).”™ Beyond that, he includes
Theramenes, along with Nicias and Thucydides, the son of Melesias,
among the three best politicians in recent Athenian history. The other
two, he says, were not controversial, but because Theramenes lived
in a period of political turmoil, there is a difference of opinion about
him. “Nevertheless, for those who do not judge superficially it seems
clear that he did not destroy all constitutions, as those who slander
him say, but carried them all forward so long as they did not break
the fundamental law; he was able to participate in all kinds of consti-
tutions, which is the job of a good citizen, but refused his consent to
illegal regimes and was hated for it.”* The objectivity of these eulogies
is also suspect. Men who took part in the oligarchies of 411 or 404 had
powerful reasons to put the best face on the career of Theramenes and

#13.38.2.

5 Ath. Pol. 34.3.

*Ath. Pol. 28.5. Rhodes (Commentary, 360) believes that this evaluation is not Ar-
istotle’s but was found “in one of his more sober sources.” I am inclined to agree with
P. E. Harding (Phoenix XX VIII [1974], 110~111) that the judgment is Aristotle’s own,
but his argument that there was no defense of Theramenes as a moderate before Aristotle
is not persuasive.
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to associate themselves with the man whose reputation they embel-
lished. Aristotle, the political theorist who championed the virtues of
the middle class and the moderate constitution, had every reason to
praise Theramenes, whom he saw as its standard-bearer.*” The doc-
ument commonly called the “Theramenes Papyrus” suggests that de-
bate surrounded Theramenes even during his lifetime.*® As a result of
this ancient controversy, it is small wonder that modern scholars have
ranged in their judgments from the uncompromising condemnation of
Grote to the warm and sympathetic appreciation of Beloch.®

Since the ancient evaluations are either partisan or ambiguous, our
own judgment must be based on the facts of his career, as best we can
determine and understand them. One collection of facts, usually ig-
nored or given insufficient weight, is the close connection between
Theramenes and Thrasybulus. We must emphasize that the two men
were agreed in their willingness to limit the democracy in order to
bring back Alcibiades and gain Persian support for the conduct of the
war. Thrasybulus on Samos resisted the Four Hundred while Ther-
amenes in Athens cooperated in their rule, but Theramenes took the
lead in overthrowing the oligarchy and establishing the moderate rule
of the Five Thousand that recalled Alcibiades to Athens, these later
actions constituting a policy entirely in accord with the wishes of
Thrasybulus. The two men served as generals together in the Helles-
pont and, together with Alcibiades, collaborated effectively to win the
battle of Cyzicus.” That victory permitted the restoration of the full
democracy under which the two men continued to serve, working with
Alcibiades to clear the enemy from the Hellespont.”' Both returned

*’Harding, Phoenix XXVIII (1974), 111; Arist. Pol. 1295a—1296b.

*See R. Merkelbach and H. C. Youtie, ZPE 11 (1968), 161-169; A. Henrichs, ZPE
III (1969), 101-108; A. Andrewes, ZPE VI (1970), 35-38; and R. Sealey, ZPE XI
(1975), 279-288.

**Modern cvaluations of Theramenes seem to have been influenced by contemporary
political concerns no less than the ancient ones. Grote, the unwavering champion of
democracy, had nothing but contempt for the man who was willing to attenuate it:
“Iie was a selfish, cunning and faithless man—ready to enter into conspiracies, yet
never foresceing their consequences and breaking faith to the ruin of colleagues whom
he had first encouraged, when he found them more consistent and thoroughgoing in
crime than himself” (VIII, 55). Beloch’s prejudicc is cven more obvious: “We who are
involved in the same struggle today against a covetous proletariate and against an equally
covetous aristocracy (Junkertum) will not deny our sympathy to the ancient champion
(Vorkimpfer) of our cause” (GG 1l:2, 392). Here we have the voice of a nineteenth-
century German liberal.

*Xen. 1. 1.12-22.

*'Diod. 13.66.
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to Athens with Alcibiades in 407.°* In 406 the two men served together
as trierarchs at the battle of Arginusae, both were assigned by the
generals to help the men on the disabled vessels, and both stood side
by side during the trial.”’ After the war the two men took different
paths in response to the defeat. Thrasybulus, exiled by the Thirty,
organized an army of liberation against the government of the Thirty
installed by the Spartans. Theramenes stayed in Athens, became a
member of the Thirty, and worked consistently and bravely, ultimately
at the cost of his life, to turn it into a moderate regime. In his speech
defending himself against the assault of Critias, he named Thrasybulus
among the “capable leaders” the Thirty had foolishly banished.* It is
noteworthy that after his death the Thirty thought it reasonable to
invite Thrasybulus to take his place among their number.”

However, the two did not hold identical views. It may be that
Thrasybulus was willing to limit democracy only temporarily and for
purely practical reasons. Theramenes seems to have preferred a limited
democracy to the full one favored by most Athenians. Thrasybulus
seems to have mistrusted the oligarchs entirely after his experience
with the conspiracy of 411. Theramenes, to the end, expected to be
able to guide the oligarchic movement toward a moderate constitution
not too far from democracy. But from 411 to the end of the war, they
worked together closely and effectively, pursuing the same policies
and holding the same offices under different regimes. Nobody, in
antiquity or in modern times, thought to charge Thrasybulus with
inconstancy or self-seeking. He built an army in exile and restored
a democracy considerably more moderate than the one destroyed by
the Spartan victory.” On the other hand, rather than endure the true,
narrow, oligarchy imposed by Critias, Theramenes protested, at the
cost of his life, against the exile of worthy men and the narrowing of
the franchise beyond moderation. The difference between Theramenes
and Thrasybulus appears to have been one of emphasis, personal style,
and temperament more than of basic political ideas and personal
integrity.

To be sure, in each regime Theramenes sought office and influence

“Diod. 13.18.2~64.3; Nepos Ak. §5.4~6.

*’Xen. 1.6.35-7.35.

**Xen. 2.3.42.

*Diod. 14.32.5.

*A. H. M. Jones, Athenian Democracy (Oxford, 1969), 23~58, 79~96; McCoy, “Ther-
amenes,” 194.
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consistent with his high ambitions and talents. To that extent he acted
in pursuit of his personal ambitions, as Thucydides says. But a man
who risked his life to resist an illegal and brutal rule in which he could
have not only survived but prospered does not deserve a reputation as
a mere slippery self-sceker. He deserves instead to be believed when
he defends himself against the charge that he is an opportunist who
changes sides when it benefits him:

I, Critias, am always at war with those who think that there will never be a
democracy until the slaves and those who would sell out the state for lack of
a drachma shared in the government and, at the same time, I am also opposed
to those who think that no good oligarchy can exist until the state is ruled
tyrannically by the few. But to manage the state along with those who are
able to serve it with their horses and shields, that is the constitution I have
thought best in the past, and I do not change my opinion now.”’

It took men of the caliber of this extraordinary quartet to overthrow
a democracy so firmly established and “to deprive of their freedom a
people who not only had not been subjects but for half of the century
of their freedom had been accustomed to rule over others.”™* Under
such shrewd and determined leadership, the conspirators moved
swiftly to take control of the city. The first step was to get rid of the
democratic institutions that were still in place and functioning. The
constitutional change had been imposed on a terrified, confused, and
leaderless assembly. Each day that passed posed the threat that the
democrats would recover and undo the decision at Colonus. Peisander
appears not to have named a date for the transition of power from the
old democracy to the new regime, and many Athenians must have
expected a delay until the conciliar year came to an end in about a

“Xen. 2.3.47. Itis interesting to compare Theramenes with George Savile, Marquis
of Halifax, the seventeenth-century politician who earned a reputation as “the Trimmer
of Trimmers.” He wrote an essay in his own defense called “The Character of a
Trimmer” in which he defended the many shifts he had taken during his career: “This
innocent word Trimmer signifieth no more than this, That if Men are together in a
boat, and one part of the company would weigh it down on one side, another would
make it lean as much to the contrary; it happeneth there is a third Opinion of those,
who conceive it would do as well, if the Boat went even, without endangering the
passengers.” Quoted in . Hamburger, Macaulay and the W big Tradition (Chicago, 1976),
9o. The emphasis on safety is a common bond. Theramenes, however, appears to have
been more firmly committed to a particular form of government—the limited democracy
go:'%‘n%d by the hoplites and cavalry—than was the more pragmatic Halifax.

.68.4.
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month.” The conspirators could not wait that long. On the fourteenth
day of the Attic month Thargelion, June 9, 411, a few days after the
meeting on Colonus, they seized the reality of power.'* Waiting for
the Athenians to go to their military posts at the walls and the training
fields, the conspirators stayed back, not far from where their weapons
were stacked. They had orders to prevent anyone not in the plot from
taking up arms and interfering with the proceedings. They were as-
sisted by armed men from Tenos, Andros, Carystus, and Aegina,
perhaps as many as 400 or 500, who had been gathered for the coup.
With these men preventing resistance, the Four Hundred, armed with
daggers under their cloaks and supported by the 120 young bravos
who had terrorized Athens, burst into the council-house. They had
brought along money with which to pay the members of the democratic
council for the remainder of their term and then ordered them out.

The coup was a complete success. The councillors took their money
and left without trouble. The other citizens made no move to interfere.
The Four Hundred appointed the prytanies and presiding of ficers by
lot, as in the old council, and performed the customary prayers and
sacrifices upon taking office. Every effort was made to preserve a sense
of continuity, normality, and legality, but few could have been de-
ceived. For the first time since the expulsion of the tyrants, the state
had been captured by a faction by means of threats and force.

“HCT V, 179-180; Rhodes, Commentary, 405—406.

'“The date is provided by Ath. Pol. 32.1, its modern equivalent by B. D. Meritt,
Proceedings of the American Philolosopbical Soctety CXV (1971), 114, with Rhodes, Com-
mentary, 405—407. Aristotle gives this as the date the old council was dissolved and has
the Four Hundred take power peacefully and legally, with the approval of the people
under the aegis of the Five Thousand, eight days later. Even those who try to save
Aristotle’s account or parts of it donot believe in such a delay (e.g., Rhodes, Commentary,
406). Some scholars believe that 14 Thargelion was the date of the assembly at Colonus
and that the seizure of power took place on the same day. Iaccept Andrewes’ arguments
for rejecting that view and believing that the seizure of power took place a few days
after the meeting at Colonus (A. Andrewes, PCPS XXII [1976], 14—25).
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7. The Four Hundred in Power

The coup was a complete success. The councillors took their money
and left without trouble. The other citizens remained quiet and made
no move to interfere. The Four Hundred appointed their presiding
officers by lot, as in the old democratic council. They seem to have
allowed the archon and the treasurers elected by the democracy to
remain in office.' Every effort was made to preserve a sense of con-
tinuity, normality, and legality. No doubt this was meant to calm the
people, to make the transition smoother, and to reduce the chance of
violent resistance, but also it must have reflected the influence of the
moderates, who were still part of the movement in Athens.

Even after the coup, the support of the moderates remained vital,
so the conspirators found it desirable to temper their brutal seizure of
power and their establishment of a relatively narrow governing council
by making promises of a more moderate future. At the meeting on
Colonus hill, a board of registrars (katalogeis) had been appointed to
draw up the list of the Five Thousand and had begun its work, although
the list was never completed or published.” The same assembly ap-
pointed a committee of anagrapheis to draft a permanent constitution
for the future.’ Both measures reflect the influence of the moderates,

'"HCT V, 194-195.

*That the registrars were appointed and set to work follows from 8.67.3 and Lys.
20.13. See HCT V, 203-204, and Rhodes, Commentary, 386.

*Aristotle (Ath. Pol. 30.1) says that the Five Thousand selected a hundred men from
their own number “to draft a consitution,” and modern scholars refer to them as the
anagraphess. In 30—31 he describes the proposals they produced, and in 32.1 he claims
they were approved by the Five Thousand. Since the Five Thousand never came into
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who expected the rule of the Four Hundred to be temporary and to
give way to a new constitution of the Five Thousand when the im-
mediate crisis was over.

In the days after the seizure of power by the Four Hundred, the
committee for drafting a constitution must have begunits deliberations.
No doubt the moderates put forward a plan giving power to the Five
Thousand and establishing a broad oligarchy to take effect immediately
or at least quite soon. The extremists, however, had something dif-
ferent in mind. They intended to keep the Four Hundred in control
for the time being and to maintain a narrow oligarchy for the future.
They would certainly insist on the continued rule of the Four
Hundred, but they could not yet afford a rift with the moderates.
They also faced the problem of persuading the fleet at Samos to accept
their new regime, a task that would be much easier if the new con-
stitution could be portrayed as more moderate and less oligarchic.*

The result of the discussions was a compromise: the committee
proposed two new constitutions, one for immediate use and the other
for the future. The immediate constitution officially established the
government of the council of Four Hundred, lending its foundation
an air of legitimacy by styling it “in accordance with the ancestral
tradition” and granting its members the power “to act in whatever way
they thought expedient.”” The Athenians, moreover, were to obey
whatever laws they might enact in the matter of the constitution, not
to change any, and not to introduce any new ones.® These provisions
gave the Four Hundred all of the powers they needed and rendered
their supposedly transitional regime permanent. To this extent they
represented the wishes of the extremists.

In return, the Four Hundred agreed to the promulgation, at the
same time, of a draft constitution for the still unspecified future. Its
details need not detain us long, for it was never put into effect and

existence, this cannot be true. No explanation is without problems, but the one offered
by Rhodes (Commentary, 387) is persuasive: “The Colomis assembly will have decided
in principle that the constitution should be based on a powerful boule of Four Hundred
and a residual assembly of ‘Five Thousand,’ and as it appointed the katalogeis to register
the Five Thousand it appointed the anagraphbess to work out the details of the new
constitution.”

*8.72.

‘katd Té waTPU (Ath. Pol. 31.1). The reference is to Solon’s council of 400 (Ath.
Pol. 8.4). For a defense of that council’s historicity, see Rhodes, Commentary, 153—154.

¢Atb. Pol. 31.1—2. For the meaning of this passage and, especially, for Tobs ’A8nvaiovs
as the subject of xp7joBar, see Rhodes, Commentary, go1.
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was incomplete, omitting any reference to the judiciary, for instance.
It appears to have been influenced by the federal constitution of Boeotia
and smacks of theoretical discussion with the Sophists. The state was
to be managed by a council of unspecified number drawn from mem-
bers of the Five Thousand over the age of thirty who would serve
without pay. Unexcused absences from meetings of the council would
be punished by a fine. The council itself was to be divided into four
sections, each section serving, in rotation, on behalf of the full council
for one year. Since the generals and other major officials must be chosen
from the council in office at the time, they could serve only one year
in four, just one of many inconveniences in this draft constitution that
reveal it to be the work of impractical theorists.” The extremists cared
little about such details, since they had no intention of giving way to
a new regime. They were willing to assent to any scheme for the future
as long as they kept a firm grip on power in the present. Shrewder
moderates no doubt recognized the weaknesses of the draft constitution
but were glad to get any promise of a change to a broader regime in
the future. Details could be worked out when the situation permitted.

It was probably on the twenty-second of Thargelion (June 17, 411),
eight days after seizing power, that the Four Hundred formally in-
augurated their rule with the customary prayers and sacrifices. At the
same time, no doubt, the anagraphbeis published their two new consti-
tutions, one for the present and one for the future, claiming the two
had been voted by the Five Thousand.® But the vote of approval was
entirely a fiction, for the body of the Five Thousand had not been
designated and, therefore, could not assemble. The Four Hundred
probably presented the constitutions in the form of a decree of the
Five Thousand, complete with the name of the president of the meeting
and the date of enactment, to lend verisimilitude to the fraud.® Al-
though this would not have fooled the moderates or those outside the
Four Hundred who were well connected and alert to events, most
Athenians were frightened, confused, and ignorant. Both before and
well after this public event, most Athenians believed that the Five

7Atb. Pol. 30 describes the constitution for the future. For valuable discussions of
its provisions and of previous scholarship, see HCT V; and Rhodes, Commentary, ad
loc.

*Such is the very plausible reconstruction of events by Rhodes (Commentary, 406).
He follows the general approach of Meyer (Forsch, 11, 425—435) and Hignett (HAC,

35
? ndrewes PCPS XXII (1976), 22.
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Thousand might already exist. In any case, a main target of this prop-
aganda was the Athenian force at Samos, and the soldiers and sailors
there could be persuaded even more easily.'® By their formal and
ceremonial assumption of power, their publication of the constitutions,
and the implicit evidence they seemed to give that the Five Thousand
both existed and functioned, the Four Hundred hoped to gain internal
harmony and the external legitimacy to allow them to cope with the
serious problems they faced.

Several difficulties preclude a satisfactory understanding of the re-
gime of the Four Hundred during the brief period of fewer than four
months during which it ruled.' The first is the very brevity of the
regime; in so short a period there was little time for plans and intentions
to reveal themselves. Our major sources, moreover, were not in Athens
at the time and were dependent on highly biased reports at a time
when partisan feeling ran unusually high. Some of the important actors
were executed on the collapse of the regime, and others fled into exile.
Membership in the Four Hundred was not something of which anyone
in Athens would later boast, so any information available from sur-
vivors within the ruling group would probably have been selective and
tendentious. The evidence we receive from contemporary orations
suffers from the same disabilities. A great deal of what the Four
Hundred planned and set in motion lies buried in the silence of those
participants who did not survive the regime and the silence and dis-
tortions of those who did. Still another difficulty arises from the di-
vision within the ruling group that appears to have existed from the
start, although its public manifestations did not occur until later. Thus
itis often hard to tell whether an action of the Four Hundred represents
the views of one or another faction or a compromise between the two.

Still, it is both important and possible to examine the work of the
Four Hundred, although we are often forced to resort to conjecture
in attempting to understand it. The regime was born in crisis, and its
leaders at once confronted problems they could not avoid. Their most
immediate and pressing need was to establish themselves securely in
Athens. They must also find a way to win over the Athenian forces

*“Ibid., with n. 20.

""Ath. Pol. 33.1 says that they ruled for “about four months” (Mfvas pév obv iows
Tértapas) and that their archon the next year (411/10) held office only for two months.
Since they took power on the fourteenth or twenty-second day of the penultimate
month of the previous year (412/11), their regime will have lasted at least two to three
weeks less than four months.
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at Samos and so unite the Athenian people under their rule. They
further must decide on a policy toward the empire. They must de-
termine what their policy should be toward their enemies, the Pelo-
ponnesians and the Persians. Should they continue the war or seek
peace? If they chose war, what should be the strategy? If not, what
terms of peace should they accept? However they decided these ques-
tions during the immediate crisis, what should be the character and
goals of Athens in the long run? Toward the end of June of 411 the
Four Hundred set out to answer the questions.

The first actions of the Four Hundred, as we have seen, were cau-
tious, aiming at the impression of moderation, legality, and continuity.
The council’s presidents were chosen by lot, as in the democracy.
Callias, the democratically chosen archon for the year 412/11, and the
treasurers as well appear to have continued in office until the end of
their terms.'’ There was no hurry about replacing these officials, but
the new government needed to be sure of the loyalty of the armed
forces in Athens, so they acted swiftly to appoint a new board of
generals, a cavalry commander, and ten tribal commanders. They may
have made those appointments in the week between their seizure of
power and the formal inauguration. They did not even follow the
procedure prescribed in the constitution for the immediate, provisional
regime, which required a preliminary muster of all hoplites after the
formal establishment of the council. It seems highly unlikely that they
ever chose a second set of officers following the new process."” This
was a departure from legality and normality, but in matters involving
military force and, therefore, the immediate security of the regime,
the conspirators could not afford such niceties.

We know the names of six of the new generals and possibly a sev-
enth.'* Alexicles, Aristarchus, Aristoteles, and Melanthius were from

“HCT V, 194-195.

YAth. Pol. 31.2 gives the description of these appointments and of the procedure
provided. For a discussion of some of the problems in this account, see HCT V, 230-
231. Rhodes’ view (Commentary, 401) that the leaders of the Four Hundred acted swiftly
and without regard to legalities in choosing new officers seems to explain the evidence
best.

“Busolt (GG I11:2, 1490, n. 3) provides the evidence for the sixth. To their number
Fornara (Generals, 66) adds Dieitrephes, citing 8.64.1—2. There we are told that Diei-
trephes, who was general-elect for 411/10, anticipated events by joining the oligarchs,
assuming his command in the Thraceward region and seizing Thasos on behalf of the
oligarchy. This would have occurred some months before the appointments in June.
The Four Hundred may well have chosen him as one of their generals at that time,
as Fornara assumes, but the assumption is not necessary. After all, Dieitrephes had
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the extreme wing, and Theramenes and probably Thymochares were
moderates. This proportion on the board of generals seems to be an
accurate representation of the distribution of power within the ruling
group. The extremists held the upper hand, but they must make some
concessions to the others. The treatment of potential dissidents and
enemies within Athens may have reflected the same division and com-
promise. The new regime put some men to death and exiled or im-
prisoned others, but the numbers were not large.'” Whether everyone
wanted to move cautiously or the moderates restrained the others we
cannot know.

Some of the Four Hundred, presumably the extremists, wanted to
institute a general recall of men exiled under the democratic regime.
We do not know how many were in exile or precisely who they were,
but they will have included generals elected by the democracy such
as Pythodorus, Sophocles, and the historian Thucydides.'® These men,
presumably, would have lost whatever admiration they may have had
for untrammeled democracy as a result of their treatment at its hands,
if Thucydides is at all typical.'” Most of the exiles were probably those
men who had fled or were expelled in connection with the sacrileges
of 415. Some of them were undoubtedly inveterate enemies of de-
mocracy, and those who were not may well have been embittered by
their experience. After the war, the exiles were clearly oligarchs
friendly to Sparta, and the Spartans made their recall a condition for
peace.'® There is good reason to believe that many of the exiles of 411
were enemies of democracy to some extent. Thucydides’ language
makes that clear, for he says that the failure to recall the exiles was an
exception to the “great departures from the rule of the demos” in which
the Four Hundred otherwise engaged. ' Their reason for holding back,
he tells us, was Alcibiades. A general recall and amnesty would have
allowed him to return, something the extremists would not welcome
at all. However, they could have recalled the exiles and specifically

been elected under the democracy and, in spite of his deeds, might not have seemed
as reliable as the conspirators would have liked.

“Thucydides (8.70.2) says that the victims were not many. The specific reference
is to those put to death, but there is no reason to think that the exiles and imprisonments
were widespread.

4.65.3; 5.26.5. .

"For Thucydides’ political opinions, see M. F. McGregor, Phoenix X (1956), 93—
102.

"®Ath. Pol. 34.3; Xen. 2.2.20; Plut. Lys. 14.4; And. 3.11.

°8.70.1.
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excluded the traitorous renegade on any number of grounds,’® but
“this would have advertised the loss of their hope of Persian aid to be
negotiated through Alcibiades, the bait originally held out to the peo-
ple.”" It would also have widened the rift between the extremists,
hostile to Alcibiades, and the moderates, closely associated with him.
The decision not to recall any exiles appears to have been another
compromise.

From the beginning, some members of the movement had expected
the establishment of a new regime in Athens to help in the management
of the empire. They had expected that news of the government of the
“better” people (kaloi kKagathoi) in Athens and the offer of a similar
change of government in the allied states would bring rebellious allies
back into the fold and prevent future uprisings.?’ About the middle
of May, the conspirators sent the general Dieitrephes to put down the
democracy in Thasos.” At the same time, on their way from Samos
to complete the coup at Athens, Peisander and his colleagues did the
same thing in several other cities, perhaps Paros, Naxos, Andros,
Tenos, and Carystus.” The experiment badly disappointed the hopes
of the Athenian oligarchs. In Thasos the newly installed, pro-Athenian
oligarchy lasted no more than two months. A band of exiles who earlier
had been driven from Thasos by the Athenians were working with
the Peloponnesians to bring their native state into rebellion, and they
found support inside it. As part of a well-coordinated plan, the aris-
tocrats in the city built walls to defend against an Athenian attack at
the same time that their friends in the Peloponnesian camp were able
to bring in a small fleet under the Corinthian commander Timolaus,
which effected the rebellion. Far from making Thasos a more reliable
ally, the establishment of oligarchy there had only made its defection
easier by abolishing the democracy that would have opposed it.”* We
have specific information only about Thasos, but the experience there
seems to have been typical. Thucydides expresses the firm opinion
that “in Thasos events contradicted the expectations of those Athenians

**Andrewes (HCT V, 182) suggests that he might have been singled out for exclusion
because of the curse he incurred through the alleged profanation of the mysteries, but
that would have involved many others as well.

' Andrewes, HCT V, 182.

*These hopes can be deduced from their caustic refutation by Phrynichus in 8.48.5.

’8.64.2. For Dieitrephes, see HCT V, 156—157; for the date, 157-158.

8.64.3; HCT V, 161.

°8.64.5. Hell. Oxy. 7.4 provides the evidence for Timolaus. See also HCT V, 158—
159.
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who were establishing an oligarchy, and I think it was the same in
many other subject states.” We have no reason to doubt that he was
right.”

The revolt at Thasos occurred in mid-July by which time it was
only one of several indications of the failed hopes and expectations of
the Four Hundred in Athens. Well before that event, their plans for
bringing the war to a satisfactory conclusion had run into trouble.
From the beginning of the movement, the conspirators had asserted
their determination to carry the war through to victory; in fact, that
goal had been the main attraction of the movement for many partici-
pants.”” The conspirators later reaffirmed the same purpose vehe-
mently, even after they learned that Alcibiades could not keep his
promise to deliver Persian aid.’®* We know of nothing that should have
changed their purpose; yet no sooner were the Four Hundred in power
than they sent an embassy to Agis to negotiate a peace.” Thucydides
gives no explanation for the reversal in policy, but it is impossible that
all members of the movement had been insincere from the first, es-
pecially in light of their resolution “to hold on in the war and eagerly
contribute money and whatever else was necessary from their own
private resources.”’ Some of them, however, whom we have called
the extremists, seem to have used the promises of Alcibiades to bring
victory as a cloak for their true purpose, the establishment of a narrow
oligarchy in Athens under their own control.

A shrewd observer of the scene in Athens would have realized that
the establishment of oligarchy and the continuation of the war were
incompatible. The fight against Sparta and her Persian ally required
a dominant role for the fleet, that is, for the lower classes and their
leaders. As long as the salvation of the city lay in the hands of the
masses, there could never be an oligarchy. Only peace gave any hope

?°8.64.5.The rest of his statement—"for once the cities had acquired a sensible regime
and immunity for their actions they proceeded to complete freedom, having no pref-
erence for the specious ‘good government’ (eunomia) of the Athenians”—has provoked
disagreement. It seems clearly to be an endorsement of the opinion of Phrynichus that
the people of the empire were less influenced by class and factional interests than by
a common desire for freedom and autonomy. For a useful discussion of the events at
Thasos and how they bear on the debate, see H. W. Pleket, Historia XII (1963), 70—
m,

8.48.2.
7%8.63.4-
°8.70.2.
’°8.63.4.
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of taming popular power, for with the fleet at home and its crews
disbanded, the oligarchs might hope to rule by terror and ultimately
by the acquiescence of the hoplites. The extremists, therefore, must
have planned to seek peace from the beginning but concealed their
intentions until the right time. Once the city was cowed by terror,
the Four Hundred were in power, and the extremists held the upper
hand within it, they could pursue negotiations.

Even then, however, they could not ignore the moderates, who
might be intimidated or persuaded into joining in peace negotiations
but would insist on honorable terms that would allow Athens to retain
its power and empire. The extremists, on the other hand, although
they preferred to keep the empire, were prepared, in the last resort,
to make peace “on any terms tolerable,” even those requiring them to
bring in the enemy and to give up Athens’ walls and fleet and, with
them, its autonomy.’’ Theramenes and his moderate supporters, on
the contrary, always found such terms intolerable. It was precisely to
prevent such a betrayal that Theramenes led the effort that overthrew
the Four Hundred.’” He had joined the movement against the de-
mocracy in order to wage the war more effectively; he worked for the
overthrow of the oligarchy when he suspected it of preparing to sell
out to the Spartans; under the restored democracy, he played a leading
part in the fighting until, in 405, the battle at Aegospotami put an end
to all hope. In 411 he and his moderate associates were unwilling to
make major concessions to the Spartans.

That is not to say that Theramenes and his associates were unwilling
to discuss terms of peace with Sparta. They may have hoped that the
Spartans’ failure to win the expected easy victories in the Aegean and
Ionia, combined with the inadequate and unreliable support provided
by Tissaphernes, might have made them ready to agree to a reasonable
peace, especially with an Athenian regime that was no longer a radical
democracy. If the enemy was prepared to make peace on the basis of
the status quo, well and good. If not, the war would continue. The
extremists, although they were ultimately ready to make far greater
concessions, preferred the status quo. On these terms, both factions
within the Four Hundred could agree, so the Athenian ambassadors
offered the terms to King Agis at Decelea.”” He rejected their proposal

¥'8.90.2; 91.3. See also HCT V, 307-308.

28.90—91.

»’8.70.2. Thucydides does not mention the terms. Aristotle (Ath. Pol. 32.3) cites
them as éxaTepor TUyxGvovaw Exovtes. Busolt (GG 111:2, 1490, n. 1) suggests that the

Kagan, Donald. The Fall of the Athenian Empire, Cornell University Press, 2013. ProQuest Ebook Central,

http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/hkpl-ebooks/detail.action?docID=3138417.

Created from hkpl-ebooks on 2020-07-16 19:50:25.



Copyright © 2013. Cornell University Press. All rights reserved.

THE FOUR HUNDRED IN POWER 167

out of hand: there would be no peace “unless they surrendered their
maritime empire.””*

Perhaps there were some in Sparta who might have been willing to
negotiate further, but Agis gave them no opportunity. He still retained
the extraordinary influence he had gained at Mantinea and had in-
creased with his command at Decelea.”” He wanted no negotiated peace
but victory and the glory that went with it. Because he did not believe
that the long-established Athenian democracy would tolerate the newly
installed oligarchy for long, he did not think that the internal struggle
in the city was over. For him, the embassy was evidence of Athenian
weakness, which he meant to exploit with swift action. He believed
that if he brought a force of sufficient size to the walls of Athens at
this moment, when it was torn by civil strife, he could take the city.
He expected either that they, distracted by their internal quarrels,
would surrender on his terms or that he could easily storm some part
of the city walls, which were undefended because of the civil war. He
therefore called a large army from the Peloponnesus and took his own
force from Decelea to meet it before the city.’

But Agis had miscalculated. For the moment, the Athenians in the
city were at one in their determination to resist. The guardians of the
walls stood firmly at their posts. A variety of forces representing all
classes in Athenian society—cavalrymen, hoplites, light-armed war-
riors, and archers—launched an attack when the enemy came too near
the walls. Agis was forced to retreat. He sent back the army he had
summoned from the Peloponnesus and withdrew his own force to the
fort at Decelea.’” Agis’ action did not turn the Four Hundred from
their search for peace, but they continued to send embassies to him.
The embarrassment of defeat had chastened Agis, who had painful
memories of what might happen to a Spartan king who conducted a
private policy that failed.” Not only did he greet the Athenian am-
bassadors more politely but he also urged them to send embassies to
Sparta. The vigorous Athenian reaction showed that a quick and easy

peace terms and the response of King Agis (see n. 29, above) reported by Aristotle are
merely inferred from Thucydides’ account. There is no reason, however, to doubt the
independence and authenticity of the evidence in Ath. Pol. 32.2.

*Ath. Pol. 32.3.

¥8.s.

8.71.1.

78.91.2-3.

**5.63.4; Kagan, Peace of Nicias, 91-106.
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victory at Athens was not at hand and that serious negotiations might
be desirable, but any hope that the Four Hundred could easily make
peace depended on the unlikely possibility that the government at
Sparta would be willing to accept the terms so swiftly rejected by
Agis.

Not long after the skirmish with Agis’ army, the Four Hundred
turned to the problem of relations with the Athenian forces on Samos.*
The plot to overthrow the Athenian democracy had originated there
and included a design to establish an oligarchy on Samos as well, but
things had not gone according to plan. Even before the coup in Athens,
perhaps in March of 411, Peisander had persuaded some of the leading
men on Samos to try to set up an oligarchy on the island.* These men
had taken part in the democratic revolution of the previous year, but
now Peisander was able to convince them to change sides. They formed
themselves into a conspiracy of Three Hundred, took a common oath,
and planned an attack on their former collaborators in the democratic
faction that ruled Samos. It would be interesting to know why they
were willing to turn against the new Samian democracy so soon after
they had taken part in its establishment, but neither Thucydides nor
any other ancient writer tells us. Perhaps they merely sought to in-
crease their own power and advantage within the Samian ruling group,
or perhaps they judged that the future of Athens lay with the oligarchs
and wanted to gain favor and advantage by joining them.*' In any
case, they proceeded in thé same way as the oligarchic conspirators at
Athens: by means of terror. Acting in concert with the general Char-
minus and other Athenian oligarchs on Samos, they murdered Hy-
perbolus, who had lived on the island since his ostracism in 416. The
infamous Athenian demagogue must have had some prominent place
in the democratic movement on Samos, because Thucydides says that
the Samian Three Hundred regarded their role in the assassination as
“giving a pledge of good faith” to the Athenian oligarchs.*

This was only one of several similar acts, but instead of paralyzing
their opponents with fear, these acts of terror alerted them to the danger

‘and moved them to defend themselves. The Samian democrats went

for help to those Athenians whom they trusted above all others to be

*°8.72.1-2. For the timing of their action, see 86.3; and HCT V, 184, 285.

*°8.63.3; 73.2—3. For the date, see HCT V, 154.

*'For a discussion of the motives of the Samian Three Hundred, see R. P. Legon,
Historia XXI (1972), 156.

*8.73.3.

Kagan, Donald. The Fall of the Athenian Empire, Cornell University Press, 2013. ProQuest Ebook Central,

http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/hkpl-ebooks/detail.action?docID=3138417.

Created from hkpl-ebooks on 2020-07-16 19:50:25.



Copyright © 2013. Cornell University Press. All rights reserved.

THE FOUR HUNDRED IN POWER 169

friends of democracy and enemies of oligarchic conspiracy: to the
generals Leon and Diomedon, “for these men bore the oligarchy un-
willingly because they were honored by the people”; to the trierarch
Thrasybulus; and to Thrasyllus, although he was only a hoplite in the
ranks. The Samians sought out these men because they were among
those “who always seemed to be most opposed to the conspirators.”*

Thucydides’ language here reveals important information about the
state of affairs at Samos that points in a different direction from his
general account. Instead of a monolithic conspiracy of oligarchs work-
ing to overthrow the democracies in Athens and Samos, we see a more
nuanced picture. Staunch democrats such as Leon and Diomedon had
accepted the idea of bringing back Alcibiades and altering the demo-
cratic constitution at Athens, however unhappily they viewed this
plan. Were they among those whom Thucydides has characterized as
part of “the mob,” who, “even if they were somewhat annoyed for the
moment by what was being done, kept quiet by the pleasant prospect
of pay from the King?” Or were they among those “conspiring to
install oligarchy” who went off privately to consider their detailed plan
of action after making their general intentions known to the Athenian
forces on Samos?** It is hard to imagine that any two Athenian generals,
almost always chosen from men of the upper classes, could deserve
the former designation but no less difficult to believe that staunch
democrats such as Leon and Diomedon proved themselves to be could
have been thought of as instigators of oligarchy. Evidently, they fit in
neither group and require some other designation. Because of their
rank they could not have been excluded from the private deliberations
once it was publicly announced what was afoot. Thus that inner circle
must have included true oligarchs like Peisander but also thorough-
going democrats like Leon and Diomedon, who reluctantly tolerated
the course of events. To an outsider, they may have seemed part of
the leading group and therefore friendly to oligarchy, at least to some
degree. That would explain the otherwise incomprehensible decision
later taken by the Athenian democrats on Samos to dismiss them along
with the other generals and those trierarchs thought to be unreliable.*’

Even more striking is the democrats’ confidence in the trierarch

8.73.4.

*8.48.3.

+8.76.2. See HCT V, 268, which includes the perceptive observation that “no ex-
ception is made for Leon and Diomedon, who disliked the oligarchy (73.4) but may
have been thought to have acquiesced in it too easily.”
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Thrasybulus, one of the original authors of the plan.* His inclusion
in the very small number of those foremost in their opposition to the
conspirators is hard to understand, unless the Samian democrats saw
important differences among the men who had started the movement.
We must assume, although Thucydides does not say so, that Thras-
ybulus publicly renounced his membership after the inner circle turned
away from Alcibiades and that he quickly became known as an enemy
to those who plotted to establish an oligarchy without offering Alci-
biades, Persian support, and victory over the Peloponnesians in return.
To the people on Samos, natives and Athenians, the members of the
movement to alter the democracy in Athens and Samos were not all
the same. Some were true oligarchs; others were friends of democracy
who grudgingly went along with events; at least one had publicly
denounced the movement and had become its notorious enemy.

The Samian democrats pleaded with the Athenians they trusted to
help save them and preserve for Athens the island crucial for the
survival of its empire, and their faith was justified. The chosen Ath-
enians went individually to spread the word to reliable Athenian sol-
diers and especially to the crew of Athens’ messenger ship Paralus,
whose crew was well known for its adherence to the democracy and
its hatred for oligarchy.*” For their part, Leon and Diomedon were
always careful to leave some ships to guard Samos when they sailed
off on any mission, apparently being sure to leave the Paralus among
them. Their care and vigilance was soon rewarded. When the oligarchic
Samian Three Hundred launched their coup, the Athenian sailors,
and especially the crew of the Paralus, were on the scene to stiffen
resistance. The victorious Samian democrats showed considerable re-
straint, executing thirty of the ringleaders, sending three others into
exile, and declaring an amnesty for the others.*

The democratic countercoup on Samos must have taken place toward
the middle of June, about the same time or shortly after the oligarchic
coup in Athens, for when the Paralus left for Athens to announce their
victory, the Samian and Athenian democrats did not yet know that
the Four Hundred were in power there.” When the Paralus arrived,
its crew was arrested. Two or three of them were imprisoned; the rest
were placed on a troopship and sent to keep watch on Euboea. Cha-

Kagan, Donald. The Fall of the Athenian Empire, Cornell University Press, 2013. ProQuest Ebook Central,

http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/hkpl-ebooks/detail.action?docID=3138417.

Created from hkpl-ebooks on 2020-07-16 19:50:25.




Copyright © 2013. Cornell University Press. All rights reserved.

THE FOUR HUNDRED IN POWER 171

ereas, a zealous democrat who had taken an active part in the resistance
to the oligarchs on Samos, managed to escape and return to the island.*
There, he gave a lurid and exaggerated account of the oligarchic rule
in Athens: he said that people were being punished with the whip,
that no criticism of the government was permitted, that outrages were
being committed against women and children, that the oligarchs in-
tended to imprison relatives of the men on Samos who were not friendly
to their cause, and that they threatened to kill these relatives if the
men on Samos did not yield to them; according to Thucydides, “he
told many other lies, as well.”'

Chareas’ speech infuriated the soldiers. Their first thought was to
do violence to those they held responsible, whom Thucydides describes
as “the principal authors of the oligarchy,” and “those of the others
who took part in it.” But they were restrained by “the men of moderate
views.”” Who belonged to these groups? Peisander, who certainly
took a leading part in establishing oligarchy among the Athenians on
Samos, was in Athens, and Phrynichus probably was too, but Char-
minus and others unnamed were still on the island. * The second group
must have included even proven friends of democracy such as Leon
and Diomedon, for in the passion of the moment, they were deposed
from their generalships, presumably because they had been among
“those others who took part,” however reluctantly, in the movement
that brought in oligarchy. The third group certainly included Thras-
ybulus and Thrasyllus, for they played the leading roles in the events
that were now taking place. Also, they must have taken the lead in
preventing violence and in bringing about what amounted to an am-
nesty for those who had taken part in the oligarchic movement in its

*8.74.2~3; HCT V, 266.
*'8.74.3.
**Thucydides (8.75.1) describes the three designated groups as follows: (1) Tobs Tv
GAvyapxtav palwoTa Touoartas, (2) TV GANWY Tous petacyovtas, (3) TOV dux
né€aov. There is no problem about the translation of the first two, but the third is more
difficult. C. F. Smith calls this third group “those who took a neutral position,” and
other editors have adopted a similar interpretation, but Andrewes is right to cast doubt
on it. As he points out, there is no parallel for this form in Thucydides, and “one may
doubt if many Athenians were genuinely indifferent between democracy and oligarchy”
(HCT V, 267). Busolt called them “die Gemissigte” (GG IlI:2, 1493); Rex Warner,
“the more moderate party”; Weil and Romilly, “les modérés.” I have adopted Crawley’s
version, but all of the versions that use the concept of moderation are preferable to
those implying neutrality.

“HCT V, 267. We may deduce Charminus’ role as a leader of the oligarchs from
his complicity in the attempt to overthrow the Samian democracy (8.73.3).
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Samian phase, since they included those who had taken part in the
oligarchy in the new oath to which they swore the Athenian and
Samian armed forces: “to be governed by democracy and to live in
harmony, to pursue the war against the Peloponnesians vigorously, to
be enemies to the Four Hundred and not to enter into negotiations
with them.”** Hereafter, Athenians and Samians would stand together
against the Four Hundred in Athens as well as the Peloponnesian
enemy. But Thucydides also tells us that these men were the leaders
of the movement that had restored democracy to the Athenian forces
on Samos and to the Samians themselves, a goal they now proclaimed
openly.’”> We must not forget, however, that Thrasybulus was one of
the trierarchs who had played a part in the movement that brought
about the oligarchy. Clearly, his actions in the interim must have led
the Samian and Athenian democrats on the island to forgive and forget
his participation. Our analysis of Thucydides’ account, however, re-
veals that Thrasybulus had been a member of the movement to alter
the democracy, later became a most trusted and respected democratic
leader, and was at the same time a moderate. For the rest of his career
he remained an unwavering democrat, opposed to involvement with
any kind of oligarchy. Had it been otherwise, he too like his fellow
demesman Theramenes, might have been called by his enemies an
opportunist seeking only to advance his personal ambitions. His per-
formance in 411, however, reveals that he was a patriot, comfortable
with democracy but prepared to curtail it somewhat, at least tempo-
rarily, to enhance Athens’ chances of victory in the war. When the
oligarchic movement promised to recall Alcibiades and gain the ex-
pected aid from Persia, Thrasybulus joined it, along with others who
shared his views. When the more extreme elements took control and
excluded Alcibiades from the plan, Thrasybulus quickly and effec-
tively disassociated himself from the movement. Thereafter, he op-
posed the oligarchs, whom he no longer trusted, and put his hopes for
victory in a plan to persuade the democratic forces on Samos to bring
back Alcibiades. He prevented violence against his former colleagues
in the movement and supported an amnesty similar to the one observed
in 403 with which he is so gloriously associated.’® In short, he revealed
himself to be a moderate.

8.75.2.
*8.75.2.
*SAth. Pol. 40.2-3.
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The soldiers demonstrated their regard for Thrasybulus and Thra-
syllus by electing them generals, along with others whose names we
do not know, to replace those deposed in the same assembly.” The
convening of an assembly that took to itself the right to remove of ficers
chosen at Athens was in itself a kind of declaration of sovereignty in
which the Athenian forces on Samos claimed legitimacy for themselves
instead of the oligarchicgovernment at home. The speeches with which
their new leaders encouraged the assembly made that clear.’® They,
not the oligarchs in Athens, were the majority; they had the greater
resources, and they alone could retain control of the empire and the
tribute that flowed from it; the city had revolted from them, not they
from the city. With a strong base at Samos they could hold off the
enemy and force the oligarchs to restore democracy to Athens. Even
if these hopes were too optimistic, they could always find a safe place
to settle elsewhere, as long as they retained their great fleet. These
and similar assertions encouraged the men, but at least one speaker,
almost surely Thrasybulus, made an argument that implied a specific
action: If they recalled Alcibiades and granted him immunity, he would
bring them an alliance with the Persians. The assembly, however, did
not respond to that suggestion. Thrasybulus’ influence was too new
and the hostility to Alcibiades too great to permit such an action as
yet.”

Even as the Athenians on Samos were putting an end to divisions
among them, discord arose within the Spartan forces, not many miles
away in Miletus. Angry soldiers, especially the Syracusans, com-
plained loudly about their situation. During the previous winter, the
fleet had lain idle for months at a time. In the spring, at last, they had
fought and achieved some success at Chios, but they had failed to press
their advantage and allowed the Athenians to remain safely in port on

*’For suggestions as to who the other new generals may have been, see HCT V, 268.

**Thucydides (8.76. 3) tells us that the soldiers at the assembly rose to make speeches
offering advice and encouragement, reporting their gist in direct statement. At most
Athenian assemblies the speakers tended to be the generals and other elected officials
as well as leading politicians. Probably the same was true on this occasion. Andrewes
(HCT V, 268) is reminded of a commander’s speech to his troops. Grote (VIII, 48)
assumes the speakers were Thrasyllus and Thrasybulus, and he is probably right. The
reference to the return of Alcibiades in 8.76.7, moreover, strongly points to Thrasy-
bulus, who “always held to the same opinion . . . that they should recall Alcibiades”
(8.81.1).

%°8.76.7.
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Samos.* The soldiers were outraged at the missed opportunity to force
a battle while the Athenians were torn by internal discord and their
fleet divided between Samos and the Hellespont. They blamed the
navarch Astyochus for his unwillingness to fight and for his credulity
in believing that Tissaphernes was really planning to bring on the
promised Phoenician fleet. They were bitter, too, against the Persian
satrap himself for failing to pay their wages fully and regularly, and
they accused him of deliberately trying to wear down their strength
by delay.®

The complaints grew so serious that Astyochus was compelled fi-
nally to call together a council, where the decision was made to force
a major battle. When they received word of the democratic counter-
attack on the Samian oligarchs, they launched their fleet in the hope
of catching the Samians and Athenians in the midst of a civil war.®
About the middle of June, therefore, they put to sea with their whole
fleet of 112 ships, having sent the Milesians over land to meet them
at Mycale, just off the eastern tip of Samos (see Map 3). The Athenians
had been forewarned of the enemy’s intentions and had sent word to
Strombichides in the Hellespont to return his fleet to Samos, for they
were badly outnumbered with only 82 ships. They had taken up a
position at Glauce on the Mycale promontory, and when they saw the
Peloponnesian fleet sailing over from Miletus, they withdrew to Samos
to wait for Strombichides. A numerical advantage of over 36 percent
was more than the Athenians cared to challenge, especially when re-
inforcements were on the way. The Peloponnesians made camp at
Mycale, where they added the Milesians and local troops to their
hoplite force and prepared to sail against Samos the next day. But
before they could do so they received the news that Strombichides
had arrived at Samos with ships that brought the Athenian total to
108. Faced with so small a numerical advantage, Astyochus lost his
taste for battle and retreated to his base at Miletus. It was now the
Athenians who sought a decisive encounter, but when they sailed to
challenge the enemy at his home base, Astyochus refused to come out
to meet them. The situation was restored to what it had been the
previous winter: the Athenian fleet, although slightly inferior in num-
bers, commanded the sea.®’

“8.61-63.2

'8.78.

“’8.79.1. For the timing, see HCT V, 272.
’8.79.
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Later naval encounters would show that Astyochus’ caution was
wise, and for some time the Peloponnesian fleet stayed at Miletus,
unwilling to risk a battle, but Astyochus could not fail to take some
action.* His men, already restless and angry, became even more re-
bellious after the most recent failure to engage the enemy. Since Tis-
saphernes was not meeting his financial obligations, moreover, the
Spartan navarch would not long be able to maintain his ships and
crews. At the same time, Pharnabazus, the satrap of northern Anatolia,
kept inviting him to bring his forces into the Hellespont and promised
to provide support for them. The attractiveness of his appeal was
strengthened by messages from Byzantium asking the Peloponnesians
to come and support their proposed defection from Athens. For some
time, moreover, Astyochus had been under orders from Sparta to send
a force to assist Pharnabazus, and its designated commander Clearchus
was on the spot, waiting to go.*” For months Astyochus had failed to
carry out those orders and continued to cooperate with Tissaphernes,
but as the days of summer passed, he could delay no longer. Soon he
would need to return to Sparta, where he was sure to face complaints
against his inaction and lack of accomplishment.*

Late in July, Clearchus set sail with forty ships. His goal was the
Hellespont, but it was not safe to take the direct route that would
bring him past the Athenian fleet at Samos, so he set out toward the
west and the more open sea. This course avoided the Athenians, but
it took him into one of those sudden Aegean storms so deadly to
triremes. He was forced to take shelter with most of his fleet at Delos,
from which he crept back to Miletus when the seas were calm. But

#8.80.1. For a defense of the imperfect &vravfyovro against the aorist proposed by
Classen and Steup, see HCT V, 274. For an endorsement of Astyochus’ caution, see
Busolt, GG 111:2, 1495.

’8.80.1-3. For Clearchus and the orders, see 8.8.2 and 39.2. Busolt very plausibly
places the date of the Byzantine revolt in early August (GG Ill:2, 1496), so the fleet
probably sailed late in the previous month.

*Mindarus arrived to relieve Astyochus not much after this moment, although Thu-
cydides is vague about when. Busolt’s estimate, some time in August, makes good
sense. Andrewes (HCT 1V, 38; and V, 280-281), following Beloch, believes the na-
varchs took office “near the autumn equinox,” that is, late September. He recognizes,
however, that Astyochus seems to have been relieved somewhat earlier and suggests
the explanation may be irregularities in the Spartan calendar. R. Sealey (K/io LVIII
[1976], 335—358) believes that the navarchy was not yet a regular, annual office. Even
if he is right, Astyochus had no reason to be comfortable. He obviously had satisfied
the board sent to investigate him earlier (8.39.2), but he could not expect to last much
longer without some success.
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ten ships, under the bolder or luckier Megarian general Helixus, made
their way to the Hellespont and brought about the revolt of Byzantium.
Soon Chalcedon, on the other side of the Bosporus, Cyzicus, and
Selymbria, joined the uprising.® This was an important achievement,
for it seriously threatened the Athenian grain supply and would require
some response that might change the situation in Sparta’s favor.

The new Spartan initiative appears to have had an important effect
on the Athenians on Samos. Ever since the restoration of democracy
in mid-June, Thrasybulus had continued to argue for the restoration
of Alcibiades without success, but now his case seemed irresistible.
The main check on the Peloponnesians until now, it must have seemed,
had been the unreliable and inadequate support provided by Tissa-
phernes. Now they had gained the support of Pharnabazus, who might
prove a more reliable paymaster and whose province, in any case,
included Athens’ vital supply line. It was imperative to act quickly to
challenge the Spartan position in the Hellespont. The Spartans’ co-
operation with Pharnabazus, moreover, seemed to endorse Alcibiades’
claims that Tissaphernes was not firmly committed to them and might
be persuaded to change sides. In those circumstances, Thrasybulus
was able to gain the support of a majority of the soldiers for a decree
recalling him and granting him immunity from prosecution. Thrasy-
bulus himself sailed off to bring Alcibiades to Samos, “thinking that
the only salvation lay in bringing Tissaphernes over from the Pelo-
ponnesian side to their own.”*

The first meetings between Alcibiades and the Athenians must have
been uncomfortable on both sides. For many who received him, he
was still an accursed defiler of the city’s religion, a renegade, a traitor,
and the instigator of oligarchic revolution against the democracy. For
Alcibiades, the return was not precisely the one he had planned. He
did not come back to an Athens purged of the democracy that had
exiled himor, in fact, to Athens itself but only to Samos. His immunity
protected him against his condemnation and the outlawry that went
with it, but from Samos he could do nothing about the curses pro-
nounced on him in Athens.®® Still, some of his worst enemies—An-
drocles, Phrynichus, and Hyperbolus—were gone, and he had always
known how to operate in the world of democratic politics. He must

’8.80.3; Busolt, GG I11:2, 1496, n. 4.
8.81.1.
“Plut. Ak. 22.5, 33.3; HCT V, 275.
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have sensed the hostility that some of the democrats still felt, but most
were ready to forget the past if Alcibiades could help them win the
war.”

In still another way, Alcibiades’ position was weaker than what he
had planned. Instead of returning to Athens as the focal point of a
broad coalition in which he was the indispensable central figure, he
had been brought back to a Samos divorced from the city, as the protégé
of one faction, the moderates, and especially of a single powerful leader,
Thrasybulus. Rejected by the oligarchs in Athens and suspected by
the democrats on Samos, Alcibiades knew that his prospects, indeed
his safety, depended on maintaining good relations with Thrasybulus
and his colleagues. But however great his admiration for Alcibiades’
abilities and no matter how old and close their friendship may have
been, Thrasybulus was nobody’s puppet.” His long and brilliant career
over a quarter-century would show him to be an independent figure
of great military and political talents and clear ideas of his own, with
astrong will and powerful determination. When he brought Alcibiades
to Samos, we may be sure that he did so to pursue a policy and to
achieve goals of which he approved. We may be certain also that he
used the trip back to Samos to discuss that policy and those goals with
Alcibiades. Alcibiades could hardly fail to follow his lead in those early
days in the Athenian camp.

In his speech to the Athenian assembly on Samos, Alcibiades could
not avoid saying something about his embarrassing past. Apparently,
he chose to be brief on this subject, complaining emotionally about
his misfortune at being exiled, presumably unjustly, but making no
attempt at a formal defense and naming no villains.”” This was not the
time to speak at length of the past and his private grievances or to
make enemies; it was a time to fix the minds of his listeners on the
future and the wonders he could perform for them. For his ultimate
success, he needed not only to win over the Athenian forces on Samos
but also to change the situation in Athens to allow his return there
and thus unify Athens’ forces. Finally, he must defeat the Peloponne-

Hatzfeld, Alcibiade, 246.

7'C. Péhlig (Jabrbiicher fiir Klassische Philologie, Suppl. IX [1877-1878], 233-234 and
n. 6) makes a plausible case for the old and close association of the three contemporaries,
Alcibiades and the two fellow demesmen, Theramenes and Thrasybulus. Note 6 traces
the evidence for their long and close association in public affairs.

"*Thucydides (8.81.2) tells us only that “he wailed loudly about the personal mis-
fortune he had suffered because of his exile.”
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sians. He therefore directed his remarks not only to the men who could
hear him but also to two other audiences: the oligarchic leaders in
Athens and the Peloponnesians. His purpose, according to Thucy-
dides, was threefold: to gain the respect of the army on Samos and
restore their self-confidence, to increase the Peloponnesians’ suspicion
of Tissaphernes and thereby make them lose hope of victory, and to
bring fear of Alcibiades into the hearts of those controlling the oligarchy
in Athens, thereby breaking the hold of the extremist oligarchic clubs.”
He devoted the major part of his speech, therefore, to his influence
with Tissaphernes, which he greatly exaggerated, and the satrap’s
eagerness to help the Athenians if only he could trust them. He would
bring the Phoenician fleet, already gathered and waiting at Aspendus,
to them, not to the Peloponnesians. They would never be at a loss for
financial support while Tissaphernes had any money of his own; “in
the last resort he would even sell his own bed,””* but he would do so
only if Alcibiades was returned safely to the Athenians and could serve
as a guarantee of their good behavior.”

Alcibiades’ rhetorical power had not faded in his extended absence
from Athenian assemblies. His words had their intended effect and
more. The soldiers immediately elected him'general “and gave over
to him control of all their affairs.””® Not only had he succeeded in
filling his listeners with new confidence, but they were already con-
temptuous of the Peloponnesian enemy and ready to sail to the Piraeus
and seek revenge against the Four Hundred. That was not Alcibiades’
intention, and he argued against sailing to Athens and leaving the
undefeated enemy behind. Many still wanted to sail, but Alcibiades
seems to have carried the day with the argument that the first business
at hand was for him to go to Tissaphernes and work out the details
of their association. Alcibiades was eager to get to the satrap as soon
as possible. His standing with the Athenians depended on their belief

”’8.81.2. The last clause is my interpretation of {va ol Te oiko. ™|V GAvyapxtav
€xovTes Powoivto avTov kat NdAov al fuvap.ooiot duahvBerey, which Thucydides
mentions first. For a useful comment, see HCT V, 276.

78.81.3. The young prince Cyrus would later make a similar promise to Lysander:
if the Great King’s funds and his own money ran out, he would break up his gold and
silver throne on his behalf (Xen 1.5.3). As Andrewes says(HCT V, 276), “either Persian
satraps were addicted to expressions of this type, or it had become a standard Greek
rendering of Oriental phraseology.”

’8.81.3; HCT V, 277.

7%8.82.1. He was given no formal extraordinary powers but merely exercised lead-
ership de facto. See HCT V, 277.
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in his relationship with Tissaphernes, and only he knew how shaky
was his influence over the satrap. When last at Tissaphernes’ side,
Alcibiades had been a man without a country whose safety depended
on the goodwill of the Persian, a mere tool of the satrap’s. Now he
wanted to show Tissaphernes that he was once again an Athenian
general in control of a powerful fleet and “able to do him good or ill.”
Alcibiades, according to Thucydides, “was using the Athenians to
frighten Tissaphernes and Tissaphernes to frighten the Athenians.””
Although we know that events proved him overconfident, we need
not doubt that Alcibiades expected that the new circumstances would
allow him to bring Tissaphernes over to the Athenians.

We do not know if Alcibiades knew of conditions in the Peloponne-
sian camp at Miletus, but the situation there certainly made his hopes
seem plausible. The soldiers grumbled ever more loudly against the
iniquities of Tissaphernes, and now their officers joined in the dissat-
isfaction. The satrap had used their failure to go out and fight the
Athenians at sea as an excuse for being even more remiss in paying
their salaries, and the officers feared that unless they fought a decisive
battle or went somewhere else to get support, the crews would desert.
They focused their resentment, naturally enough, on the navarch As-
tyochus. He had always been reluctant to fight the Athenians, and
they thought he was not tough enough with Tissaphernes; now they
suspected him of having been bribed by the satrap to act in that way.
Finally, the contingents from Thurii and Syracuse confronted Astyo-
chus and demanded their pay. He answered with the tactlessness that
usually marked the behavior of Spartans to foreigners and even raised
his swagger-stick to threaten Dorieus, the great athlete and commander
of the Thurian force. In a rage, his crews were about to stone the
navarch, who escaped only by fleeing to an altar.”

The Milesians were quick to take advantage of the discomfiture of
Astyochus and of the soldiers’ anger at Tissaphernes. They captured
the fort the satrap had built in their city and drove his garrison from
it to the approval of the allies and the Syracusans in particular.”® In

778.82.2.

78.84.1-3. I have translated Baxtnpiav as “swagger-stick” to convey in modern
terms what I take to be its significance in Sparta. See HCT V, 279.

7°8.84.4. It is noteworthy that Lichas, the £dpBovhos who protested so bitterly against
the second draft-treaty between Sparta and the Persians, chided the Milesians and told
them that they and the other Greeks of Asia Minor should submit quietly to the Great
King’s rule until the war had been won. The Milesians were so irked that they later
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the midst of the tumult, the new navarch, Mindarus, came to relieve
Astyochus. It was only August, but we cannot be sure he was replaced
because of the complaints against them, although in this case that is
surely possible.”” Astyochus sailed for home, and we get some idea of
the tenseness and complication of the political situation at Miletus from
the passenger lists of various ships sailing from there to Sparta at that
time. The Milesians were on their way to complain against the behavior
of Tissaphernes, thinking, no doubt, that a good offense was the best
defense against the charges he would certainly bring against them for
their attack on his garrison. With them went Hermocrates, the Syr-
acusan, the hero of Sicily, and for some time the harshest critic of
Tissaphernes. His purpose was to complain against the satrap and his
collaborator Alcibiades, who were deliberately ruining the Peloponne-
sians with their duplicitous policy.” Along with Astyochus sailed Gau-
lites, a Carian who could speak both Greek and Persian and
Tissaphernes’ envoy. The satrap, too, intended to take the offensive
by complaining of the Milesian attack on his fort, but his spokesman
was also instructed to defend his master against the charges his enemies
would bring against him.*

All of this turmoil must have delighted Alcibiades, who was at the
side of Tissaphernes during at least part of it.*” Soon after his return
to Samos, the ambassadors from the Four Hundred at Athens also
arrived from Delos, where they had stopped on hearing of the dem-
ocratic revolution on the island.”* Their attempt to speak before the
assembly was shouted down by the angry soldiers, who wanted to kill
the men who had destroyed the democracy. Finally, the ambassadors

refused Lichas burial in their territory (84.5). We are not told the reason for Lichas’
action. Perhaps it was merely practical, meant to avoid any greater breach with Tis-
saphernes, in which case we need not deduce anything from this passage about his or
Sparta’s attitude toward the legalities of the third treaty, which Lichas had helped
negotiate, nor about his or Sparta’s ultimate intentions. For discussion of these points,
see Ste. Croix, Origins, 154—155, 313-314; Lewis, Sparta and Persia, 104—105; HCT V,
279-280.

#Gee above, n. 66.

*'Hermocrates had a special motive for going to Sparta with his complaints at this
time. He had lately been relieved of his command by the restored democracy at
Syracuse. (For a defense of this date for his dismissal against Xenophon’s statement
that it happened in 410[1.1.27-31}, see HCT V, 281-285.) Tissaphernes took advantage
of Blllis exposed situation as an exile without a command to attack him (8.85.3).

8.85.

®Thucydides (8.85.4) tells us that Alcibiades had already left Tissaphernes and

regl‘lrned to Samos when Astyochus and the others set sail for Sparta.
8.72.1577.

Kagan, Donald. The Fall of the Athenian Empire, Cornell University Press, 2013. ProQuest Ebook Central,

http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/hkpl-ebooks/detail.action?docID=3138417.

Created from hkpl-ebooks on 2020-07-16 19:50:25.



Copyright © 2013. Cornell University Press. All rights reserved.

THE FOUR HUNDRED IN POWER 181

were allowed to speak, and they delivered their message according to
instructions.”” They insisted that the revolution had been made not to
destroy the city but to save it. There was no intention of betraying it
to the enemy, for the Four Hundred could easily have done so when
Agis made his attack on the walls.* They asserted that the new regime
would not be a narrow oligarchy of the Four Hundred but that the
Five Thousand would govern.”” They also denounced Chaereas’
charges as lies, assuring their audience that their relatives were safe.

*Instructions: 8.72.

“HCT V, 28s.

*’My understanding of this assertion derives from a combination of 8.72.1 and 8.86.3.
In the former passage, the oligarchic leaders at Athens instruct their ambassadors to
tell the army at Samos “that not only Four Hundred but Five Thousand were taking
part in the government, although, because of military service and activities outside
Attica, no matter had ever yet arisen so important to bring the Five Thousand together
for deliberation.” TevTakuoxtALoL T€ GTL €LEV KOL OV TETPAKOTLOL LOVOV OL TPATTOVTES
kalToL oY mwmore "ABMralovs dua Tas aTpateias kal TTY UTEPopLov acxoliav €s
ovdéy mpaApa olTw péya €NBeiv BovhevoovTas év () mevtakuoxthiovs EuverBeiv. In
the latter the ambassadors tell the assembly on Samos “that all of the Five Thousand
will take part in the government in turn.” T@v Te TevTakioxAwY dTL TAVTES €V TO
wéper pebé€ovory. Both passages have caused editors and commentators considerable
trouble.

As far as I can determine, all have taken the first statement to claim that no assembly
of §,000 or more had gathered in Athens either since the start of the war or in its later
phase and have found that hard to believe, since several acts of the assembly required
a quorum of 6,000. But a likelier reading of the passage is that it refers only to the
period since the establishment of the oligarchy. After all, that is the period at issue.
What the Four Hundred want to say to the men on Samos is something like this: “The
government at Athens is not by Four Hundred but by Five Thousand. You have not
heard of any meetings of the Five Thousand because in the brief time we have been
in power our military commitments in defending the walls and guarding against attacks
and our missions overseas have prevented that. We would have made special efforts
to have such a meeting, nonetheless, but nothing has come up important enough to
justify extraordinary measures.” o0 wwore is emphatic, as Andrewes says (HCT V,
183), but not specific.

The problems with the second passage include its translation. Some understand it
as | have above, but others think it means that “all citizens will be members of the
5,000 in their turn.” This reading makes no sense as a practical matter, but the other
makes difficult, if not impossible, Greek. Andrewes (HCT V, 285-286) suggests the
clause is corrupt on the grounds that “the envoys are not likely to sandwich anything
of great constitutional subtlety between statements that they are not surrendering to
the Spartans and not maltreating the sailors’ families.” In my view, however, the
subtleties, if they exist, do not matter. What the envoys are trying to communicate is
that the government will not be a narrow oligarchy and that the 5,000 will be the real
rulers. Since that is a lie, we need not be unduly concerned with what subsidiary lies
they were prepared to tell and whether Thucydides’ account has them precisely right.
If it is at all correct, the envoys have already told a different story from the one in
their instructions, and they were surely capable of inventing whatever corroborative
detail might be necessary.
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Whatever truth there may have been in these arguments, they failed
in their purpose. The Athenian forces continued to be angry, and a
suggestion that they sail immediately to the Piraeus and attack the
Athenian oligarchs soon gained strong support. So strong was the
sentiment for such an action that Thucydides says “no one else could
have restrained the mob at that moment,” but Alcibiades did so.®® If
Thucydides is right in this judgment it would indicate that the fear
and anger of the Athenian soldiers and sailors on Samos had grown
since the last meeting and that the envoys’ attempts to calm them may
only have inflamed their emotions. It would also show how swiftly
Alcibiades’ influence had grown, overshadowing that of his colleagues,
even Thrasybulus.* But Thucydides goes even further: “It seems that
for the first time at that moment, and more than anyone, Alcibiades
rendered a service to his city, for when the Athenians at Samos were
determined to sail against their fellow citizens—and if they had done
so the enemy would most certainly have gained control of Ionia and
the Hellespont—he was the one who prevented it.”

*"8.86.5. The passage implies that his intervention at a previous assembly to prevent
a similar expedition (8.82) was less crucial and that the other leaders would also have
been successful. The suggestion made by Holzapfel in the nineteenth century that the
two reports represent a doublet of the same event has been generally rejected. See
Meyer, Forsch., 11, 410; Busolt, GG 111:2, 1497, n. 2; HCT V, 287.

**We must read Thucydides’ judgment here with some caution, however. Plutarch
provides the detail omitted by Thucydides: that collaborating with Alcibiades was
Thrasybulus, “who was said to have the loudest voice of all the Athenians” (Ak. 26.6),
and there is no reason to doubt him. P. A. Brunt (REG LXV [1952], 590—96) believes
that “Alcibiades was probably an informant of Thucydides for certain incidents re-
corded in Books V, VI and VIII” and that “Thucydides was inclined to magnify
Alcibiades’ influence on the course of events” (95). His argument is most persuasive.
For a discussion of his importance in shaping Spartan policy and Thucydides’ account
of it, see Kagan, Peace of Nicias, 252-259.

“Thaveaccepted the reading of B: kai Sokei ’ANkifLadns mpdTov T6T€ ki 0VBEVOS
é\acoov THy moAw awperficar. The other MSS have mpdTos instead of wpdToV,
which would yield a translation something like C. F. Smith’s: “Alcibiades seems then
in an eminent degree, and more than anyone else, to have benefited the state” (Loeb
edition, vol. 4, 343). The main objection to B’s version has been well and succinctly
stated by Brunt: “If this is accepted, Thucydides here asserts that Alcibiades had
never previously rendered any service to Athens. ... But it is quite incredible that
Thucydides should have denied that Alcibiades had even seemed to have rendered any
service to Athens before 411, and the reading of the majority of manuscripts should
unquestionably be accepted” (REG LXV [1952], 61, n. 1). But I think Brunt is placing
too much weight on the word seems and not interpreting it correctly. It is not a ques-
tion of how Alcibiades’ earlier career seemed to some uninstructed person or collec-
tivity but how it seemed to Thucydides: that is, what was his own interpretation of
it> Crawley’s translation, “Now it was that Alcibiades for the first time did the state
a service,” and Warner's, “It was at this point, it seems, that Alcibiades did his first

Kagan, Donald. The Fall of the Athenian Empire, Cornell University Press, 2013. ProQuest Ebook Central,

http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/hkpl-ebooks/detail.action?docID=3138417.

Created from hkpl-ebooks on 2020-07-16 19:50:25.



Copyright © 2013. Cornell University Press. All rights reserved.

THE FOUR HUNDRED IN POWER 183

Most scholars have agreed with this judgment, but it deserves scru-
tiny.” Without a doubt, the policy of restraint served Athens well.
The Spartans were not able to conquer the parts of Ionia and the
Hellespont still in Athenian hands, as they surely could have done
had the Athenian fleet sailed for Piraeus. Within a month or so, more-
over, the oligarchy in Athens collapsed, and the fleet and the city
united to pursue the war against the Peloponnesians. The first result
was predictable, but the second was not. When the Athenians decided
not to leave Samos, they had every reason to think that the oligarchy
would remain in force, posing a threat to the security of their relatives
and their property. Besides, the possibility always existed that the
Four Hundred would betray the city to the enemy as, in fact, they
seem to have tried to do. The loss of Athens would surely have been
a disaster of greater proportions and one harder to retrieve than the
loss of Ionia and the Hellespont. An attack on the Piraeus, on the
other hand, given the serious division within the Four Hundred, might
have been quickly successful. A united Athenian force could then have
sailed to the Hellespont and fought a naval battle. Subsequent events
suggest that they would have won such a battle and retrieved control
of the lost territories. Such counterfactual conjectures can never be
verified, but at least, they serve to indicate the thinking that might
have moved those who opposed Alcibiades and Thrasybulus and to
balance the overwhelming power of the fait accompli in shaping our
judgment. In Grote’s view, “the impulse of the armament was not
merely natural, but even founded on a more prudent estimate of the
actual chances, and that Alcibiades was nothing more than fortunate
in a sanguine venture.””” That judgment seems at least as plausible as
Thucydides’.

great act of service to his country,” appear to me to catch the meaning well. The ques-
tion then is not whether Alcibiades’ previousactions seemed to be useful to Athens but
whether they were.

Idonotfind ithard tobelieve that Thucydides mighthave regarded Alcibiades’ efforts
to subvert the Peace of Nicias, undertake a Peloponnesian policy that led to a Spartan
victory at Mantinea, and launch the Sicilian expedition as being at best of no use to Ath-
ens. Andrewes shows clearly (HCT V, 286) that this judgment is Thucydides’ personal
opinion. He also provides persuasive linguistic arguments in favor of wtp@tov. For our
present purposes either reading will do, for both reveal that Thucydides strongly en-
dorsed Alcibiades’ resistance to an attack on the Piraeus at this moment.

*’For some examples, see E. F. Bloedow, Alcibiades Reexamined (Wiesbaden, 1973),
38-40.

“Grote, VIII, §6. The argument offered here is little more than a paraphrase of
Grote’s. As far as | know, no one has taken the trouble to refute it; Busolt (GG I1I:2,
1499, n. 2) merely takes note of it without comment. Bloedow (Alctbiades Reexamined,
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After order was restored, the expedition to Athens having been
prevented, Alcibiades responded to the envoys from the Four
Hundred. Thucydides tells us that “Alcibiades himself answered the
ambassadors and sent them on their way,” but his charge to them
was very much the program of Thrasybulus and the moderates. “He
was not opposed to the rule of the Five Thousand, but he demanded
that they depose the Four Hundred and restore the Council of Five
Hundred.” He was thoroughly in favor of any economies they might
have made to provide better for the armed forces, and he admonished
them to hold out and not yield to the enemy. As long as the city was
safe in Athenian hands, there was great hope for reconciliation.”* No
doubt the majority of his audience would have preferred a restoration
of the full democracy, but its chosen leaders still aimed at the moderate
regime they had sought from the start. We may assume that Alcibiades
preferred a less fully democratic government to the restoration of the
rule of the demagogues that had been his undoing, so he agreed with
the views of his sponsor Thrasybulus.

The main purpose of Alcibiades’ speech, however, was to influence
the men who ruled Athens. He could hardly expect that the extremists
would allow a dissolution of the Four Hundred and the end of oli-
garchy, but he could hope that the report of his words would encourage
the moderates to resist any excesses planned by the extremists, perhaps
even to take control themselves. Such a development would be of the
greatest value to Alcibiades, for the extremists were opposed to his
return, and some, like Phrynichus, would resist it at any cost. Still
another aim of his words, perhaps the most important, was to dissuade

38—41) seems to be the only scholar generally sympathetic, but he carries the argument
much farther than Grote. He believes that the fleet’s departure from Samos and the
consequent loss of Ionia and the Hellespont would have upset the balance of power
that Tissaphernes was trying to maintain and forced the satrap to come over to the
Athenian side. He, therefore, would have brought up the Phoenician fleet, and the
Athenians wou'] easily have regained the lost regions. Once the Athenians had gained
Tissaphernes’ active support, they might well have retained it. I find it hard to believe
that Tissaphernes could ever have lent active support to the Athenians against a Spartan
force that was supported by Pharnabazus. In 411, neither Tissaphernes nor the Great
King had reason to believe that an Athenian victory would be in his interest. No matter
how independent Tissaphernes may have been, moreover, he was still subject to the
Great King, and I cannot accept that the latter would allow one of his satraps to support
one Greek army in a war against another Greek army supported by a different satrap.

°8.86.6. Busolt (GG I11:2, 1499) accurately captures the mood conveyed by Thucyd-
idgf' description: “He dismissed the ambassadors like a sovereign.”

8.88.6—7.
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the Four Hundred from making a separate peace with the enemy. In
the circumstances, that must mean surrendering command of the city,
for the Spartans could not afford to make peace leaving the city in the
hands of unguarded Athenians when the main Athenian force was still
at war and beyond their control.

In fact, there was real danger of such a peace. To Samos came an
Argive delegation offering their assistance to the Athenian people on
the island, a demonstration that the Argive democracy recognized the
forces at Samos as the true Athenian state and the Four Hundred as
usurpers. With them they brought the crew of the Paralus; they had
been captured by the Four Hundred and then sent in a troopship to
guard Euboea.” Showing remarkably bad judgment, the Four
Hundred later ordered them to carry a delegation to Sparta consisting
of Laespodias, Aristophon, and Melesias, the last perhaps the son of
Pericles’ old opponent Thucydides. Their purpose must have been to
try again to negotiate peace, but we are not told what terms they were
authorized to offer or consider. When they reached the territory of
Argos, the crew turned on them and delivered them to the Argives,
“since they were among those who were chiefly responsible for over-
turning the democracy.”™® Since Thucydides did not name them in
the company of those he regarded as the leaders of the revolution, the
implication may simply be that these men belonged to the extremist
group. However that may be, the delegation never reached Sparta. It
is possible that they might have reached an agreement if they had, but
good fortune, or the bad judgment of the Four Hundred, played into
the hands of the men on Samos.

As the summer of 411 came to an end, the Four Hundred, and
especially the extremists who hoped to establish a permanentoligarchy,
had failed in all of their major undertakings Instead of making the
empire more secure by installing oligarchical regimes in the subject
states, they had brought about further rebellions. They had not been
able to make peace with the enemy. They had failed to establish a
friendly oligarchy on Samos; instead, they saw the crushing of the
oligarchic movement within the Athenian force on that island and its
replacement by an angry democracy that was barely restrained from
sailing to attack them. They had alienated Thrasybulus, one of the
founders of the movement, and had seen him become a very effective

%8.74.2.
*8.86.8-9. For Melesias, see Davies, APF, 232-233.
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leader of their enemies. No less serious, they had seen Alcibiades,
once a major part of their hope for success, join the hostile force on
Samos and pledge himself to their destruction. His insistence and that
of Thrasybulus on the dissolution of the Four Hundred was certain
to encourage defections on the part of their moderate friends in Athens.
Their prospects for survival were grim. The question was whether
they could bring in the Spartans to save them before it was too late.

Copyright © 2013. Cornell University Press. All rights reserved.
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8. The Establishment of
the Five Thousand

Alcibiades’ message did not reach Athens in its original form. The
ambassadors returning from Samos must have reported first to the
oligarchic leaders who sent them, and those leaders must have edited
their report, for their account differed significantly from what Alci-
biades had said.' They told of his urging the men in Athens to hold
out in the war and to make no concessions to the Spartans and of his
hopes of reconciliation and victory, but they said nothing about his
friendliness to the idea of the Five Thousand, his hostility to the rule
of the Four Hundred, and his call for a restoration of the old Council
of Five Hundred. To reveal those points would have been too dan-
gerous, for dissension within the Four Hundred was already rife. A
full and accurate report of Alcibiades’ remarks would have been in-
flammatory, but even the edited version heartened the dissidents. Thu-
cydides tells us that they “were the majority of those taking part in
the oligarchy who were even before this discontented and would gladly
rid themselves of the affair in any way if they could do so safely.””
They had already begun to meet in groups and to complain of the
course of events.

The leaders of the dissidents were two men who were important
figures and officeholders in the Four Hundred, Theramenes the son
of Hagnon and Aristocrates the son of Scelias. We have already dis-

'As far as I know, only W. J. McCoy (“Theramenes, Thrasybulus and the Athenian
Moderates” [Ph.D. diss., Yale University, 1970], 81-82) has noticed the difference and
its meaning.

’8.89.1; 86.6—7.
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cussed Theramenes (in chapter 6), whose later career and dramatic
death made him famous, but Aristocrates, too, was a considerable
figure. He played an important part in Athenian public life as early
as 421, when he seems to be the s2me man who signed the Peace of
Nicias and the alliance with Sparta. He was important enough to be
the butt of a joke by Aristophanes in 414 and should be identified with
the general whom the Athenians sent to Chios in 412. He was active
in establishing the oligarchy and was a regimental commander in the
army under the Four Hundred. Some later writers give him the chief
credit for overthrowing the Four Hundred and establishing the gov-
ernment of the Five Thousand. He was elected general by the restored
democracy in 410/9 and again as a colleague of Alcibiades in 407/6.’
Andrewes says: “he could hold office under all kinds of regime and
we could take him as a trusted soldier with no strong political feelings,
drawn into the Four Hundred by the hope of Persian help in the war.™
That is fair enough, but we should remember that Thucydides plainly
includes Aristocrates in his general condemnation of the men who
brought down the Four Hundred in pursuit of their own personal
ambitions. We should remember also that if we knew nothing of the
careers of Theramenes and Thrasybulus after 407, they would seem
remarkably similar to that of Aristocrates. All supported the movement
to overthrow the Athenian democracy; all turned against the oligarchy
of the Four Hundred; all did well under the restored democracy; and
all were associates of Alcibiades. There is no reason to doubt that
Aristocrates had political opinions and that they were much the same
as those of his collaborator Theramenes: both men were moderates.’

Characteristically, Theramenes and Aristrocrates took a moderate
position in the discussions. They announced that they feared not only

’l agree with Andrewes (HCT V, 295) that although Aristocrates’ patronymic does
not appear in every passage, all references are to the same man.

*HCT V, 295, where the evidence for Aristocrates’ career is collected.

‘Andrewes’ understanding of Theramenes, scattered throughout his commentary,
seems fundamentally correct. Itis summed up in HCT V, 300: “nothing in Theramenes’
record contradicts the programmatic statement given to him in X[en]. 11. 3.48, that he
was opposed to the extremes of both democracy and oligarchy. . . . The formula of A¢h.
Pol. 28.5, that he encouraged various regimes €éws umdév wapavopoiv but opposed
them when they got out of hand, would allow him to be sincere in his promotion of
both oligarchies, and in his subsequent opposition. . . . The modern opinion . . . may
yet be correct, that Theramenes from the start and consistently favoured a ‘moderate
constitution.” ” Although Aristocrates’ career seems to have ended before the episode
of the oligarchy of the Thirty at Athens in 404/3, I see no reason why he should not
be credited with a similar outlook.
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Alcibiades and his army on Samos but also “those who had been
sending embassies to Sparta, lest they do some harm to the city without
consulting the majority.”™ They did not urge the discontented to take
up arms and launch a counterrevolution. Given the uncertainty and
suspicion of the times and the capacity for murder and terror still
controlled by the extremists, that would be too dangerous. If such an
action failed, moreover, it would increase the danger of the betrayal
of the city at which their words hinted. They did not even use the
perilous language of opposing the movement toward extreme oligarchy.
Instead, they spoke of constitutional reform by which the Four
Hundred would be asked merely to carry out promises they had already
made: “to appoint the Five Thousand in fact and not in name and
[thereby] to establish a more equal polity.” Privately, no doubt, they
feared a betrayal of the city far more than an attack from Samos. In
fact, they were stirred to action by the news that Alcibiades had
acquired a position of leadership on Samos, which persuaded them
that the days of the oligarchy were numbered.

Thucydides goes out of his way to assert that the call for the Five
Thousand was only a political slogan behind which the dissident lead-
ers concealed their envy of the other members of the Four Hundred,
who had gained dominant positions at their expense, and their personal
ambitions. Although we have suggested that other forces were at work,
we need not doubt that such thoughts and feelings played some part.
These men were Athenian politicians and, therefore, had been raised
in a highly competitive culture in which ambition to achieve a position
of leadership and respect in the state was natural and nothing of which
to be ashamed; still, we should not overestimate such motives. More
pressing than jealousy and ambition were two other motives: fear and
patriotism. If the oppressively narrow oligarchy was left to its own
devices, it might turn under pressure against suspected dissidents of
whom Aristocrates and Theramenes would be obvious examples. If
the Samian democrats took control of Athens from a still united and
narrow oligarchy, none of its founders could expect much mercy from
the victors. On the other hand, as the danger to the government grew,
so did the incentive for the extremists to seek shelter in a Spartan
occupation. Everything we know about the moderate leaders tells us
that they opposed yielding Athenian independence. The honors they

“8.89.2.
“Ibid.
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received from the restored democracy are ample evidence that their
fellow citizens never doubted the sincerity of their patriotism or the
goodness of their motives, nor should we.

As much as the news from Samos encouraged the moderates, so did
it alarm the extremists, whose leaders Thucydides names as Phryni-
chus, Peisander, Antiphon, and, for the first time, Aristarchus, prob-
ably a member of the cavalry.® Since the extremists had received the
news of the restoration of democracy to Samos their fears had grown.
As a result of that news they had sent the ill-fated second embassy
that never reached Sparta.® They had also begun to build a fort on
the harbor at Piraeus on Eétioneia at the same time. Eétioneia was the
name of a promontory extending south for some distance across the
mouth of the harbor and dominating traffic in and out (see Map 6).
On the north and west a wall defended it from attack by land. On its
western, seaward side the wall ran to the southern tip of the peninsula,
ending at a strong tower. Phrynichus and his colleagues were now
adding two new walls to these fortifications: one along the eastern end
of the peninsula toward the harbor and the other running south from
the northern wall to the eastern end of the harbor, enclosing a stoa in
which they required everyone to store such grain as was already on
hand and whatever new shipments arrived. The port had already been
well fortified against attack from outside by land or sea. The new
arrangements would allow a small force to control the harbor against
assaults from within, as well. Their pretext was the need to defend
the port against attack by the forces on Samos, but Theramenes and
the moderates quickly saw through it. Its true purpose, they said (and
Thucydides endorses their opinion), was “so that they could admit the
enemy by land and sea whenever they wished.”®

The extremists, therefore, had been preparing to betray the city,

#8.90.1. Aristarchus is mentioned in 92.6 as going to the Piraeus with some “young
cavalrymen,” presumably as their leader. He may be the same man who was a choregus
in 442/41 (Davies, APF, 1663).

°8.86.9.

'8.90. 3. For a discussion of Thucydides’ account of the topography and the problems
it presents, see HCT V, 303-6. At least some of those problems seem not to be serious.
Andrewes says “it is hard to see the urgency of completing or preventing a wall on
the harbor shore.” On the contrary, for a small group of men plotting to betray their
city, the need for a truly secure refuge would have seemed urgent, and a base that
could be attacked by boat from the harbor would not be adequate. Although I agree
that a wall to protect the base on the landward side was even more urgent, the wall
facing the harbor was also necessary.
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should it become necessary, even before their ambassadors returned
from Samos, and the moderates had already been suspicious, alarmed,
and hostile to their designs. After they learned of the return of Alci-
biades to Samos, however, the extremists were driven to even greater
efforts. Alcibiades’ hopes of causing dissension within Athens had been
fulfilled: the extremists “saw that both the majority of the citizens and
some of their own group whom previously they had believed trust-
worthy were changing their minds.” The extremists were now des-
perate and prepared to betray the city. Thucydides tells us that they
would have preferred to establish oligarchic government and maintain
Athenian rule over the empire; failing that they would have liked to
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keep their ships, walls, and Athenian autonomy, but rather than fall
victim to a restored democracy “they would bring in the enemy and,
abandoning ships and walls, make any terms at all on behalf of their
city if only they could save their own lives.™' So they increased the
pace of construction of the new walls at Eétioneia and also sent an
embassy of a dozen men, including Antiphon and Phrynichus, to try
to make peace with the Spartans “on terms that were in any way
tolerable.”"? Thucydides’ comments make it clear that such terms
would allow any settlement that left the extremist leaders alive.
Typically, Thucydides does not directly give us the details of the
negotiation, but evidence scattered throughout his account permits
some reasonable conjecture. Presumably, Phrynichus, Antiphon, and
the others began the bidding with a request for a peace based on the
status quo, which the Spartans quickly rejected. Next, they might
have offered to settle for abandoning the empire while keeping walls,
ships, and autonomy; that was certainly the farthest they could hope
to get the moderates and the other Athenians to go. The Spartans,
however, were well aware of the split between Athens and the fleet
at Samos, and they probably also knew of the tension within Athens
itself. They had no need to make even that concession, for civil strife
might soon hand them an easy and total victory. The embassy returned
from Sparta, therefore, “having made no agreement for everyone.”"
The language plainly implies that they had, however, negotiated an
agreement for someone: themselves and their fellow extremists. For some
time the Spartans had been planning with the Euboeans to help them
revolt against the Athenians. The Spartan commander Agesandridas
had gathered a fleet of forty-two ships for that purpose, and at that
very moment they were at Las in Laconia waiting to sail. Theramenes
charged that the ships were not on their way to Euboea but to Eétioneia
and a sneak attack on the Piraeus. Later events and Thucydides’ own

"'8.91.3.

'?8.90.2. Plutarch (Mor. 833e—f) names Onomacles and Archeptolemus son of Hip-
podamus as members of the embassy.

V8.91.1.: oUBRY WpatavTes dvexdpnoav Tois Eopmact fupBaTkév. Most editors
and translators take Toi s &dpmaot to refer to the entire Athenian people, but Andrewes
(HCT V, 307) thinks it refers to the other members of the Four Hundred, apart from
the extremists. I see no reason to reject the more obvious reading, but either will do
for our present purposes, which is to notice that the passage says that the ambassadors
had failed to bring back a general agreement but clearly implies a secret one on behalf
of the extremists. Andrewes sees that point but attributes it to Theramenes. The words
cited above, however, belong to Thucydides, and the implication is his.
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judgment endorse his opinion."* Failing to negotiate an acceptable
peace, Phrynichus, Antiphon, and their colleagues had arranged to
betray their city in exchange for their own safety.

As the extremists hurried to complete the new walls, suspicion in-
creased among more patriotic Athenians. For some time Theramenes
had been complaining about the new construction, possibly even out-
side the confines of the Four Hundred’s council chamber."” Those
complaints required considerable courage in an atmosphere of treach-
ery and political assassination. Anyone to whom he spoke his mind
might betray him, but he took the lead nevertheless. That atmosphere
had been created in the previous spring with the murder of Androcles."
Perhaps it was no coincidence that the counterrevolution gained im-
petus from another assassination. As Phrynichus was leaving the coun-
cil-chamber before noon, when the agora was crowded, he was stabbed
to death. Thucydides tells us that the assassin was one of the garrison-
troops who had escaped, but the plot included others, both Athenians
and foreigners, some of whom were later honored and rewarded for
the deed by the restored democracy.” An Argive accompanying the
killer was caught and tortured, but he revealed no names, and no one
was punished. The Four Hundred’s inaction encouraged the opposi-
tion, and a new development filled them with an even greater sense
of urgency: news arrived that the Peloponnesian fleet had left Las, put
into port at Epidaurus, and ravaged Aegina. The dissidents—Thera-
menes, Aristocrates, men from both inside and outside the Four
Hundred—held a meeting. Theramenes pointed out that Epidaurus
and Aegina were not on the route to Euboea from Las (see Map 7).
The intention was clearly to attack the Piraeus, as he had warned, “so
it was no longer possible to remain quiet.”'®* Many speeches followed,
full of suspicion and rebellious sentiment, but at last they determined
a course of action.

How much of what followed was concerted and how much impro-
vised cannot be determined, but there certainly was a considerable

"“Thucydides: 8.91.3.

¥8.91.1: Tabr” ouv ék WAéovos Te 6 Ompapévns SueBpde suggests that Theramenes’
complaints were at least somewhat open and public. They may, as Andrewes says
(HCT V, 309), have been addressed only to members of the Four Hundred, but the
information that previous discussions were in small groups in secret kat 6Aiyous Te
kai kp¥pa (92.2) does not preclude the involvement of some men outside that circle.

'“8.65.2.

:;8.91.1. Busolt, GG 111:2, 1503, n. 5; HCT V, 309-311.

8.92.3.

Kagan, Donald. The Fall of the Athenian Empire, Cornell University Press, 2013. ProQuest Ebook Central,

http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/hkpl-ebooks/detail.action?docID=3138417.

Created from hkpl-ebooks on 2020-07-16 19:50:25.



Copyright © 2013. Cornell University Press. All rights reserved.

194 THE FALL OF THE ATHENIAN EMPIRE

L
SARONIC GUL
Acginal

AEGEAN SEA

CYTHERA

Mar 7. Las 10 EuBoEa

element of planning and significant communication between the dis-
sidents at Athens and the hoplites who were working on the walls at
Piraeus. Theramenes’ chief collaborator, Aristocrates, was one of the
taxiarchs, the regimental commander of his own tribal contingent
among the soldiers at Piraeus. He took the first step by having the
hoplites arrest the general Alexicles and place him in custody. Thu-
cydides describes Alexicles as “a general from the oligarchical faction
and especially inclined to the members of the clubs.”"” He was what
we have called an “extremist.” Hermon, commander of the garrison

'8.92.4, reading Tols éraipovs TeTpappévov with most manuscripts. See HCT V,
3lI-312.
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at Munichia, took part, but Thucydides emphasizes that the corps of
hoplites was thoroughly in favor. The army as a whole, instigated no
doubt by the moderate leaders, had unseated their extremist general,
itself a revolutionary act, and had threatened the base that the extrem-
ists must control if they were to admit the Spartans and save
themselves.

News of the uprising in the Piraeus came to the Four Hundred as
they were meeting in the council-chamber. The extremists were im-
mediately ready to take up arms and began to threaten Theramenes
and his fellow moderates, whom they suspected of being responsible.
Theramenes, however, could not fail to have anticipated the moment,
and he was ready with a response. He defended himself against the
accusations and declared himself ready to join in the rescue of Alexicles.
The extremists were taken by surprise and allowed him to take along
another general who shared his views. In spite of Theramenes’ open
and frequent criticisms of their policies, the extremists were not yet
sure of his disloyalty or, perhaps, not confident enough of their own
strength within the Four Hundred to resist his boldness. The best
they could do was to send Aristarchus and a corps of young cavalrymen
to the Piraeus.

So an army marched from Athens toward another army at the Pi-
raeus, and a serious civil war seemed to threaten. By this time, how-
ever, the force at the Piraeus had imprisoned its oligarchic general and
was commanded by moderates, and two of the three generals of the
army coming from Athens were moderates as well. What followed was
not a battle but a charade. Aristarchus expressed his anger to the
hoplites, and Theramenes, too, pretended to scold them. Most of the
hoplites held fast, however, and asked Theramenes the leading ques-
tion “did he think that the fortification was being built to any good
purpose or would it be better to destroy it?” He answered that if they
thought it best to destroy it, he agreed with them. On hearing that,
the hoplites and many of the civilians in the Piraéus began to tear
down the fortification accompanied by the exhortation, “whoever
wants the Five Thousand to rule instead of the Four Hundred, let him
get to work.”

Thucydides tells us that this slogan was addressed “to the crowd”
but by whom?* Surely it came from the moderate leaders who must
have choreographed the performance to achieve their chief goals: the

8.92.10~11.
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destruction of the fortifications that could permit the betrayal of the
city to Sparta and the beginning of a movement toward the constitution
they had sought from the beginning, the rule of the Five Thousand.”'
Thucydides says that those chanting the slogan were concealing behind
it their true desire, a return to the full democracy. But they were afraid
toreveal their true desire, fearing that the Five Thousand might already
exist and that demanding the full democracy might expose each man
to danger, since his neighbor might be a member of the ruling group.
However, such reasoning could not apply to the moderate leaders or
to any other members of the moderate faction within the Four
Hundred, for they knew with certainty that the Five Thousand did
not exist, but even when applied to the ordinary soldiers, Thucydides’
assertion raises doubts. Why should men who had arrested their gen-
eral, had been prepared to fight a battle, and were beginning to tear
down a fortification ordered by the relgnmg government shrink from
joining in a general shout in favor of restormg democracy? What sig-
nificant additional danger would they incur by such an act? No doubt
many, if not most, of the hoplites would have preferred a restoration
of the democracy, had they thought about it. However, it seems better
to believe that they were not shouting out of fear but were simply
joining a chorus instigated by the moderates.”

Shouting, however, would not bring down the oligarchy and replace
it with a moderate government. What was needed was a way to exert
pressure on the extremists without starting a civil war. The moderate